Investigating the role of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors in the treatment of endometrial cancer



Dominic Adam Blake

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Medical Sciences

for the degree of Doctor of Medicine

Supervisors

Dr Rachel O'Donnell

Prof. Nicola J Curtin

Newcastle University

June 2023

Abstract

Introduction: Endometrial cancer is the most common gynaecological malignancy in the UK. Whilst most women have low grade indolent cancers, 20% have high grade tumours which result in a disproportionate number of deaths. Following first line treatment, there is no standard of care and response rates are poor. In line with ovarian cancer treatment, where PARP inhibitors have resulted in better survival, it is anticipated that a proportion of endometrial cancers are homologous recombination DNA repair deficient (HRD), providing opportunity to exploit this with PARP inhibitors.

The work in this thesis included pre-clinical and translational studies to assess the effect of cisplatin, ionising radiation and PARP inhibitor (Niraparib) on endometrial cancer cell lines and ex-vivo patient derived cultures, as well as assessing HRR status and other pathology markers as biomarkers to stratify the use of PARP inhibitor therapy.

Methodology: Cytotoxicity, growth inhibition, PARP assays and immunohistochemistry studies were undertaken in 6 endometrial cancer cell lines, along with functional HRR assay measuring RAD51 foci formation by immunofluorescence.

Direct endometrial tumour biopsies were taken from 54 patients (REC: 12/NE/0395) and the method optimised for ex-vivo culture. Where feasible, the RAD51 foci HRR assay alongside growth inhibition with Niraparib was undertaken.

A tissue microarray was constructed from available FFPE patient samples and cell line thrombin clots. Common IHC markers (p53, ER, PR, p53, MMR proteins) and PTEN were quantified and analysed stratified by HRR function and clinicopathological data.

Results: The diverse panel of endometrial cell lines were all HRR competent using the RAD51 foci functional assay, with similar growth and PARP activity levels. No significant differences in sensitivity to single agent IR, cisplatin were detected but trends in sensitivity were consistent (AN3CA most sensitive and HEC1A least sensitive). PARP activity was inhibited by 90% with Niraparib 1 μ M, with no significant differences in cytotoxicity or growth inhibition across the cell lines. Radiopotentiation with Niraparib at the lethal concentration 50 (PF50) ranged from 1.00 to 1.84 in the Ishikawa cell line. Higher doses of IR (4 Gy) yielded greater potentiation in the endometrial cancer cell lines (PF up to 2.41). Minimal potentiation was

i

seen when increasing concentrations of cisplatin was combined with Niraparib 1 μ M (PF50 ranging from 0.77- 1.44).

54 endometrial cancer biopsies were obtained with consent. 30 samples were successful in culture of which 18 completed RAD51 foci HRR assay. 3/18 were HRD and 15/18 were HRR competent (HRC). Niraparib growth inhibition studies were completed on 10 samples. The 2/10 samples that were HRD had lower mean GI50 when compared to 8/10 HRC samples (1.5 μ M vs 20 μ M, p=0.047). There were no clinicopathological or IHC markers which accurately correlated with HRR status in this small cohort.

Conclusion: Endometrial cancer cell lines are a limited resource with a lack of DNA repair dysfunction. There was modest potentiation when Niraparib 1 μ M was combined with IR, and no potentiation in combination with cisplatin.

It is possible to develop ex-vivo endometrial cancer cultures, but the lifespan of cultures is short. 3/18 patients were HRD with corresponding sensitivity to Niraparib.

This study justifies further exploration to determine the incidence of HRD in endometrial cancer, with initial studies suggesting a potential role in radiosensitisation and as a single agent treatment.

Further optimisation of primary cell culture is needed along with better models to test biomarkers for appropriate stratification of therapy. The results support taking forward PARPi into xenograft models and early phase clinical trials to determine exact role of PARPi in endometrial cancer.

Dedications

To Dr Wendy Dirks, one of life's true scientists. To my parents (David and Karen Blake) for always encouraging me to pursue my career aspirations without hesitation and giving me my very sociable side. And my brother (Daniel Blake), who inspires me every single day.

Acknowledgements

Thanks to Rachel O'Donnell, Nicola Curtin and Ali Kucukmetin for your supervision, unwavering support, and dedication in getting me through this MD. I will always be grateful to Rachel for her insane enthusiasm and positivity which I will take forward with me. I have found her supervision at the pub as equally supportive and would consider her a friend. So much to say about Nicola Curtin. Her knowledge, commitment and passion for science knows no bounds and whilst she is not directly patient facing, everything she does has the many thousands and millions of women she's helped with her research. Her patience has had some testing with my MD, but I am forever grateful for her input. I think I've just about understood that negative results are, if not more exciting than positive ones!

Thanks to the team of consultants at the Northern Gynaecological Oncology Centre, Gateshead for their support and tolerating my whining about balancing clinical time and research (Christine Ang, Ann Fisher, Nithya Ratnavelu, Ali Kucukmetin, Stuart Rundle and Porphyrios Korompelis). Particularly Chris (this MD thesis was a bit of a JFDI moment!). Thanks to the pathology consultants at the QE (Angela Ralte and Bronia Slana) without whose support, over a chapter of my thesis wouldn't have been possible. Thanks to Holly Buist and the pathology team at the RVI for helping me interpret my TMA and undertaking the staining, without hesitation.

Thanks to the wonderful people I have met in the lab (Lucy Gentles, Hannah Smith, Santu Saha, Sweta Saha and Vicky Chamberlain). I think I've worked out it's an incubator not a 'hot fridge'.

To the main scientific role models in my life growing up, Wendy and Don, thanks for your encouragement to go on and do research.

I am extremely grateful to my family (Sophie, Reggie and Penny, the rest of the Blake's and the Booy family) who bring calm to my crazy work life. Finally, thanks to Olaf (my future husband), without him, I don't think I'd have the self-belief to be who I am today. I'm excited to have our evenings back ⁽ⁱ⁾.

iv

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Dedicatio	onsiii
Acknowle	edgementsiv
Table of	Contentsv
List of Ta	blesx
List of fig	uresxi
Abbrevia	tionsxiii
Chapter 1	1. Introduction1
1.1	Incidence1
1.2	Survival2
1.3	Aetiology2
1.4	Classification of endometrial cancer5
1.4.1	L Histological subtypes
1.4.2	2 Pathogenic subtypes
1.4.3	3 Molecular subtypes
1.4.4	Molecular classification in clinical practice and implications
1.5	Endometrial cancer staging6
1.6	Treatment7
1.6.1	L Surgery for apparent early-stage disease7
1.6.2	2 Adjuvant therapy in endometrial cancer7
1.6.3	Radiotherapy7
1.6.4	Low risk endometrial cancer
1.6.5	5 Intermediate risk endometrial cancer13
1.6.6	5 High-intermediate endometrial cancer13
1.6.7	7 High risk endometrial cancer
1.6.8	Adjuvant chemotherapy13
1.6.9	7 Treatment of advanced stage/metastatic disease
1.6.1	10 Treatment of recurrent disease
1.7	DNA damage response (DDR)20
1.7.1	
1.7.2	2 BER aberrations in endometrial cancer22
1.7.3	
1.7.4	
1.7.5	
1.7.6	
1.7.7	
1.7.8	5 , 5 , ,
1.7.9	
1.7.1	0 1 ()
1.7.1	
1.7.1	12 Methods of detecting HRD

1.8	PARP as a novel therapeutic target in Endometrial cancer	
1.8.1		
1.8.2		
1.8.3	, , , ,	
1.9	PARPi in cancer therapy	41
1.10	PARPi in endometrial cancer	44
1.11	Niraparib	45
Chapter 2	2. Hypothesis and aims	51
2.1	Hypothesis	51
2.2	Aims	51
2.2.2	1 Pre-clinical	51
2.2.2	2 Translational	51
Chapter 3	3. Materials and methods	52
3.1	General laboratory practice	52
3.2	Chemicals and reagents	52
3.3	Cell lines	52
3.4	Cell culture	54
3.5	Sulforhodamine B (SRB) growth assay and growth inhibition	54
3.5.2		
3.5.2	2 Assay protocols and data analysis	55
3.6	Colony cell survival assay	56
3.6.2	1 Assay principle	56
3.6.2	2 Assay protocol	56
3.6.3	3 Single agent cytotoxicity	57
3.6.4	IR combination with Niraparib	58
3.6.5	5 Data analysis	58
3.7	Homologous recombination repair (HRR) functional assay	
3.7.2		
3.7.2 3.7.3	, ,	
	PARP assay	
3.8 3.8.2	-	
3.8.2		
3.8.3		
3.9	Thrombin clot	64
3.9.2		
3.9.2		
3.10	Tissue microarray	64
3.10	.1 Assay principle	64
3.10	.2 Assay protocol	65
3.11	Immunohistochemistry	66

-	1.1 Assay protocol	
3.1	1.2 Slide scanning and scoring	
3.12	Statistical analysis	
3.1		
3.1	2.2 Correlation analysis	68
Chapter	4. Endometrial cancer cell line characterisation	69
4.1	Introduction	
4.2	Aims and objectives	70
4.3	Materials and methods	71
4.4	Results	
4.4	- 1 07	
4.4		
4.4		
4.4		
4.4	0	
4.4		
4.4 4.4		
4.4	0	
	84	
4.5	Discussion	86
4.6	Conclusions	
4.6	Conclusions	
Chapter	5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition	in
Chapter endome	5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines	in 89
Chapter endome 5.1	5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines Introduction	in 89 89
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2	5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines Introduction Aims and Objectives	in 89 89
Chapter endome 5.1	5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines Introduction	in 89 89
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2	5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines Introduction Aims and Objectives	in 89
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3	5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results	in 89 90 90 91
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results .1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) 	in 89 90 90 91 91
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results .1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) .2 Single agent cytotoxicity: Cisplatin, Niraparib, IR. 	in 89 90 90 91 91 91 91
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results .1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) .2 Single agent cytotoxicity: Cisplatin, Niraparib, IR. .3 Correlations between LC50 cisplatin, Niraparib and LD50 IR. .4 Single agent growth inhibition with cisplatin and Niraparib. 	in 89 90 90 91 91 91 91 92 94 95
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction	in
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results .1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) .2 Single agent cytotoxicity: Cisplatin, Niraparib, IR. .3 Correlations between LC50 cisplatin, Niraparib and LD50 IR. .4 Single agent growth inhibition with cisplatin and Niraparib. .5 Correlations between single agent growth inhibition and single agent otoxicity. 	in
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results 1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) 2 Single agent cytotoxicity: Cisplatin, Niraparib, IR. 3 Correlations between LC50 cisplatin, Niraparib and LD50 IR. 4 Single agent growth inhibition with cisplatin and Niraparib. 5 Correlations between single agent growth inhibition and single agent otoxicity 6 Correlations between doubling time, fold increase H2AX and RADE 	in
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines	in
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines	<i>in</i>
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines	in
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 cyt 5.4 cyt 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results 1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) 2 Single agent cytotoxicity: Cisplatin, Niraparib, IR. 3 Correlations between LC50 cisplatin, Niraparib and LD50 IR. 4 Single agent growth inhibition with cisplatin and Niraparib. 5 Correlations between single agent growth inhibition and single age otoxicity 6 Correlations between doubling time, fold increase H2AX and RADE otoxicity to Cisplatin, Niraparib and IR. 7 Correlations between cell line characteristics, HRR status, and single otoxicity and growth inhibition 	in
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 cyt 5.4 cyt 5.4 cyt 5.4 cyt	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines	in
Chapter endome 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 5.4 cyt 5.4 cyt 5.4	 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition etrial cancer cell lines. Introduction Aims and Objectives Materials and Methods Results 1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) 2 Single agent cytotoxicity: Cisplatin, Niraparib, IR. 3 Correlations between LC50 cisplatin, Niraparib and LD50 IR. 4 Single agent growth inhibition with cisplatin and Niraparib. 5 Correlations between single agent growth inhibition and single age otoxicity 6 Correlations between doubling time, fold increase H2AX and RADE otoxicity to Cisplatin, Niraparib and IR. 7 Correlations between cell line characteristics, HRR status, and single otoxicity and growth inhibition 	in

Chapter	6. Potentiation of Cisplatin or IR by Niraparib	106				
6.1	1 Introduction					
6.2	Aims and Objectives	107				
6.3	Materials and methods	107				
6.4	Results	108				
6.4.	1 Radiation potentiation with Niraparib by colony formation assay	108				
6.4.	2 Potentiation of cisplatin with Niraparib by colony formation assay	109				
6.4.						
6.4.4		112				
6.4.						
	bition studies					
6.4.	6 Correlation with chemopotentiation vs. radiopotentiation	113				
6.5	Discussion	114				
6.6	Conclusion	116				
Chapter 2	7. Primary culture in endometrial cancer and exploration of homologous					
recombir	nation repair status	117				
7.1	Introduction: Primary culture	117				
7.2	Aims and objectives	118				
7.3	Materials and methods	118				
7.3.	1 Sample collection and primary culture	118				
7.3.	2 Final primary culture protocol	119				
7.3.	0					
7.3.4						
7.3.						
7.3.						
7.3.	7 0					
7.3.3 7.3.9	•					
7.3.						
7.4	Results					
7.4.						
7.4.	2 Sample collection and processing to obtain single cell suspension for cultur 124	e				
7.4.		125				
7.4.4						
7.4.						
7.4.	•					
7.4.						
7.4.						
7.4.9						
7.4.						
7.4.						
7.4.	12 Clinical characteristics and HRR status	140				
7.5	Discussion	141				

7.6	Conclusion	143
-	8. Homologous recombination repair and clinical implications in endometri	
8.1	Introduction	144
8.2	Aims and objectives	144
8.3	Materials and methods	145
8.4	Results	146
8.4.3	1 Clinical summary	146
8.4.2	2 Lymphovascular space invasion (LVSI)	146
8.4.3	3 Serosal clearance	146
8.4.4	4 Nodal involvement	147
8.4.	5 p53, MMR and PTEN IHC	147
8.4.6	6 ER and PR IHC	147
8.4.	7 Homologous recombination repair status and patient characteristics	148
8.4.8	B Determinants of overall survival (OS)	149
8.4.9	9 Correlations with HRR status and IHC markers	151
8.5	Discussion	153
8.6	Conclusion	155
Chapter S	9. Final discussion, conclusions, and future directions	156
9.1	Plan for future work	162
Appendia	< A	164
Appendix	с В	188
Appendix	۲ C	189
Referenc	es	193

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Risk factors for developing endometrial cancer	3
Table 1.2. Endometrial cancer classification	1
Table 1.3. FIGO staging for endometrial cancer	6
Table 1.4. Randomised trials of adjuvant radiotherapy in endometrial cancer	9
Table 1.5. Risk categories for adjuvant treatment in endometrial cancer	12
Table 1.6. Clinical trials in advanced endometrial cancer	15
Table 1.7. Phase III trials of chemotherapy used in the advanced or recurrent setting	18
Table 1.8. PARP inhibitor approvals in cancers	
Table 1.9 Ongoing clinical trials with Niraparib in endometrial cancer.	
Table 3.1. Panel of cell lines used in experimental work	
Table 3.2. Concentration ranges used for single agent experiments	57
Table 3.3. HRR assay antibodies.	
Table 3.4. IHC antibody table	
Table 4.1. Cell line characteristics	
Table 4.2. Summary data for functional HRR assay in 6 EC cell lines	
Table 4.3. Summary data for endogenous and activated PARP	
Table 5.1. Summary of cytotoxicity data	
Table 5.2. GI ₅₀ values of cisplatin and Niraparib alone	97
Table 5.3. Demonstrating PARP inhibition at Niraparib 1 μ M and the associated growth	า
inhibition at Niraparib 1 μM in growth inhibition studies by SRB	. 104
Table 6.1. Showing the potentiation chemo-potentiation of cisplatin (PF $_{50}$ and 1 μM	
cisplatin) to Niraparib 1 μ M and IR (PF ₅₀ and PF at 4 Gy)	. 111
Table 6.2. Demonstrating PF50 and potentiation at Cisplatin 1 µM when cisplatin is in	
combination with Niraparib 1 μ M by growth inhibition	. 112
Table 7.1. Culture outcomes by endometrial cancer subtype	. 129
Table 7.2. Cell sizes	
Table 7.3. Patient-derived EC primary cultures	. 133
Table 7.4. Contingency table of Tumour subtype and culture outcome	135

List of figures

Figure 1.1.Incidence of endometrial cancer	1
Figure 1.2. Endometrial cancer survival by stage	2
Figure 1.3. The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) study in endometrial cancer	4
Figure 1.4. The progression free survival between endometrial cancer TCGA subgroups	5
Figure 1.5. Base excision repair (BER)/single strand break repair (SSBR) pathway	22
Figure 1.6. Nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway	24
Figure 1.7. Mismatch repair pathway (MMR) pathway	27
Figure 1.8. Non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) pathway	32
Figure 1.9. Homologous recombination repair (HRR) pathway	34
Figure 1.10. Structure of PARP1 and PARP2	39
Figure 1.11. Synthetic lethality	40
Figure 1.12. Chemical structure of Niraparib	46
Figure 3.1. TMA layout.	66
Figure 4.1. Cell line doubling times for AN3CA and HEC1A	72
Figure 4.2A. Functional HRR assay for AN3CA cell line	
Figure 4.3. Determination of HRR status of for EC cell lines	
Figure 4.4 The increase H2AX and RAD51 in the endometrial cancer cell lines	81
Figure 4.5. Endogenous and activated PARP in endometrial cancer cell lines	82
Figure 4.6. Correlations between baseline and activated PARP	83
Figure 4.7. Correlations between cell doubling time, H2AX and RAD51 foci formation,	
baseline and activated PARP	
Figure 5.1. PARP inhibition in endometrial cancer cell lines	91
Figure 5.2. Cytotoxicity of cisplatin, Niraparib and IR by colony formation assay	
Figure 5.3. Scatter plot of LC/D50 to Cisplatin, Niraparib and IR	
Figure 5.4. Growth inhibition with single agent cisplatin and Niraparib by SRB assay	
Figure 5.5. Scatter plots of Cisplatin GI50 vs. LC50 and Niraparib GI50 vs. LC50	
Figure 5.6 Percentage growth vs. percentage survival at a given concentration of Nirapa	
Figure 5.7. Scatter plot of cell doubling time	
Figure 5.8. Correlations between cell doubling time. fold increase H2AX and fold increase	
RAD51	101
Figure 5.9. Scatter plot of baseline PAR, activated PAR and Niraparib IC50 (PARP inhibit	ion)
vs. Niraparib LC50	-
Figure 6.1. Enhancement of IR by Niraparib	
Figure 6.2. Enhancement of cisplatin by Niraparib	
Figure 6.3. Growth inhibition studies by SRB investigation sensitisation of four	
endometrial cancer cell lines to cisplatin ± Niraparib 1 μM	.111
Figure 6.4 Chemopotentiation in growth inhibition vs. chemopotentiation in colony	
survival	.113
Figure 6.5. Chemopotentiation vs. radiopotentiation by Niraparib. Each point represent	ts
the mean fold potentiation seen in each cell line.	
Figure 7.1 Sample collection and protocol flow diagram	
Figure 7.2. Primary culture morphology	.122
Figure 7.3. Attrition of endometrial primary pipelle biopsy samples	.126
Figure 7.4. Images of culture outcomes	
Figure 7.5. Progression to fibroblastic overgrowth in primary culture	
Figure 7.6. Box and whisker plot showing summary statistics	.134

igure 7.7. Primary culture HRR determination	137
igure 7.8. Summary data of Functional HRR assay data in primary culture in primary	138
igure 7.9 Growth inhibition studies with single agent Niraparib from cultured primary	
endometrial cancer samples	139
igure 8.1 Final TMA block image	146
igure 8.2 TMA cores	148
igure 8.3. Kaplan Meier curve; stage vs. overall survival	149
igure 8.4. Kaplan meier curve; HRR status vs. survival	150
igure 8.5. Kaplan meier plot; nodal status vs. survival	150
igure 8.6. Kaplan meier plot; histological subtype vs. survival	151
igure 8.7. Kaplan meier plot; serosal clearance < 3 mm vs. survival	151

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Full terminology
BER	Base excision repair
DDR	DNA damage response
DSB	Double strand break
EBRT	External beam radiotherapy
EC	Endometrial cancer
ER	Oestrogen receptor
FIGO	International federation of gynaecology and
	obstetrics
НИРСС	Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer
HRR	Homologous recombination
HRD/C	Homologous recombination deficient/competent
ІНС	Immunohistochemistry
LVSI	lymphovascular space invasion
MMR	Mismatch repair
MSI	Microsatellite instability
NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NAT	No adjuvant therapy
NER	Nucleotide excision repair
NHEJ	non-homologous end joining
OS	Overall survival
PARP	Poly (ADP ribose) polymerase
PCOS	Polycystic ovarian syndrome
PFS	Progression free survival
PR	Progesterone receptor
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin analogue
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SSB	Single strand break
TCGA	The cancer genome atlas
VBT	Vaginal brachytherapy

DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
RAD51	Rad 51 homologue
SRB	Sulforhodamine B
UV	Ultraviolet
XRCC	X-ray cross complementing
BSO	Bilateral salpingoophorectomy
ТАН	Total abdominal hysterectomy
ATCC	American type culture collection
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
Gy	Gray
HRC	Homologous recombination competent
IR	Irradiation
LC50	Lethal concentration 50
LD50	Lethal dose 50

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Incidence

Endometrial cancer is the most common gynaecological malignancy. It is the fourth most common cancer in women with 9700 women diagnosed every year (2016-2018) in the UK and a prevalence of 320, 000 worldwide (Macmillan, 2018). It predominantly affects post-menopausal women with a peak incidence between 75-79 years. The incidence has increased by 59% from 1993 to 2018 with the largest increase seen in the 70-79 (85%) age group. This increase in incidence has been shown to be due to rising levels of obesity, increased life expectancy and the use of adjuvant hormonal therapy in the treatment of receptor positive breast cancer (Raglan et al., 2019) (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1.**Incidence of endometrial cancer**. Upward trend in the incidence of endometrial cancer in the UK(from (CRUK, 2022)) from under 20 per 100,000 women between 1993-1995 to 30 per 100,000 women between 2016-2018.

1.2 Survival

The overall five-year survival of endometrial cancer is 76%, with most women presenting with low grade tumours confined to the uterus (Figure 1.2). However, in those women who present with advanced disease or those with aggressive tumour histological subtypes, response rates to conventional treatments are poor (Crosbie et al., 2022). Whilst this high-risk group only represent 28% of endometrial cancer, it accounts for 78% of endometrial cancer related deaths (Boruta et al., 2009) and there is therefore urgent need for better treatment options for these women.





1.3 Aetiology

Endometrial cancers are broadly subdivided into 5 main histological subtypes (see Section 1.4.1), of which endometrioid adenocarcinoma is the most common. Endometrioid endometrial cancer is associated with unopposed oestrogen stimulation with a recognised

precursor lesion, endometrial hyperplasia. The remaining histological subtypes are commonly described as oestrogen independent, arising within atrophic endometrium. Risk factors for endometrial cancer are outlined in Table 1.1.

Endometrial cancer risk factors				
Advancing age				
Smoking				
Type 2 Diabetes mellitus				
Pelvic irradiation				
Oestrogen				
Obesity through peripheral aromatisation of androgens to				
estrone				
Hormone replacement therapy				
• Selective oestrogen receptor modulators (SERM, ie Tamoxifen)				
Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS through chronic				
anovulation)				
Phyto-oestrogens				
Nulliparity				
Early menarche, late menopause				
Oestrogen secreting tumours				
Genetic				
Lynch syndrome				
Cowden's syndrome				
Family history of endometrial cancer (without germline				
mutations)				

Table 1.1. **Risk factors for developing endometrial cancer**. The main driver for the most common type (endometrioid) is unopposed oestrogen therapy. Obesity and type II diabetes contribute as part of the metabolic syndrome with adipose tissue converting peripheral circulating androgens to oestrogen by aromatase (Raglan et al., 2019).

Around 2-5% of endometrial cancers are due to an underlying genetic predisposition. The most common of which is Lynch syndrome, also known as hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) which is associated with 3% of endometrial cancers (Ryan et al., 2019). Lynch syndrome results in a greater risk of colorectal cancer, as well as endometrial, stomach, pancreatic and breast cancer (Kwon et al., 2011). It is an autosomal dominant syndrome which is characterised by germline mutations in at least one mismatch repair (MMR) gene which encode for the proteins MLH1, MSH2, PMS2 or MSH6. These proteins are responsible for genomic integrity by correcting DNA base mismatches resulting from replication errors (discussed in Section 1.7.5). Loss of function of MMR proteins is termed mismatch repair deficiency (MMRd) which leads to microsatellite instability (MSI), a hypermutated phenotype which results in increased cancer susceptibility (Ahadova et al., 2018). Women with germline MLH1 mutations have the greatest cumulative risk of developing endometrial cancer with a 60% lifetime risk of developing endometrial cancer. However, loss of MLH1 is most often due to epigenetic silencing by promoter hypermethylation and is therefore sporadic rather than part of Lynch syndrome (Constantinou and Tischkowitz, 2017).

A large proportion of endometrial tumours have been shown to harbour a high burden of MSI, the majority of which are due to somatic mutations in MLH1. Recent evidence suggests that these women may harbour mutations in genes involved in the repair of double stranded DNA breaks (such as MRE11) (Giannini et al., 2002, Koppensteiner et al., 2014).

Similarly, some families with endometrial cancer have been found to harbour germline mutations in DNA polymerase δ and ε (Burgers, 2009, Hindges and Hubscher, 1997), both of which are involved in the recognition of mispaired bases during replication and utilise the MMR system. The mutation in POL ε encodes the catalytic subunit of DNA polymerase ε and POL δ 1, a gene that encodes the catalytic subunit of DNA polymerase δ . POL δ 1 mutations predisposes to early onset endometrial cancer as well as colorectal cancer (Palles et al., 2013).

Recent research has focused on genetic polymorphisms associated with endometrial cancer. Although many polymorphisms have been identified, their clinical significance remains unclear (Shai et al., 2014). Cowden's syndrome is a rare condition resulting from a mutation

4

in the tumour suppressor gene phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). This autosomal dominant condition results in a 5 times higher risk of endometrial cancer as well as increased risk of thyroid and breast cancers (Tan et al., 2012, Eng, 2003).

There is conflicting evidence of the association of BRCA mutations and serous endometrial cancer, with recent genomic data supporting a potential link (Goshen et al., 2000, Shu et al., 2016, Moslehi et al., 2000, Thompson et al., 2002).

1.4 Classification of endometrial cancer

1.4.1 Histological subtypes

Epithelial endometrial cancer can be classified broadly histologically into endometrioid, clear cell, serous, mucinous, carcinosarcoma, mixed cell and undifferentiated, each with their own typical morphology and natural history (Table 1.2). Endometrioid histology accounts for around 80%. Tumours are graded using the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) classification system with an increasing proportion of solid growth pattern described from Grade 1 (well differentiated) to Grade 3 (poorly differentiated). In endometrial cancer grades 1-2 are low grade and grade 3 is considered a high grade tumour, grouped with the remaining histological subtypes. The majority of endometrioid tumours express both oestrogen (ER) and progesterone receptors (PR).

Serous cancers are the second most common (10%) subtype and are associated with a poorer prognosis, as there is often occult extrauterine spread to peritoneal surfaces, not dissimilar to high grade serous ovarian cancer. Clear cell endometrial cancer is uncommon with an incidence of 3%, often presenting at an advanced stage. Carcinosarcomas are a rare type of endometrial tumour which contain both epithelial and malignant stromal components but it is still regarded and managed as an epithelial tumour.

Gynaecological sarcomas are rare and account for 2% of uterine cancer. They are subdivided into mesenchymal tumours (leiomyosarcoma and endometrial stromal tumours) and mixed tumours such as adenosarcomas.

5

1.4.2 Pathogenic subtypes

On the basis of differences in histology and clinical outcomes, Bokhman separated endometrial cancers into two groups, type I and 2 tumours (Bokhman, 1983). Type II tumours are less differentiated and have a poorer prognosis in comparison to type I tumours, and they account for a disproportionate number of endometrial cancer deaths (40%). The genetic alterations found in type I and type II cancers consistently differ suggesting that they have distinct aetiologies (Sherman, 2000, Hecht and Mutter, 2006, Setiawan et al., 2013).

In clinical practice, establishing the correct histological subtype and therefore pathogenic subtype on pre-operative biopsies remains difficult with recognised inter-observer variability (Scholten et al., 2004). A review of serous cancers in two tertiary gynaecological cancer units found variable expression of p53, ER and WT1 status in serous carcinomas, concluding that immunohistochemistry (IHC) alone is not reliable in pre-resection diagnostic biopsies (Murali et al., 2019). Several studies have further demonstrated wide interobserver variability and poor reproducibility using morphology alone (Han et al., 2013, Nedergaard et al., 1995, Gilks et al., 2013). Inaccuracies in the interpretation of diagnostic biopsies has implications regarding extent of surgery and discrepancies between diagnostic and resection pathology makes recommendation for adjuvant therapy difficult (Trimble et al., 1999).

	Endom	etrioid	Serous	Clear cell	Carcinosarcoma
Morphology					
% of endometrial cancers	>70%	5%	5-10%	5%	<5%
Bokhmann class 1 2					
FIGO Grade	1/2	3			
5-year survival	85%	50%			
Genomic stability	Diploid (MSI high	Aneuploid			
	40%)				
Common mutations	PI3K, K-RAS, PTEN,	P53, P16, HER2, ARID1A (clear cell)			
	MSI, β -catenin				
Hormone receptor status	Positive (ER/PR)	More commonly negative			

Table 1.2. Endometrial cancer classification into Type I and Type II tumours showing histology subtypes with representative image, frequency, genetic alterations, hormone receptor and survival (adapted from (Morice et al., 2016)). Whilst the common mutations are seen largely within one 'type', there is varying degrees of crossover. PTEN, PI3K mutations are seen across all subtypes, KRAS mutations are not seen in clear cell cancers.

1.4.3 Molecular subtypes

The Cancer genome atlas (TCGA) proposed four discrete groups within high grade (type II) endometrial cancer based on tumour biology (Cancer Genome Atlas Research et al., 2013) which has been subsequently confirmed in large cohorts in Canada and the Transportec group (Edmondson et al., 2017, Kommoss et al., 2018a, Auguste et al., 2018). The TCGA studied 373 endometrial cancers comprising grade 3 endometrioid and serous subtypes. Integrated genomic, transcriptomic and proteomic characterisation enabled characterisation into four distinct groups (Figure 1.3 and 1.4);

copy number high, serous like (based on the somatic copy number alterations)
 (26%)

2) copy number low (39%)

- 3) microsatellite instability (MSI) hypermutated (28%) and,
- 4) POL ε ultra-mutated (7%).

This categorisation revealed a proportion of endometrial cancers that behave more aggressively (copy number high) in comparison to other groups with a more indolent behaviour (POL ϵ ultra-mutated).

The copy number high, serous-like group show high prevalence of TP53 mutations and copy number alterations, and had the worse overall survival. When examined more closely they have specific alterations in for example, IGF1R and FGFR1/3 genes that encode for tyrosine kinases, which when activated trigger a cascade that leads to the activation of multiple signal transduction pathways such as RAS/RAF/MAPK/PI3K promoting cell proliferation, survival, invasiveness (epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition) and angiogenesis (Li et al., 2018a). Serous uterine cancers appear to share similar genomic features with ovarian serous and triple negative breast cancers, both of which harbour defects in homologous recombination DNA repair (HRR) (see Section 1.7.9).

The POL ε group, which have a mutation exonuclease domain of the catalytic subunit of DNA polymerase epsilon (POL ε), have a high mutation load but an excellent prognosis. The TCGA study also demonstrated that high grade endometrioid cancers are a heterogenous group with 25% harbouring TP53 mutations, associated with poor prognosis, whilst 7% have POLE mutation with a more favourable prognosis. This molecular classification, with more accurate prognostic prediction, is forming the basis for clinical trials stratifying patients into

treatment groups based on endometrial cancer biology. The Royal College of Pathology have a minimal requirement of reporting in endometrial cancer which includes, ER, PR, p53 and MMR protein IHC status. With NICE recommending POLε studies as well as Lynch syndrome testing in selected individuals (NICE, 2019), this will facilitate enrolment into clinical trials, provide prognostic information, epidemiological analysis as well as identify those at risk of genetic syndromes.

1.4.4 Molecular classification in clinical practice and implications

Following the identification by the TCGA of 4 molecular subtypes in endometrial cancer, the Proactive Molecular Risk Classifier for Endometrial Cancer (ProMisE) was developed and validated for clinical use. It includes a combination of IHC marker staining (p53 and MMR proteins) and targeted sequencing of 11 known pathogenic variants in the POLE exonuclease domain to assign endometrial cancers into POLE ultramutated, dMMR, NSMP and p53abn (León-Castillo et al., 2020a, McAlpine et al., 2018). Attempts have been made to classify into these groups using clinicopathological data alone (Karnezis et al., 2017, Kommoss et al., 2018b, Talhouk et al., 2015, Talhouk et al., 2017). Whilst most of the serous cancers are p53abn and low-grade cancers fit into the NSMP groups, it is difficult to accurately classify high grade cancers without specific targeted testing. In 2020, the 5th edition of the WHO Female Genital Tract Tumours recommended the integration of the molecular classification in the diagnosis of all endometrial cancers (McCluggage et al., 2022). MMR IHC testing has been widely integrated, due to its implication on germline testing and available immunotherapy options in these patients. The cost and speed of POLE testing has been a major barrier to its introduction. A more targeted approach to testing has been suggested by the British Association of Gynaecological Pathologists where it would alter management (Betella et al., 2022).

The order of testing is important as there is a 3-5% risk of an endometrial cancer having multiple classifiers (León-Castillo et al., 2020b). It has been identified that POLEmut-dMMR and POLEmut-p53abn endometrial cancers have morphology and clinical behaviour aligned with POLEmut tumours and should therefore be considered as such. Similarly, dMMR-p53abn tumours have similar clinical behaviour as the dMMR only group and therefore should be considered as dMMR tumours.

2

The tumours in each molecular subgroup are likely to require different approaches to adjuvant therapy and is currently being investigated in clinical trials. POLEmut endometrial cancers, particularly in the early stage, have an excellent prognosis and this is independent of the adjuvant therapy received and are likely to allow for treatment de-escalation. dMMR tumours are likely to be less chemosensitive and are known to respond well to immunotherapy, whereas p53mut cancers are aggressive and are likely to have a better outcome with the addition of systemic chemotherapy, even in early stage disease (McAlpine et al., 2021).



Figure 1.3. **The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) study in endometrial cancer** undertook integrated genomic, transcriptomic and proteomic characterisation using array and sequencing in a cohort of all endometrial cancers types Similarities were noted between different tumours in terms of copy number and genomic alterations. The TCGA clustered endometrial cancers into four categories: POLɛ ultramutated, microsatellite instability hypermutated, copy-number low, and copy-number high, with PFS worsening across the groups. Image from Levine et al (Cancer Genome Atlas Research et al., 2013).



Figure 1.4. **The progression free survival between endometrial cancer TCGA subgroups**. Image from Levine et al(Cancer Genome Atlas Research et al., 2013). A clear difference in progression free survival was noted between each group in terms of copy number alteration and mutation profile.

1.5 Endometrial cancer staging

The International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) classifies endometrial cancer into four stages (Table 1.3). This encompasses all epithelial subtypes but not endometrial sarcomas.

FIGO Stage		Description	5-year survival	
1	1A	<50% myometrial invasion, confined to uterus	92%	
	1B	>50% myometrial invasion, confined to uterus		
2		Cervical stromal involvement, confined to uterus	74%	
3	3A	Invasion to uterine serosa and/or adnexal involvement	48%	
	3B	Vaginal and/or parametrial invasion		
	3C1	Metastases to pelvic lymph nodes		
	3C2	Metastases to para-aortic lymph nodes		
4	4A	Invasion to bladder and/or bowel mucosa	15%	
	4A	Distant metastases e.g. abdomen, liver, lungs, bone, inguinal nodes		

Table 1.3. **FIGO staging for endometrial cancer** 2018 with 5-year survival. Adapted from Creasman (2009).

1.6 Treatment

1.6.1 Surgery for apparent early-stage disease

Surgery is the cornerstone of treatment of early-stage endometrial cancer and is necessary in the majority to accurately stage the cancer. For most patients who present with Stage 1A disease (endometrial cancer confined to the uterus), surgery alone is curative. Surgery for endometrial cancer consists of removal of the uterus, cervix, fallopian tubes and typically ovaries. For Bokhman type II tumours (serous, clear cell, carcinosarcoma or G3 endometrioid subtypes), confined to the uterus on pre-operative cross sectional imaging, the addition of lymph node assessment is recommended (Creasman et al., 1987). A minimally invasive surgical approach (laparoscopic or robotic) reduces morbidity, in comparison to a traditional laparotomy, without impacting on survival (Janda et al., 2006). The role and extent of lymphadenectomy has been contentious with two randomised trials demonstrating no survival advantage but a more recent study showing a benefit of removal of all lymph nodes in the pelvic and para-aortic regions (Benedetti Panici et al., 2008, Todo et al., 2010). Sentinel lymph node biopsy has almost entirely replaced full systematic lymphadenectomy in those patients with non-bulky lymph nodes, with an associated reduction in morbidity without missing the lymph node most likely to be involved with cancer (Rossi et al., 2017, Nagar et al., 2021, Sozzi et al., 2020, Persson et al., 2019).

1.6.2 Adjuvant therapy in endometrial cancer

The aim of adjuvant therapy following staging surgery in endometrial cancer is to reduce the risk of recurrence. As most patients present with Bokhmann type I Stage 1A endometrioid endometrial cancer, surgery alone is sufficient, and they do not require adjuvant therapy. Stratification of adjuvant radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy is based upon histological subtype, stage, presence of lymphovascular space invasion (LVSI), surgical margin and molecular classification if available. Table 1.5 summarises the adjuvant therapy of offered to patients with endometrial cancer according to their risk stratification.

1.6.3 Radiotherapy

Adjuvant therapy in offered to patient according to risk factors in endometrial cancer and can include vaginal brachytherapy (VBT) with or without external beam radiotherapy (EBRT).

7

VBT is a form of internal irradiation using a small radioactive applicator delivered directly to the vaginal vault following hysterectomy. Addition of brachytherapy has been shown to reduce the rate of local recurrence from 14% to 7% (Nout et al., 2010, Creutzberg et al., 2000). EBRT is considered for the intermediate groups and involves provision of 50 Gy across 25 fractions with 5 fractions delivered per week. Use of EBRT has been shown to reduce risk of local recurrence from 14% to 4% (Keys et al., 2004) (Table 1.4). Whilst there is a reduction in local recurrence, adjuvant radiotherapy does not impact on overall survival in those women who have no treatment vs. adjuvant radiotherapy. EBRT can also be used for the treatment of inoperable advanced stage disease to reduce tumour burden and control symptoms (Colombo et al., 2013).

Trial	Patients	Surgery	Comparison	Locoregional	Survival
	Group			recurrence	difference
Norwegian (Aalders et al., 1980)	Stage I	TAH BSO	VBT vs VBT and EBRT	7% vs 2 %	None
PORTEC-1 (Creutzberg et al., 2000)	1b G2/3 lc G1/2	TAH BSO	NAT vs EBRT	14% vs 4%	None
GOG-99 (Keys et al., 2004)	1b-2	TAH BSO and lymphadenectomy	NAT vs EBRT	12% vs 3%	None
ASTEC/EN5 (Group et al., 2009)	1a/b G3, IC, Stage II, Serous and clear cell	TAH BSO ± lymphadenectomy	NAT vs EBRT	7% vs 4%	None
PORTEC-2 (Nout et al., 2010)	>60 1b G3, 1c G1-2	TAH BSO	VBT vs EBRT	2% vs 2%	None

Table 1.4. **Randomised trials of adjuvant radiotherapy in endometrial cancer** and their results. They conclude that the risk of locoregional recurrence is lower when certain intermediate-high risk women are given adjuvant radiotherapy, but this does not impact on overall survival. 75% of recurrences occur at the vaginal vault, the PORTEC-2 trial set out to establish whether (vault brachytherapy) VBT was as good as (external beam radiotherapy) EBRT as well a quality-of-life indicators. Overall, there was no difference in locoregional recurrence between the two groups and no impact on overall survival. However, patients had a more favourable side effect profile with VBT. TAH BSO: Total abdominal hysterectomy and bilateral salpingoophorectomy. Table adapted from (Creutzberg and Nout, 2011). NAT =no adjuvant treatment. VBT= vault brachytherapy. EBRT= External beam radiotherapy.

Risk group	Molecular classification	Molecular classification known	Adjuvant treatment	
	unknown			
Low	Stage IA endometrioid + low-	Stage I-II POLEmut endometrial carcinoma, no residual	No adjuvant treatment	
	grade* + LVSI negative or focal	disease		
		Stage IA MMRd/NSMP endometrioid		
Intermediate	Stage IB endometrioid + low-	Stage IB MMRd/NSMP endometrioid carcinoma + low-	Vaginal brachytherapy	
	grade* + LVSI negative or focal	grade* + LVSI negative or focal		
	Stage IA endometrioid + high-	Stage IA MMRd/NSMP endometrioid carcinoma +	Surveillance is an option	
	grade* + LVSI negative or focal	high-grade* + LVSI negative or focal		
	Stage IA non-endometrioid**	Stage IA p53abn and/or non-endometrioid** without		
	without myometrial invasion	myometrial invasion		

High -	Stage I endometrioid +	Stage I MMRd/NSMP endometrioid carcinoma +	External beam radiotherapy
intermediate	substantial LVSI, regardless of	substantial LVSI, regardless of grade and depth of	+/- VBT particularly for no
	grade and depth of invasion	invasion	nodal staging, extensive LVSI
			or Stage II Vaginal
	Stage IB endometrioid high-	Stage IB MMRd/NSMP endometrioid carcinoma high-	brachytherapy is an option if
	grade*, regardless of LVSI	grade*, regardless of LVSI status	node negative
	status		
	Stage II	Stage II MMRd/NSMP endometrioid carcinoma	Consider chemotherapy only
			if no nodal staging and
			extensive LVSI
High	Stage III-IVA with no residual	Stage III-IVA MMRd/NSMP endometrioid carcinoma	EBRT +/- VBT Chemotherapy
	disease	with no residual disease	with carboplatin and
			paclitaxel
	Stage I-IVA non-	Stage I-IVA p53abn endometrial carcinoma with	
	endometrioid** with	myometrial invasion, with no residual disease	
	myometrial invasion, and with		
	no residual disease	Stage I-IVA NSMP/MMRd serous, undifferentiated	
		carcinoma, carcinosarcoma with myometrial invasion,	
		with no residual disease	

Advanced /	Stage III-IVA with residual	Stage III-IVA with residual disease of any molecular	Chemotherapy with
Metastatic	disease	type	carboplatin and paclitaxel
	Stage IVB	Stage IVB of any molecular type	

Table 1.5. **Risk categories for adjuvant treatment in endometrial cancer**. They are divided into low, intermediate, high-intermediate, high and advanced/metastatic. They are defined based on stage, grade, histological subtype, myometrial invasion and presence or lymphovascular space invasion (LVSI). The recent ESMO/ESTRO classification of risk in endometrial cancer now includes molecular profiling. The risk categories can be defined in the presence of the molecular classification or its absence. Possible adjuvant therapies are shown according to endometrial cancer risk. *=grade 1 or 2. POLɛ mut= POLɛ mutation, MMRd=Mismatch repair deficiency, NSMP=non-specific molecular profile/copy number low (tumours fall into this category when they do not fall into another), p53abn=p53 mutant staining pattern. This table was adapted from the 2020 ESMO/ESTRO/ESP guidelines (Concin et al., 2021).
1.6.4 Low risk endometrial cancer

Multiple studies have failed to demonstrate a survival benefit of adjuvant therapy in patients with low-risk endometrial cancer. Recent British guidance suggests omitting adjuvant therapy in patients with stage I-II disease if patients have a POLε mutation (Morrison et al., 2022).

1.6.5 Intermediate risk endometrial cancer

The addition of VBT in patients with intermediate risk disease is recommended to reduce risk of recurrence and consideration can be given to omitting it in younger patients. Whilst there is an improvement in progression free survival, there appears to be no survival advantage.

1.6.6 High-intermediate endometrial cancer

Management of high-intermediate endometrial cancer depends on whether nodal staging has been performed. If nodal staging has been performed and there is no LVSI, consideration should be for brachytherapy alone otherwise EBRT is recommended. However, if nodal staging has not been performed adjuvant EBRT is recommended, and consideration should be given to adjuvant chemotherapy if substantial LVSI is present. It should be noted that if molecular markers are known i.e. POLEmut or p53abn, consideration should be given to treating them as low risk or high risk respectively.

1.6.7 High risk endometrial cancer

EBRT with concurrent adjuvant chemotherapy or sequential chemotherapy (carboplatin/paclitaxel) and radiotherapy is recommended. If systematic lymphadenectomy has been performed, then consideration of adjuvant chemotherapy alone or with VBT should be given.

1.6.8 Adjuvant chemotherapy

The evidence for adjuvant chemotherapy in surgically staged early endometrial cancer is conflicting, as this is largely based on 9 heterogenous studies which included a variety of drugs and dosing regimens (Table 1.6). A Cochrane review demonstrated a small survival benefit (4%) in those women who were given adjuvant chemotherapy indiscriminately following surgery for endometrial cancer irrespective of whether they have had previous

radiotherapy (Johnson et al., 2011). However, the results of 3 recent randomised controlled trials taken together support the use of carboplatin-paclitaxel as first line standard of care in stage 3-4a disease and stage 1-2 serous endometrial cancers with myometrial invasion along with either concurrent or sequential radiotherapy (Concin et al., 2021).

Study, trial name	Stage	Arms	PFS	OS
Randall et al. (2006)	3-4	Doxorubicin/cisplatin vs. Whole abdominal	Improved with	Improved with
GOG 122		irradiation	chemotherapy	chemotherapy
Maggi et al. (2006)	1C-3	Cisplatin/doxorubicin/cyclophosphamaide vs.	No difference	No difference
		pelvic +/- para-aortic radiotherapy		
Susumu et al. (2008)	1C-3	Cisplatin/doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide	No difference	No difference
		vs. pelvic irradiation		
Kuoppala et al. (2008)	1A/B grade 3,	Pelvic irradiation, cisplatin /epirubicin	No difference	No difference
	1C-3A	/cyclophosphamide vs. pelvic irradiation		
Hogberg et al. (2010)	1-3	Radiotherapy/chemotherapy (various	Improved with	No difference but a
NSGO-EC-9501/EORTC-		chemotherapy regimens) vs. radiotherapy	chemotherapy and	trend in pooled
55991 and MaNGO			radiotherapy	analysis towards
ILIADE-III				improvement
Morrow et al. (1990)	1-3	pelvic +/- para-aortic radiotherapy	No difference	No difference
		/Doxorubicin vs. pelvic +/- para-aortic		
		radiotherapy alone		
Wolfson et al. (2007)	1-4 uterine	Cisplatin /ifosfamide /mesna vs. whole	No difference	No difference
	carcinosarcoma	abdominal irradiation		

Table 1.6. **Clinical trials in advanced endometrial cancer**. With chemotherapy +/- radiotherapy in high risk or locally advanced endometrial cancer, along with progression free or overall survival. The trials demonstrate the heterogeneity in studies and lack of consistent evidence.

1.6.9 Treatment of advanced stage/metastatic disease

Traditionally women with stage III/IV disease, receive a combination of palliative chemotherapy and radiotherapy without surgery. However, akin to the management of advanced ovarian cancer, there are reports of favourable survival with surgical cytoreduction (excision of all visible tumour) followed by adjuvant therapies, however high-quality data are lacking (Bristow et al., 2001, Bristow et al., 2002, Memarzadeh et al., 2002). A meta-analysis included 10 studies with patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery at primary presentation demonstrated that there was a 9-month survival benefit with every 10% increase towards complete cytoreduction. Cytoreduction in endometrial cancer demonstrates similar survival patterns to ovarian cancer in that those patients who have no residual disease after surgery (complete cytoreduction), have a survival benefit of 48 months, compared to disease <1 cm remaining (optimal cytoreduction) with survival of 23 months and worst is seen in those with residual disease > 1 cm after surgery (suboptimal cytoreduction) with survival of only 14 months (Eto et al., 2012).

The role of neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) in advanced endometrial cancer is controversial due to lack of assessment in randomised controlled trials. However, there are several retrospective cohort studies describing the use of NACT followed by interval debulking surgery (IDS) in patients not suitable for upfront surgery, the largest studies demonstrating a response rate of 76% with carboplatin/paclitaxel (de Lange et al., 2019).

Chemotherapy typically consists of platinum agents, taxanes and anthracyclines. Historically doxorubicin (anthracycline) was used as a single agent but no overall survival advantage was seen until the introduction of taxanes (Bestvina and Fleming, 2016). The best response rates were seen in patients given paclitaxel/doxorubicin/cisplatin (TAP) when compared to doxorubicin/cisplatin (Homesley et al., 2009) (Table 1.7). However, the combination resulted in significant rates of myelosuppression. Results from GOG209, a non-inferiority trial comparing cisplatin/paclitaxel and TAP, which proved non-inferior with less myelosuppression and resulted in its widespread use (Miller et al., 2020a).

There is a lack of efficacious second line treatment regimes in those women who progress on first line treatment or recur out with the platinum sensitive window. Rates are disappointing with oxaliplatin showing the most promise since taxanes have been transferred to the first line (Fracasso et al., 2006). The phenomenon of 'platinum sensitivity' or response is also seen in some patients in endometrial cancer. A multicentre retrospective cohort study demonstrated that the greater the time from original platinum chemotherapy, the greater the response rate, PFS and OS when re-challenged with platinum. Response rates of 25% were seen if within 6 months and 65% if greater than 24 months (Nagao et al., 2013). The phenomenon is seen in ovarian cancer and is used as a surrogate marker of homologous recombination repair deficiency (HRD).

Study	Arms	Progression free	Overall survival	
		survival		
Thigpen et al.	Doxorubicin	N/A	Improved with	
(1994)	Doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide		combination	
			treatment	
van Wijk et al.	Doxorubicin	No difference	Trend towards	
(2003)	Doxorubicin/cisplatin		improvement	
			with	
			combination	
			treatment	
Thigpen et al.	Doxorubicin	Improved with	N/A	
(2004)	Doxorubicin/cisplatin	combination		
		treatment		
Fleming et al.	Doxorubicin/cisplatin	No difference	No difference	
(2004b)	Doxorubicin/Paclitaxel			
Fleming et al.	Doxorubicin/cisplatin	Improved with	Improved with	
(2004a)	Doxorubicin/cisplatin/paclitaxel	triple therapy	triple therapy	
Miller et al.	Carboplatin/paclitaxel	No difference	No difference	
(2020a)	Doxorubicin/cisplatin/paclitaxel			

Table 1.7. **Phase III trials of chemotherapy used in the advanced or recurrent setting** and whether there was an improvement in progression free and/or overall survival. NA where information is not available.

1.6.10 Treatment of recurrent disease

Treatment of recurrent endometrial cancer depends on prior treatment modalities and extent of disease with no standard of care. However, it is agreed that an MDT approach should be used in these patients, often taking a multimodal approach. Women with an isolated vaginal recurrence, without prior irradiation, should be considered for radical radiotherapy which appears to result in better additional survival compared to surgery. For those women who have had prior radiotherapy, surgery should be considered if complete resection with clear margins is possible. Patients with < 5 sites of disease (oligometastatic disease) should be considered for targeted radiotherapy or surgery with or without the addition of systemic therapy (Dhanis et al., 2022). Patients with multisite, widespread disease are however best considered for palliative systematic therapy. There is emerging evidence of the potential benefit of secondary cytoreductive surgery in selected patients, but the evidence is not of high quality.

Selected patients with grade 1-2 endometrioid cancer, with oestrogen/progesterone receptor positive tumours may benefit from hormonal treatment. Systemic therapy with the first line agents' carboplatin/paclitaxel in chemo naïve patients or those patients who are more than 6 months following platinum-based chemotherapy is another option. As mentioned above there is no standard of care in the second line setting in those patients who have relapsed <6 months following platinum chemotherapy. However, those patients who carry a POLɛ mutation or are MMRd, PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors should be offered. Dostarlimab is available through the cancer drugs fund in those patients with dMMR/MSI-H tumours following progression on or following platinum chemotherapy (Oaknin et al., 2020).

1.7 DNA damage response (DDR)

Genomic instability (often due to dysregulation of the DDR) and tumour promoting inflammation is an enabling characteristic of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011) as it results in mutations such as those described in Section 1.4.2 in endometrial cancer. Genomic instability is due to naturally high endogenous DNA damage, mostly by reactive oxygen species (ROS), that are increased in inflammation (another enabling characteristic) (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011) combined with dysregulation of the DNA damage response (Hoeijmakers, 2009, Curtin, 2012). The DNA damage response (DDR) is a coordinated system of repair and cell cycle checkpoint signalling pathways which maintain genomic integrity. This allows for cell cycle arrest to ensure time for effective repair to take place and prevent damage transferring to daughter cells. The repair mechanism required depends on the type of damage incurred. Broadly, there are six pathways that respond to DNA damage: direct repair, single stranded DNA repair by single strand break repair/base excision repair (BER) for base damage and single strand breaks (SSBs) following e.g. ROS-induced damage, nucleotide excision repair (NER) of e.g. UV radiation damage, double strand break (DSB) repair comprising homologous recombination repair (HRR) that deals with stalled replication and DSBs in S/G2 and non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) of DSBs e.g. resulting from IR and from trapped Topoisomerase II (Hoeijmakers, 2001a, Bernstein et al., 2002). Dysregulation of the DNA damage response (DDR) is common in cancer presenting both challenges and opportunities. Accumulation of DNA damage can result in cancer but can also provide targets for anticancer treatments (Kennedy and D'Andrea, 2006, Lengauer et al., 1998). Upregulation of DNA repair mechanisms can lead to resistance to genotoxic therapy. inhibitors of upregulated pathways have the potential to sensitise cancer cells to standard treatment (Curtin, 2012). DDR defects can be exploited by the use of genotoxic therapy (e.g. loss of NHEJ confers radiosensitivity). Importantly, dysfunction of a DDR pathway can lead to dependence on compensatory mechanisms in cancer cells offering opportunity to target the relevant paired mechanism to selectively kill the DDR defective cancer cells with minimal host toxicity. The introduction of PARP inhibitors (PARPi) for breast and ovarian cancer, associated with BRCA mutations or other defects in HRR, is a recognised success story for DDR-targeted agents, which is now being extended to other cancer types. A detailed understanding of the DDR in endometrial cancer is critical for development of stratified targeted therapies needed to impact survival in high-risk endometrial cancer.

1.7.1 Base Excision Repair (BER) and single strand break repair

Single strand breaks are the most common endogenous lesions. They can be the result of several insults. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are probably the most common cause. They cause lesions (Base oxidation (8-OHdG) and SSB) and can make SSB directly by oxidising the ribose-phosphate backbone as well as post damaged base removal.

Damaged bases are first removed by DNA glycosylases to form apurinic or apyrimidinic (AP) sites (globally known as abasic sites) which are then cleaved by an AP endonuclease (e.g., APE1) resulting in a SSB. SSBs can also arise directly through hydrolysis of the ribosephosphate backbone. PARP1 binds to the SSB which results in its activation to form long negatively charged homopolymers of ADP-ribose (PAR) attached to itself and histone proteins in the vicinity of the break. This results in recruitment of XRCC1, PNPK and DNA polymerase as well as loosening the chromatin to allow repair. The repair pathway then splits into short patch repair depending (one nucleotide) and long patch repair (2-13 nucleotides replaced) depending on the nature of the 5' and 3' ends. Breaks with 3'OH and 5' phosphate can be repaired by short patch repair and breaks that require processing (e.g. by PNPK if they have a 5'OH and 3') or with e.g. topoisomerase I bound are repaired by longpatch repair. In short patch repair, PolB replaces the missing nucleotide and ligase 3 (Lig3) joins the ends. PNPK is required if the break contains a 3'phosphate and 5' OH as this dephosphorylates 3' and phosphylates 5' end. In long patch repair POLd and POLe replace several nucleotides before FEN1 removes the resulting flap and Lig1 joins the ends(Lord and Ashworth, 2012) (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5. Base excision repair (BER)/single strand break repair (SSBR) pathway. Damaged bases are first removed by BER glycosylates forming abasic sites (OGG1 and NEIL are examples). BER endonucleases (such as APE1) hydrolyse the AP site causing a 'nick' resulting in a single strand break (SSB). The SSB can be repaired by short or long patch repair. PARP1 and XRCC1 facilitate both short and long patch repair by recruiting enzymes to aid repair and provide the scaffolding. ADP ribose polymers have a high negative charge this allows attraction of XRCC1 which can recruit DNA polymerase and polynucleotide kinase phosphatase (PNPK). PNPK can modify the broken ends to allow them to join g. DNA polymerases catalyse the repair of the breaks. Pol β in short-patch repair and Pol δ and Pol ϵ in long-patch repair. DNA ligase III along with its co-factor XRCC1 repair the 'nick' in short-patch repair, whilst DNA ligase I ligates the break in long-patch repair (Baute and Depicker, 2008). Image from Curtin (2012).

1.7.2 BER aberrations in endometrial cancer

Oxidative damage is prevalent in endometrial cancer, predominantly because of increased metabolism, inflammation, and oncogenic signalling (Heidari et al., 2019), with upregulated BER promoting cancer cell survival (Abbotts and Madhusudan, 2010). Therapeutically, induced base damage caused by DNA alkylating agents, IR and topoisomerase 1 poisons

(TOPO1) are used in endometrial cancer. Alterations in BER can result in resistance to several anti-cancer therapies (Plo et al., 2003). These can be caused by germline and tumour-specific polymorphisms and mutations in BER genes (Larsen et al., 2007). BER is therefore an attractive target to modulate the effect of chemotherapy and radiotherapy. However, some studies outline how BER might contribute to endometrial cancer development. Analysis of TCGA data has shown that increased mRNA expression of XRCC1 in endometrial cancer is associated with a poor prognosis, which may be related to resistance to treatment(atlas, 2021). 15% of endometrial cancer harbour APE1 mutations suggesting inactivation may be part of carcinogenesis (Pieretti et al., 2001). High APE1 expression is associated with platinum and radiotherapy resistance in endometrial cancer alongside other cancers (Abbotts and Madhusudan, 2010). APE1 is overexpressed in high grade hormone insensitive endometrial cancer cell lines (Pandita, 2019). Polymerase β overexpression reduces the efficacy of IR and agents such as cisplatin. Several small studies have shown that up to 30% of cancers have a mutation in pol β including endometrial cancer (Canitrot et al., 1998). Endometrial cancer cell lines have been found to overexpress pol β protein and mRNA with siRNA mediating knock-down of pol β resulting in increased sensitivity to cisplatin (Albertella et al., 2005). PARP expression and activity in tumours is often high because of the high cell turnover and DNA damage in tumours or DNA repair defects that are compensated for by BER (Li et al., 2018b). The resultant high levels of PARP result in resistance to chemotherapy and IR, with inactivation of PARP shown to reverse this resistance (Rouleau et al., 2010). 85% of carcinosarcomas have been shown to overexpress PARP1 with a significant proportion of other endometrial cancer subtypes also with high expression (Ossovskaya et al., 2010). PARP2 overexpression in endometrioid grade 2 and 3 cancers is associated with shorter disease-free survival (Lawrence et al., 2020). Upregulation of FEN1 in endometrial cancer is associated with tumour progression and negatively effects prognosis (Zhang et al., 2020). However, up-regulation of LIG1 and 3 in endometrial cancer were not shown to be prognostic in the TCGA dataset.

1.7.3 Nucleotide excision repair (NER)

Bulky single-stranded lesions that distort the structure of the DNA double helix are repaired by NER. These lesions can be caused by UV radiation and tobacco smoke but also by chemotherapy drugs that cause intrastrand cross-links, e.g. cisplatin and NER contributes to

the repair of intra- and interstrand crosslinks such as those caused by platinum chemotherapy (Hoeijmakers, 2001a). Cisplatin causes crosslinks between adjacent (or adjacent plus one) guanines on the same strand (intrastrand crosslinks) or guanines of opposite DNA strands (interstrand crosslinks). Intrastrand crosslinks are repaired by NER but interstrand crosslinks are repaired by the Fanconi Anaemia (FA) pathway that includes both NER and HRR proteins (Rocha et al., 2018). NER is subclassified into 2 different pathways, Global genomic NER (GGR) which repairs throughout the genome and transcription-coupled NER (TCR) which addresses lesions at actively transcribing genes. The pathways differ in the components of their initial steps in GGR the recognition of the DNA lesions occurs with XPC-RAD23B and DDB, whereas in TCR initial detection occurs with CSA and CSB. XPA and TFIIH are common in both pathways and combine thereafter with XPG and ERCC1-XPF removing the damaged oligonucleotide, followed by resynthesis with DNA polymerase δ and ε using the undamaged strand as a template to fill the gap. The repair is completed by DNA ligase 3 re-joining the DNA to reform a DNA double strand (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6. Nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway. The NER process is a mechanism used to replace up to a 30 nucleotide strand of DNA containing the lesion (Curtin, 2012). The main

proteins involved include Cockayne syndrome WD repeat protein A and B (CSA and CSB) in TC-NER, the seven Xeroderma Pigmentosum Complementation group proteins (XPA to XPG), some exclusively for G-NER and some common of both pathway), the excision repair cross complementing group 1 protein (ERCC1), human Homolog of yeast (RAD23), Transcription Factor that possess Helicase activity (TFIIH) and Replication Protein A (RPA) (Curtin, 2012). Lesions that stall transcription use the transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair pathway (TC-NER) (Gee et al., 2018). Lesions affecting the genome elsewhere use the global NER pathway (GG-NER). Initially these pathways differ in the recognition step. In TC-NER RNA polymerase II (RNA Pol II) senses the helix-distortion and is displaced by CSA and CSB. In GG-NER the damage is recognised by the XPC-RAD23 complex. The subsequent steps are common to both pathways. Both pathways use XPA and RPA which allow stabilisation of the heterodimer ERCC1-XPF and the transcription factor TFIIH (Doherty et al., 2011). TFIIH is then responsible for unwinding the DNA around the lesion, it does this using the helicases XPB and XPD (de Laat et al., 1999). The damaged oligonucleotide is cleaved by XPG in the 3' position and endonuclease ERCC1-XPF at the 5' end. DNA polymerase δ or ϵ resynthesizes and LIG3 ligates the gap with PNCA and Replication factor C (RFC) (Gee et al., 2018).

1.7.4 NER aberrations in endometrial cancer

Polymorphisms in the NER pathway have been observed to have associations with endometrial cancer risk. Polymorphisms in XPC, XPA, XPG and LIG1 have been shown to be associated with endometrial cancer (Doherty et al., 2011). Weiss J et al however found no association between risk of endometrial cancer and XPD or XPG (Weiss et al., 2006). Little is known regarding NER defects in endometrial cancer. A small number of studies have shown conflicting evidence of ERCC1 expression and chemotherapy response to platinum chemotherapy. Further studies are needed to explore NER in endometrial cancer.

1.7.5 Mismatch repair (MMR)

The mismatch repair (MMR) pathway detects and resolves incorrect paired bases and insertion/deletion errors that occur during replication The frequency of nucleotide misincorporation occurs at a relatively high rate ranging from 10⁴ to 10⁵ insertions. Misincorporations are proof-read by DNA polymerases in order to correct the wrongly incorporated nucleotides, but this is not infallible. The MMR pathway activity occurs post-replication and targets replication errors that have escaped proof-reading. These include

single nucleotide misincorporations and small insertion/deletion loops (IDLs) (Jiricny, 2013). MMR involves recognition and excision of a base mismatch in the newly synthesised strand followed by high-fidelity resynthesis and ligation of the strands, summarised in Figure 1.7.

MMR defects are associated with genomic instability, with high mutation rates and microsatellite instability (MSI). Microsatellites are repetitive sequences of nucleotides or dinucleotides in DNA e.g. a run of thymidines or CACACACA, these are sites where replication errors can occur and are repaired by MMR. In microsatellite instability, these errors are not corrected resulting in an accumulation of errors, which results when microsatallites are encountered, and DNA polymerase slippages occur resulting in deletions or insertions. This results in a microsatellite high (MSI-H) phenotype. While the exact mechanism of tumourigenesis is not clear, loss of post-replication proof-reading results in 100 to 1000-fold greater rate of accumulation of mutations, which not only increases the overall tumour mutation burden (TMB) but also enhances the risk of acquiring loss of function mutations in tumour suppressor genes (Loeb, 1991). MMR is important from DNA repair, cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. MSI is associated with cancer development, given the high mutational burden but particularly, if microsatellites in DDR proteins, caused by defective MMR, may also confer sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents used in cancer therapy (Li, 2008).

MMR is a strand specific stepwise process involved in the repair of replication errors which cause a wrong nucleotide (a mismatch) to be incorporated into DNA or nucleotide insertions and deletions (INDELs), particularly in microsatellites. Repair takes place during S phase (Tomkinson et al., 2006). MMR corrects the daughter strand and is therefore important in the correction of replications errors across from the 'normal' template strand. The repair system is split into 4 broad phases: recognition, recruitment of repair enzymes, excision and resynthesis using the parental strand by DNA polymerase. MSH2/MSH6 (MutS α) heterodimers recognise mis paired nucleotides and MSH2-MSH3 (MutS β) detect deletions and insertions and at the site of DNA mismatches, downstream PMS2 and MLH1-MLH3 hetrodimers are required for processing. Exonuclease 1 excises the mismatch with replication protein A (RPA), proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), replicating factor C (RFC) and DNA polymerases δ and ε and Ligase 1 implicated in the system (Boland and Goel, 2010, Wu and Vasquez, 2008).

MMR defects are also associated with replication bypass of platinum adducts (intrastrand crosslinks) and is a mechanism for platinum resistance in cell lines.



Figure 1.7. **Mismatch repair pathway (MMR) pathway**. Initially, MutS homologs recognise the error. MutS α (a MSH2/MSH6 heterodimer) recognises and initiates repair of single base mispairs and small INDELs of 1 - 2 nucleotides. MutS β (MSH2/MSH3 heterodimer) is involved in repairing larger INDELs ranging from 1 - 15 nucleotides. Binding of MutS drives ATRdependent conformational change in DNA and the recruitment of MutL (a protein complex comprising MLH1, MLH3 and PMS2). MutL binds to the site of damage resulting in influx of other DDR proteins including Endonuclease 1, resulting in excision of the damaged bases followed by influx of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), replication factor C (RFC), DNA polymerase- δ (Pol δ) or Pol ϵ and flap endonuclease 1 (FEN1). Strand repair is achieved by DNA looping with repair initiated by the high-fidelity DNA polymerases (Pol δ/ϵ) and the break removed by DNA ligase (LIG1) (Jiricny, 2006).

1.7.6 MMR aberrations in endometrial cancer

The TCGA reported that 40% of endometrial tumours in their cohort had a MSI-H phenotype with the majority found in endometrioid histological subtype. This phenotype is predominantly due to MLH1 loss/silencing (somatic mutation) but may result from Lynch syndrome as previously discussed.

In the TCGA, MSI-H endometrial endometrial cancers harboured mutation frequencies as high as 18 x 10⁻⁶ mutations per Mb of DNA, which was found to be 10-fold greater than the microsatellite stable (MSS) tumours. These MSI-H endometrial cancers are also characterized with low frequency of somatic copy number alterations and a higher frequency of mutations in genes including KRAS, FBXW7, CTNNB1, PPP2R1A and TP53. Frame-shift deletions in RPL22 are found to be exclusively present in MSI-tumours. ARID5B is another gene, which is more frequently mutated in the MSI cluster of endometrial cancers with a frequency of ~23%. MSI clusters also show a characteristic activation of PI3K signalling pathway with high phospho-Akt and low phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) expression. Therefore, the loss in MMR function could have implications in response to chemotherapy (Kandoth et al., 2013). Several DDR genes have microsatellites, for example, MRE11 (also known as MRE11A) and ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM) and could be mutated in MSI-H cancer, potentially conferring sensitivity to some DNA-damaging agents (Giannini et al., 2002, Koppensteiner et al., 2014, Kristeleit et al., 2016).

Another subgroup from the TCGA study demonstrated that a proportion of endometrial cancers have somatic mutations in the catalytic subunit of polymerase epsilon (Pole). They represent around 7% of endometrial tumours and have a high mutation burden of 232×10^{-6} mutations per Mb. Loss of function of this polymerase leads to a high frequency of C \rightarrow A transversions, few copy number alteration and microsatellite stability (Church et al., 2014, Meng et al., 2014, McConechy et al., 2016).

Platinum agents, used as the first-line therapy for advanced stage or recurrent endometrial cancers, form DNA adducts, which are recognised by the MutSb protein complex of MMR. This provokes a cell death response and therefore the cells with dMMR function are generally resistant to platinum agents such as carboplatin and cisplatin as a result of replication bypass (Brabec and Kasparkova, 2002). This was demonstrated in HEC59

endometrial cancer cell lines, deficient in MSH2, which were 1.5-fold more resistant to cisplatin and carboplatin as compared to a subline of HEC59 with wildtype MSH2 and is similarly seen in dMMR colorectal and ovarian cancer cell lines (Strathdee et al., 1999).

Despite high frequencies of MSI-H phenotype in endometrial cancer, the association between dMMR and disease prognosis is not clearly established. There is conflicting evidence as to whether defects in MMR confer resistance to IR (Resnick et al., 2010, Reijnen et al., 2019, McMeekin et al., 2016) or sensitivity (Fritzell et al., 1997, Brown et al., 2003, Franchitto et al., 2003, Fountzilas et al., 2019).

It is now standard of care in all patients with endometrial cancer to have their tumour tested for MMR protein loss by immunohistochemistry (IHC), as this has treatment implications in the recurrent setting as well as for screening for Lynch syndrome.

Studies of the tumour microenvironment in dMMR tumours have demonstrated prominent tumour lymphocyte infiltrates (TILs) consistent with an immune response to the tumour with frequent PD-L1 overexpression and POLE mutated endometrial cancers (Howitt et al., 2015, Piulats et al., 2017). Subsequently, there have been several trials with a response seen in endometrial cancer (Ott et al., 2017, Herbst et al., 2014, Le et al., 2017).

Immune evasion is a hallmark of cancer development (O'Connor, 2015). In normal circumstances, immune cells identify and kill cancer cells by recognising tumour antigens. The programmed death-1 (PD-1) pathway is one such example of an immune checkpoint involved in the regulation of T cell differentiation and apoptosis (Roche and Cresswell, 2016, Chen and Flies, 2013). PD-1 is a protein receptor expressed on immune cells and its interaction with programmed death-ligand-1 and 2 (PD-L1, PD-L2) inhibits the activation of cytotoxic T cells. PD-L1 is up-regulated in cancer cells and is responsible for tumour immune escape (Pardoll, 2012, Wu et al., 2019). Inhibitors of PD-L1 circumvent this have shown good anti-tumour activity (Topalian et al., 2012, Patel and Kurzrock, 2015).

Despite no direct clinical relationship in several cancer types, dMMR/MSI-H phenotype has been successfully exploited in cancer therapy due to the effect of this phenotype on tumour mutation burden (TMB). Increased TMB has been associated with a greater response to

immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) therapies, particularly those targeting PD-1 and PD-L1 immune checkpoint molecules, which block anti-tumour immune response (Yi et al., 2018). These findings led to the approval of pembrolizumab (PD-L1 inhibitor) as a second and higher-line choice for the treatment of patients with unresectable or metastatic dMMR/MSI-H solid tumours, irrespective of their tumour site (Marcus et al., 2019).

Given the success of immune checkpoint blockade therapies in CRCs (Le et al., 2015), several clinical trials have been initiated to test the efficacy of different ICBs such as pembrolizumab (NCT04014530) and avelumab (NCT02912572) in patients with MSI-H/dMMR phenotype in comparison to the MSS/pMMR EC patients with either metastatic or recurrent disease and dostarlimab (NCT02715284) which is now available through the cancer drugs fund in the UK for the treatment of those patients with advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer who may have progressed on or following platinum chemotherapy with MSI-H/dMMR tumours.

Anti-PD1 therapies are now approved in the second line in endometrial cancer. Results from the GARNET trial have resulted in the approval of dostarlimab as second line standard of care for patients with MSI-H/dMMR and MSS/MMRp. (Ana et al., 2022)Similarly, in advanced endometrial cancer the KEYNOTE-775 trial has shown a benefit of combination treatment with pembrolizumab and lenvatinib in both groups following relapse treated with platinum chemotherapy (Makker et al., 2022). The KEYNOTE-158 study has shown a benefit in the second line with pembrolizumab in recurrent dMMR endometrial cancers (O'Malley et al., 2022).

Interestingly, clinical evidence has suggested a strong correlation between PARP inhibition and (PD-1/PD-L1) up-regulation in different types of cancer. Therefore, the combined use of PARPi and anti-PD-L1 agents could show synergistic effects (Domchek et al., 2020, Chabanon et al., 2019).

1.7.7 Double strand break (DSB) repair

Double stranded breaks are highly lethal DNA lesions. Without successful repair they could ultimately result in cell death or mutation to daughter cells (Hoeijmakers, 2001a). SSBs can be converted to DSBs when they encounter replication forks. DSBs can also arise directly from ROS damage and can be caused therapeutically by IR and chemotherapeutic agents

such as topoisomerase II poisons (Curtin, 2012). The DDR process relies on the detection of DSBs and depending on the phase of the cell cycle and availability of certain proteins the DSB will either be repaired via non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) or homologous recombination repair (HRR). Both pathways rely on sensors, particularly the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-related protein kinase family (PI3K), including DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) and ATM- and Rad3-related protein (ATR). These proteins coordinate the initiation of cell cycle checkpoints and DSB repair (Helt et al., 2005). HRR can only take place in S and G2, as a complementary sister chromatid is required). NHEJ predominates in G1. In addition, 53BP1 and BRCA1 directly influence DSB repair choice by regulating 5' end resection. In G1 the resection of the 5' end is halted by the 53BP1/Rif1 proteins allowing Ku to bind and for NHEJ to predominate (Chapman et al., 2013). However, synthesis of BRCA1 in S and G2 phases inhibits Rif1 and allows 5' end resection with subsequent inhibition of NHEJ and repair by HRR (Feng et al., 2013).

1.7.8 Non-homologous end joining (NHEJ)

NHEJ repairs double stranded breaks throughout the cell cycle but predominantly in G0/G1 without the need of a sister chromatid (Curtin, 2012). Although efficient, Repair is not error free as broken ends are directly ligated without a homologous template (Lieber et al., 2003), which can result in loss of sequence and potential genomic instability. NHEJ is responsible for the repair of up to 85% of DSBs induced by IR (Mahaney et al., 2009, Beucher et al., 2009). ATM and DNA-PKcs play important roles in NHEJ by detecting the damage and signalling cell cycle arrest and repair by NHEJ respectively (Drouet et al., 2006). NHEJ is initiated by the binding of the Ku heterodimer (Ku70 and Ku80) to the DNA ends. Subsequently DNA dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PKcs) recruitment by the Ku heterodimer occurs. The collective unit (holoenzyme) of Ku70, Ku80 and DNA-PKcs is known as DNA-PK. DNA-PK stabilises and aligns the ends and facilitates recruitment the XRCC4/LIG4 complex to ligate the broken ends (Martensson and Hammarsten, 2002) (Figure 1.8). Defects in NHEJ have been associated with the development of cancer, as well as response to treatment in various tumours. Studies have shown that by inhibiting the effects of key components of NHEJ, this has resulted in profound radiation sensitivity. Studies in ovarian (Jin et al., 2016) and cervical (Hayashi et al., 2012) tumours have found that reduced Ku70 expression increases radiosensitivity.



Figure 1.8. **Non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) pathway**. MRN nuclease complex is recruited to site of DNA double strand break and thought to promote bridging of the DNA ends. H2AX is phosphorylated and is located at the site of the double strand break. Repair requires the Ku heterodimer (composed of Ku70 and Ku80) to bind with DNA PKcs to form DNA-PK which binds to the DNA end, activating its serine/threonine kinase activity. DNA-PK holds the DNA together in a synapse and aligns the strands. DNA PKcs phosphorylates histone H2AX and itself which allows dissociation. Artemis processes the DNA ends which is then ligated by DNA ligase 4 (LIG4) and stabilised by XRCC4-XLF.

1.7.9 NHEJ in endometrial cancer

Defects in NHEJ are associated with profound radiation sensitivity. IR is used as part of standard care in those at increased risk of recurrence with localised disease. However, there is little known about NHEJ defects in endometrial cancer. There is some evidence that core NHEJ factors are downregulated in endometrial cancer. Lomnytska et al. (2012) compared protein expression in the normal endometrium to endometrial cancer. Whilst expression of Ku70 was abundant in the endometrium, levels were low in endometrial cancer, suggesting loss of NHEJ may play a role in the development of cancer and may be thus make endometrial cancers more sensitive to IR. Saygili et al. (2004) found a significant negative correlation between Ku70 expression and disease free survival (DFS) in irradiated patients with endometrial cancer. It has been suggested that DNAPKcs mutations may be present in

up to 34% of endometrial cancers with MSI (Bilbao et al., 2010). However, Doxorubicin, a topoisomerase II poison that induces DSBs is used in the second line in patients with advanced/metastatic disease, but response is poor with as little as 10% seeing any improvement which suggests defects in NHEJ are perhaps not so frequent or critical.

1.7.10 Homologous recombination repair (HRR)

HRR repairs DSBs as well as re-starting stalled replication forks. It occurs exclusively in S and G2 phases of the cell cycle as the process requires a sister chromatid to function as a template allowing robust high-fidelity repair (Saleh-Gohari et al., 2005). Whilst HRR repairs a small proportion of DSBs, it deals with stalled replication folks, single-ended DSBs and processing of inter-strand cross-links (along with NER). Tumours with HRR defects are highly sensitive to cross-linking agents such as platinum chemotherapy, IR and topoisomerase I poisons. HRR involves the resection of the break by endonucleases the invasion of the complementary sequence on the sister chromatid and re-synthesis to result in error-free repair as described in Figure 1.9.



Figure 1.9. Homologous recombination repair (HRR) pathway. The DNA DSB is recognised by the MRN complex (a combination of MRE11, RAD50 and NSB1) and undergoes a series of conformational changes to attract, activate and increase affinity of ATM to the DSB (Balmus et al., 2019). MRN, along with CtBP-interacting protein (CtIP) and exonuclease 1 (EXO1) resects the DNA ends creating a single strand DNA overhang (Qiu and Huang, 2021). This is promoted by BRCA1. ATM stimulated NSB1, CtIP and EXO1 by phosphorylation and also phosphorylates H2AX which aids recruitment of DNA repair proteins such as BRCA1 (Kinner et al., 2008). RPA then binds to the DSB to facilitate the unwinding of the DNA secondary structure allowing access for DNA repair substrates and preventing DNA degradation of the ends. BRCA2 (along with BRCA1 and PALB2) deliver RAD51 onto the RPA coated single strand ends (Chen and Wold, 2014). After identification of the homologous sister chromatid, the damaged 3' end invades the complementary DNA sequence of the sister chromatid creating a 'D loop' intermediate and primes DNA synthesis (Kennedy and D'Andrea, 2006, Moynahan et al., 2001, Davies et al., 2001, Cortez et al., 1999, Helleday et al., 2008). The complementary strand provides the template for error free DNA synthesis (Sung and Klein, 2006, Hartlerode and Scully, 2009). In DSB repair if both ends of the DSB are involved by invading the complementary sequence this creates holiday junctions (Sung and Klein, 2006, Hartlerode and Scully, 2009). During post-synapsis holiday junctions can be processed in one of three ways: either into non-crossover or cross over products or processed exclusively to non-crossover products by BLM-mediated branch migration and TOPOIIIα (Li and Heyer, 2008). After replication has extended past the region of the DSB, strand replication continues to the end of the chromosome (Hoeijmakers, 2001b, Khanna and Jackson, 2001, Bast and Mills, 2010). Image from (Cerbinskaite et al., 2012).

1.7.11 HRR and endometrial cancer

Data from TCGA demonstrated that copy number high endometrial cancers (predominantly serous subtype) have a similar genomic profile to high-grade serous ovarian cancers, triple negative breast cancer. These cancers share defects in the HRR proteins, particularly BRCA1/2, and there is some evidence from small case series to suggest that serous endometrial cancers may harbour germline mutations (de Jonge et al., 2017, Shu et al., 2016). However, there are several components in HRR which may have alterations.

Mutations in other proteins involved in HRR have been demonstrated in endometrial cancer, including RAD51c, PALB2, EMSY and ATM (Ring et al., 2016, Dedes et al., 2011). Similarly, MSI endometrial cancers may have resultant loss of the key HRR proteins. An example of this is MRE11, which is reported in 30% of endometrial cancer due to microsatellites in its promotor (Koppensteiner et al., 2014).

PTEN (frequently mutated in endometrial cancer), a tumour suppressor gene, functions as an antagonist of the PI3K/AKT pathway, promoting anti-proliferation and survival in the cell cycle(Shen et al., 2007). Furthermore, PTEN has been implicated in HRR by regulating the

expression of RAD51 (Shen et al., 2007) although the evidence is conflicting (Fraser et al., 2012).

More recently, further studies have demonstrated 24% of all high-grade endometrial cancer were HRR deficient (HRD) with the remainder being HRR competent (HRC). This was as the result 50% of non-endometrioid endometrial cancers (largely serous) in this cohort, harbouring a BRCA1 mutation or high-copy-number loss in other HRR genes, particularly RAD51 (de Jonge et al., 2018, Jönsson et al., 2021, Heeke et al., 2018). Another cohort study of serous cancers has shown that up to 40% had mutations in HRR genes (RAD51c, RAD50, ATM) and were sensitive to platinum agents, supporting the notion that platinum sensitivity could be a marker of HRD (Frimer et al., 2016). It is expected that around 4% of endometrial cancers harbour BRCA mutations (Gasparri et al., 2022). Understanding that there are a proportion of endometrial cancers that are HRD provides a rationale for treatment with a PARPi.

1.7.12 Methods of detecting HRD

There are broadly 3 ways to investigate whether a tumour is HRD. HRR gene level testing, genomic scars and signatures, and functional assays (Miller et al., 2020b). Firstly, sequencing of individual genes involved in HRR. BRCA 1 and 2 are the most common (and deriving the greatest benefit in clinical trials with PARPi) but there are a variety of genes involved in HRR that could confer HRD phenotype and are much less common (Qing et al., 2021). However, these genes can also develop reversion mutations which reinstate homologous recombination repair (Murciano-Goroff et al., 2022). The negative predictive value of these tests is also poor, as some BRCAwt patients also gained some benefit(Miller et al., 2020b).

Genomic scars are an alternative method of detecting 'signs' of HRD in cancers (Watkins et al., 2014). Cancers that have BRCA (and other HRR gene) mutations, exhibit genomic instability, demonstrated by large copy number variations (CNV) across the genome. These assays can predict HRD by quantifying large scale transitions (LST), loss of heterozygosity (LOH) and telemetric allelic imbalances (TAI) and are given a genomic instability score (Pacheco-Barcia et al., 2022). Current commercially available tests use a combination of BRCA mutation status GIS. It is helpful at identifying those patients who do not have a BRCA mutation but will derive benefit from PARPi. However, this method relies on good quality

tumour tissue for analysis, to obtain a meaningful result. It is also difficult to define a cut off value at which tumours are not HRD. An additional limitation of both mutational signatures and genomic scars is that they reflect of 'history' of HRD and do not provide information on current HRR status which could be reinstated through different mechanisms (Rempel et al., 2022).

Whole genome sequencing of cancers will reveal thousands of somatic mutations. The mutational patterns reflect historical mutational processes that have occurred in the cell (Alexandrov et al., 2020). Each mutational process may contain components of the DNA damage, repair and replication and can generate a characteristic mutational signature that can be detected. In high grade serous ovarian cancer, these mutational signatures correlate with survival and platinum response. Signature 3 is associated with BRCA mutation and BRCA1 promoter methylation in breast, ovary, pancreatic and stomach cancers (Batalini et al., 2022). They are likely to show promise, however they lack specificity and determining thresholds of derived benefit are difficult.

Functional assay, such as the RAD51 assay, have the potential to provide a real time assessment of HRR status (Miller et al., 2020b, Drew et al., 2011, Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010). However, they are temperamental and are not readily available for hospital practice. Currently tumour and germline BRCA testing is undertaken in clinical practice, along with assays that incorporate an assessment of genomic instability to determine which patients will derive benefit from PARPi therapy in ovarian cancer (Heitz et al., 2023).

All HRD tests fail to consistently identify those patients who will and will not derive benefit from PARP (Stewart et al., 2022)i.

1.8 PARP as a novel therapeutic target in Endometrial cancer

1.8.1 PARP structure and function

PARP1 is the founding and most abundant member of a family of 17 similar proteins. Only PARP1 and PARP2 are involved in BER/SSBR (Figure 1.5) PARP1 is composed of a DNA binding domain (two zinc finger motifs), an automodification domain and a catalytic domain. It also has a caspase cleavage site effectively separating the automodification and catalytic domain from the DNA binding domain and hence inactivation during apoptosis (Mégnin-Chanet et al., 2010). At the site of DNA damage, PARP1's DNA binding domain attaches inducing a conformational change and activating the enzyme several hundred-fold (Ray Chaudhuri and Nussenzweig, 2017). It catalyses the transfer of ADP-ribose residues from NAD⁺ onto target substrates, building a poly (ADP ribose) (PAR) chain. This structural activation and production of PAR chains results in a strong negative change which attracts proteins for DNA repair and relaxes chromatin to allow for better access for these proteins. PARP2 has a catalytic domain but does not contain zinc finger motifs. Overall, the structure of PARP2 is like that of PARP1, however PARP2 binds less effectively to SSBs but instead recognises gaps and flap structures. This is reflected in its smaller DNA binding domain and lack of zinc fingers. Figure 1.10 shows the structure of PARP1 and 2.

The main role of PARP1 and 2 is to detect SSB's and initiate repair by signalling enzymes involved in SSB repair. PAR recruits XRCC1 which is a scaffold protein that then recruits PolB to replace missing nucleotide and Ligase 3 joins the ends. The cascade either results in repair via BER or leads to parthanatos.



Figure 1.10. **Structure of PARP1 and PARP2** demonstrating their DNA binding, automodification and catalytic domains. Image from Mégnin-Chanet et al. (2010).

1.8.2 PARP inhibition

PARP inhibitors exhibit their response in two ways: Firstly, by inhibiting the catalytic activity of PARP, preventing autoPARylation and secondly by preventing its PARP's dissociation, socalled 'PARP trapping' (Pommier et al., 2016). When PARP is inhibited unrepaired SSBs collide with replication forks, causing them to stall and collapse, resulting in DSBs which can only be repaired by HRR. Each inhibitor of PARP has varying degrees of PARP trapping or ability to inhibit polymer formation which is likely to affect how each drug performs as a single agent or in combination (Curtin and Szabo, 2020).

1.8.3 Synthetic lethality and homologous recombination repair deficiency

If PARP is inhibited, SSB are converted to DSBs during replication. Alone, the resultant DSBs are not sufficient to cause cell death as repair can be undertaken by the high-fidelity HRR pathway. However, if the cancer cell is deficient in HRR repair genes, such as in BRCA1 and 2 mutated cells, cell death occurs. This phenomenon whereby two non-lethal mutations are combined to result in cell death is termed synthetic lethality (Dobzhansky, 1946) (figure 1.11). Similarly, defects in other proteins involved in HRR such as RPA, RAD51/4, MRE11, NBS1 ATM and ATR (McCabe et al., 2006) confer sensitivity to PARPi (Wang et al., 2004). Normal cells will not be affected if using PARPi alone as they exploit tumour HRD whilst sparing HRC normal cells. HRD also confers sensitivity to platinum chemotherapies (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2012) as well as PARPi (Ledermann et al., 2014, Farmer et al., 2005)



Figure 1.11. **Synthetic lethality** PARP inhibitors inhibit BER, trapping PARP to SSBs resulting in DSBs and collapsed replication forks. In cells with intact HRR DSBs can be repaired effectively. However, those cells defective in HRR are unable to repair these DSBs resulting in cell death (Bryant et al., 2005).

1.9 PARPi in cancer therapy

PARPi were initially approved for the use in the setting of patients with deleterious mutations of BRCA1 and 2. Since then further studies have highlighted additional patients where there is benefit of a PARPi, particularly those patients how have a defect in other HRR genes as well as patients who have responded to standard lines of chemotherapy with a platinum agent. Platinum response is seen as a biomarker to response to PARPi. PARPi are currently approved for use in the following cancers: Ovarian, breast, pancreatic and castrate resistant prostate cancer. There are currently 4 FDA approved PARPi; Rucaparib, Niraparib, Olaparib and Talazoparib. See Table 1.8 for list of approvals.

PARPi are well established in the treatment of epithelial ovarian cancer. Their benefit was demonstrated in all-comers with relapsed platinum sensitive patients following 2 previous lines of chemotherapy, with greatest benefit seen in those with germline and somatic BRCA mutations or HRD (Ledermann et al., 2014, Mirza et al., 2016). Subsequently, PARPi have been approved as maintenance in the first line setting with patients with response to first line platinum chemotherapy with and without BRCA mutation or in combination with bevacuzimab if HRD (González-Martín et al., 2019, Moore et al., 2018, Ray-Coquard et al., 2019).

Cancer type	Indication	Mutation or biomarker		PARP inhibitor			
			Niraparib	Rucaparib	Olaparib	Talazoparib	
Tubo-ovarian stage 3-4	Maintenance following response to platinum	Germline or somatic BRCA1/2			Х		
Tubo-ovarian stage 3-4	Maintenance following response to platinum	Response to platinum	Х				
Tubo-ovarian stage 3-4	Maintenance following response to platinum. PARPi given with Bevacuizumab	HRD as defined by high GIS score and/or BRCA mutation			x		
Recurrent Tubo-ovarian	Second line maintenance following response to platinum	Response to platinum	X	Х	X		
Recurrent Tubo-ovarian	Third line treatment	Germline or somatic BRCA1/2		Х			
Recurrent Tubo-ovarian	Fourth line + Treatment	Germline BRCA1/2			x		
Recurrent Tubo-ovarian	Fourth line + treatment	Germline or somatic BRCA1/2 or HRD	X				
Metastatic breast cancer	Previous treatment with chemotherapy and or hormones	Germline BRCA1 or BRCA2 and HER2 negative			x		
Metastatic breast cancer	Treatment of metastatic breast cancer	Germline BRCA1 or BRCA2 and HER2 negative				X	

High risk Early-stage	maintenance follow treatment (not FDA	Germline BRCA1 or BRCA2 and		Х	
breast cancer	approved but National Comprehensive Cancer HER2 negative				
	Network (NCCN)				
Metastatic pancreatic	Maintenance if not progressed <16 weeks from	Germline BRCA1/2		Х	
cancer	platinum chemotherapy				
Metastatic prostate	Maintenance if not progressed <16 weeks from	Germline BRCA1/2		Х	
cancer	platinum chemotherapy				
Metastatic castrate	Progressed following hormone treatment	Germline or somatic BRCA1/2 or		Х	
resistant prostate cancer		other HRD gene			
Metastatic castrate	Progressed following hormone treatment and	Germline or somatic BRCA1/2	Х		
resistant prostate cancer	taxane				

Table 1.8. **PARP inhibitor approvals in cancers**, their indication, the mutation or biomarker required for their use and which PARPi can be used in that circumstance.

1.10 PARPi in endometrial cancer

Despite not knowing the true incidence of HRD in endometrial cancer, there is emerging preclinical and translational evidence for the role of PARPi in endometrial cancer with recruitment into clinical trials being undertaken (NCT05255653). As previously discussed, 24% of all and 50% of non-endometrioid/serous endometrial cancers are reported to be HRD and are therefore predicted to be sensitive to PARPi. There is conflicting evidence regarding the role of PTEN and whether it is linked with HRD, this may be important given that 80% of all endometrial cancer have PTEN mutations. Endometrial cancer cell lines have demonstrated a significant sensitivity to PARP inhibition in those with a loss of PTEN function. PTEN mutant cell lines were found to be more sensitive than wild-type. Furthermore, when wildtype PTEN cell lines had PTEN silenced, a significant increase in sensitivity was noted. Similarly, PTEN null cell lines with PARPi response were transfected with wild-type PTEN with associated reduction in PARPi sensitivity (Dedes et al., 2010, Dedes et al., 2011). This was further supported by increased sensitivity to Olaparib in PTEN mutated endometrial cell lines AN3CA and Ishikawa. The sensitivity was further increased with the use of the PI3K inhibitor BKM-120 which appeared to reduce RAD51 foci formation (Philip et al., 2017). However, subsequent studies appear to have refuted this (Bian et al., 2018) with no association found in a Japanese study between PTEN null and PTEN wildtype endometrial cancer cell lines when exposed to olaparib. The group did detect sensitivity within one cell line but they were unable to determine the mechanism (Miyasaka et al., 2014). Mouse models have demonstrated a response to olaparib in those PTEN null endometrial cancer xenografts- most notably in those mice in a hypoestrogenic state (Janzen et al., 2013).

MMRd may result in microsatellites in promotor region of HRR genes (e.g. MRE11, ATR among others), are unstable which results in indels that result in loss of gene expression. A study explored PARPi sensitivity in endometrial cancer cell lines and concluded that a cell line lacking in MRE11 expression was the most sensitive. As a result, the other cell lines were rendered MRE11 depleted, which resulted in PARPi sensitivity (Koppensteiner et al., 2014). However, there appear to be no studies that involve primary endometrial cancer culture with PARPi. As discussed previously, defective DDR results in a higher high proportion of TILs at the site of tumours, this has been demonstrated in BRCA mutated breast and ovarian cancers (Jiao et al., 2017). The breast cancer cell lines and xenograft models also demonstrated an upregulation of PD-L1 with PARP inhibition and when combined with anti-PD1 agent, demonstrated greater tumour response. The was further supported by the phase 3 MEDIOLA study which showed a superior response to Olaparib and durvalumab in combination in platinum sensitive relapse ovarian cancer with germline BRCA mutations (Domchek et al., 2020). It is understandable that several trials have been commenced to explore this in endometrial cancer given that a proportion of these patients will be HRD.

There is emerging evidence of PARPi use in clinical trials. The phase 2 NRG-GY012 trial randomised patients 1:1:1 to cediranib (tyrosine kinase inhibitor) alone, Olaparib alone or a combination of the 2. In this unselected group with recurrent endometrial cancer having previously received at least one line of platinum chemotherapy, there was no significant improvement in progression free survival (Rimel, 2021). Another phase 2 trial assessing effect of Niraparib alone or in combination with anti-PD-1 dostarlimab in a similar setting, did show a modest benefit in both groups (Madariaga et al., 2021). The ENDOLA trial phase I-II trial presented at AACR 2022, has shown promise of the triplet therapy, olaparib, cyclophosphamide and metformin (You et al., 2022). However, further studies and biomarkers are needed to determine the patient group likely to receive the greatest clinical benefit.

1.11 Niraparib

Niraparib (MK-4827) (Jones et al., 2009) is an oral potent, selective inhibitor of PARP1 and 2 with IC50 of 3.8 nM/2.1 nM and half-life of 36 hours. It has a molecular mass of 320 g mol^{-1} and formula $C_{19}H_{20}N_4O$ (Figure 1.12). Inhibition results in the formation of PARP-DNA complexes, leading to DNA damage, apoptosis and cell death (Mirza et al., 2016). Dose is dependent on body weight and platelet count, For most patients It is taken orally at a dose of 200 mg daily, usually until disease progression of a maximum of 2 years. Most common adverse effects include low blood count, namely thrombocytopaenia, anaemia and neutropaenia. Other milder side effects include fatigue, nausea and constipation. 12% of patient in one study discontinued Niraparib due to adverse effects (Pagkali et al., 2022). Niraparib is licenced as maintenance after first line chemotherapy and for the management

of platinum sensitive, recurrent ovarian cancer as a third line agent. It first approval in the landmark NOVA trial then followed by the PRIMA trial It was initially shown to be effective in women with BRCA mutations. However, the benefit has been seen regardless of gBRCA mutations or HRD status. Quality of life studies have shown it to be a well-tolerated drug (Oza et al., 2018). Table 1.9 shows ongoing trials with Niraparib in endometrial.



Figure 1.12. Chemical structure of Niraparib (NCBI, 2022).

NCT	Title	Status	Inclusion	Intervention	Trial type
NCT04716686	Niraparib monotherapy as	Recruiting	Stage 3 or 4 serous endometrial	Niraparib as	Non-randomised
	maintenance and recurrent		cancer	maintenance or	phase 2 trial
	treatment of endometrial serous		Completed 6 cycles of	monotherapy in	
	carcinoma		chemotherapy or,	recurrent	
			Platinum sensitive	disease	
			recurrence or,		
			• > 2 lines of platinum		
			chemotherapy or a BRCA		
			mutation		
NCT04885413	An open-label, single Arm, phase II	Recruiting	Recurrent or advanced high	Niraparib +	Open label, single
	trial of Niraparib in combination		grade endometrial cancer	Sintilimab	Arm, phase 2 trial
	with an-PD1 (programmed cell		Received at least first line		
	death protein 1) antibody in		chemotherapy with progression		
	recurrence/advanced stage		Progression of stage 3 or 4		
	endometrial cancer patients		disease following primary		
			chemotherapy within 6 months		
			Patients who cannot tolerate		
			first-line chemotherapy		

NCT03016338	Study of Niraparib and TSR-042 in	Active, not	Recurrent endometrial cancer	Niraparib + TSR-	Open label, phase
	recurrent endometrial cancer	recruiting	following first line platinum	042 (anti-PD1	2 trial
			chemotherapy	inhibitor)	
			Not carcinosarcoma, clear cell		
NCT03586661	Niraparib and copanlisib in treating	Recruiting	Recurrent endometrial cancer in	Niraparib +	Open label phase
	patients with recurrent		whom no curative treatment	copanlisib (PI3K	1b trial
	endometrial cancer		option is available	Inhibitor)	
NCT03651206	A multicentric randomised	Recruiting	Progressive or recurrent	TSR-042 +	Randomised
	phaseII/II evaluating TSR-042 (anti-		endometrial carcinosarcoma	Niraparib vs.	phase 2 trial
	PD1 inhibitor) in combination with		following at least 1 line of	Niraparib alone	
	Niraparib vs. Niraparib alone		platinum chemotherapy	vs.	
	compared to chemotherapy in			Doxorubicin/pac	
	recurrent endometrial or ovarian			litaxel/gemcitab	
	carcinosarcoma			ine	
NCT04080284	Trial of maintenance with Niraparib	Recruiting	Advanced stage (3 or 4) or	Niraparib	Phase 2 trial
	– uterine serous carcinoma		platinum sensitive recurrent	maintenance	
			uterine serous carcinoma	following	
				chemotherapy	
NCT03981796	A study to evaluate Dostarlimab	Recruiting	Advanced stage (3-4) or first	TSR-	Phase 3 trial
	plus carboplatin-paclitaxel verus		recurrence with low potential	042/carboplatin	
	placebo plus carboplatin-paclitaxel		for cure	/paclitaxel vs.	
	in participants with recurrent or			placebo/carbopl	
-------------	-----------------------------------	------------	---------------------------------	--------------------	-----------------
	primary advanced endometrial			atin/paclitaxel	
	cancer			vs. TSR-	
				042/carboplatin	
				/paclitaxel/Nira	
				parib vs.	
				placebo/carbopl	
				atin/paclitaxel	
NCT04178460	A study Niraparib combined with	Recruiting	Advanced or metastatic	Niraparib +	Phase 1 trial
	MGD013 in patients with advanced		endometrial carcinoma with	MGD013 (anti-	
	or metastatic solid tumor who		disease progression or relapse	PD1 and anti-	
	failed prior treatment		following >1 cycle of standard	LAG3 antibody)	
			chemotherapy		
NCT00749502	A study of MK4827 in participants	Completed	Persistent or recurrent	Niraparib alone	Phase 1
	with advanced solid tumours or		endometrial cancer following >1		
	haematological malignancies		cycle of chemotherapy		
NCT04159155	A study of various treatments in	Recruiting	Pure serous endometrial cancer	Carboplatin/pac	Phase 2/3 trial
	serous or p53 abnormal		as part of front-line treatment	litaxel vs.	
	endometrial cancer			Carboplatin/pac	
				litaxel/cisplatin/	
				ERBT vs.	

				Carboplatin/pac litaxel/Niraparib	
NCT05169437	Niraparib in the treatment of patients with advanced PALB2 mutated tumours	Recruiting	Progressive/recurrent endometrial cancer with pathogenic mutation in PALB2 and exhausted all standard treatments	Niraparib alone	Phase 2 trial
NCT03221400	PEN-866 in patients with advanced solid malignancies	Recruiting	Progressive disease following >1 line of anticancer therapy where standard of care is deemed inappropriate treatment	PEN-866 (heat shock protein) + fluorouracil + folinic acid + Niraparib	Phase 1b trial

Table 1.9 Ongoing clinical trials with Niraparib in endometrial cancer.

Chapter 2. Hypothesis and aims

2.1 Hypothesis

The role of PARP inhibitors (PARPi) is firmly established in ovarian cancer but many other malignancies also harbour defects in homologous recombination DNA repair (HRR) and may therefore benefit from PARP inhibitors. We hypothesise

- a portion of endometrial cancers will have defective HRR function
- Defective HRR (HRD) is a biomarker for selective sensitivity to PARPi therapy in endometrial cancer.

2.2 Aims

2.2.1 Pre-clinical

In a panel of established endometrial cancer cell lines:

- Characterise for
 - HRR function using the functional RAD51 foci assay
 - PARP activity
 - Expression of diagnostic proteins using immunohistochemistry (IHC).
- Determine cell survival and growth inhibition in cell line panel to single-agent Niraparib, cisplatin, and irradiation.
- Determine survival and growth inhibition in cell line panel to combination therapies.
- Determine the concentration of Niraparib that inhibits cellular PARP activity by \geq 90%.

2.2.2 Translational

- Establish and optimise a method of primary culture of endometrial cancer cells obtained from patient endometrial biopsies.
- Characterise successful cultures for
 - HRR function using the RAD51 foci assay
 - MMR/p53/ER/PR/PTEN by IHC
- Explore biomarker potential of common markers by IHC stratified by functional HRR status.

Chapter 3. Materials and methods

3.1 General laboratory practice

Laboratory practice was undertaken with the appropriate training and university regulations for safe working. This included completion of appropriate risk assessment and control of substances hazardous to health (COSHH) forms. Chemicals and reagents that were frequently used in experiments are presented in the tables below for reference. Below in the relevant experiment sections, preparation of specific reagents for investigative work is included.

3.2 Chemicals and reagents

Reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (UK) unless stated otherwise. Cisplatin (cis-Diammineplatinum (II) dichloride) was dissolved in sterile 0.9% w/v sodium chloride, passed through a sterile 0.2-micron filter and made to a stock concentration of 1 mM, aliquoted and stored at -20 °C. Niraparib tosylate monohydrate (PARP1 and 2 inhibitor) was a kind gift from Tesaro[®] Inc, (USA) and was dissolved in dry dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to a stock concentration of 10 mM, aliquoted and stored at -20 °C.

3.3 Cell lines

Six endometrial cancer cell lines have been used in experimental work. Cell lines were chosen based on what was commercially available and to reflect the variety of histological subtypes, including serous endometrial cancers, where we would expect to see HRD from the TCGA data. It was important to include cell lines that were known to have p53 mutations and MSI-H (see cell line classification chapter 4). Other cell lines were used as controls in experimental work (Figure 3.1). Cell lines were purchased from ATCC cell bank except for ARK1 and ARK2, which were purchased from Yale University. All cell lines were authenticated by analysis of short tandem repeats and microsatellites and confirmed to be mycoplasma free with 3 monthly mycoplasma testing (MycoAlert Mycoplasm detection kit, Lonza).

Cell line	Cell type	Medium	Reference	Source
Ishikawa	Grade 2 Endometrioid endometrial	MEM 2 mM L-Glutamine + 1% NEAA + 5%	(Nishida et al., 1985)	ATCC
		FCS		
HEC1A	Grade 2 Endometrioid endometrial	McCoy's 5a + 10% FCS	(Kuramoto, 1972)	ATCC
AN3CA	Grade 3 Endometrioid endometrial	MEM 2 mM L-Glutamine + 1% NEAA +	(Dawe et al., 1964)	ATCC
		10% FCS		
RL95-2	Grade 2 Adenosquamous endometrial	DMEM:F12 + 2 mM Glutamine + 0.005	(Way et al. <i>,</i> 1983)	ATCC
		mg/ml insulin + 10% FCS		
ARK1	High grade serous endometrial	RPMI 1640, 10% FCS	(Cross et al., 2010)	Yale
ARK2	High grade serous endometrial	RPMI 1640, 10% FCS	(Abdel-Fatah et al., 2013)	Yale
L1210	Murine leukaemia lymphocyte cell line.	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium	(DelloRusso et al., 2007)	ATCC
	Used as internal control for PAR assay	(DMEM) supplemented with 20 mM L-		
		glutamine, 10% FCS		

Table 3.1. **Panel of cell lines used in experimental work** used along with their histological type, the medium they were grown in and the associated mutations of interest.

3.4 Cell culture

Media was stored at 4 °C and warmed in a bead bath to 37 °C prior to use. All cells were handled separately with their own reagents. Experiments were undertaken at early passage (<30) and grown at 37 °C, 5% CO₂, 95% humidified air and maintained in exponential growth. Cell passage was performed using an aseptic technique in a containment level II laminar flow cabinet. Cells were kept at around 60-70% confluence for experimental work. Media was aspirated, cells were washed with PBS before incubation with 3 ml 0.25% trypsin-EDTA at 37 °C until they detached from the flask. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 250 g for 5 minutes to form a cell pellet. The supernatant was then discarded, and the cell pellet resuspended in 10 ml cell line specific culture medium. 10 μ l of media containing cell suspension was loaded onto a Neubauer Haemocytometer for cell counting. Cells were seeded into flasks/culture dishes as required at the appropriate cell number, to allow exponential growth to continue for further experimentation. Early passage cells were frozen down for future experimental use in cell line specific freezing media (media supplemented with 10% DMSO). Cells were aliquoted and frozen at a density of 1 x 10⁶ cells/ml, initially for 24 hours at -80 °C before transferring into liquid nitrogen for storage.

3.5 Sulforhodamine B (SRB) growth assay and growth inhibition

3.5.1 Assay principle

The SRB assay measures the protein content of adherent cells to estimate cell density. Comparison between density of adherent cell therefore allows for estimation of growth. SRB is an anionic aminoxanthene dye which binds to basic amino acids under acidic conditions (Lillie and Conn, 1991). It can then be extracted under basic conditions; the resultant unbound dye can be used as a proxy for cell mass (Vichai and Kirtikara, 2006), this is because it produces a colour change which can be read by a photospectrometer. The dye concentration is directly proportional to the cell mass measured. It has been widely used for cell proliferation and growth inhibition studies with cytotoxic agents, is relatively simple, inexpensive, and reproducible. SRB assay can be used to assess response on cell proliferation to cytotoxic agents (Plumb et al., 1989).

The limitation to SRB studies is there may be an increase in cell size (unbalanced cell growth) response to cytotoxic agents, which could be interpreted as an increase in cell number, due

to an increase in protein content and therefore is only accurate if the cell size remains constant (Ross, 1983).

3.5.2 Assay protocols and data analysis

Cells were harvested in exponential growth and seeded at 500, 1000 and 2000 cells per well in 100 µl of media on seven 96 well plates, with six repeats at each seeding density. An individual plate was fixed every 24 hours with the addition of 25 µl methanol:acetic acid 3:1 and then stored at 4 °C until ready for analysis. The first plate (fixed after 24 hours) known as day 0 control, provides a baseline cell density measurement following cell attachment. Following 7 days of fixation plates were washed 5 times with distilled water and air dried overnight. 100 µl 0.4% SRB was added to each well at room temperature for 30 min before washing 5 times in 1% acetic acid and placed into a drying cupboard. 100 µL of 10 mM Tris was then added to each well and placed onto a shaker platform before reading absorbance on a FLUOstar[®] omega plate reader measuring absorbance at a wavelength 570 nM. Cell doubling time was then calculated using Graphpad prism software.

In order to estimate the growth effects caused by different drugs, the concentration of drug that inhibits cell growth by 50% (GI₅₀) in each cell line was calculated using SRB assay for cisplatin and Niraparib alone, as well as cisplatin + Niraparib 1 μ M.

Cells were harvested in exponential growth phase and seeded into a 96 well plate in 100 μ l of media at a concentration of 1000 cells per well, with 6 replicates for each concentration (plate 1) with an additional plate, of 6 replicates (plate 2) as day 0 control. Cells were incubated for 24 hours for attachment. Plate 2 was fixed with 25 μ l of carnoy's fixative and stored at 4 °C as a day 0 control. Media was replaced in each well of plate 1 with increasing concentrations of cytotoxic agent, each with 6 replicates, alongside untreated controls, corrected for 0.5% DMSO. Plate 1 was incubated for 3 cell doubling times before fixing with 25 μ l of Carnoy's fixative. The plates were then washed, dried, stained with SRB and absorbance read at 570 nm on an omega plate reader as above.

The mean optical density of the wells treated with each drug concentration was calculated and expressed as a percentage of treated and untreated control after day 0 subtraction. Growth inhibition studies were undertaken with 3 experimental repeats, control and incremental drug concentrations had 6 replicate repeats to ensure differences were less likely to be related to contamination or error. Data from each experiment were summarised as mean and standard error of the mean (SEM) of the replicates at each concentration. The growth inhibition 50% or GI₅₀ was calculated in each experiment as the concentration at which cell proliferation was inhibited by 50% at a given drug concentration. The data were then displayed in a point-to-point graph showing growth inhibition at increasing concentration of drug. Differences in survival between cell lines and within different conditions within cell lines were investigated with ANOVA and Students t-test.

3.6 Colony cell survival assay

3.6.1 Assay principle

The colony formation assay is a cell survival assay used to assess a single cell's ability to proliferate and form a colony (cluster of 30 or more cells). It was originally devised as a means to determine cell death following explore to IR (Puck and Marcus, 1956) and can be used to study the effects of various cytotoxic agents such as cisplatin and niraparib, irradiation alone as well as in combination on 'colony formation'. Results from colony survival assays have be shown to correlate with in-vivo tumour response to chemotherapy (Meyskens et al., 1984). There are some limitations to clonogenic assays in that not all cell lines form colonies at low seeding densities, particularly relating to autocrine and paracrine factors (Mittal, 2012). Whilst cell lines in this colony survival assay were seeded at low density, the cells were harvested and drugged in this assay when cells were in exponential growth phase and not in the lag phase.

3.6.2 Assay protocol

Exponentially growing cells were harvested as previously described. Cells were seeded at three cell densities per treatment in 6 well plates estimated to given reliably countable colonies (20-150 colonies >30 cells each/well) after incubation, based on the plating efficiency of an individual cell line. Plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours to allow attachment. Cell media was aspirated and replaced with increasing concentrations of media containing cytotoxic agent with 0.5% DMSO. Control wells were exposed to growth media containing 0.5% v/v DMSO to correct for the effect of 0.5% DMSO on the cells. After 24 hours of treatment media was then replaced and incubated for 37 °C until visible colonies

were seen (ranging from 10-14 days). Media was then aspirated, wells gently washed with PBS and fixed with 2 ml of 70% methanol: acetic acid 3:1 per well for 5 minutes before removing and staining with 2 ml of 0.4% w/v crystal violet solution per well for a further 5 minutes. Plates were washed with water and dried overnight. Colonies of more than 30 cells were then counted, an average was calculated at each concentration and expressed as a percentage of cells seeded in the control well to show the cloning efficiency (CE) at each drug concentration. Survival was calculated by using the following formula:

Survival % = (CE treated cells/ CE control) x 100

3.6.3 Single agent cytotoxicity

Serial drug concentrations for colony survival assays were determined according to results of SRB growth inhibition assays. Stock solutions of cisplatin and Niraparib were thawed to room temperature prior to serial dilution in sterile conditions in either 0.9% w/v sodium chloride (cisplatin) or 0.5% DMSO (Niraparib). Final dilutions were achieved by adding drug to cell line media. Concentration range used is displayed in table 3.2.

Cisplatin (µM)	Niraparib (µM)	Ionising radiation (Gy)
0	0	0
0.03	0.3	2
0.1	1	4
0.3	3	6
1	10	
3	30	
10		

Table 3.2. **Concentration ranges used for single agent experiments** for cisplatin and Niraparib, along with dose range for ionising radiation. Diluent was cisplatin was 0.9% sodium chloride w/v and 0.5% DMSO for Niraparib.

For colony formation assays investigating the potentiation of the cytotoxic effects of cisplatin by Niraparib, a single concentration of Niraparib was used to potentiate the effects of a range of cisplatin concentrations. Niraparib 1 μ M was chosen for combination

experiments with IR and cisplatin in clonogenic and SRB growth inhibition studies following growth inhibition studies with single agent Niraparib and PARP functional assay described in the results chapters.

Serial dilutions of cisplatin stock solution in 0.9% sodium chloride were prepared as described above. Final dilutions were prepared in duplicate in growth media containing either: Niraparib 1 μ M; or control with equivalent 0.5% DMSO.

Identical series of 6-well plates were prepared with 3 duplicates per concentration before incubating, fixing, and analysing, as previously described. The potentiation factor 50 (PF50) was calculated and survival at Cisplatin 3 μ M was displayed. Data were normalised to DMSO control.

3.6.4 IR combination with Niraparib

Niraparib 1 μ M was used to investigate possible potentiation of the cytotoxic effect of ionising radiation (IR) in colony formation assays. Growth media containing: niraparib 1 μ M in 0.5% DMSO; 0.5% DMSO only as control were added to each well of a series of 6 well plates. Each plate contained 1 row of three wells containing niraparib 1 μ M, and one row of three wells as control containing 0.5% DMSO only. The 6-well plates containing known seeding densities of cells was incubated for 24 hours to allow cell attachment, media was then replaced containing, niraparib or DMSO in growth media. The plates were immediately exposed to increasing doses of ionising radiation and incubated for 24 hours. Media was then replaced without drug and allowed to grow in the incubator until visible colonies were seen. The plates were then fixed and analysed as described previously. The potentiation factor 50 (PF50) was calculated and survival at 4 Gy was shown.

3.6.5 Data analysis

Following fixation and staining, colonies were counted manually, and the percentage survival calculated in Microsoft Excel. Percentage survival results for each cell for each biological repeat were copied to Graphpad Prism and the mean and standard deviation of survival for each individual condition calculated. Survival curves were plotted. For cisplatin and IR potentiation experiments, two-way ANOVA was conducted to detect significant potentiation effects.

3.7 Homologous recombination repair (HRR) functional assay

3.7.1 Assay principle

The HRR assay is a functional study of a cells ability to repair DNA damage using the homologous recombination DNA repair pathway. There are three overarching principles of this assay. Firstly, inhibition of PARP (by rucaparib) leads to an accumulation of DNA SSB that result in replication stress, stalled replication forks, DNA double strand breaks resulting in yH2AX foci (marker of damage) and RAD51 locates to the site of damage to repair the DSB. The number of yH2AX foci has been shown to correlate with the number of DSBs (Paull and Lee, 2005, Rogakou et al., 1998). This accumulation at the site of DSBs allows for quantification using a directed antibody to yH2AX and thus DNA DSBs. Downstream repair by HRR is identified by quantification of RAD51 foci formation. RAD51 is an essential downstream protein involved in HRR. It localises to the nucleus in response to DSBs and has a vital role in DNA repair as described in section 1.7.9. RAD51 forms nucleoprotein filaments at the site of DNA breaks (Thacker, 2005). The RAD51 coated filaments then carry out homology search on the sister chromatid and undertake strand invasion to execute repair (Sung, 1994, Lundin et al., 2003). Quantification of RAD51 foci therefore can be used as a marker of HRR function and can determine whether cells are HRR proficient or defective (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010, RL et al., 2014). In this functional assay, rucaparib 10 μ M (a potent inhibitor of PARP1 and 2) was used to inhibit the repair of SSBs, resulting in DSBs. Identification of yH2AX foci therefore identifies induction of DSBs and RAD51 repair by HRR.

Whilst Niraparib was the PARP inhibitor chosen for cytotoxicity studies in this thesis, there are currently no validated studies using it in a functional HRR assay. Therefore, the PARP inhibitor chosen for the functional HRR assay in this thesis was Rucaparib at a concentration of 10 μ M, which has been extensively studied and validated by our research group and published in cell line and in primary culture (solid tumour and ascites) (Drew et al., 2011, Gentles et al., 2019, Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010). Rucaparib 10 Um was chosen in the HRR assay as it was the concentration that inhibited PARP by >90% across all cell lines studied in several cancer types and DSB induction as demonstrated by H2AX foci formation. A cut off of a 2-fold increase in RAD51 foci formation to determine if a cell line was HRC was determined based on fold increase in RAD51 in known BRCA1/2 or XRCC3 mutations in cell lines, as compared to cell lines without mutations in HRR genes. This was further supported with increased sensitivity to PARP inhibitors in those cell lines with <2 fold increase in RAD51 foci

formation and gene mutation in HRR protein. However, setting a firm cut off at a 2-fold increase to determine HRR status is likely to be over simplistic and it should be recognised that HRR defects are more likely to be on a spectrum (Ngoi and Tan, 2021). This and the fact that the assay is quite labour intensive, limit its use in clinical practice (Miller et al., 2020b).

3.7.2 Assay protocol

Exponentially growing cells were harvested and seeded into a 6-well plate at a density of 0.5 x 10⁵ cells/ml. Plates were incubated for 24 hours to allow attachment before replacing with media containing 0.5% DMSO or 10 µM rucaparib to induce DNA DSBs. After a further 24hour incubation, cells were washed twice with PBS and fixed with 100% ice cold methanol for 30 min. Coverslips were then washed twice with 0.2% PBS-Triton-X100 before incubating with 200 μ l blocking buffer (2% w/v bovine serum albumin (BSA), 10% w/v skimmed milk powder, 10% v/v goat serum in 0.2% PBS-Triton-X100) for one hour at room temperature. Coverslips were then incubated with 200 µl anti-RAD51 rabbit monoclonal antibody 1:500 in the blocking buffer overnight at 4 °C. Coverslips were then washed in 0.2% PBS-Triton-X100 before incubating with anti-phospho-histone vH2AX IgG mouse monoclonal antibody (1:1000) in PBS-Triton-X at room temperature for one hour. Following further washes secondary antibodies were then added and incubated for one hour (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit and 546 goat anti-mouse) before washing. Following DAPI wash coverslips were mounted onto slides, stored in dark conditions, and allowed to dry before imaging on a Leica DM6 fluorescence microscope. Antibodies used are shown in the table below. Representative images were captured and analysed using image J software before statistical analysis was performed in GraphPad prism. Antibodies used in HRR assay are displayed in table 3.3.

Target	Antibody	Manufacturer	Concentration	Secondary	Manufacturer	Secondary antibody
				antibody		concentration
RAD51	Anti-RAD51 antibody	Abcam	1:500 in 2% BSA, 10	Alexa Fluor 488	Abcam	1:1000 in 2% BSA
	[EPR4030(3)] rabbit		% goat serum (v/v),	Goat anti-rabbit		
	monoclonal		10% powdered milk	Ab		
			(w/v) in PBS (in cell			
			line work) or KCl			
			0.2% Triton-X-100 (in			
			primary culture)			
Anti gH2AX	Anti- gH2AX antibody	Millipore	1:1000 in 2% BSA	Alexa Fluor 546	Abcam	1:1000 in 2% BSA
	(SER139) [JBW301]			Goat anti-mouse		
	mouse monoclonal			Ab		
Vectashield®	Hardset [™] mounting	Vector	4 μL	N/A	N/A	N/A
	media (H100-10) with	laboratories				
	DAPI					

Table 3.3. HRR assay antibodies.

3.7.3 Data analysis

The number of yH2AX and RAD51 foci in the control were compared to the treated group in at least 50. Within image J a macro was created to identify foci within the nuclei only above a standardised threshold and then quantified. The mean number of foci per cell was expressed in the control and treated cells and a fold-increase expressed. Semi-automated counting has previously been validated (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010, RL et al., 2014) and was used in this case. A two-fold increase in yH2AX foci in the treated group was considered to indicate adequate induction of DNA DSB (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010). More than a two-fold increase in RAD51 foci, denoted HRR competence (HRC), and those with less than a 2-fold increase considered HRR deficient (HRD).

3.8 PARP assay

3.8.1 Assay principle

Permeabilised cells are maximally stimulated in order to quantify poly (ADP-ribose) (PAR), as well as baseline measurement of PAR and PAR inhibition by Niraparib. This 6-minute reaction requires a mixture of oligonucleotide (to simulate DNA DSBs) to activate PARP in the permeabilised cells when added and excess NAD+, PARP's substrate. The reaction is stopped by saturating the mixture with an excess of the PARP inhibitor Rucaparib and placing the cells on ice. Cells are then blotted onto a membrane that is incubated with an anti-PAR primary antibody followed by the addition of a conjugated secondary antibody conjugated by HRP. ECL is then added and chemiluminescence measured.

3.8.2 Assay protocol

Cells were harvested in exponential growth. 1 ml of media containing cells was then centrifuged and washed with ice cold PBS and then permeabilised with 100 μ L Digitonin (0.15 mg/ml) at room temperature for 5 minutes before adding 900 μ L of isotonic buffer (0.4 mM EGTA, 7 mM HEPES, 26 mM KCL, 0.1 mM dextran, 0.5 mM MgCl₂, 45 mM sucrose dissolved in distilled water at pH 7.8). Cells were then counted on a haemocytometer by combining 15 μ L of cell suspension and trypan blue 1:1. The cell suspension was then diluted to an appropriate cell number for baseline (35,000-100,000 cells) and activated PARP (250-500 cells) experiments. Duplicate samples, alongside unstimulated controls (blanks) in the

absence of oligonucleotide and NAD+ were exposed to NAD+ (7 mM) and oligonucleotide (200 µg/ml) in a reaction buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl, 120 mM MgCl₂ at pH 7.8) for 6 minutes at 26 °C to establish optimal PARP activity. Duplicate samples were also exposed to a mixture including increasing concentration of Niraparib with DMSO control to estimate the IC₅₀ of niraparib in each cell line. The PARP reaction was then stopped with the addition of rucaparib 10 μM. The reaction mixture was then loaded onto a nitrocellulose Hybond-N membrane through a plastic manifold. PAR standards were added to the manifold (0-25 pmol) to generate a standard curve to allow for comparison. The samples were then drawn through the membrane using a suction pump connected to the manifold. $400 \ \mu l \ 10\%$ trichloroacetic acid/2% sodium pyrophosphate was then drawn through the manifold followed by 800 μl 70% ethanol. The membrane was then washed 3 times in PBS before incubating at room temperature with a blocking buffer PBS-MT (5% powdered milk, 0.0005% Tween-20 in PBS) for one hour. The membrane was then before incubated with primary antibody, anti-PAR 10H (1:1000), overnight at 4 C in PBS-MT on a rocking platform overnight. The following morning, the membrane was washed three times for 5 minutes in PBS-T and then incubated with goat anti-mouse HRP conjugated secondary antibody in PBS-MT for an hour at room temperature on a rocker. The membrane was then washed every 5 minutes for one hour with PBS-T and then Amersham ECL detection fluid was added and chemiluminescence recorded by Fujifilm LAS 3000 detection unit. The image was then analysed using a circular analysis over the blotted wells and densitometry measured and expressed per unit area (luminescent arbitrary units/mm³). Blanks were subtracted from the stimulated samples to estimate the PAR formed during the reaction.

3.8.3 Data analysis

A standard curve was constructed using a non-linear regression curve generated by the densitometry measurements of the PAR standards in the blot using graphpad prism. Statistical analysis of PARP studies was undertaken following results of 3 independent experiments. Data were represented as percentage inhibition (compared to control with no drug) at a given concentration. Inhibitory concentration 50% or IC₅₀ was calculated, which is the concentration at which 50% of PARP activity is inhibited in permeabilised cell. Students t-test and ANOVA were used to understand differences between cell lines.

3.9 Thrombin clot

3.9.1 Assay principle

Small volume cytology specimens can be processed using a cell block technique to improve the diagnostic yield such as those seen from fine needle aspiration (FNA) sampling in breast cancers (Nakayama et al., 2016). Cell pellets or small tissue FNA biopsies can be processed paraffin blocks, this allows the ability to perform multiple tissue sections and immunohistochemical stains like paraffin sections in diagnostic histopathology (Shidham and Layfield, 2021). Thrombin has can be used to 'cluster' pelleted cells together and thus an appropriate method to undertake IHC staining of endometrial cell lines used to this project alongside simultaneous assessment of patient samples in tissue microarrays (TMAs) (Newman et al., 2021, Gorman et al., 2012, Sauter et al., 2016).

3.9.2 Assay protocol

Cells were harvested in exponential growth, trypsinised and transferred into a 15 ml universal tube. The universal was centrifuged at 4 °C for 10 minutes at 200 g to form a cell pellet. The supernatant was then discarded, and the cell pellet resuspended in 50 µg thromboplastin/thrombin. 50 µl of circulating plasma was then added before the pellet was allowed to clot for 15-20 minutes. The clot was then transferred into a histology cassette. Excess moisture was removed by dabbing with the corner of a paper towel, the cassette closed and fully emersed into formalin for 1 hour. The cassette was then processed though Ventana IHC processor to form a formalin fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) block by gradually dehydrating the contents with increasing concentrations of ethanol and then placing into xylene before fixing in cooled liquid paraffin.

3.10 Tissue microarray

3.10.1 Assay principle

Formalin fixed paraffin embedded blocks (FFPE) are used to preserve tissue samples taken from patients in formaldehyde and then embedded into a paraffin blocks. It preserves proteins, DNA and the structure of the tissue for further testing. Immunohistochemistry straining from tissue sectioning is used to determine antigen/protein expression in tissues. It's uses range from morphological diagnosis to the use of staining as adjuncts to inform diagnosis. Tissue microarrays (TMA) are paraffin blocks that contain cylindrical cores, usually

from different donor paraffin blocks, placed into one single block in an array fashion. Depending on the core and block size, this technique can secure up to 1000 cores into a single block and a therefore high throughput. This allows for many small representative tissue samples to be sectioned onto one slide for assessment, staining and analysis. Advantages of this method include significant saving of cost and time, reduction in amount of reagents used and reduction in inter-assay variation. However, construction is labour intensive and TMA blocks may require multiple cores from the same recipient to ensure full representation. TMA suffer from core loss and slippage during sectioning and slide preparation.

3.10.2 Assay protocol

Women consented to the DDR biobank (REC:12/NE0395) at Newcastle university who underwent surgery for confirmed on suspected endometrial cancer were identified between 2017 and 2020. FFPE blocks were identified and retrieved for slide sectioning and Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining in the QEH laboratory. A total of 50 patients were identified for inclusion in the TMA. Slides were reviewed alongside a consultant gynaecological pathologist to identify suitable areas within FFPE with representative tumour for core extraction. Once identified, anonymised blocks were transferred and store securely in the Newcastle Biobank ready for core sampling and TMA construction. TMA was designed on Galileo TMA CK3500 to assign random core locations ready for assembly. Random assignment was used to reduce the risk of core loss and bias interpreting the TMA. A total of 3 x 1 mm cores were taken from each of the 50 FFPE blocks. 1 mm donor core holes were drilled into the TMA recipient block, core placed in and sealed. Positive controls for antigens studied were added to ensure quality control. figure 3.1 shows final TMA layout and figure 3.2 shows image of constructed TMA.

Donor1	Donor2	Donor3	Donor4	Donor5	Donor6	Donor7	Donor8	Donor9	Donor10	Donor11	Donor12	Donor13	Donor14	Donor57 Control Uteru
Donor15	Donor16	Donor17	Donor18	Donor19	Donor20	Donor21	Donor22	Donor23	Donor24	Donor25	Donor26	Donor27	Donor28	Donor29
Donor30	Donor31	Donor32	Donor33	Donor56 Control Testis	Donor35	Donor36	Failed	Donor38	Donor39	Donor40	Donor41	Donor42	Donor43	Donor58 Control Skin
Donor44	Donor45	Donor46	Donor47	Donor48	Donor49	Donor50	Donor51	Donor52	Donor53	Donor54	Donor55	Donor1	Donor2	Donor57 Control Uteru
Donor3	Donor4	Donor5	Donor6	Donor7	Donor8	Donor59 Control Breas	Donor10 t	Donor11	Donor12	Donor13	Donor14	Donor15	Donor16	Donor58 Control Skin
Donor17	Donor18	Donor19	Donor20	Donor21	Donor22	Donor23	Donor24	Donor25	Donor26	Donor27	Donor28	Donor29	Donor30	Donor34
Donor31	Donor32	Donor33	Donor34	Donor35	Donor36	Failed	Donor38	Donor39	Donor40	Donor41	Donor42	Donor43	Donor46	
Donor59 Control Breast	Donor45	Donor44	Donor47	Donor48	Donor49	Donor50	Donor51	Donor52	Donor53	Donor54	Donor55	Donor56 Control Testis	Donor9	

Figure 3.1. TMA layout.

3.11 Immunohistochemistry

Once the TMA was made, individual sections could be taken for immunohistochemistry staining. 5 µm sections were taken using a microtome and positioned onto glass prior to staining. The TMA sectioning, slide mounting and H&E staining was undertaken by NICR dedicated IHC technician according to local standard operating procedures. Primary and secondary antibodies used in experimental work are shown in table 3.4. IHC dilutions used were optimised by Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation trust's cellular pathology laboratory by a technician to obtain IHC staining whilst the university lab was closed during the covid pandemic. Concentrations above and below those used in diagnostic work were used given that TMA construction was not standard place in the lab to ensure that appropriate staining was obtained.

3.11.1 Assay protocol

Slides are deparaffinised with xylene, hydrated through graded ethanol (100-50%) and washed with distilled water. Primary antibody is then used to target epitope for antigenic staining. All were stained on the Ventana benchmark automated IHC platforms. The IHC detection kit used varied between antibodies (either UltraView DAB or OptiView DAB). A signal amplification step was used with all MMR antibodies and counter staining was with haematoxylin II and bluing reagent.

Antibody (clone)	Manufacturer	Dilution	Detection
ER (SP1)	Ventana	Predilute	UltraView
PR	Ventana	Predilute	UltraView
P53 (DO-7)	Ventana	Predilute	UltraView
MLH1 (M1)	Ventana	Predilute	OptiView + amp
MSH2 (G219-1129)	Ventana	Predilute	OptiView + amp
MSH6 (EPR3945)	Abcam	1:550	OptiView + amp
PMS2 (EP51)	Dako	1:200	OptiView + amp
PTEN (SP219)	Ventana	Predilute	OptiView

Table 3.4. **IHC antibody table** with reference to dilutions (where known) and detection method for clinical TMA. Antigen retrieval and staining was undertaken on Ventana benchmark IHC platforms according to manufacturer's guidelines.

3.11.2 Slide scanning and scoring

Slides were scanned by Dr Holly Buist, consultant gynaecological pathologist at Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle upon Tyne using Leica SNC400 slide scanner. All slides were then available on the university slidepath platform for viewing and analysis. Given the volume of cores taken and the number of antibodies, the antibody score for each core was given as positive, weak positive or negative, or in the context of MMR proteins, proficient or deficient, for P53 either overexpressed, null or wild type. The scoring was undertaken by 2 independent reviewers and any discrepancies were resolved by a 3rd reviewing pathologist.

3.12 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was undertaken using a combination of raw data stored in Microsoft excel format and then transferred for analysis on graphpad prism 9.

3.12.1 Survival analysis

Overall survival and progression free survival were calculated using diagnosis date, date of first progression and date of least follow up or death. Kaplan meier survival analysis was undertaken, and univariate analysis was undertaken to determine patient and clinicopathological factors which impacted on progression and overall survival.

3.12.2 Correlation analysis

Correlation analysis was undertaken using Spearman's test. Correlations were expressed with an r value with statistical significance set at p<0.05.

Chapter 4. Endometrial cancer cell line characterisation

4.1 Introduction

Cell lines are a useful resource for studying cancer cells(Masters, 2000). Most are commercially available, although some are limited to academic institutes. Cell lines are immortalised offering researchers reproducibility and high cell yield which is not often possible with primary cancer cell cultures (Neve et al., 2006). However, caution needs to be exercised when interpreting results from cancer cell lines as their genomic signature can change following multiple passages through the acquisition of mutations (Liu et al., 2014). Another disadvantage of cell lines is that researchers can only study a single clonal cell type. We now understand that there is an interplay between different cell types in the tumour microenvironment (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011, Joyce and Pollard, 2009, Egeblad et al., 2010) thus limiting value of cell lines n tumours with high proportion of heterogeneity. Nevertheless, cell lines offer a convenient way to investigate the impact of cell biology on response to therapy that can be validated and used in more complex pre-clinical models or taken forward clinically.

Contamination of cell cultures with other cell lines or microbes, particularly mycoplasma infection that can alter cell biology and behaviour (Nelson-Rees et al., 1981, Hay et al., 1989, Capes-Davis et al., 2010). To avoid these problems cancer cell lines used here were obtained directly from a commercial authenticated cell bank or from the originators, used individually in a laminar flow hood with their own reagents, regularly tested for mycoplasma infection, and limited to investigation below 30 passages.

A limited number of endometrial cancer cell lines are commercially available with many only available with restricted (non-commercial) use. Six endometrial cancer cell lines (Table 4.1) were studied as part of experimental work: AN3CA, ARK1, ARK2, HEC1A, Ishikawa and RL95-2. The cell lines chosen for the current study have distinct histological and biological characteristics that represent endometrial cancer subtypes that may differ in their DNA damage response and response to therapy. HEC1A and Ishikawa cell lines are type 1 endometrial cancers endometrioid subtype, with the remaining cancers being type 2

endometrial cancers, as classified by Bokhmann. AN3CA and RL95-2 are grade 3 endometrioid cancer and ARK1/2 representing serous endometrial cancers.

Alterations of components in the DDR affect the response to DNA damaging anticancer therapy. Adjuvant therapy in endometrial cancer usually consists of radiotherapy with or without platinum-containing chemotherapy, dysregulation of BER, NHEJ and HRR pathways may affect response to radiotherapy whilst defects in HRR confer sensitivity, and defects in MMR confer resistance to platinum therapy, see Section 1.7. As discussed in Section 1.7.11, it is anticipated that a proportion of endometrial cancers are likely to be HRD. This is thought to predominate in the serous and grade 3 endometrioid subtypes of which a significant proportion have p53 mutations. There is also emerging evidence that serous cancers may harbour BRCA mutations (Gasparri et al., 2022). BRCA mutations result in HRD, which can also be caused by epigenetic changes or mutations in other genes associated with the HRR pathway. PARPi are approved for other cancers with BRCA mutations or HRD phenotype and the possibility that these relatively non-toxic drugs could be applied to endometrial cancer is therefore worth exploring. Several commercial kits are available to identify HRD based on a combination of mutations in key genes and gross genomic changes but are relatively expensive and the results represent genomic scarring and will not detect acquired PARPi (or platinum) resistance (Miller et al., 2020b). Functional assays, such as the one developed in our laboratory (Drew et al., 2011, Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010) that can be applied to both cell lines and viable tumour samples may be more useful.

4.2 Aims and objectives

The aims to be investigated in this chapter are:

- To determine the growth (doubling time) of the cell lines as this may be a determinant of sensitivity to cisplatin, IR and Niraparib
- 2. To determine the optimal seeding density for growth inhibition studies for endometrial cell lines and primary culture
- To determine the cloning and plating efficiency for use in colony survival (cytotoxicity) assays
- 4. To determine the homologous recombination repair (HRR) status of each cell line

5. To determine the baseline and activated PAR in the cell lines as it may be a determinant of sensitivity to cisplatin, IR and to the PARP inhibitor Niraparib.

4.3 Materials and methods

Methods for cell line culture alongside descriptions of individual cell lines, chemical reagents used are discussed in section 3.3 and 3.4. Details of methods for calculating cell doubling time by SRB, plating efficiency by colony formation assay, homologous recombination repair functional assay (HRR) and PARP activity assay are also included in section 3.5-3.8.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Morphology

All cell lines formed an adherent monolayer in culture medium and have a distinct morphological appearance. Cell line origin, characteristics, images with description of morphology, doubling time, plating efficiency, known protein expression along with common genetic mutations are displayed in Table 4.1.

4.4.2 Cell proliferation and plating efficiency

Accurate assessment of the growth rate of the cells was required because many anticancer agents are more toxic to rapidly dividing cancer cells. Growth inhibition studies identifying the cell seeding densities needed to ensure exponential growth until the end of the experiment. For colony forming cytotoxicity assays the plating efficiency (i.e. the number of colonies obtained/100 cells seeded) and the time needed to form colonies of >30 cells was established (Table 4.1).

Representative growth curves for AN3CA and HEC1A cell lines are shown in Figure 4.1. Data points in the lag and plateau phase were omitted from the doubling time calculation. Each growth experiment was undertaken 3 times in each cell line to calculate the average doubling time with the standard error of the mean. The doubling times are represented in Table 4.1



Figure 4.1. **Cell line doubling times for AN3CA and HEC1A**. Cell in exponential growth were seeded into 96 well plates at different cell densities. After 24 hours the first plate was fixed (day 0) and the others fixed daily for the subsequent 6 days. All plates were stained with SRB then optical density was read at 570 nm. Data shown are the mean and SD from a single experiment with 6 replicates at each cell density with time in hours after fixing from day 0 plate.

Cell line Origin		Representative	Morphology	Cell	Plating	Protein expression				
		Image		doubling	efficiency	ER	PR	PTEN	P53	Other
				time,						alterations
				hours ±						
				SEM (n)						
AN3CA	55-yr-old		Epithelial, forms	40 ± 2 (3)	56 ± 2 (3)	-	-	Mut	Mut	MSI-H
(Dawe et	endometrial		monolayer culture							
al., 1964)	adenocarcinoma	2505	with high nuclear:							
	from lymph	1 646 6 45	cytoplastmic ratio							
	node metastasis									
ARK1	62-yr-old with		Epithelial, forms	22.3 (1)	49 ± 1.5	+	-	Wt	Wt	РІКЗСА
(El-Sahwi	stage 4A serous	and the	monolayer culture		(2)					
et al.,	endometrial		with high nuclear:							
2010)	cancer		cytoplastmic ratio,							
			disorganised cell							
			alignment							
ARK2	63-yr-old with	K - Cor Page	Epithelial, forms	21.9 (1)	76 ± 8 (2)	-	-	Wt	Wt	
(El-Sahwi	stage 4B serous		monolayer culture							
et al.,	endometrial		with high nuclear:							
2010)	cancer	Carlos 19	cytoplastmic ratio							

HEC1A	71-yr-old, stage		Epithelial, forms	37 ± 2 (3)	68 ± 4 (3)	-	-	Wt	Wt	PMS2
(Kuramoto,	1A moderately	18 5 C	clumps which pile							MSH6
1972)	differentiated	G SAN	up, disorganised cell							KRAS
	endometrial		alignment, high							MLH1
	adenocarcinoma	A BARRAN	nuclear: cytoplasmic							
			ratio							
Ishikawa	39-yr-old, well		Epithelial, forms	22 ± 1 (3)	54 ± 3 (3)	+	+	Mut	mut	POLE
(Nishida et	differentiated	N. A.	clumps which pile					het		
al. <i>,</i> 1985)	endometrioid		up, disorganised cell							
	adenocarcinoma	100 × 10	alignment, high							
		Carl And	nuclear: cytoplasmic							
			ratio							
RL95-2	65-yr-old,		Epithelial,	46 ± 2 (3)	31 ± 3 (3)	+	-	Mut	Mut	MSI-H
(Way et	moderately		monolayer culture					het	het	
al. <i>,</i> 1983)	differentiated	· ·	with elongated							
	adenosquamous	Sec. Newson	appearance							
	carcinoma									

Table 4.1. **Cell line characteristics** with name, origin of cell line, Images captured with Leica DM6 upright microscope x 40 magnification, as well as description of cell line, doubling time, plating efficiency, protein expression of common markers and known mutations are listed above. Mut=mutated. Wt=wild type. Het=heterozygous mutation. + = high expression. - = low expression . A limitation of the cell line characterisation for MMR status, P53, ER, PR and PTEN is that their status was not confirmed within experimental work in this thesis. It may be expected that none of the above cell lines would be expected to be HRD based on the TRANsportec groups' (Stelloo et al., 2016) simplified classification of molecular classification, particularly when there are combination defects in POLE, MSI and p53

Doubling times were variable ranging from 21.9 (ARK2) to 46 hours (RL95-2). Interestingly the rapidly growing ARK1 and ARK2, are serous endometrial cancers, representing the more aggressive subgroup of cancers that typically respond better to platinum chemotherapy. HEC1A, and RL95-2 cell lines derived from the less aggressive low-grade endometrial cancers that are more likely to be resistant to chemotherapeutic, grew more slowly. However, the Ishikawa cells, also of low-grade origin grew rapidly and the AN3CA cells derived from a grade 3 endometrioid endometrial cancer, which are typically more aggressive tumours grew quite slowly so growth in cell culture does not always reflect the clinical experience.

Most of the cell lines had good plating efficiencies of > 50%. The RL95-2 cell line was an outlier at 31% observed plating efficiency. Interestingly the high-grade endometrial cancer cell lines (AN3CA, ARK1 and ARK2), all had relatively good plating efficiencies.

4.4.3 Homologous recombination repair functional status

HRR functional status was determined for each cell line using RAD51 foci assay as previously described (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010). A more than a two-fold increase in mean yH2AX foci count per cell indicates sufficient induction of DNA DSBs. A more than 2-fold increase in mean RAD51 foci count per cell indicates HRR competence (HRC), whilst <2 fold indicated HRD.

All cell endometrial cancer cell lines were found to be HRC as demonstrated by a greater that 2-fold increase in RAD51 foci formation after 24-hour treatment to PARPi. Results are summarised in Figure 4.2 and Table 4.2. An example of the immunofluorescent images produced in the HRR assay is shown for the AN3CA cell line in Figure 4.2A. During initial HRR functional assays in the selected endometrial cell lines, an isogenic paired HRD/HRC cell line UWB ovarian cancer cell lines. A representative image has been provided below from Hannah Smith who provided the cell lines Figure 4.2B.



Figure 4.2A. **Functional HRR assay for AN3CA cell line** from a single representative experiment. A) example nucleus, stained with DAPI, in control cells (without rucaparib exposure) with few green RAD51 foci, B) example nucleus containing green RAD51 foci in the HRC nuclei of the AN3CA cell line; C) Scatter plot of yH2AX foci count per cell with median and SD in black bars in the control cells without treatment with PARPi rucaparib and cells treated with rucaparib 10 μ M demonstrating the generation of DSBs 10; D) Scatter plot of RAD51 foci count per cell with median and SD in black bars in the control cells and SD in black bars. The graphs demonstrate a 2-fold increase in the average foci of both γ H2AX and RAD51, showing that rucaparib has induced DSBs and RAD51 has been recruited downstream to repair the DSB. This shows that they are HRR competent. HRR assay methodology is discussed in Section.3.7.



Figure 4.2B. **Isogenic paired cell line used in HRR assay.** Above we have representative HRR assay images (with permission and credit to Hannah Smith) of the BRCA1 mutated HRD cell line (UWB) on the right and its paired BRCA1 corrected HRC cell line (UWB+B1). In both cell lines, you can see a greater than 2-fold increase in H2AX foci, identifying DNA DSBs but we

see a greater than 2 fold increase in RAD51 in the UWB+B1 cell line only, signifying repair by HRR, whereas this is not seen in the UWB and is therefore HRD.



Figure 4.3. **Determination of HRR status of for EC cell lines**. Cells were exposed to 10 μM rucaparib for 24 hours or not (control) and the accumulation of DNA DSB / replication stress and ongoing repair by HRR were measured by immunofluorescence microscopy of yH2AX and RAD51 foci, respectively. Data are number of foci in individual cells with mean and standard deviations given for control and treated cells.

Cell line	Control	Treated	Fold	Control	Treated	Fold	HRR
	γΗ2ΑΧ	γΗ2ΑΧ	change	RAD51	RAD51	change	status
	(mean	(mean		(mean	(mean		
	Foci/cell)	Foci/cell)		Foci/cell)	Foci/cell)		
AN3CA	2.0 ± 1.0	15.0 ±	7.5	1.5 ± 0.5	7.5 ± 2.5	5.0	HRC
		3.0					
HEC1A	2.7 ± 0.3	6.0±0.8	2.2	2.0 ± 1.0	7.0±3.6	3.5	HRC
Ishikawa	$\textbf{2.3} \pm \textbf{1.3}$	29.6±	12.8	$\textbf{4.3} \pm \textbf{2.4}$	20.0 ±	4.7	HRC
		24.2			3.7		
RL95-2	1.7 ± 0.7	4.7 ± 1.3	2.8	2.7 ± 0.7	8.3 ± 2.8	3.1	HRC
ARK1	1.8	4.2	2.3	9.5	28.0	2.9	HRC
ARK2	3.8	76.3	20.0	2.3	27.1	11.8	HRC

Table 4.2. **Summary data for functional HRR assay in 6 EC cell lines**. Data are mean and standard deviation from 3 independent experiments or, where no SD is given for the ARK1 and ARK2 cell lines, from a single experiment (further experimental work was not possible due to lab shut down during the COVID-19 pandemic.

4.4.4 Correlation between fold increase in H2AX and RAD51

There was a statistically significant positive correlation between fold increase in yH2AX and RAD51 (Figure 4.4.) suggesting that the increase in RAD51 was in response to the induction of replication stress/DNA DSBs.



Figure 4.4 **The increase H2AX and RAD51 in the endometrial cancer cell lines**. All experiments, apart from those undertaken with ARK1 and ARK2 cell lines, were the result of 3 independent experiments. The mean value was used from these experiments.

4.4.5 Determining baseline and activated PARP

To understand the role of PARP in the repair of these endometrial cancer cell lines it was important to understand the baseline PAR activity of the cell line and the maximum ability of the cell line to activate PARP in exponentially growing cells. Doing this enables us to understand the relationship between PARP and sensitivity to common treatments used in endometrial cancer as well as the different characteristics of the chosen cell lines. Description of the methodology for the PARP assay to determine baseline and activated PARP is discussed in chapter 3. Since the response to PARP inhibitors may be affected by a cell's PARP activity at baseline and capacity for activation in response to DNA damage, the endogenous level of PARylation was determined and its increase following optimum activation by an oligonucleotide mimicking DNA damage in the presence of excess substrate, NAD⁺.

4.4.6 Endogenous PAR

Data for individual measurements of the endogenous and stimulated PARP activity are given in figure 4.5 with mean and standard deviations in Table 4.3. Endogenous PAR expression was lowest in the RL95-2 cells and highest in the HEC1A cells.

Endogenous PAR in endometrial cancer cell lines



PARP activity in endometrial cancer cell lines



Figure 4.5. **Endogenous and activated PARP in endometrial cancer cell lines**. level of PARylation in permeabilised cells in the absence (endogenous) and presence (PARP activity) of exogenous NAD and activating DNA was determined by immunoblot measurement of PAR as described in the Methods Section 3.8. Following addition of NAD+ and an activating oligonucleotide, PARP activity was stimulated 200 to 500-fold. Cell lines ranked in the same order from lowest to highest expression in both activated and baseline PARP.

Cell line	Endogenous PAR, [PAR]/1 x	Activated PARP, [PAR]/1000
	10 ⁶ cells, pMol ± SEM (n)	cells, pMol ± SEM (n)
AN3CA	41.73 ± 6.90 (3)	21.90 ± 6.70 (4)
HEC1A	89.59 ± 27.27 (3)	34.96 ± 14.68 (4)
Ishikawa	22.53 ± 5.85 (3)	6.64 ± 1.63 (4)
RL95-2	19.48 ± 3.06 (3)	3.95 ± 1.15 (4)

Table 4.3. **Summary data for endogenous and activated PARP**. Mean and SEM from (n) independent experiments of endogenous and activated PARP in endometrial cancer cell lines.

4.4.7 Correlation between baseline and activated PAR

There was a positive correlation between baseline and activated PAR although this was somewhat dependent on HEC1A having the highest value in both and RL95-2 having the lowest.





4.4.8 Correlations between cell doubling time and HRR status

Cells with faster replication cycles may accumulate more replication stress and be more dependent on HRR so the increase in yH2AX foci RAD51 foci were investigated in relation to cell doubling time. Surprisingly there was no significant correlation between cell doubling time and either yH2AX or RAD51 foci formation in this small panel of cells figure 4.7.



Figure 4.7. **Correlations between cell doubling time, H2AX and RAD51 foci formation, baseline and activated PARP**. Scatterplots of cell doubling timevs. other key cell line characteristics including fold increase in H2AX foci formation, fold increase in RAD51 foci formation during HRR assay, baseline PAR and activated PAR. Whilst all comparisons demonstrate no correlation, there is a trend towards negative correlation when comparing cell doubling time to fold increase in H2AX and RAD51. There was no trend between cell doubling and baseline or activated PAR. It is worth noting that the sample size is small to draw any definitive conclusions.

4.4.9 Correlations between endogenous PAR, activated PAR and cell doubling time

Cells growing more rapidly might be expected to have greater PARP activity, however there was no correlation between baseline PAR vs. cell doubling time, or between activated PAR vs. cell doubling time.
4.5 Discussion

In this Chapter the baseline characteristics of the endometrial cancer cell lines in terms of morphology, growth rate, HRR status, baseline and activated PAR were established. The growth rate of the cells determined here was similar to published proliferation rates (Qu et al., 2019). We expected to see a difference in proliferation rates between type 1 and type 2 endometrial cancer cell lines. Since low grade cancers behave clinically in a more indolent manner their growth rate was expected to be slower. This was true for HEC1A and RL95-2 but it was not the case for Ishikawa. Conversely, high grade and serous-type cancers tend grow rapidly but the high grade ANC3A cells were slow growing although the two serous cell lines (ARK1 and 2) did grow rapidly. This imperfect reflection of the clinical situation in monolayer culture is not entirely unexpected. High grade cancers have several cancer hallmarks, beyond proliferation rate, which make them behave in a more aggressive manner, such as growth signalling within the tumour microenvironment, and an ability to avoid detection by immune cells (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Nevertheless, the growth rate may still affect the sensitivity to common agents used in the treatment on endometrial cancer such as cisplatin, IR and PARPi.

All 6 endometrial cancer cell lines studied were found to be HRR competent. This is the first time that a functional homologous combination repair assay has been undertaken in these cell lines. Interestingly, we hypothesised that p53 mutated endometrial cancers, those that are MSI-H and PTEN mutated, may be HRD. However, in this small cell line cohort we are yet to establish a link. Whilst being able to detect the most common causes of HRD, i.e., those upstream of RAD51 –mediated strand invasion, defects downstream cannot be excluded. Recently our team had noted an ovarian cancer cell line (NIH-OVCAR3) that was particularly sensitive to PARPi but was HRC by RAD51 assay and absence of HRR gene mutation. On deeper investigation of that cell line, the team demonstrated that there was functional loss of HRR identified by the plasmid re-joining assay (Bradbury et al., 2020).

Cell lines were chosen to reflect the broad disease of endometrial cancer including a variety of histological subtypes. They also included cell lines with known mutations in p53, MSI-H, those with non-specific molecular profile (NSMP) and POLE. HRD would be expected in the serous endometrial cancers (largely p53 mutated) or other histological subtypes that are p53

mutated as per TCGA, transportec and other groups (Bosse et al., 2018, Cancer Genome Atlas Research et al., 2013, Kommoss et al., 2018a); however, 3-5% of endometrial cancers will have multiple TCGA classifiers (e.g., dMMR and p53 mutation or POLE and p53 mutations coexisting) (León-Castillo et al., 2020b). Hierarchical testing is therefore employed in the instance of multiple classifiers (Alexa et al., 2021). Endometrial cancers with dual mutations in POLEmut-dMMR or POLEmut-p53abn have clinical behaviour aligned with POLEmut tumours and are considered POLEmut. dMMR-p53abn tumours have similar clinical behaviour as the dMMR and should be classified as such. The classification of dMMRp53abn as dMMR tumours might suggest that dMMR and HRD do not coexist, which has been suggested in genomic studies in ovarian cancer (Rempel et al., 2022). Given that some of the chosen cell lines have multiple classifiers; AN3CA would be classified as dMMR (p53abn and MSI-H tumour), ARK 1 and 2 as NSMP, HEC1A as dMMR (MSI-H tumour), RL95-2 as dMMR and Ishikawa as POLEmut (POLE and p53abn) see table 4.1. This could be seen as a limitation in the choice of endometrial cancer cell lines as no cell line would be truly classified as p53abn and therefore may not be expected to be HRD.

However, it should not be assumed that dMMR and HRD are mutually exclusive. The classification system used in clinical practice, particularly with multiple molecular classifiers, attempts to simplify clinical decision making in patients. There is evidence that microsatellites in the promoter region of HRR genes give HRD phenotype in endometrial and other cancer types (Gaymes et al., 2013, Merentitis et al., 2019). In addition, MSI-H ovarian tumours are known to coexist with defects in HRR with associated PARPi sensitivity (Brandt et al., 2017). It was prudent to include such cell lines in this experimental work given that 30-40% of endometrial cancers are dMMR and previous publications in endometrial and colorectal cancers have demonstrated MRE11 mutations are driven by dMMR tumours (Koppensteiner et al., 2014, Giannini et al., 2004). It is therefore possible that MSI-H tumours could result in mutations in HRR genes and confer sensitivity to PARPi.

It may have been useful to attempt to include other cell lines in this work. However, there are only a limited number of commercially available endometrial cancer cell lines, particularly serous cell lines. These are limited to academic institutions and as a result there were barriers in accessing such cell lines due to this project's affiliation with the pharmaceutical industry.

4.6 Conclusions

- Cell doubling time and optimum seeding density for cell lines for use in growth inhibition studies by SRB had been calculated.
- All endometrial cell lines studied form colonies and have a good plating efficiency for cytotoxicity studies with colony survival assay.
- Endometrial cell lines were characterised for their HRR status, all cell lines were HRC.
- Baseline and activated PAR was similar in all cell lines studied with a positive correlation between baseline and activated PAR.
- There was no correlation between cell doubling time and HRR status or between baseline and activated PAR vs. cell doubling time.
- Further experimental work focused on understanding how these baseline cell line characteristics impact upon sensitivity to common agents used in endometrial cancer such as cisplatin, IR and Niraparib, along with understanding the impact that PARPi Niraparib has on the activity of PARP in endometrial cancer cell lines for combination studies.

Chapter 5. Radiation, cisplatin and Niraparib cytotoxicity and growth inhibition in endometrial cancer cell lines

5.1 Introduction

The 6 endometrial cancer cell lines have been characterised for their doubling time, cloning efficiency, HRR functional status, baseline and activated PARP in the previous chapter to aid interpretation of subsequent experimental work.

Radiotherapy is the mainstay of adjuvant treatment in early-stage endometrial cancer. Risk factors for disease recurrence dictate sequential chemotherapy and radiotherapy in stage 3 disease with chemotherapy alone being reserved for patients with stage 4 disease (Concin et al., 2021). Platinum based chemotherapy in the form of carboplatin is one of the principal agents used clinically, due to its reduced renal toxicity in patients (Vermorken et al., 1993). Cisplatin has been used in experimental work and has the same mode of action as carboplatin. Platinum chemotherapy and radiotherapy cause a variety of DNA damage and are repaired as part of the DNA damage response (see Section 1.7). Platinum chemotherapy causes intra- and inter-strand crosslinks which result in single strand breaks and double strand breaks during replication. This damage is repaired by NER and ICL/FANC pathway, and therefore has links with HRR. Radiotherapy induces both single and double strand breaks. These are repaired by BER/SSBR and NHEJ. Most defects confer sensitivity to treatment, however, dMMR and p53 mutations are known to confer platinum resistance and p53 mutations are also linked with IR resistance (Zhu et al., 2020, Vaisman et al., 1998). In the TCGA endometrial cancer study p53 mutated endometrial cancers were suspected to be the group in which, patients would be HRD and sensitive to PARPi. A significant proportion of endometrial cancers have PTEN mutations which is reflected in the cell line panel studied. There is conflicting evidence of the role of PTEN mutations in HRD in cancers. HRR defects are exploited using PARPi through synthetic lethality and therefore it is prudent to explore PARPi in endometrial cancer. HEC1A, Ishikawa and RL95-2 cell lines all demonstrated dMMR/MSI-H and AN3CA and Ishikawa cell lines have p53 mutations, however, all 6 cell lines were not functionally shown to be HRD despite this. There is little data on the cytotoxicity to these agents in the literature and therefore this study is novel in that it allows for direct comparison in cell lines in terms of response to cisplatin, IR and PARPi. In this

chapter we aim to explore sensitivity of the 6 endometrial cancer cell lines to IR, cisplatin and the PARPi, Niraparib, alone with reference to their cell line characteristics determined in Chapter 4.

5.2 Aims and Objectives

The aims to be investigated in this chapter are as follows:

- 1. To determine single agent cytotoxicity of cisplatin, Niraparib and IR in the endometrial cancer cell lines
- 2. To determine the growth inhibition by cisplatin and Niraparib in the endometrial cancer cell lines
- 3. To determine the IC50 of PARP inhibition by Niraparib in endometrial cell lines.

This will enable to following hypotheses to be tested:

- Doubling time correlates with sensitivity to cisplatin, Niraparib or IR
- Baseline or activated PAR correlate with single agent cytotoxicity
- RAD51 or γH2AX act as a biomarker for single agent cytotoxicity or growth inhibition in endometrial cancer cell lines
- GI₅₀ can be used as a surrogate marker of cytotoxicity for use in primary culture experiments if primary endometrial cancer cultures do not form colonies
- Deficient MMR, p53 and PTEN mutation status are associated with sensitivity to cisplatin, IR and Niraparib.

5.3 Materials and Methods

Methods are described in chapter 3. Growth inhibition and cytotoxicity studies are discussed in sections 3.5 and 3.6, PARP activity assay is discussed in section 3.8.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Determining PARP inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50)

PARP activity was measured in permeabilised exponentially growing cells in the presence and absence of increasing concentrations of Niraparib (Figure 5.1). The inhibitory concentration 50 (IC50) i.e., the concentration of Niraparib which inhibits the activity of PARP in the cell line by 50%, and inhibitory concentration 90 (IC90) were calculated. The methodology for the PARP assay is summarised in Section 3.8.



Figure 5.1. **PARP inhibition in endometrial cancer cell lines**. PARP activity was measured in permeabilised exponentially growing cells in the presence of activating oligonucleotide and excess NAD (as described in Section 3.8.2) and increasing concentrations of Niraparib. A) Pooled concentration response curves for the 4 cell lines, data are mean and SD from 3 independent experiments. B) Concentrations of Niraparib required to inhibit PARP by 50% (IC50) or 90% (IC90). Data are from independent experiments with means given as horizontal lines.

There was no significant difference in the PARP inhibition in the endometrial cancer cell lines with similar IC50 and IC90 values in all cells. This is not surprising as it is a biochemical assay and the cells had been permeabilised to permit oligonucleotide and NAD entry into the cell so transport of Niraparib into the cell is not an issue. Importantly, in all cell lines Niraparib 1 μ M inhibits \approx 90% of PARP activity

5.4.2 Single agent cytotoxicity: Cisplatin, Niraparib, IR

To determine the cytotoxicity of both the standard of care agents, cisplatin, IR and the novel agent Niraparib cell survival following incubation with single agent cisplatin, Niraparib or irradiation (IR) was determined by colony formation assays in all EC cell lines. LC50 values were calculated and comparison between cell lines made using GraphPad prism Figure 5.2 and table 4.1.



Figure 5.2. **Cytotoxicity of cisplatin, Niraparib and IR by colony formation assay.** Colony formation assays were undertaken as per section 3.6.2. 10-14 days after cells were treated with increasing concentrations of cisplatin (A) or Niraparib (B) for 24 hours or exposed to increasing doses of IR (C). Data are mean and SD from 3 independent experiments. The concentration (LC50) of cisplatin (D) or Niraparib (E) or radiation dose (LD50) (F) required to inhibit survival by 50% was determined by interpolation (GraphPad Prizm) on concentration/dose response curves where data points are from individual experiments with the mean given as a horizontal line.

Cell line	LC50	% Colony	LC50 IR (Gy	% Colony	LC50	% Colony
	Cisplatin	survival at 1	± SEM)	survival at 4	Niraparib	survival at 3
	(µM ± SEM)	μM cisplatin		Gy ± SD	(μM ± SEM)	μM
		± SEM				Niraparib ±
	-					SEM
AN3CA	0.40 ± 0.07	22.11 ± 1.83	1.05 ± 0.17	2.27 ± 0.24	3.02 ± 0.51	48.55 ± 9.32
Ishikawa	0.94 ± 0.12	45.77 ± 4.19	1.51 ± 0.13	22.21 ± 1.43	4.24 ± 0.46	66.86 ± 9.4

RL95-2	1.78 ± 0.34	61.65 ± 1.24	1.70 ± 0.09	11.43 ± 3.22	2.49 ± 0.26	45.14 ± 2.92
HEC1A	2.12 ± 0.13	76.83 ± 3.66	2.52 ± 0.30	19.99 ± 1.56	8.11 ± 0.81	83.75 ± 1.25

Table 5.1. **Summary of cytotoxicity data** Shown in Figure 5.3. Summary of LC50/LD50 data as shown in Figure 5.3 D, E and F alongside survival at 1 μ M cisplatin, 3 μ M Niraparib and 4 Gy. Data are mean +/- SD for 3 independent experiments

The spectrum of cisplatin, Niraparib and IR cytotoxicity across the panel of cells was relatively narrow. There was a 5-fold range of sensitivity to cisplatin (LC50 0.4 to 2.1 μ M), a 4-fold difference in Niraparib (LC50 2.49 –8.11 μ M) and only 2.5-fold range in IR sensitivity (LD50 = 1 to 2.5 Gy). In general, ANC3A were the most sensitive and HEC1A were the most resistant to all treatments. ARK1 and ARK2 cell lines were also sensitive to Niraparib (LC50 1.01 and 0.43 μ M, respectively) but due to time constraints were not studied further.

In general, the LC50 appear to rank in a similar order with cisplatin and Niraparib and IR. It is worth noting that RL95-2 were resistant to cisplatin but sensitive to Niraparib and had intermediate sensitivity to IR.

5.4.3 Correlations between LC50 cisplatin, Niraparib and LD50 IR

Correlation analysis was undertaken to determine if there was any relationship between cytotoxicity to Cisplatin, Niraparib and IR. Individual scatter plots are shown below between Cisplatin LC50, Niraparib LC50 and IR50 in figure 5.3. There was no statistically significant correlation between Cisplatin and Niraparib, Cisplatin and IR, and Niraparib and IR. This was limited due to the small sample size in the endometrial cohort. However, the rank order in the cell lines between Cisplatin LC50 and IR LD50 is the same (AN3CA-> Ishikawa-> RL95-2-> HEC1A). There appears to be a trend towards a positive correlation. However, when cell lines were treated with Niraparib RL95-2 was the most sensitive (ranking 3rd when treated with Cisplatin and IR). This does not consider the sensitivity of ARK1 and ARK2 to cisplatin and IR was which not undertaken and is therefore a limitation.





5.4.4 Single agent growth inhibition with cisplatin and Niraparib

Whilst colony forming assays are the most reliable method to determine the cytotoxicity of an agent it is not always possible to perform if the cells in question will not form colonies. Growth inhibition assays using a surrogate measure of cell number are a convenient alternative, but it should be noted that different surrogate measures of cell number, e.g. measurement of cellular reductase versus ATP, can result in very different estimates of drug sensitivity (Haibe-Kains et al., 2013). Here we sought to determine if growth inhibition using protein content, as measured by SRB staining, was a sufficiently reliable indicator of druginduced cell killing. Growth inhibition by single agent cisplatin or Niraparib was performed in all cell lines (Figure 5.4, Table 5.2). It is not possible to do the same studies with IR due to "shadowing" by the walls, in relation to the small surface area, of the wells in the irradiator.





Reassuringly, the growth inhibition GI50 values were in a similar concentration range to the cytotoxicity LC50 values (0.4-4 μ M for cisplatin and 2-8 μ M for Niraparib), suggesting that these assays could be a convenient substitute for cells that do not form colonies. There was

a greater spectrum of growth inhibition than cytotoxicity by cisplatin with an 8-fold difference between the highest and lowest GI₅₀. As with the cytotoxicity experiments HEC1A were the most resistant (GI₅₀ =4.13 μ M) and AN3CA were the most sensitive (GI₅₀= 0.53 μ M). Growth inhibition by Niraparib was similar in AN3CA, Ishikawa and RL95-2 (GI50 = 2.4 – 3.1 μ M) but as in the cytotoxicity studies HEC1A cells were 2-3 x more resistant.

Cell Line	Cisplatin: GI ₅₀	% Growth	Niraparib: GI ₅₀	% Growth
	$\mu M \pm SEM$	Cisplatin 1 μ M	$\mu M \pm SEM$	Niraparib 3 μM
AN3CA	0.53 ± 0.14	17.00 ± 0.76	3.07 ± 0.67	45.14 ± 7.42
Ishikawa	2.02 ± 0.15	72.24 ± 4.20	2.35 ± 0.13	70.55 ± 11.61
RL95-2	1.25 ± 0.42	39.95 ± 28.42	3.05 ± 0.14	48.18
HEC1A	4.13 ± 1.22	70.35 ± 3.05	7.32 ± 0.24	71.05 ± 3.55

Table 5.2. **GI**₅₀ values of cisplatin and Niraparib alone Summary of the mean GI₅₀ and growth inhibition to single agent cisplatin and Niraparib along with percentage growth inhibition in each cell line at a given concentration with means and standard error of the mean for 3 independent experiments. Percentage growth inhibition is also displayed at cisplatin 1 μ M and Niraparib 3 μ M.

5.4.5 Correlations between single agent growth inhibition and single agent cytotoxicity

Correlation analysis was undertaken to determine if there was a relationship between growth inhibition values and cytotoxicity in the endometrial cancer cell lines to Cisplatin and Niraparib. The individual scatter plots for Cisplatin GI50 vs. Cisplatin LC50 and Niraparib GI50 vs. Niraparib LC50 are shown in figure 5.5. There was not statistically significant correlation by Pearson's correlation coefficient, however, there appears to be a positive trend between GI vs. LC50 for both cisplatin and Niraparib. To probe this further the growth vs survival of cells at each drug concentration was evaluated (Figure 5.6). There is a clear positive trend between growth inhibition (%) and cell survival (%) by colony survival assay. Whilst the correlation is not perfect, it demonstrates that growth inhibition could be used as a surrogate for cytotoxicity in experimental work when cell cultures do not form colonies.



Figure 5.5. Scatter plots of Cisplatin GI50 vs. LC50 and Niraparib GI50 vs. LC50. Data are the mean of three experimental repeats and are shown in tables 5.1 and 5.2.



Niraparib growth and cytotoxicity at given concentration

Figure 5.6 **Percentage growth vs. percentage survival at a given concentration of Niraparib**. Percentage growth was plotted against Percentage survival for each concentration of Niraparib in all 4 cell lines. Each data point is the mean growth and mean survival for a single drug concentration after 3 experimental repeats.

5.4.6 Correlations between doubling time, fold increase H2AX and RAD51 vs. cytotoxicity to Cisplatin, Niraparib and IR

There was no correlation between baseline cell characteristics (doubling time, fold increase in H2AX and RAD51) and LC50 values for cisplatin, Niraparib or IR. However, baseline characteristics in those compared to cisplatin LC50 and IR LD50 ranked similarly but were not statistically significant (figure 5.7). It is difficult to draw any firm conclusions in this small cell line panel.



Figure 5.7. Scatter plot of cell doubling time, fold increase in H2AX and RAD51 vs. Cisplatin LC50, Niraparib LC50 and IR LD50. There was no statistically significant correlation between any of the variables. Data are mean values of 3 replicates calculated and displayed in tables 4.1, 4.2 and 5.1.

5.4.7 Correlations between cell line characteristics, HRR status, and single agent cytotoxicity and growth inhibition

Correlation analyses were also performed to determine if growth inhibition was related to baseline cell characteristics such as doubling time, HRR status, baseline and activated PAR. Although cell growth rate and induction of replication stress would be expected to correlate with both growth inhibition, no such correlation was observed between cell doubling or H2AX focus induction and either cisplatin or Niraparib-induced growth inhibition (Figure 5.8) neither was there a correlation with RAD51 focus induction, although all cell lines were found to be HRR competent.



Figure 5.8. Correlations between cell doubling time, fold increase H2AX and fold increase RAD51 vs. Cisplatin GI50 and Niraparib GI50. Data are mean values which are displayed in tables 4.1 and 5.1.

5.4.8 Correlations between baseline PAR, activated PAR, PARP inhibition and single agent cytotoxicity to Niraparib

Correlation analysis was undertaken to understand if there was any relationship between baseline PAR levels and PARP activity and inhibition by Niraparib with Niraparib cytotoxicity in the 4 studied cell lines (figure 5.9). No statistically significant correlation was observed between any of these parameters in this small number of cell lines. As PARP inhibition was very similar in all cell lines (section 5.4.1) it was not possible to relate the differences in Niraparib cytotoxicity or growth inhibition to PARP inhibition.



Figure 5.9. Scatter plot of baseline PAR, activated PAR and Niraparib IC50 (PARP inhibition) vs. Niraparib LC50. Data are mean values of three experimental repeats and are displayed in tables 4.3 and 5.2.

5.5 Discussion

In this chapter we examined the cell survival and growth inhibition to cisplatin, IR and Niraparib. We sought to explain the differences by comparing these to baseline cell line characteristics. We found a relatively narrow spectrum of sensitivity in all cell lines studies to cisplatin, IR and Niraparib, two of which are used in the standard of care in endometrial cancer management. There was a trend to sensitivity with HEC1A cell line being the most resistant to IR, cisplatin and Niraparib, and AN3CA being the most sensitive. This is the first time that this panel of endometrial cell lines have had sensitivity to cisplatin and IR to allow for direct comparison of sensitivity. We would expect low grade endometrial cancers, like HEC1A to be more resistant to platinum chemotherapy and IR, and for a high-grade endometrial cancer to be more sensitive to platinum (Bestvina and Fleming, 2016). This is nicely reflected in our data series. This is the first time that this panel of endometrial cell lines have had sensitivity to cisplatin and IR to allow for direct comparison of sensitivity. We might expect that p53 mutated cancers be more resistant to cisplatin and IR, as referenced in studies in other cancer sites (Chee et al., 2013, Reles et al., 2001), however we found that not to be the case with HEC1A being most resistant without p53 mutation and found that AN3CA were the most sensitive, with a p53 mutation. Interestingly, HEC1A and RL95-2 were more resistant to cisplatin, compared to other cell lines. Both cell lines are known to harbour defects in MMR. This is in keeping with the notion that dMMR tumours are more resistant to platinum agents because of replication bypass (Vaisman et al., 1998). This was not reflected in AN3CA which is also known to be MSI-H. However, it is difficult to form firm conclusions given the small number of cell lines studied. A similar trend in sensitivity to Niraparib as for cisplatin and IR which suggests sensitivity is not due to the classic determinant of PARPi sensitivity, rather that some cell lines may have more pro-survival factors that render them more resistant than others. Other aspects of the cell's biology didn't affect sensitivity to these drugs such as growth rate either. Cancer cell biology is complex with multiple determinants of resistance and sensitivity likely to be present making it difficult to define predictive biomarkers for selection of personalised therapy (Saeed et al., 2018). Other aspects of the cell's biology did not affect sensitivity to these drugs such as growth rate, fold H2AX, RAD51 and baseline or activated PARP.

This is the first time that Niraparib sensitivity and growth inhibition has been performed in endometrial cancer cell lines which makes this data novel. However, a panel of endometrial cancer cell lines has previously been treated with Olaparib to determine sensitivity in endometrial cancer cell lines by colony survival assay (Miyasaka et al., 2014). Interestingly, Ishikawa, RL95-2 and AN3CA cell lines were found to be more sensitive to Olaparib compared to the more resistant HEC1A cell line. All these cell lines harbour PTEN mutations, however in the cell line panel in this thesis, PTEN mutation status could not be linked to PARP inhibitor sensitivity, raising the question as to whether PTEN effects HRR function as seen in previous studies (Shen et al., 2007, Dedes et al., 2011).

Additionally, for the further studies described in subsequent chapters we identified that Niraparib 1 μ M inhibited ~ 90% PARP activity without affecting cell growth or survival to a great extent (see table 5.3 below), thereby allowing this concentration to be selected for chemo- and radio-sensitisation studies. We also concluded that growth inhibition can be used as a surrogate for cytotoxicity in primary cell culture, which tend not to grow in colonies.

Cell line	% PARP inhibition at	% Cell survival with	
	Niraparib 1 µM	Niraparib 1 μM	
AN3CA	88.9 (4)	81.05 ± 10.06	
HEC1A	90.2 (2)	81.89 ± 11.99	
Ishikawa	89.6 (3)	79.88 ± 16.80	
RL95-2	96.5 (1)	82.83 ± 10.03	

Table 5.3. Demonstrating PARP inhibition at Niraparib 1 μ M and the associated growth inhibition at Niraparib 1 μ M in growth inhibition studies by SRB.

5.6 Conclusion

- PARP inhibition by Niraparib was similar in all cell lines tested
- Growth inhibition correlated well with cytotoxicity in the cell lines
- No significant correlations were seen between baseline cell characteristics (doubling time, HRR functional status) vs. GI50, LC50 and PARP inhibition
- Cell lines ranked in a similar order of sensitivity when treated with cisplatin, IR or Niraparib.

Chapter 6. Potentiation of Cisplatin or IR by Niraparib

6.1 Introduction

Results from the previous chapter identified the growth characteristics, PARP activity, HRR status, growth inhibition and cytotoxicity by cisplatin, Niraparib and IR. The overall aim of this thesis was to study the role of PARP inhibitors in endometrial cancer including their role as chemo- and radiosensitisers. The standard of care of for those with advanced disease or high risk of recurrence is either sequential chemotherapy and radiotherapy or chemotherapy alone. Carboplatin is used as first line standard of care when chemotherapy is required, usually in combination with paclitaxel. In this Chapter the combination studies have used cisplatin which causes the same DNA damage as carboplatin.

PARPi are well known to potentiate the effects of some anticancer treatment. PARP null mice are hypersensitive to IR (Masutani et al., 2000). Another argument for their use in combination is that they improve the effectiveness of standard treatments and may allow for lower doses of toxic agents to be used, therefore reducing the damage to normal surrounding tissue in IR or reduce the systemic effects on normal tissue from chemotherapy. PARPi have been shown in pre-clinical studies to be radiosensitisers, their sensitisation is thought to be between 1.3-2-fold (Curtin, 2005, Griffin et al., 1995, Chalmers, 2004, Powell et al., 2010). Radiosensitisation appears to be related to use at concentrations where PARP is inhibited by >90% (Weltin et al., 1997). IR induces both SSBs and DSBs, with the DSB's being more lethal, as described in section 1.7.7. The underlying mechanism for this radiosensitisation is thought to be inhibition of the repair of SSBs (Banasik et al., 1992), but PARP has also been implicated in DSB repair though an interaction with NHEJ and direct involvement with alt-NHEJ. In addition, it is also thought that PARPi may cause an improvement in perfusion of tumours which leads to a reduction in hypoxia and an improvement in the toxic effects of IR (Calabrese et al., 2003, Ali et al., 2009, Senra et al., 2011). PARPi have also been shown to have both cardio- and renal-protective effects in patients, both of which can be caused by cytotoxic agents (Saha et al., 2022, Korkmaz-Icöz et al., 2018, Ali et al., 2009). There are conflicting reports as to the effect of combination treatments with platinum and PARPi, with sensitivity appearing to be compound and cell line specific (Bernges and Zeller, 1996, Lu et al., 2018). The DNA damage caused by platinum

result in intra- and interstrand crosslinks, which are repaired by NER and HRR, and not be SSBR/BER, which would be inhibited by PARPi (Bürkle et al., 1993, Guggenheim et al., 2008, Curtin, 2005). The cell-specific synergy between PARPi and cisplatin may reflect the dependence on functional HRR for resistance to both agents as synergy between Olaparib and cisplatin was only observed in BRCA mutated cells (Evers et al., 2008). In this chapter we aim to explore combination therapies with Niraparib to determine whether Niraparib could sensitise endometrial cancer cells to irradiation or cisplatin. Following on from results in the previous chapter it was decided to use Niraparib 1 μ M in combination therapy.

Niraparib was chosen as the PARP inhibitor of choice in this thesis as the project was kindly sponsored by GSK. However, Niraparib is a potent PARP1/2 inhibitor with middle ranking PARP trapping and half-life (Krastev et al., 2021). The available PARPi (Talazoparib, rucaparib, Niraparib and olaparib) have different biochemical and pharmacological characteristics which determine their dosing, scheduling, and their effects in combination (Bruin et al., 2022a) . These differences include their half-life, PARP selectivity, potency, durability, and PARP trapping capabilities. In general, talazoparib has the greatest PARP1 inhibition potency, half-life and greatest PARP trapping and Veliparib the least. Rucaparib despite having the second longest half-life and PARP1 inhibition, has the longest durability (Smith et al., 2022).

6.2 Aims and Objectives

The aims of experimental work in this chapter were:

- To determine whether Niraparib sensitises endometrial cancer cell lines to IR.
- To determine whether Niraparib sensitises endometrial cancer cell lines to cisplatin.
- To determine if p53/PTEN/MMR status or baseline cell line characteristics are associated with radio- or chemosensitisation.

6.3 Materials and methods

Details of methods for undertaking chemopotentiation with colony survival assay and by growth inhibition and radiopotentiation in colony survival assay, with Cisplatin alone or in

combination with Niraparib 1 μ M are discussed in chapter 3. In Short, in the colony survival assay, cells were seeded into 6 well plates for 24 hours, they were then exposed to increasing concentrations of cisplatin alone or in combination with Niraparib 1 μ M for 24 hours, media was then replaced and allowed to incubate until visible colonies were seen. Plates were then fixed as discussed in section 3.6. For colony survival combination treatment, cells were seeded and allowed to attach for 24 hours. Media was then replaced media containing 0.5% DMSO control or with Niraparib 1 μ M. Wells were then irradiated immediately with increasing doses of IR and continued in culture for 24 hours. Media was then replaced and incubated until visible colonies were seen. For combination SRB treatments, cells were seeded into 96 well plates, incubated for 24 hours to allow cell attachment. Media containing increasing concentrations of cisplatin +/- Niraparib 1 μ M and allowed to incubate for 3 doubling times and then fixed and processed as discussed in section 3.5. Data were then normalised to either DMSO or Niraparib alone control.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Radiation potentiation with Niraparib by colony formation assay

Results of colony formation assays are shown in Figure 6.1 and summarised in Table 6.1. Niraparib caused a modest radio-potentiation in all EC cell lines, which increased at higher IR doses. The greatest radio-potentiation was seen in Ishikawa cells with a potentiation factor at their LC50 (PF50) of 1.83. There was modest potentiation seen at the LC50 for; HEC1A (PF50 of 1.31) and RL95-2 (PF50=1.20) but no potentiation observed in AN3CA. However, there appeared to be a greater potentiation at 4 Gy with sensitisation ranging from 2.41-fold in the Ishikawa cells 1.16 in HEC1A. However, two-way ANOVA failed to detect a difference between IR alone and IR plus Niraparib in all but the AN3CA cell line (p=0.01). This may relate to the inter-assay variation.

A

В



Figure 6.1. Enhancement of IR by Niraparib. A. survival of cells exposed to IR alone (solid line) or in the presence of 1 μ M Niraparib (dashed line) with a further 24 h incubation with Niraparib (dashed line) followed by incubation in drug free medium for colony formation. Data are normalised to unirradiated DMSO control or 1 μ M Niraparib alone control as appropriate. Data are mean +/- SEM from 3 independent experiments each with triplicate measurements. **B**. LD50 values calculated by interpolation of survival curves (6.1A) following irradiation alone (solid symbols) or irradiation + 1 μ M Niraparib (open symbols), colours correspond to those in figure 6.1A. Data are individual values from 3 independent experiments with mean values shown.

6.4.2 Potentiation of cisplatin with Niraparib by colony formation assay

Cisplatin sensitisation by Niraparib is shown in Figure 6.2 and summarised in Table 6.1. Chemosensitisation was very modest overall (\leq 1.5) at both the LC50 and at 1 μ M cisplatin level.



Figure 6.2. Enhancement of cisplatin by Niraparib A. survival of cells exposed to cisplatin alone (solid line) or in the presence of 1µM Niraparib (dashed line) with a further 24 h incubation with Niraparib (dashed line) followed by incubation in drug free medium for colony formation. Data are normalised to untreated DMSO control or 1 µM Niraparib alone control as appropriate. Data are mean +/- SEM from 3 independent experiments each with triplicate measurements. **B**. LC50 values calculated by interpolation of survival curves (6.2A) following cisplatin alone (solid symbols) or cisplatin + 1 µM Niraparib (open symbols), colours correspond to those in figure 6.2A. Data are individual values from 3 independent experiments with mean values shown.

Cell line	PF50 ± SEM	PF at Cisplatin 1	PF50 IR ± SEM	PF at 4 Gy ± SEM
	Cisplatin	μМ		
Ishikawa	1.36 ± 0.27	1.18±0.28	1.83 ± 0.20	2.41 ± 0.14
AN3CA	0.77 ± 0.08	0.73 ± 0.01	1.00 ± 0.09	1.66 ± 0.25
HEC1A	$\textbf{1.33} \pm \textbf{0.09}$	$\textbf{1.20}\pm\textbf{0.16}$	1.31 ± 0.16	1.16 ± 0.17
RL95-2	1.44 ± 0.22	$\textbf{1.36} \pm \textbf{0.29}$	1.20 ± 0.13	1.90 ± 0.08

Table 6.1. Showing the potentiation chemo-potentiation of cisplatin (PF₅₀ and 1 μ M cisplatin) to Niraparib 1 μ M and IR (PF₅₀ and PF at 4 Gy). Data are mean and SD of PF calculated from each of 3 independent experiments

6.4.3 Cisplatin with Niraparib 1 μ M by growth inhibition with SRB assay

Growth inhibition combination SRB results are shown in figure 6.3 and table 6.2. Potentiation of cisplatin-induced growth inhibition by Niraparib was greater cytotoxicity potentiation, at least for Ishikawa and HEC1A cells but much less marked for RL95-2 cells.



Figure 6.3. Growth inhibition studies by SRB investigation sensitisation of four

endometrial cancer cell lines to cisplatin \pm Niraparib 1 μ M Exponentially growing cells in 96well plates were exposed to increasing concentrations of cisplatin \pm Niraparib 1 μ M (A) for 6 days prior to fixing and staining with SRB, and cell growth compared to vehicle alone-treated cells was compared. Data are mean and SD from 3 independent experiments. The concentration required to inhibit growth by 50% (GI50) determined by interpolation (GraphPad Prizm) of the concentration response curves is given for cisplatin alone or in combination with Niraparib 1 μ M (B) where data points are from individual experiments with the mean given as a horizontal line.

Cell line	PF50 ± SEM	PF at Cisplatin 1	
	Cisplatin	μМ	
AN3CA	0.87 ± 0.30	0.46 ± 0.05	
HEC1A	1.78 ± 0.27	1.03 ± 0.14	
Ishikawa	1.85 ± 1.67	1.39 ± 0.09	
RL95-2	1.08 ± 0.16	0.94 ± 0.39	

Table 6.2. Demonstrating PF50 and potentiation at Cisplatin 1 μ M when cisplatin is in combination with Niraparib 1 μ M by growth inhibition. Data are mean and SD of PF calculated from each of 3 independent experiments

6.4.4 Correlations

Correlation analysis was undertaken to determine if there were any relationships between baseline cell characteristics, HRR functional assay results, PAR studies, combination treatment and between colony survival assay and growth inhibition to determine overall effects of Niraparib in these endometrial cancer cell lines. Unfortunately, combination treatments were only undertaken in 4/6 of the endometrial cancer cell lines. Due to the small sample size with small spectrum of PFs it was not possible to accurately determine if sensitisation by colony formation was similar to sensitisation in growth inhibition, nor if chemosensitisation and radiosensitisation correlated but a trend for these to be related was observed that would be worth pursuing in additional cell lines. Chemo- and radiosensitisation did not correlate with cell growth rate or potency of PARP inhibition.

6.4.5 Chemopotentiation in colony formation vs. chemopotentiation growth inhibition studies

Correlation studies were undertaken to compare the PF50 by growth inhibition with PF50 by colony survival (figure 6.4). Whilst there was no statistically significant correlation between the two, the numbers are small and are affected by one outlier.

Chemopotentiation in colony survival vs. in growth inhibition



Figure 6.4 **Chemopotentiation in growth inhibition vs. chemopotentiation in colony survival.** Each point represents the mean fold potentiation seen in each cell line.

6.4.6 Correlation with chemopotentiation vs. radiopotentiation

Correlation studies were undertaken to compare the potentiation of the cytotoxicity of cisplatin and IR by Niraparib in colony survival assays (figure 6.5). Whilst there was no statistically significant correlation between the two, due to the small numbers there was a trend that suggested that both IR and cisplatin may be potentiated similarly in a cell line dependent manner.



Figure 6.5. Chemopotentiation vs. radiopotentiation by Niraparib. Each point represents the mean fold potentiation seen in each cell line.

6.5 Discussion

The aim of this chapter was to explore whether Niraparib has a role in combination with standard of care treatments in endometrial cancer. PARPi have been found to sensitise the effects of ionising radiation and chemotherapeutic agents in many cancer types, resulting in a number of early phase clinical trials (Barcellini et al., 2021). PARPi have been used as a radiosensitiser in oesophageal, head and neck, colorectal and prostate in vivo and in vitro, where a modest radiosensitisation has been found (Tuli et al., 2014, Angel et al., 2021, Qin et al., 2022). To date, this is the first time that Niraparib has been investigated in combination as a chemo and radiosensitiser in endometrial cancer. We found a modest radio- and chemosensitation when Niraparib 1 μ M was combined with increasing concentrations of IR and cisplatin. The greatest cytotoxic effect in combination was seen at high doses of IR (4 Gy). Olaparib and Telazoparib have been investigated previously in endometrial cancer cell lines showing radiosensitisation, which was found to be independent of PTEN mutation status (Wang et al., 2022, Miyasaka et al., 2014) contrary to the hypotheses of other groups that suggested that potentiation of PARPi were likely to enhance the effects of cisplatin or IR in the presence of PTEN mutation (Minami et al., 2013, Chatterjee et al., 2013). This is in keeping with the conflicting evidence of the role of PTEN in HRR. However, our cell line panel was too small to determine the role of PTEN mutation status in our sensitisation experiments. Our data shows that the extent of Niraparib radiosensitisation (up to 1.8-fold at LC50 and up to 2.5-fold at 4 Gy)) was similar to that seen with other cell types and PARPi (Jonuscheit et al., 2021, Cui et al., 2022). We did find superior radiopotentiation with Niraparib in the Ishikawa cell line (around 2-fold). Cisplatin potentiation was more modest when combined with Niraparib (by clonogenic) in line with data seen in other cancer types (1.18 - 1.44-fold) (Prasad et al., 2017, Mann et al., 2019). Notably a greater effect has been seen in HRD cancer cell lines (Evers et al., 2008). Whilst a limitation of the combination treatment with cisplatin and IR was undertaken with Niraparib alone and the impact of other PARPi in endometrial cancer combination treatment is not known, There are studies that demonstrate that the effects of PARPi are similar when coexposed with other cytotoxic agents (Smith et al., 2022), however, with greater PARP trapping and PARP1 inhibitor potency in other PARPi, the results may be more statistically significant but may cause more off target effects in patients. Similarly, combination treatments were only studied with co-exposure, the effects of sequential exposure should

be explore to determine the effects on cytotoxicity, particularly when thinking about daily IR schedules used in endometrial cancer. A more durable PARPi such as rucaparib may show greater benefit.

There are currently no combination studies with cisplatin and PARPi in endometrial cancer cell lines which makes this study novel. Correlation of chemo- and radiopotentiation needs further investigation in more cell lines as the greatest effect seen in our data is driven largely by Ishikawa result. It is difficult to determine from this study, why the Ishikawa cell line was more sensitive to Niraparib-induced chemo and radiosensitisation. The apparent protection from cisplatin by Niraparib in the AN3CA cell line has not been seen previously in other PARPi. From our data AN3CA has similar cytotoxicity and growth inhibition effects as the Ishikawa cell line to Niraparib, but Ishikawa cells were more resistant to Niraparib-induced growth inhibition. It is tempting to speculate that in the AN3CA cell line growth arrest in G1 has protected the cell line from IR and cisplatin damage, this could be investigated further with cell cycle studies. We found a reasonable but not perfect correlation between growth inhibition and clonogenic data when used in combination and therefore this could be used as a surrogate of cytotoxicity in primary cultures that do not form colonies. Recent preclinical studies have proven PARPi to be effective radiosensitisers in many cancer sites (Césaire et al., 2018). Niraparib has specifically shown to have clear radiosensitising effects and has been expand into clinical trials (Wang et al., 2020). A combination of Niraparib and radiotherapy has found to be safe, well tolerated and have good efficacy in patients with recurrent glioblastoma (Jiang and Wang, 2022). Trials in other cancer sites are currently ongoing with a phase I/II studies in metastatic cervix cancer to determine its safety, tolerability, and efficacy with Niraparib and radiation combination treatment (NCT03644342), as well as in prostate cancer (Jang et al., 2020). There are several ongoing clinical trials looking to determine the role of platinum chemotherapy and PARPi combinations in breast, ovarian and lung cancers, and has been shown to be tolerated. One might expect that the overlapping myelosuppression in both drugs might limit the dose of PARPi given. There are currently no studies or clinical trials recruiting for combination treatment with Niraparib and cisplatin or radiotherapy in endometrial cancer, however, its tolerability in other cancer cell types supports its use in clinical studies, along with our data.

6.6 Conclusion

- There was minimal potentiation of cisplatin by Niraparib 1 μ M in all endometrial cancer cell lines in colony survival assay or growth inhibition studies.
- There was modest radiopotentiation of IR when by Niraparib 1 μ M in colony survival in the 4 endometrial cancer cell lines studied
- There appeared to be a trend toward greater radiopotentiation with the addition of Niraparib 1 μ M at higher IR doses.
- There was a trend between potentiation in growth inhibition studies and those in colony survival assay.
- There was no correlation between chemo or radiopotentiation in base line cell line characteristics including cell doubling time, PARP inhibition, fold H2AX change or RAD51 in the HRR assay.
- Given the small cell line panel studied to date it was not possible to link radio- and chemopotentiation to p53, PTEN and MMR mutation status.
- The investigative work was limited by a small number of cell lines studied and available and therefore supported investigation of primary culture in endometrial cancers to determine if there were in fact in cancer that were HRD and sensitive to PARPi Niraparib.

Chapter 7. Primary culture in endometrial cancer and exploration of homologous recombination repair status

7.1 Introduction: Primary culture

Whilst cell lines provide a convenient model to investigate drug sensitivity extrapolating to the clinic has several drawbacks due to their adaptation to culture and genetic drift means that only a subset of the heterogeneous population of cancer cells grow and change with time. Given the limited cell line panel and lack of endometrial cancer primary culture data it was important to establish whether it was feasible to generate endometrial cancer primary cultures and determine functional HRR status to explore the role of PARPi. Primary culture, whilst technically challenging is an important option to explore, as the culture is more likely to represent that of the original tumour tissue and therefore more likely to be representative of a patient's condition. There have been several methods described to establish tumour primary cultures such as from ascitic fluid and solid tumour (RL et al., 2014, Kar et al., 2017, Thériault et al., 2013). Other methodologies described include the development of tissue organoids and other ex-vivo models (Suarez-Martinez et al., 2022). Ascitic fluid has been shown to be relatively easy to establish in culture, whilst solid tumour cultures are more difficult to establish due to contamination, fibroblastic overgrowth and limited cell viability (Miserocchi et al., 2017). Patients with endometrial cancer do not commonly present with ascites, unlike that of ovarian cancer. They typically present with isolated disease within the uterus or with solid spread to lymph nodes or distant tissues such as the omentum (Creasman et al., 1987). Whilst not part of FIGO staging of endometrial cancer, peritoneal washings have been found to be positive in several patients with disease that has spread outside of the uterus (Seagle et al., 2018), which affords the opportunity to study this in more detail in ex-vivo samples. Primary endometrial cancer cultures are not well described and therefore a methodology required optimisation before functional assessment of primary cultures is needed. In this chapter we explore the development of primary endometrial cancer cultures, its optimisation and refinement to include in function assessment of HRR and growth inhibition by Niraparib. The development of primary cultures is presented together in a logical sequence before presenting the final methodology at the end of the chapter.

7.2 Aims and objectives

The aims of this chapter are as follows:

- To establish endometrial primary culture from ascites, peritoneal fluid and solid tumour biopsies and determine optimum conditions to do so
- To characterise the primary cultures by morphology, growth and clonal expansion.
- To determine the HRR status of primary endometrial cancer cultures
- To determine Niraparib sensitivity in primary endometrial cancer cultures by growth inhibition studies.

This will enable to following hypotheses to be tested:

- A proportion of endometrial cancers are HRD
- HRD cell cultures are more sensitive to Niraparib

7.3 Materials and methods

7.3.1 Sample collection and primary culture

Ethical approval was obtained from the Northeast, Newcastle and North Tyneside Research Ethics Committee (REC: 12/NE/0395) as part of the DDR tissue biobank. Specimens were transferred and stored in accordance with human tissue act regulations (HTA). Written consent was taken from patients with biopsy proven endometrial cancer prior to surgery at the Northern Gynaecological Oncology Centre in Gateshead, UK. Patients were given the opportunity to decline specific tissue analysis (including genomic testing and animal testing) and were able to opt out at any time. Patients were provided with an information leaflet with contact details for the biobank and hospital research teams. Samples were collected at a variety of different time points during the procedure. Initially samples were taken at the end of procedure to ensure little disruption of the surgical case. This was taken by pipelle biopsy blindly by passing into the uterus. Where possible, additional peritoneal washings were taken during the procedure to capture any malignant endometrial cells. Peritoneal washings were collected into a 10 ml universal tube following pelvic lavage with 20mls 0.9% saline and refrigerated at -4 °C prior to transfer at the end of the surgical case. Due to the blind nature of collecting endometrial biopsy with pipelle biopsy, the protocol was modified to include the attendance of a pathologist at the end of the surgical case to bisect the uterus to aid directed endometrial cavity visualisation for a more representative tumour biopsy. Where possible, if a patient presented with advanced or recurrent disease with ascites, ascitic fluid was taken, stored at 4 °C and transferred later that day for processing at Newcastle University.

Solid biopsies were placed into a sterile universal containing culture RF20 (RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 20% FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine and 1% penicillin/streptomycin), prewarmed to 37 °C. Ascites was aspirated into sterile containers. All samples were transferred to the lab and processed immediately in compliance with UK category B regulations UN3373 along with appropriate written consent. Patients were link anonymised with a unique identification code, PT (solid tissue) or PA (ascites or washings) along with a consecutive number to uphold anonymity. Samples were grown and attempts were made to use cultured cells in several assays if cell number and expansion allowed. Clinicopathological data were collected, including demographics as well as overall survival (OS). Summary of all data can be found in Chapter 8 with full data in Appendix A.

7.3.2 Final primary culture protocol

Following a process of optimisation (see section 7.4.4-7.4.9), a patient tumour sample was obtained, after cleansing the cervix with surgical preparation 0.05% chlorhexidine, using a sterile pipelle endometrial biopsy sampler inserted through the cervix into the endometrial cavity. A biopsy sample was then aspirated into the pipelle sampler. Tissue was then transferred, as above, for immediate processing. Media containing the solid sample was transferred to a petri dish and tissue micro-dissected to 1 mm³ pieces before returned to a universal container and centrifuged at 300 g for 5 minutes to form a pellet of endometrial tissue/cells. The supernatant was then discarded and replaced with 10 ml of 1 x digestion media (3.2mg/ml collagenase type 1:52.5 units/ml hyaluronidase). The sample was incubated for 2 hours at 37 °C in a rotating water bath with agitation every 15 minutes. The contents of the universal were poured through a 40 μ M cell strainer into a falcon tube and washed with 20 ml of warmed PBS. The filtered contents of the falcon tube containing a heterogeneous mix of cells, including stromal cells such as fibroblasts, endometrial stem cells, red and white blood cells was discarded. The material remaining on the strainer which contains epithelial cells, was reverse washed onto a petri dish with RF20 medium and placed into a cell culture incubator for 1 hour to allow fibroblasts to attach. The supernatant was

then removed with a pipette and place into a T25 flask for ongoing culture and use in subsequent experiments. See sample collection and optimisation below in figure 7.1.



Figure 7.1 **Sample collection and protocol flow diagram**. Above is a flow diagram outlining the steps taken to collect an endometrial cancer sample through processing to culture.

7.3.3 Ascitic and washings culture

10-20 ml of ascitic fluid was added 1:1 to RF20, placed into T75 sterile cell culture flasks and incubated for 5-10 days. Medium was replaced on day 5. Old media containing non-adherent contaminants such as adipose tissue, haematological and tissue cell debris were aspirated. The adherent cellular monolayer was washed with 10 ml PBS and media replaced and allowed to continue in culture. Cultures were the observed for ongoing growth, cell
morphology, evidence of microbial contamination and confluence to allow for passage in further experimental work.

7.3.4 Formal histopathological reporting

Formal histological review of endometrial cancer samples was undertaken at the Northern Gynaecological Oncology Centre by the two lead gynaecological pathologists. Representative tumour samples were taken from the endometrial cavity prior to the main specimen being fixed with formalin. Biopsies were transferred to the lab to attempt ex-vivo culture. An FFPE block was selected for inclusion in the biobank where there were adequate blocks available. The remaining blocks were processed in the NHS lab for full diagnostic workup to present to the multidisciplinary team. Tumours were characterised for morphology on H&E, grade, presence of LVSI, depth of myometrial invasion, involvement of extra-uterine tissues. FFPE blocks were subjected to endometrial cancer IHC panel, including ER, PR, p53 and MMR proteins (post 2020). The results were ratified by the gynaecological oncology MDT with tumour stage and recommendations for further treatment. Baseline clinicopathological data was collected for inclusion in the project. A proportion of the endometrial primary cultures were reviewed by our gynaecological pathologist to observe morphology to support tumour epithelial origin as a quality control.

7.3.5 Characterisation

Primary cultures were initially made up of several different cell types, including stem cells, red and white blood cells, epithelial cells, and fibroblasts. The cultures were characterised in terms of cell growth, morphology, passage number and whether there was any contamination of the culture with other cell types. Cultures were reviewed twice weekly to note the appearance of the culture under brightfield microscope and to note any change in the above features.

7.3.6 Morphology

Images of all successful cultures were taken on a brightfield microscope to observe cell morphology. Photographs were taken a different time point during culture to observe any changes, such as pattern of culture growth, morphological changes, cell interactions, whether they formed in a uniform sheet or whether they piled on top of each other or if the cultures became overgrown with other cell types. Figure 7.2 below shows the two common

morphological types seen on primary culture, cobblestone and fibroblastic cultures. Epithelial cultures more commonly develop in cobblestone monolayers in culture flasks. They tend to be polygonal in shape, more regular in appearance and grow in discrete patches. Some can cluster and 'pile up'. Fibroblastic cultures are often bi- or multipolar, have elongated shapes and may or may not grow uniformly with or without a clear boundary. Malignant cells are often chaotic, without order, with loss of polarity, increased nuclear to cytoplasmic ratio and may have multiple prominent nucleoli. They often do not resemble their tissue of origin.



Figure 7.2. **Primary culture morphology** . The images above are taken on a brightfield microscope at x 40 magnification. The image on the left demonstrates a primary cell culture with morphology showing a cobblestone monolayer. They have a relatively large nucleus in compared to their cytoplasm. The culture is proliferating as you can see brighter more uniform cells lifting off the flasks which are replicating. This culture is a high-grade endometrial cancer cell culture. The image on the right demonstrates a more uniform culture with thin elongated appearance. The cells are smaller and appear bipolar. This culture is entirely fibroblastic.

7.3.7 Primary culture growth

A variety of methods were tested to determine cell growth, including cell counting, SRB staining. Growth was possible by SRB, but priority was given to undertaking an HRR assay and where possible growth inhibition studies. This was because cultures were delicate, particularly due to their tendency to be contaminated with microbes. Therefore, growth in this each primary culture was purely observational and regularly required assessment to ensure that experimental work was carried out in exponential growth and to ensure that the

cultures were not infected or contaminated with other non-epithelial cell types which would affect interpretation of results. Notes were taken on morphology, growth rate and appearance of culture over time at different time points to determine their growth pattern and behaviour.

7.3.8 Optimisation of EC culture

Endometrial primary cultures were optimised throughout experimental work to yield cultures that grew in culture medium, were less likely to be contaminated by bacteria and fungi, and were less prone to overgrowth with non-epithelial cell types to leave a pure epithelial culture. The steps taken to address problems during primary culture of endometrial cancer is detailed in the results section.

7.3.9 Homologous recombination repair functional assay

Primary epithelial cultures were seeded onto coverslips and examined to ensure free of bacterial or fungal contamination, 48 hours later they were incubated with primary culture medium +/- 10 μ M rucaparib for 48 hours prior to processing as described in section 3.7.2.

7.3.10 Growth inhibition by SRB

Growth inhibition studies were undertaken with Niraparib where possible by SRB staining as described in chapter 3 section 5.1. To ensure that there were no clumps of tumour in the sample cells were passed through an orange needle and agitated with a cell vortex to ensure a single cell suspension then were seeded at approximately 1000 cells/well on 96-well plates, allowed to attach for 24 hours and then incubated with increasing concentrations of Niraparib. As all cell cultures differed in their observed doubling times, they were reviewed daily to ensure growth without reaching confluence in the control group prior to fixing and staining as described in section 3.5.1. Tissue/cell clumping was particularly problematic with solid tumour cultures. If large clumps of cells were noted in experimental wells, results were deemed invalid for that well and excluded. As there were 6 replicates per concentration of Niraparib used, this did not prove to be a significant problem.

7.4 Results

7.4.1 Clinical characteristics

61 patients were recruited to this study and consent with ethical approval as described above. 2 patients later withdrew their consent. Median age in the cohort was 71 (range 45-85). 2 patients had benign endometrium on biopsy and surgery was undertaken for complex atypical hyperplasia, 2 patients were diagnosed with an ovarian cancer after primary site change following review of histology from surgical specimen and 1 patient was diagnosed with a uterine adenosarcoma. This left a total of 54 with endometrial cancer following pathological review of surgical specimen. 28 (52%) patients had stage 1 disease, 5 (9%) had stage 2 disease, 12 (22%) had stage 3 disease and 9 (17%) had stage 4 disease. In this cohort 17 (32%) had serous cancer, 10 (19%) had carcinosarcoma, 10 (19%) had low grade endometrioid, 5 (9%) had grade 3 endometrioid, 4 (7%) had mixed clear cell and grade 2 endometrioid, 3 (5%) had mixed serous and clear cell, 2 (4%) had clear cell and 3 (5%) had mixed serous and endometrioid endometrial cancers. Table 7.3 shows the patient data collected for this endometrial cancer cohort.

7.4.2 Sample collection and processing to obtain single cell suspension for culture

61 samples were collected and transferred for processing, 4 were from ascites and were split 50:50 culture medium and ascites and left to grow in a T125. 57 were from solid tumour biopsies and were processed according to a previously optimised method using a combination of collagenase I (6.4 mg/ml) and hyaluronidase (125 U/ml) and stored in 5 ml aliquots at -20 °c. In summary, directed tumour biopsies were taken following surgery and sample transferred directly into 10 ml of primary culture medium and placed into 4 °c prior to transfer. Samples were transported to the university and handled in a sterile culture hood in accordance with the human tissue act. The contents were poured into a 90 mm³ dish and dissected into small 1 mm pieces using sterile forceps and scalpel blade. Following dissection, the sample transport medium was aspirated and discarded, and media replaced with 10 ml cell culture medium containing collagenase hyaluronidase (2:1) and transferred into a sterile universal tube and placed into a water bath at 37 °c and shaken at 20 rpm. The samples were incubated for 1-2 hours depending on the yield from the directed biopsy. The solution was agitated at 30-minute intervals to ensure opportunity for the whole sample to dissociate. Following this, the sample was transferred to a centrifuge and spun down at 250g for 3 minutes. The universal tube was then transferred into a sterile hood and the supernatant was aspirated and resuspended in media and placed into a 90 mm³ petri dish. Samples were reviewed under high magnification and any areas with fibroblasts were removed by aspiration. The sample was then transferred into T25 flask and placed into an incubator at 37 °c until cells were seen to attach to the flask. Samples were observed daily to monitor growth and for signs of contamination with microbes or unwanted cell types such as fibroblasts. The flasks were left untouched for around 3-5 days before observations were made.

7.4.3 Primary culture success

54 patients from whom samples were collected had a final diagnosis of endometrial cancer following final histology review. Of the 54 samples collected 11 (20%) did not grow in culture, 13 (24%) became infected either following sample processing or first passage with either bacterium or fungus, leaving 34 (62%) endometrial biopsies that successfully grew in culture. Of the successful cultures 3 (10%) cell cultures did not survive past first passage. Following successful passage 4 (15%) became overgrown by fibroblasts i.e., no epithelial culture and a further 5 (19%) that did not continue in culture following seeding for HRR assay onto 6 well plates. leaving 18 cultures for functional HRR assessment and growth inhibition studies. Figure 7.3 shows a flowchart of sample outcomes from cultures.



Figure 7.3. **Attrition of endometrial primary pipelle biopsy samples**. Out of 54 endometrial cancer patient biopsies, 30 successfully cultured of which 18 samples had successful functional HRR assay performed. 10 had paired HRR assay and growth inhibition studies with Niraparib by SRB.

7.4.4 Sample infection and optimisation

24% of cultures became infected with a combination of bacteria and fungi. Contaminated cultures often produce a cloudy media and often rapidly used all energy stores in the media, giving it a yellowish colour rather than a pink/purple media. However, cloudy/murky cultures may also be due to a culture that contains cellular debris. It is therefore important not to handle the culture from around 3-5 days to allow cell attachment to occur,

observations can be taken before old media is aspirated, flask washed with sterile PBS and new media replenished for ongoing cell growth. With the introduction of media containing antifungal and antibiotics, the rate of infection reduced. However, it was important to consider the lowest dose of antimicrobials to avoid impact of growth on the primary cell culture. Image D in figure 7.4 demonstrates a contaminated culture that continued to grow in culture. There were some initial concerns that cultures would be contaminated with microbes at low concentrations with antimicrobials, however, regular visible inspection took place to ensure that cultures were not containing infection, even at levels.



Figure 7.4. **Images of culture outcomes** . Following images were taken on a visicam brightfield microscope at x 40 magnification. A) Demonstrates a culture that has been processed and incubated for 14 days without any visible cell attachment to flask of proliferation. Cell debris can be seen floating above the surface. Cultures were discarded if no signs of cell attachment at this time point. B) Demonstrates an epithelial primary cell culture with classical cobblestone monolayer appearance. This ascitic fluid sample was taken from a patient with advanced serous endometrial cancer. C) Solid endometrial tumour biopsy of a patient with high grade disease. A cobble stone epithelial culture is seen, however, like that seen in a proportion of the endometrial cancer cell line studies evaluated, the cells appear to crowd together and pile up, like the glandular construction of their tissue of origin. D) Shows a mixed cell culture containing red cell debris, fibroblasts and epithelial cells, however the culture was contaminated with bacterial rods (circled in red) and therefore, was discarded.

7.4.5 Histological subtype of endometrial cultures

Of the cultures that were not successful 1 were serous, 2 were clear cell, 4 were low grade endometrioid, 1 high grade endometrioid, 1 carcinosarcoma and 2 were mixed histology. Of the patients who had a successful culture, 10 were serous, 0 clear cell, 5 low grade endometrioid, 2 high grade endometrioid, 6 carcinosarcoma and 7 were mixed cell types. Table 7.1 summaries the histological subtypes of the cultures. Of the samples that did not culture, 6 failed to attach,3 initially attached but separated and 2 had mixed epithelial, fibroblast growth with contaminated red and white cell culture. Median age of successful culture 70 (range 45-75), median age of unsuccessful culture 72 (range 51-84). 3 of the successful cultures were from ascitic fluid (3/4 ascitic fluid cultures), 27 were from solid tumour biopsies (27/50 solid tumour cultures) and 0 were from peritoneal washings. The success rate of each sample method was 75% for ascitic fluid, 54% for solid directed endometrial biopsy and 0% for peritoneal washings.

Endometrial	Successful culture	Unsuccessful	Infected
subtype		culture	
Serous	10	1	6
Clear cell	0	2	0
G1 EEC	0	1	0
G2 EEC	5	3	1
G3 EEC	2	1	2
Carcinosarcoma	6	1	3
Mixed serous and	3	0	0
clear cell			
Mixed serous and	1	2	0
endometrioid			
Mixed clear cell and	3	0	1
endometrioid			

Table 7.1. **Culture outcomes by endometrial cancer subtype** G1 EEC=grade 1 endometrioid endometrial cancer, G2 EEC=grade 2 endometrioid endometrial cancer, G3 EEC = grade 3 endometrioid endometrial cancer.

7.4.6 Optimisation with cell filtering to avoid mix cultures

To reduce contamination from other cell types, cell filtering was used to refine primary culture. Table 7.2 shows cell sizes. Following sample digestion with collagenase/ hyaluronidase a 40 μ M cell filter was used to remove bloods cell debris and fibroblasts. Whilst the cell filter is 40 μ M, endometrial cancer cells tend to clump together in a pearl necklace appearance under brightfield microscopy. It is important to look at the supernatant under brightfield microscope before undertaking the filter step to remove any obvious cell contamination and to ensure clusters of endometrial cells can be seen. Following dissociation of solid tumour tissue, the supernatant was filtered into a 50 ml falcon tube and then reverse washed with cell culture medium onto a 90 mm³ petri dish. This media containing epithelial cells was then transferred into a T25 flask for incubation at 37 °c with daily observations recorded.

Cell origin	Size (µM)
Red blood cells	6.2-8.2
Neutrophils	8-10
Fibroblasts	10-15
Epithelial cells	20
Endometrial stem cells	5

Table 7.2. **Cell sizes** . This table Demonstrates average cell size of red blood cells, white blood cells, fibroblasts, epithelial endometrial cells, and endometrial stem cells.

7.4.7 Avoiding fibroblast overgrowth

Fibroblast contamination is a major problem in primary cultures and is particularly so with solid tumour cultures. Whilst a cell filter step was included in the development of the final protocol fibroblastic overgrowth in culture continued to be a problem. The following methods were investigated to try to eliminate fibroblasts: selective seeding, cloning rings and Matrigel. Selective seed has been used in primary culture previously. Essentially, different cell types adhere to culture flasks at different rates. Fibroblasts are most likely to attach more rapidly than epithelial cells and can therefore be used to positively select out endometrial cancer cells. Cloning rings can be placed around colonies of epithelial cells allowing their selective detachment by trypsinisation and re-seeding. Limitations of this method are that the interaction of epithelial cells in culture is important for signalling and growth, by limiting the number and volume of cells available it is likely that there will not be a significant yield. This was demonstrated in culture in our patient cohort, the two cultures attempted with this method did not grow and were discarded. Matrigels have been showed to support growth of epithelial cell cultures by providing a feeder layer. Limitation of this approach are that it is expensive and requires additional handling of delicate primary cell culture. This was attempted once, there was difficulty detaching the primary culture from the Matrigel and the resultant yield of cells in culture was small. This rapidly became infected. Therefore, it was decided that an attempt should be made to do selective seeding. Cells were transferred to T25 flasks and incubated at 37 c for around 30-60 mins. Cells were observed on brightfield microscope to see if cell attachment had started to occur. The supernatant was then aspirated and transferred to another T25 flask and incubated for daily

inspection and culture review. It was noted that fibroblast contamination considerably decreased following the introduction of this step.



Figure 7.5. **Progression to fibroblastic overgrowth in primary culture**. Brightfield microscope images at x 40 magnification taken with a visicam at different time points in the same patient. A) Solid tumour sample, central cluster of solid endometrial tumour can be seen with cobble stone monolayer seen extending out with abnormal nuclei/cytoplasmic ratio and abnormal nuclear shape. B) Sample overtaken by fibroblasts demonstrating their classical elongated spindle shape with cytoplasm tapering off into long slender processes.

7.4.8 Morphology and longevity of cultures

As discussed previously, epithelial culture sample yield was small, and it was therefore not possible to perform growth studies with SRB as well as HRR functional assay on all samples. Each primary culture sample had notes taken which describe the growth over many observations as well as number of successful passages and is summarised in the primary culture table in appendix A. A total of 30 cultures were successful. 21 had a cobblestone morphological appearance, 1 was a mixed cell culture, 7 were fibroblastic and 1 was spindlelike. 15 cultures did not survive to first passage. 13 cultures continued past first passage, 2 survived past the second passage, 9 survived past third passage and 4 past the fourth passage. Of the 3 that did not survive to first passage, all had cobblestone morphology and were made up of the following histological subtypes; 1 serous cancer, 1 stage 3a carcinosarcoma and one stage 3C1 mixed serous and clear cell cancer. The 13 cultures that survived past the first passage were made up of 1 patient with grade 2 endometrioid endometrial cancer (EEC), one grade 3 EEC, 5 serous endometrial cancers, 3 carcinosarcoma, 2 mixed serous and clear cell, 2 mixed serous and grade 3 EEC and one mixed clear cell and grade 2 EEC. The two cultures that survived past second passage was made up of serous endometrial cancers. Cultures that survived three passages were made up of 3 grade 2 EEC, 2 serous, 1 carcinosarcoma, 1 mixed serous and clear cell and 2 mixed clear cell and grade 2 EEC. 4 cultures survived past passage 4 and were made up of 1 serous cancer, 1 grade 2 EEC, 1 grade 3 EEC and 1 carcinosarcoma. The morphology of these cultures is summarised in table 7.3 along with age, histological subtype stage and whether a successful HRR or SRB assay was performed.

Patient number	Age at	Stage	Tumour subtype	Culture successful	HRR assav result	HRR status	Passage	Morhology	SRB Growth inhibition	GI50 Niraparib
	diagnosis									
1	47		BENIGN	Y	Y	HRC	P1	с	N	
2		3a	CARC	Y	N	N	PO	N	N	
3	69		SERCLEAR	Y	N	N	PO	с	N	
4		1a	CLEARG2E	Y	Y	HRC	P1	с	N	
5			SER	Y	N	F	PO	с	N	
6		3C1	SER	1	N	NA	P0	N	N	
7		1a	CLEARG2E	1	N	NA	P0	N	N	
8	68		G3E	1	N	N	P0	N	N	
9		1a	SER	1	N	N	P0	N	N	
10		1a	G3E	1	N	N	P0	N	N	
11		3C1	SER	1	N	N	P0	N	N	
12		1a	SER	1	N	N	P0	N	N	
13	64	В	BENIGN	1	N	N	P0	N	N	
14		4b	SER	Y	Y	HRD	P4	с	Y	1.73
15	65	2	G2E	Y	N	F	P1	S	N	
16	67	1a	SER	Y	Y	HRC	P3	F	Y	11.46
17	62	1a	SER	Y	N	F	P1	F	N	
18	68	3b	SER	1	N	N	PO	N	N	
19	71	1a	CARC	Y	N	N	P1	с	N	
20	61	1C1	Ovary	Y	N	N	P2 I	F	N	
21	56	4a	G2E	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
22	74	1a	CARC	Y	N	Failed culture	P1	F	N	
23	68	3C2	SER	Y	Y	HRC	P1	с	Y	8.82
24		4b	CARC	1	N	N	PO	N	N	
25		1a	G2E	Y	Y	HRC	P4	с	Y	7.85
26	<u> </u>	1a	G3E	Y	N	Failed culture	P1	MIX	N	
27	79		G2E	1	N	N	PO	N	N	
28		1a	CLEAR	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
29	72		CARC	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
30		1a -	SER	Y	Y	HRC	P2 I	c	F	
31		1a	SER	Y Y	N	Failed culture	P1	c	F	
32	58		ADENOSARC		N	N	PO	N	N	
33	84		SERG2E	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
34		4b 2	SER	N	N	Infected post passage	P1	с	N	
34		4b 4b	SER	Y	N	Failed culture	P1	F	N	
37		1a	SERCLEAR	Y	Y	HRC	P3	c	Y	23.4
37		3C1	G3E	Y	Y	HRD	P4	c	F	23.4
30		3C1	Ovary	1	N	N	P4 P0	N	N	
40	78			Y	Y		P1	С		
			SERCLEAR	Y	-	HRC		c	N	
41		4b	CARC		N	Failed culture	P1		N	
42	<u> </u>	4b	CLEAR	N		N	PO	N	N	
43		1a	CLEARG2E	Y	N	F	P3	F	N	
45		4b	G2E	Y	N	F	P3	c	N	
46	59		G2E	Y	Y	HRC	P3	c	Y	28.96
47		3C2	CARC	Y	Y	HRC	P4	F	N	
48		1a	CLEARG2E	Y	Y	HRC	P3	с	N	
49		1a	SER	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
50		1a	SERG2E	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
51		1b	G2E	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
52		Recurrence	G3E	N	N	N	P0	N	N	
53		4b	CARC	Y	Y	HRC	P3	с	Y	1.62
54		3C2	G2E	Y	Y	HRC	P3	с	Y	21.96
55		3C1	SER	Y	Y	HRD	P2	с	Y	2.03
56		1b	SER	Y	Y	HRC	P3	с	Y	60.2
57	77	2	SERG3E	Y	Y	HRC	P1	с	N	
58	64	2b	Ovary	N	N	N	P0	N	N	
59	74	1a	G2E	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
60	73	1a	G1E	N	N	N	PO	N	N	
		1a	CARC		N	N	PO	N	N	-

Table 7.3. **Patient-derived EC primary cultures**. Summary table of primary endometrial patient samples. Table includes patient number, age, stage, tumour subtype, culture outcome, outcome of HRR assay, morphological appearance of culture, number of culture passages and whether growth inhibition studies with Niraparib were undertaken (along with GI50 results). Y=yes, N= no C=cobblestone monolayer, F=fibroblastic culture, S=spindle-like culture, I = infected, MIX = mixed cell type culture. Tumour subtype: CARC=carcinosarcoma, SER =serous, CLEAR=clear cell, G1E = grade 1 endometrioid endometrial cancer (EEC), G2E= grade 2 EEC, G3E=grade 3 EEC, SERCLEAR= mixed serous and clear cell, SERG2E = mixed

serous and grade 2 EEC, SERG3E= mixed serous and grade 3 EEC, CLEARG2E= mixed clear cell and grade 2 EEC, OVARY=ovarian cancer, BENIGN=benign histology (no cancer).

7.4.9 Clinical characteristics and culture success

There was no significant relationship between the age of patients and ability to grow cell cultures (p=0.73).



Figure 7.6. Box and whisker plot showing summary statistics (Mean, standard deviation, and range) for age of patients separated based on whether sampled cells could be successfully cultured (Y) or not (N). DIAGAGE = Age at diagnosis, GROW= Outcome of culture.

A Fisher's exact test was performed to test whether there was a difference in the ability to grow cell cultures (GROW) from different tumour subtypes (TUMPSPT). Table 7.4 shows the culture outcomes for each individual subgroup. There was a significant relationship (p = 0.048) suggesting that the type of cancer affects the ability to grow a cell culture. However, given the small sample size, it was not possible to determine which subtypes were the underlying cause for this. It is likely that serous cancers, carcinosarcomas and grade 2 EEC's are subtypes which are more likely to grow in culture. However, it is worth noting that our population is skewed to high grade tumours, given that the women were operated on in a cancer centre, therefore it is difficult to draw firm conclusions. The sample size is also very small so valid conclusions are difficult to conclude from this.

	GROWTH		
Subtype	Ν	Y	
BENIGN	0	1	
CARC	1	6	
CLEAR	2	0	
CLEARG2E	0	3	
G1E	1	0	
G2E	3	5	
G3E	1	2	
SER	2	10	
SERCLEAR	0	3	
SERG2E	2	0	
SERG3E	0	1	

Table 7.4. **Contingency table of Tumour subtype and culture outcome**. This table shows the primary culture outcomes (whether they grew or not in culture) according to the histological subtype of the endometrial cancer. There was no statistically significant correlation between a successful culture and histological cancer subtype.

A logistical regression was used to determine whether the stage of cancer was correlated with the ability to grow a cell culture. No significant relationship was detected between stage of cancer and growth of cell culture.

7.4.10 Homologous recombination repair in primary endometrial cancer culture

It was possible to perform functional HRR analysis on 18 samples, HRC was defined as ≥2fold increase in RAD51 foci in cells showing a ≥2-fold increase in H2AX foci, HRD was defined as <2-fold increase in RAD51 foci in cells showing a ≥2-fold increase in H2AX foci and cultures in which there was <2-fold increase in H2AX were deemed invalid (Patterson et al., 2014), There were no invalid results. 15 (83%) samples were HRC and 3 (17%) were HRD. The HRC cultures were made up of 4 serous cancers, 2 carcinosarcomas, 3 grade 2 EEC, 1 mixed serous and grade 3 EEC, 2 mixed clear cell and G2E, 2 mixed serous and clear cell cancers and 1 benign histology. 8 (53%) were stage 1, 2 (13%) were stage 2, 3 (20%) were stage 3, 1 (7%) stage 4 and one ultimately had benign histology. 13 had cobblestone morphology and 2 had a fibroblastic appearing culture. Median age was 70 (47-80). Of that HRD samples, 2 were serous cancers and 1 was a grade 3 EEC (2 were stage 3 and 1 was stage 4). Further details of the culture and cell passage are included in table7.3. Figure 7.7 shows a representative HRC and a HRD image by immunofluorescence. Figure 7.8 shows a waterfall plot of all primary cultures that achieved a result from the HRR assay, it shows fold increase in increase in H2AX (red) and RAD51 foci (green).

Patient 57 – Example of HRC endometrial cancer culture



Patient 55 – Example of HRD endometrial cancer culture



Figure 7.7. **Primary culture HRR determination**. Representative image from a HRC primary endometrial cancer culture (A) and HRD culture (C) showing nuclei from cultures exposed to 10 μ M rucaparib for 48 h or not (control) stained with DAPI and H2AX and RAD51 foci identified by red and green, fluorescent antibodies. The fold increase in foci following rucaparib treatment is shown in B and D.

Data for all samples is shown in figure 7.7. Patients 14, 38 and 55, were HRD. The Median increase in RAD51 foci in the HRC group was 9 (2-24). Some primary cultures only had a 2-fold increase in RAD51 foci formation (54 and 56).



HRR Functional assay in primary endometrial cancer culture

Figure 7.8. **Summary data of Functional HRR assay data in primary culture in primary**. This plot shows fold increase in H2AX foci formation (red) and RAD51 foci formation (green) (y axis) in the HRR assay for each patient (x axis). The dotted line shows a cut off at 2-fold increase to determine HRR status. A black box is drawn around the 3 HRD samples. Detailed methodology is explained in methods section 3.7.2.

7.4.11 Growth inhibition with Niraparib by SRB in primary cultures

Ten (2 HRD and 8 HRC) of 18 cultures characterised for HRR status had sufficient cell number to undergo Niraparib growth inhibition with SRB. HRC cultures had median Niraparib GI50 of 16.71 μ M (1.62-60.2). The median Niraparib GI50 in the HRD cultures was 1.88 μ M (1.73-2.03). HRD cultures that had successful growth inhibition measurements were serous and grade 3 EEC subtypes. Whilst HRC cultures comprised 2 serous, 3 grade 2 EEC, 1 carcinosarcoma and 1 mixed serous and clear cell subtypes. One HRC culture (patient 53 -a carcinosarcoma) was more sensitive to Niraparib than the two HRD samples. Interestingly the least sensitive HRC patient was a serous endometrial cancer (GI50 60.2 μ M), however, it appears that this culture grew very slowly and has likely yielded a falsely high GI50 result. Figure 7.9 shows a summary of growth inhibition GI50 values in the endometrial cancer primary culture samples.



Growth inhibition SRB: Primary samples

Figure 7.9 Growth inhibition studies with single agent Niraparib from cultured primary endometrial cancer samples. The concentration required to inhibit growth by 50% (GI50) determined by interpolation (GraphPad Prizm) of the concentration response curves is given from a single experiment. There was a range in sensitivity seen in the primary cultures to Niraparib. The patient bar charts in green are the growth inhibition GI50s in the samples which were HRC (range 1.62-60.2 μ M). The red bar charts of from 2 samples that were HRD by the HRR functional assay (range 1.73-2.03 μ M). All HRC patients with growth inhibition studies (apart from patient 53) were less sensitive to Niraparib. It could be hypothesised that patient 53 is actually HRD, but the defect in HRR is downstream of RAD51 and therefore not detected by this assay.

7.4.12 Clinical characteristics and HRR status

It was important to determine if there were any clinical characteristics which are associated with homologous recombination repair status. This would serve to identify those patients who were more likely to be HRD, focus testing or serve as a biomarker. Due to the small sample size, it was not possible to associate HRR status with stage of disease or tumour subtype (p = 0.54 Fisher's exact test).

7.5 Discussion

In this chapter we have demonstrated that it is possible to culture endometrial cancer samples ex-vivo from ascites and solid uterine tumour biopsies. Culture success was improved in this cohort with the introduction of antimicrobial agents to reduce sample contamination with infection as well as refinement to single cell culture. As this study was investigating cancer of epithelial origin, it was important to exclude other cell types from the analysis, particularly fibroblasts. There are currently several known methodologies to achieve this, which include refinement of culture medium, selective seeding, cell filtering, cell feeder layers, as well as metallic bead filtering (Lee et al., 2018, Kelly et al., 2020, Pezzi et al., 2018, Arnold et al., 2001). In this study we optimised a technique, which included a combination of the above (excluding metallic beads) to refine the culture and increase culture yield. This was a modification of the following protocol (Chen and Roan, 2015). The success rate of culture was 62% but increased over time with method refinement. Several groups have established endometrial cancer cultures to undertake characterisation, cytotoxicity and functional studies but have seen similar culture limitations such as fibroblastic overgrowth, limited survival, and poor cell yield (Koval et al., 2015, Zhang et al., 1995). There were, however, no reported culture success rate in these groups to allow for direct comparison. Furthermore, there are limited epithelial cell specific markers for endometrial cancers to include as quality control for these cultures, to ensure that cell type included in experimental work was purely epithelial tumour and therefore relying on morphology alone was a limitation of our study. Accurate morphological assessment following passage and seeding onto coverslips is particularly tricky, further limiting quality control in experimental work, as there was no guarantee that the predominant cell type in the culture flasks did not get overgrown with fibroblasts following cell passage and seeding onto coverslips. The use of fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) and magnetic cell sorting could have further refined this epithelial culture due to their ability to utilise stem cell-related antigens through antibody selection (Medema, 2013). Further experimental work with these delicate primary cultures was further limited by the small cell yield in culture. Therefore, findings within a sample was limited by only one experiment. Most of the cell volume was required to complete HRR assay and growth inhibition studies and often cultures did not survive past the first or second passage. Despite this, 18/34 (53%) of the primary culture samples underwent HRR function analysis. 17% of these were HRD and 83%

are HRC. The current estimate in other studies is that around 24% of high-grade endometrial cancers are HRD (de Jonge et al., 2018). This group were able to perform functional HRR functional analysis in endometrial cancers that were irradiated prior to fixation and embedding into paraffin but were not able to demonstrate sensitivity to PARPi in these samples. Therefore, the results from this primary culture experimental work are consistent with previous findings but augmented by growth inhibition studies with Niraparib. Our study has demonstrated that it is possible to culture endometrial cancer cells from solid tumour biopsies taken at the end of surgery and from ascitic fluid taken from therapeutic paracentesis or intraoperative drainage. The approached used to process ascites was similar to previous methods used in our laboratory with relative ease of primary culture, however, in endometrial cancer, patients presenting with ascites is uncommon. The method of determining HRR status was the same method validated in various cancer types including (ovary, lung, breast and prostate) which also utilised a mixture of fluid and solid cultures to perform the assay. It is worth noting that this functional HRR assay was not validated previously in endometrial cancer cultures but that the methodology seemed to be reproducible across cancer and culture sample types. The primary cultures identified 3 out of 18 samples to be HRD utilising a cut off of a 2-fold increase to determine HRR status. It is interesting to note that 2 samples came very close to a < 2-fold change in RAD51 foci formation but were assigned to the HRC group (patient 54 and 56). However, both samples were significantly less sensitive to Niraparib than the HRD samples (GI50 21.96 and 60.2 μ M respectively).

A significant number of the primary culture samples did not grow. Interestingly, primary cultures derived from ascites from HRD ovarian cancer are thought less likely to grow in culture, given that defects in double strand break repair are particularly lethal (Gentles et al., 2019), so the fraction of HRD in the entire sample set may be higher than the samples that were ultimately tested. A further limitation of the HRR assay is that primary cultures grow at different rates and all primary cultures undergoing RAD51 functional assay were incubated under the same experimental conditions. However, the assay controls for this in that H2AX is used as a marker of replication stress when cells with inhibited PARP enter S-phase with unrepaired SSB and/or trapped PARP. These lesions are resolved by HRR, involving RAD51 foci. Therefore, if H2AX foci increase, replication stress has occurred and HRR will be activated in cells with functional HRR. Since there were no cells in which H2AX foci did not increase in response to rucaparib all assays were deemed to be valid (Patterson et al., 2014).

The possibility that a HRR positive result is due to contaminating normal cells/fibroblasts cannot be excluded. Also, in this context it is worth noting that in 2/15 of the endometrial cancer samples with HRC status had fibroblastic morphology. Reassuringly the sample from the patient with benign histology was HRC. Interestingly the two HRD samples evaluated for Niraparib induced growth inhibition were highly sensitive compared to the HRC group. One HRC patient was sensitive to Niraparib which could have been due to a defect in HRR downstream of RAD51 foci as has recently been demonstrated for NIH-OVCAR3 cells (Bradbury et al., 2020). There was no statistically significant relationship between HRR status and patient baseline characteristics that might aid selection for PARPi therapy due to the small sample size and further work is needed to establish any relationships. Limiting primary cell culture to one cell type also limits our understanding of the complex interplay between cancer cells and associated stroma as well as understanding response to cytotoxic therapies. More recently organoid have been developed to model the tumour environment more closely, including models for genomic and functional analysis in endometrial cancer (Bonazzi et al., 2022, Wu et al., 2022, Jamaluddin et al., 2022a, Jamaluddin et al., 2022b), and it is to be anticipated that these will be more similar to the in-vivo/clinical situation. Future work should focus on further understanding our knowledge of this interplay for normal tissue and cancer, in the response to cytotoxic agents as well as biomarkers for HRD.

7.6 Conclusion

- A protocol for establishment of endometrial cancer primary cultures has been optimised
- 3/18 cultures were homologous recombination repair deficient
- Growth inhibition by Niraparib correlated with HRR status as expected
- HRR status did not correlate with stage of disease or age of patient but may correlate with tumour subtype
- Future optimisation of primary cultures is required to yield greater cell number to search for biomarkers of HRD and Niraparib sensitivity.
- Further exploration of clinicopathological data is necessary to understand if there are any markers of HRD in the next chapter.

Chapter 8. Homologous recombination repair and clinical implications in endometrial cancer

8.1 Introduction

The previous chapter demonstrates the possibility of growing primary cultures of endometrial cancer and evaluating their HRR status and sensitivity to drug-induced growth inhibition. However, these investigations are challenging, and success is not guaranteed. It is therefore important to explore if there are any markers of HRD from available clinical information and from further analysis of tumour samples. There was a correlation between tumour subtype and success of culture and trend towards a correlation between tumour subtype (serous and grade 3 EEC) and HRD. Therefore, further exploration with clinicopathological data and IHC may reveal a connection with HRR status that may be a more convenient predictive biomarker. FFPE blocks are favoured for pathological evaluation as they allow for serial sectioning of tissue samples and storage for future diagnostics and analysis. FFPE blocks can slow the decay of DNA and therefore provide an opportunity for DNA extraction later as part of research or clinical diagnostics. Following the TCGA work in endometrial cancer, the updated guidance from the European and British gynaecological cancer societies are recommends the use of additional IHC panel markers and genomic testing, to aid decision making for adjuvant therapies and opportunity for screening for Lynch syndrome. From the endometrial cancer patient cohort recruited to this biobank study, we retrieved FFPE blocks for further analysis (with patient consent) and collected clinicopathological data to determine if there were any markers correlating with HRR status. In this patient cohort IHC markers for p53 (associated with HRD in ovarian cancer), oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and MMR, were only determined sporadically, therefore, to explore the association with these IHC markers and HRR status a TMA block was generated to undertake IHC staining of the patient samples. Around 30% of endometrial cancers are dMMR and we hypothesised that these patients may have microsatellites in regions coding for HRR proteins. In this chapter we aim to explore the patient cohort and determine factors that influence OS and to determine if any patient characteristics were associated with HRR status.

8.2 Aims and objectives

The aims to be investigated in this chapter are as follows:

- To determine p53, ER, PR, MMR and PTEN status by IHC
- To collected baseline clinicopathological data and overall survival data.

This will enable to following hypotheses to be tested:

- p53, ER, PR, MMR or PTEN status is associated with HRD in endometrial cancer
- Clinicopathological features correlate with HRR status
- p53, ER, PR, MMR or PTEN IHC marker status is associated with a difference in patients.

8.3 Materials and methods

Following processing of FFPE blocks in the NHS laboratory and clinical diagnostics. Surplus FFPE blocks were selected for each consented patient. It was important to ensure that the blocks contained areas of normal tissue and tumour. Areas of tumour were marked in each patient block and cores were taken for inclusion in TMA block (figure 8.1). IHC staining was undertaken in accordance with NHS laboratory guidelines and scoring was undertaken for each IHC stain. 4 endometrial cancer cell lines were included in the TMA block following formation of cell line thrombin clot. Methodologies for FFPE and TMA construction, IHC staining and score, and production of thrombin clot are discussed in detail in chapter 3. Sections 10 and 11. Anonymised patient clinicopathological data were collected from Northern Gynaecological Oncology Centre, Gateshead and stored securely for analysis. Overall survival (OS) was calculated from date of diagnosis to date of last follow up or death.



Figure 8.1 **Final TMA block image** TMA block image taken by visicam. Individual tissue cores are seen. TMA layout is shown with controls in section 3.10.

8.4 Results

8.4.1 Clinical summary

55 samples were included in the TMA block construction, this included all primary cultures samples that had HRR function characterisation. The remainder were made up of blocks from patients recruited to the study, whose samples did not grow in primary culture. Blocks used were those available prior to University laboratory shutdown during the covid pandemic. 50 endometrial patient samples were included, 4 were endometrial cancer cell line thrombin clot specimens (AN3CA, HEC1A, Ishikawa and RL95-2) and the remaining patients' final histology was an ovarian cancer. Median age 68 (53-84). Twenty-eight had stage 1 cancer, three had stage 2, 11 had stage 3 and 8 had stage 4. Four were grade 1 EEC, 6 were grade 2 EEC, 7 were grade 3 EEC, 6 were mixed histology, 16 were serous, 4 were clear cell and 7 were carcinosarcoma.

8.4.2 Lymphovascular space invasion (LVSI)

Lymphovascular space invasion or LVSI, denotes the presence of tumour cells within lymphatic channels. It highlights to potential of spread to local and distant organs through those channels and is associated with a worse prognosis. Twenty-one had LVSI negative tumours, 27 had LVSI positive tumours and 2 were unknown. Of the patients' tumours that were LVSI positive; 6 were stage 1, 2 stage 2, 11 stage 3 and 8 stage 4. 9 were serous, 5 were carcinosarcoma, 3 were mixed, 1 clear cell, 3 grade 3 EEC, 4 grade 2 EEC and 2 grade 1 EEC.

8.4.3 Serosal clearance

Serosal clearance is the distance from the greatest depth of invasion of tumour in the uterus to the outside surface of the womb. This is associated with a greater risk of metastatic spread of tumour and worse outcomes in patients. 13 had serosal clearance < 1 mm, 6 between 1-3 mm, 15 between 3-10 mm and 7 more than 10 mm. Data were missing for 9 patients. For those patients with serosal clearance < 3 mm; 5 were stage 1, 2 were stage 2, 7 were stage 3 and 5 were stage 4. Of the patients with serosal clearance greater than or equal to 3; 17 had stage 1, 1 had stage 2, 4 had stage 3 and 0 had stage 4.

8.4.4 Nodal involvement

Lymph node involvement with tumour is the result of metastatic spread of cancer cells. It increases the stage of the tumour and worsens the outcomes for patients if present. 11 patients had positive lymph nodes, 32 had negative lymph nodes and there was missing data for 7 patients. All patients with positive nodes had lymphovascular space invasion (11/11) and 12 (38%) who were node negative were LVSI positive. 7/11 (64%) patients who were node positive had a serosal clearance of < 3 mm, whereas 9/32 (28%) had with negative lymph nodes had a serosal clearance < 3 mm.

8.4.5 p53, MMR and PTEN IHC

P53 IHC is available for 39 patients' samples. 19 had mutated phenotype, 8 had null and 12 had wild-type (wt) phenotype. 11 samples were unknown. Of the p53 null or mutated phenotypes, 14 were stage 1, 2 were stage 2, 6 were stage 3 and 3 were stage 4. Of the patients will p53 wt phenotype, 6 were stage 1, 1 stage 2, 3 stage 3 and 2 stage 4. Of the patients with p53 mutated or null phenotypes; 15 were serous, 2 were carcinosarcomas, 4 were grade 2 EEC and 4 were mixed serous. Whereas there were 4 grade 2 EEC, 2 grade 1 EEC, 2 grade 3 EEC, 1 serous, 1 carcinosarcoma and one mixed cancer in the patients with p53 wt IHC. 40 of 50 patients had successful MMR status from IHC. 37 patients were pMMR and 3 were dMMR. 0 were defective in MSH2 and MSH6. 3 were PMS2 deficient, 2 of which were also deficient in MLH1 and a further was MLH1 defective only. 2 were stage 1A endometrioid cancers (grade 2 and 3) and the other was a stage 3C2 mixed low grade cancer. Unfortunately, from the 4 endometrial cancer cell lines, IHC staining was not successful from the thrombin clot samples in the TMA. 37 out of 50 had staining for PTEN. Only 3 had mutated pattern of staining, all of which were also dMMR. The remainder had a normal pattern of PTEN staining. Example positive staining is shown in figure 8.2.

8.4.6 ER and PR IHC

36 out of 50 had successful staining for ER. 7 were ER negative (3 carcinosarcoma, 2 serous, 1 clear cell and 1 G3 EEC), 3 were weakly positive (serous, carcinosarcoma and G3 EEC), 10 had moderate staining (5 serous, 2 G3 EEC, 1 clear cell and 2 mixed serous) and 16 were

strongly positive (7 low grade EEC, 2 grade 3 EEC, 2 mixed serous and low-grade EEC, 4 serous and 1 carcinosarcoma).

36 out of 50 had successful PR status. 12 were PR negative (6 serous, 3 carcinosarcoma, 2 G3 EEC and 1 clear cell). 8 were weakly positive (3 serous, 1 mixed serous and low grade, 1 grade 2 EEC, 1 clear cell and 2 carcinosarcoma), 5 were moderately positive (3 serous, 1 grade 3 EEC and 1 mixed serous and low grade) and 11 were strongly positive (6 were low grade, 1 was mixed serous and low grade, 3 grade 3 EEC and 1 serous).



Figure 8.2 **TMA cores** Examples of positive expression and loss of protein expression in p53, ER, PR, PTEN, MLH1, PMS2, MSH2 and MSH6. There were no examples in the TMA of loss of MSH2/MSH6, therefore marked NA (not available). Images were taken at x 20 magnification with upright microscope by Dr Holly Buist, consultant gynaecological pathologist at Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle.

8.4.7 Homologous recombination repair status and patient characteristics

15 patients were HRC and 3 were HRD. We defined the subtype and stage of the patient with available HRR result. Of the HRC patients, 4 had LVSI and 10 did not (1 was unavailable). In the HRD patients all patients were LVSI positive (3/3). In the HRC group, 2 were node positive and 12 were node negative. In the HRD group, 2 were node positive and the remaining was node negative. The p53 IHC status and HRR status were compared (2 were unknown). In the HRC patient group, 7 had mutated phenotype and 6 were p53wt. In the HRD group, 1 was p53mut and 2 were p53wt. MMR IHC was undertaken on the samples with HRR status, 14 were pMMR (12 HRC, 2 HRD) and 1 was dMMR (HRC). 3 samples did not have an MMR status by IHC. The IHC staining failed in 1/3 of HRD patients in the TMA. 2/3 HRD

had normal PTEN staining, 1/10 HRC were PTEN mutated. The remainder had normal pattern of staining.

In terms of ER and PR staining, 1 HRD failed for staining pattern, 1 was ER strongly positive and PR strongly positive, the other was negative. In the HRC cohort, 4 out of 11 were ER negative, 1 moderately positive and 6 strongly positive. For PR staining, 4 out 10 negative, 1 moderate and 5/10 PR strongly positive.

8.4.8 Determinants of overall survival (OS)

Survival analysis and Cox proportional hazard (PH) testing was undertaken to determine relationship between patient characteristics and survival. Stage, histological subtype and serosal clearance were all associated with reduced OS. The Cox PH regression did not find a significant relationship between age and survival (p=0.13). The log-rank test revealed a significant relationship between survival and stage of cancer (p < 0.0001). The Kaplan Meier plot (figure 8.3) indicated that patients with stage 4 cancer had a much lower probability of survival over time, patients with stage 1 cancer had the best survival, and patients with stages 2 and 3 cancers were in the middle. Note the sample of patients with stage 2 cancer was particularly small (n=3).



Figure 8.3. Kaplan Meier curve; stage vs. overall survival

The log-rank test found no significant relationship between survival and HRR status (p = 0.5). This is reflected in the Kaplan Meier curve below (figure 8.4). However, the curve is suggestive that there may be a survival difference. However, no firm conclusions can be drawn given the small samples size.



Figure 8.4. Kaplan Meier curve; HRR status vs. survival

A Kaplan-Meier plot (figure 8.5) indicated that there was no significant difference in survival between patients with node positive and node negative disease (p = 0.61).



Figure 8.5. Kaplan Meier plot; nodal status vs. survival

A Kaplan-Meier plot (figure 8.6) indicated that patient survival varied with histological subtype. Survival probability of patients with mixed serous and G3 EEC dropped quickly compared to patients with other subtypes; however, the sample size for this subtype was very low (n=3). Patients with sub-type carcinosarcoma had the second lowest survival probability over time, followed by patients with sub-type serous. The relationship between subtype and survival was not found to be significant; however, the p-value was marginal (p=0.065).



Figure 8.6. Kaplan Meier plot; histological subtype vs. survival

The Cox PH regression found a significant relationship between serosa clearance and survival (p=0.03), with lower serosa associated with poorer survival. (Figure 8.7); although the low and high categories created for this plot were not found to be significantly different by the log-rank test.



Figure 8.7. Kaplan Meier plot; serosal clearance < 3 mm vs. survival

8.4.9 Correlations with HRR status and IHC markers

There was no statistically significant correlation between baseline clinicopathological markers/IHC markers and HRR status. This is likely due to the small sample size in this cohort

of endometrial cancers included in this TMA. However, there is a trend towards a possible correlation between the histological subtypes and HRD, i.e., grade 3 EEC and serous cancers more likely to be HRD. There was no correlation between p53 IHC status, PTEN, MMR status and HRD, again this is likely due to the small sample size. A summary table is provided in appendix B of the clinicopathological features of the samples, along with HRR status and IHC staining pattern.

8.5 Discussion

In this chapter we have demonstrated that it is possible to compare classical clinicopathological data and current IHC markers used in stratification of risk and diagnostics in endometrial cancer with ex vivo data of HRR status. Our data was in line with the main known determinants of survival in endometrial cancer, stage and histological subtype, with poorer survival seen within the p53 mutated subgroup and more aggressive type 2 histological subtypes (Crosbie et al., 2022). Interestingly we saw that serosal clearance of tumour was also a determinant of survival which is unsurprising given is clear association with more advanced stage. This association has previously been described in our group (Chattopadhyay et al., 2012). However, we would expect to see LVSI positive tumours and those with nodal disease to have poorer overall survival (Stålberg et al., 2019, Cusano et al., 2018). This is likely due to the small sample size in our cohort and the inherent bias seen in this dataset due to samples having been taken from patients in a cancer centre which deals with more aggressive tumour types. Further work is needed to determine if our data is in line with that seen in the literature.

A tissue microarray was constructed to allow for a greater throughput of IHC staining for several patients with endometrial cancer, this allowed for direct staining during the same experiment for correlation and comparison. TMAs are already used in several cancer sites as it is a cost saving way to do multiple IHC staining on multiple sample types at the same time. TMA use in not only limited to protein expression but has been used for mutational analysis, as well as parallel in situ detection of DNA, RNA and protein targets (Behling and Schittenhelm, 2018). However, a disadvantage of using this method is that these fragile cores can 'slip' or be removed through the process of fixing onto slides, making it difficult to determine the current core for each sample during analysis or result in missing data (Vogel, 2014). The structure of this TMA mitigated against that by having control cores at different point to enable identification of slipped cores as well as having duplicate cores in case one of the cores fails. However, despite this, several cores were missing in the analysis reducing the number of available results making it more difficult to draw firmer conclusion with the IHC work, due to a smaller sample size.

P53 mutated IHC staining was found in 49% of patients. This is unsurprisingly given that most endometrial cancers within this group were high grade. We know that are 29% of high-grade cancers are copy number high (the group where we would expect to see HRD where a significant majority were p53 mutated (Cancer Genome Atlas Research et al., 2013)). The proportion of p53 mutated phenotype was higher in our cohort, this is likely due to an element of selection bias and targeting of serous and grade 3 EEC in the search for HRD in these endometrial cancer patients. The numbers were too small to determine a correlation between HRD and p53 IHC status and warrants further investigation.

93% of patients were pMMR and 7% were dMMR. In the dMMR patients 2/3 had combined MLH1 and PMS2 abnormality and the remaining dMMR patient was MLH1 defective only. dMMR is more commonly seen in the endometrial cancer subtypes which is reflected in our small dataset. MLH1 hypermethylation is the most common cause of dMMR in endometrial cancer and therefore was the most likely aberration likely to be found. MLH1/PMS2 loss due to epigenetic hypermethylation of the MLH1 promoter is the most common cause for dMMR in endometrial cancer (Kurpiel et al., 2022), therefore suggestive that our IHC work is likely to be valid. We would expect to see around 28% of high-grade endometrial cancers to be microsatellite unstable and 39% of endometrial cancers overall to be dMMR. In our high-grade endometrial cancer cohort, it is likely that selection bias has resulted in this discrepancy. There was no correlation between MMR status and HRR status, again the numbers of both were small and a larger sample size is needed to confirm or refute this hypothesis. Unsurprisingly there was no survival difference seen between the 2 groups, but a suggestion that there may be improved survival in the HRD group, however this is a very small sample size to draw any conclusion and warrants further work.

As discussed in the previous chapter we expected to find HRD in the serous and grade 3 EEC subtypes. Additionally, we hypothesised that MSI-high tumours may develop mutations in HRR genes which render them HRD. PTENs role in HRR in controversial as discussed in section 1.7.11 (Bian et al., 2018, Dedes et al., 2010, Shen et al., 2007). However, none of the 3 patients had MMR loss and none had PTEN loss by IHC. All 3 HRD patients were serous, or grade 3 EEC subtypes as expected by TCGA group. However, we were unable to find any biomarkers for HRD status with clinicopathological data or standard IHC work in endometrial

cancer. This was limited by missing cores, bias in the sample collection and a small sample size. Further work is needed to establish biomarkers for HRR status in endometrial cancer.

8.6 Conclusion

- Stage and tumour subtype are a determinant of survival in endometrial cancer
- It is possible to execute high throughput staining of many endometrial cancers in a TMA
- HRD was found in serous and grade 3 EEC subtypes but not association between p53, MMR and PTEN status, and HRR status was found
- Further work is needed to determine biomarkers of HRR status in endometrial cancer.

Chapter 9. Final discussion, conclusions, and future directions

The current ESMO/ESGO/ESTRO guidance (Concin et al., 2021) has identified a need for better treatment options in the relapsed setting for endometrial cancer. This is exemplified by the poor response rates to standard chemotherapy. Immunotherapy has shown promise at recurrence for dMMR tumours, however there is emerging evidence of a role for PARPi. The aim of this thesis was to extend current knowledge and understanding of the potential of PARPi, specifically Niraparib, in this disease. The investigative work in this thesis brought together for the first-time comparative work in a panel of endometrial cancer cell lines. Baseline cell line characteristics were explored, including functional DDR evaluation with PARP and HRR activity to allow for direct comparisons between sensitivity to cisplatin, IR and Niraparib, to investigate potential determinants of sensitivity. Furthermore, the ability of Niraparib to sensitise endometrial cancer cell lines to the effects of standard of care treatments IR and cisplatin were investigated in a panel of endometrial cancer cells for the first time. Similarly, this thesis optimised a protocol in primary endometrial cancer cell culture to allow investigative of HRR function and sensitivity to PARPi in a more clinically relevant situation. The aim of this thesis was to determine markers of sensitivity to common endometrial cancer agents and to determine if there was a clear role for PARPi in HRD endometrial cancers, or as sensitisers to treatment. The findings from this work could inform future studies of the relative potential of these drugs in endometrial cancer to improve the outcome in a cohort of patients with particularly poor long-term outcomes. This work with the cell line panel was somewhat limited due to size and relatively narrow spectrum of DNA repair capacity and drug/radiation sensitivity. Nevertheless, trends were seen, which may inform future clinical trials work and focus using PARPi in endometrial cancer.

To understand the effects of single agent cytotoxicity and growth inhibition more deeply on each endometrial cancer cell line, baseline cell line characteristics were investigated which included, any clinical information (pathological subtype, stage of disease), cell growth, PARP activity and HRR function. Reassuringly, the results were similar to published data. However, this is the first time that HRR status was determine by a functional assay in these cells. Unfortunately, in this small cell line panel, all were HRC, but to varying degrees, with some cell lines having greater replication stress induced by PARPi. There was no correlation between baseline cell characteristics and HRR functional assay results, which is not
surprising given all cell lines were HRC. It may have been expected that the serous endometrial cancer cell lines in this panel (ARK1 and ARK2) would be HRD, as was predicted in the TCGA dataset and follow up studies (Cancer Genome Atlas Research et al., 2013, de Jonge et al., 2018). However, it was worth noting that even in the TCGA dataset, that not all serous endometrial cancer cell lines were expected to be HRD, reflecting the heterogeneity seen within many cancers, based on the different genomics.

This thesis examined the cell survival and growth inhibition to cisplatin, IR and Niraparib. A narrow spectrum of sensitivity in all cell lines studies to these agents, two of which are used in the standard of care in endometrial cancer management. There is a trend to sensitivity with HEC1A cell line being the most resistant to IR, cisplatin and Niraparib, and AN3CA being the most sensitive. This is the first time that this panel of endometrial cell lines have had sensitivity to cisplatin and IR to allow for direct comparison of sensitivity. Other studies have looked at these individually but not together. Interestingly, HEC1A and RL95-2 were more resistant to cisplatin, compared to other cell lines. Both cell lines are known to harbour defects in MMR. This is in keeping with the notion that dMMR tumours are more resistant to platinum agents because of replication bypass (Vaisman et al., 1998). HEC1A was significantly more resistant to cisplatin than even RL95-2, this has been seen in previous cell line work and it thought to relate to cisplatin induced perturbations in the cell cycle, ROS production and autophagy, as well as the induction of cellular senescence and DNA damage (Lin et al., 2021). It should be noted that the effects of cisplatin were measured by MTT in this study and not by colony formation, limiting direct comparison with the data reported here.

It is worth noting that the LC50 concentration ranges (2.89-8.11 μ M) where a profound effect on cellular toxicity was seen in the endometrial cancer cultures fall comfortably below the steady state plasma concentrations seen in pre-clinical xenograft models (65 μ M) and in phase one clinical trials (4.37 μ M) to warrant further exploration of single and combination treatments with Niraparib in HRD and HRC cancers (Sun et al., 2018, Bruin et al., 2022b). However, further work is needed to identify those patients most likely to see best response. We would expect to see the most profound effect in HRD cancers.

As expected, the cells ranked in a similar order of sensitivity to cisplatin and Niraparib since HRR function is a determinant of both. However, a similar trend in sensitivity to IR was also observed, which suggests sensitivity is not due to the classic determinant of PARPi sensitivity, rather that some cell lines may have more pro-survival factors that render them more resistant than others.

It might have been expected that the rank order of sensitivity to Niraparib and cisplatin to be similar because HRD is a determinant of sensitivity to both, and platinum sensitivity may be used as a surrogate for HRD. This may not have been reflected in this small cell line panel as all cells were HRC and therefore there is little spread in the sensitivity of both, but it is possible that there are degrees of impairment in HRR, e.g., if a less critical component is mutated/compromised in some way in HRR they may demonstrate different effects. A trend in the cell lines to sensitivity and resistance to these agents implies some cells may be more resilient than others.

This is the first time that Niraparib sensitivity by both cytotoxicity and growth inhibition assays has been performed in endometrial cancer cell lines. Previously, a panel of endometrial cancer cell lines had been treated with Olaparib to determine sensitivity (Miyasaka et al., 2014). Interestingly, Ishikawa, RL95-2 and AN3CA cell lines were found to be more sensitive to Olaparib compared to the more resistant HEC1A cell line in keeping with the results from this thesis. However, the rank order of Olaparib sensitivity in RL95-2, Ishikawa and AN3CA in the above published work, was different from that seen with Niraparib, this likely relates to the different effects or PARP inhibition and PARP trapping in these cell lines (Murai et al., 2012). Dedes et al. (2010) investigated the response of a panel of endometrial cancer cell lines to the PARPi KU0058948, Similarly, a narrow spectrum of sensitivity was seen with AN3CA, Ishikawa and RL95-2. The sensitivity was seen within the range acceptable for use in patients and therefore supports its use in human clinical trials. All these cell lines investigated in this thesis were found to be HRC by functional RAD51, which is supported by their relatively narrow spectrum of sensitivity, however HEC1A/HEC1B which are similar cell lines, were noted to be profoundly less sensitive to PARPi. It is therefore important to understand this relative resistance when translating this work into patients. Interestingly HEC1A has the highest PARP activity of all the cell lines and was relatively resistant to Niraparib, IR and cisplatin. It is likely that HEC1A cells are more

resistant to cell death signals/apoptosis as compared to the other cell lines, as HEC1A also appears to resistant to paclitaxel (which does not damage DNA) (Dinkic et al., 2017).

A limitation of this thesis is that NHEJ activity and protein expression (DNA-PKcs, Ku, XRCC4 and LIG4) were not measured, as defects in NHEJ are known to be a major determinant of sensitivity to IR. It would be important to understand this in the context of this research as both HRR and NHEJ are competing pathways and loss of components of NHEJ can restore HRR in BRCA mutated cells and effect sensitivity to PARPi (Patel et al., 2011).

The method of measurement of PARP activity by immunoblot was novel in endometrial cell lines. Other groups have measured PARylation by western blot. Unsurprisingly we found very similar levels of PARP inhibition to Niraparib in all cell lines, given that the activity was measured in permeabilised cells and therefore the measure was purely biochemical and does not consider the differences in transport of PARP and its cellular accumulation. It will be important to determine this in future work. Measurement of PARP inhibition by this method in the endometrial cancer cell lines allowed a concentration to be chosen for combination studies (1 μ M) that inhibited PARP by ~ 90% with little impact in cell survival alone with that concentration.

There is emerging evidence to suggest that hypofractionated radiotherapy (higher radiation dose/fraction with fewer fractions as compared to conventional radiotherapy) may elicit a pronounced antitumour effect directly, as well as inducing cell death via antitumour immunity and vascular damage (Wang, 2021). Antitumour immunity is thought to be caused by the release of tumour associated antigens as well as cytokines which attract inflammatory cells to the site of tumour (Chajon et al., 2017). In clinical practice it is called stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT). There are now several studies in cancer which show similar or greater efficacy when compared with conventional radiotherapy without significant side effects (Koontz et al., 2015, Liu et al., 2020). The finding reported in Chap section 6.4 (table 6.1) that demonstrated greatest radiosensitisation by Niraparib in combination with higher dose IR suggests that the combination with hypofractionated radiotherapy may be of the greatest benefit. Combination treatments with radiotherapy and PARP are thought to

enhance the immune response caused by IR. The immune stimulation caused by IR can lead to what is known as the abscopal effect, resulting in tumour shrinkage elsewhere, this may be enhanced with PARPi/IR combinations (Césaire et al., 2018, Rodríguez-Ruiz et al., 2018). There are currently clinical trials ongoing using hypofractionated radiotherapy in endometrial cancer (NCT04683653, NCT05139368 and NCT04890912). The SPARTACUS phase I/II trial (Leung et al., 2021) in endometrial cancer has shown that it is feasible and well tolerated but further studies are needed to determine benefit and non-inferiority to standard treatment. Given the radiopotentiation seen with Niraparib at higher IR doses, it would be worth exploring further preclinical work in xenograft models to determine role in the future.

PARPi have been found to sensitise the effects of ionising radiation and chemotherapeutic agents in many cancer sites, resulting in a number of early phase clinical trials (Barcellini et al., 2021). This thesis was the first time that Niraparib has been used in combination as a chemo and radiosensitiser in endometrial cancer. We found a modest radio- and negligible chemosensitation when Niraparib 1 μ M was combined with increasing concentrations or IR and cisplatin. The greatest cytotoxic effect in combination was seen at high doses of IR. Our data showed comparable radiopotentiation with Niraparib and IR in endometrial cancer cell lines, when compared to endometrial cancer cell line studies with other PARPi (Wang et al., 2022, Miyasaka et al., 2014, Minami et al., 2013). There are currently no combination studies with cisplatin and PARPi in endometrial cancer cell lines which makes this study novel. PARPi combinations have been taken forward in combination studies with cisplatin and radiotherapy. Recent clinical studies have proven PARPi to be effective radiosensitisers in many cancer sites (Césaire et al., 2018). Niraparib has been shown to have clear radiosensitising effects and has been expand into clinical trials (Wang et al., 2020). A combination of Niraparib and radiotherapy has found to be safe, well tolerated and have good efficacy in patients with recurrent glioblastoma (Jiang and Wang, 2022). There are currently no studies or clinical trials recruiting for combination treatment with Niraparib and cisplatin or radiotherapy, however, its tolerability in other cancer cell types supports its use in clinical studies, along with our data.

On the other hand, combinations with cisplatin and Niraparib were not as promising and available evidence suggest that any effect is compound and cell line dependent, suggesting that there is unlikely to be a promising role for this combination, unless the combination is used in HRD cell lines (Evers et al., 2008).

A primary culture method was optimised and used it to determine HRR functional status and Niraparib sensitivity by growth inhibition in a small number of samples. Nevertheless, this was at the expected frequency of HRD in endometrial cancer patients and HRD primary cultures were more sensitive to Niraparib as predicted. However, the difficulties in growing and maintaining an epithelial endometrial cancer culture enough to perform HRR and growth inhibition assays led us to search for FFPE-based predictive biomarkers but with limited success. More studies both using the HRR assay on viable tissue and available fixed histopathology tissue are needed to identify potential biomarkers.

Measurement of HRR status revealed all cell lines to be HRC but 3 out of the 18 primary cultures were HRD enabling this thesis to test the hypothesis that HRD endometrial cancers would be more sensitive to Niraparib. This proportion of HRD was expected from literature. The validity of SRB assay was found to correlate well with clonogenic survival and using this assay the 3 HRD primary cultures were more sensitive to Niraparib than the others. However, one HRC culture was also sensitive to Niraparib suggesting that HRD function as measured by RAD51 foci is not infallible. It is possible that this culture had a HRD defect downstream from RAD51 focus formation as has recently been demonstrated with OVCAR3 cells (Bradbury et al., 2020). Similarly, the GI50 concentrations in the successful primary cultures fell within the therapeutic range of Niraparib in pre-clinical models and in a phase 3 clinical trial suggesting a clear role, particularly with HRD cancers.

As expected, the HRD patients were serous and high grade endometrioid subtypes with a frequency close to what was expected in preclinical work from other groups (Cancer Genome Atlas Research et al., 2013). However, we were unable to correlate MMR and p53 status in our TMA IHC characterisation. p53 IHC status was not predictive of HRD status despite what others have suggested but with the limitation that there were only 3 HRD

cultures in our cohort (van den Heerik et al., 2021, Siedel et al., 2021, de Jonge et al., 2018). The Rainbo trial (NCT05255653) is currently recruited p53 mutated patients for randomisation to a chemoradiation followed by maintenance PARPi or placebo.

Despite the small primary culture sample size of those successful cultures, in which a successful HRR result was obtained, there appeared to be a trend towards improve survival in those patients that were HRD. Of note, two of the HRD patients were treated with combination carboplatin/paclitaxel. This improved survival was similarly found in preclinical work in ovarian cancer primary cultures with the RAD51 assay (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2012) and is reflected in those patients who are HRD treated with chemotherapy (Shao et al., 2022).

Final conclusions: Primary endometrial cancer cultures were established from patient surgical biopsy specimens in which Niraparib cytotoxicity is dependent on HRR status in primary cultures and observed clinically relevant concentrations. Niraparib may be useful as single agent in HRD, provided these can be identified. To date pathology parameters have not revealed a potential predictive biomarker of HRR status but this is due to limited number samples it was possible to characterise for HRR function. Further work is needed to determine if mutational p53 status is a predictive biomarker. Niraparib may be useful as a radiosensitiser especially with hypofractionation schedules. Combination treatment with cisplatin did not yield encouraging results. HRR may not be sole determinant of drug/IR sensitivity some may be intrinsically resilient, and more work needed to validate tentative hypotheses.

9.1 Plan for future work

- Expansion of endometrial cancer cell lines to find examples of HRD would allow for more intense evaluation of the implications for sensitivity to PARPi, cisplatin and IR alone and in combination.
- Genomic sequencing of FFPE material and evaluation of HRR status of corresponding primary cultures may identify more tractable IHC biomarkers of HRD

and PARPi/cisplatin efficacy. Further work to identify tumour subtypes likely to be HRD and predictive biomarkers from available clinicopathological data.

- Develop HRR assays in FFPE material e.g. RAD51 in geminin positive tumours as a way of identifying HRC as has been demonstrated in breast tumour biopsies (Graeser et al., 2010) to determine if this is a reliable and tractable indicator of HRR function that correlates with HRR function determined ex vivo in primary cultures of the corresponding tumour samples. Geminin could be used as an additional marker in the HRR assay to identify cells that are proliferating and to correlate the H2AX and RAD51 foci formation, as these are cells in which are likely to have been damaged by PARPi and then subsequently repaired.
- Search for biomarkers of HRR status and other pathological markers associated likely response to PARPi
- Potential use of organoids and/or PDX to better reflect the tumour microenvironment and assess response to therapies in order to take PARPi single agent and combination into clinical trials in endometrial cancer.

Appendix A

Highlight in yellow shows those cultures where HRR status was determined.

Patient	Age	Histological	FIGO	Successful	Brightfield image	Culture notes	Morphology	HRR	Passage	GI50
ID		subtype	Stage	Culture?				status	reached	Niraparib
										μM
1	47	Benign	N/A	Y		Pipelle biopsy directly transferred. Process with col/dis. Incubated for 5 days. Small colonies forming with cobblestone appearance. Media washed and changed and incubated for further 4 days. Reached 70-80% confluence. Trypsinised and placed onto coverslips. Culture remaining in flask slow to grow, cells detaching on day 4, culture not ongoing.	Cobblestone	HRC	P1	no data
2	70	Carcinosarcoma	3a	Υ		Solid tumour biopsy, taken at the beginning of the procedure by pipelle, transferred directly to university for processing. Col/disp protocol. Decision to not wash and replace media on day 5, small number of colonies, however all detached on day 14 with no going culture. Media appears contaminated	senesced at P0 without monolayer growth	no data	PO	no data

3	69	Serous and clear cell	3c	Y	Solid tumour biopsy taken at the end of the procedure, transferred immediately to lab. Col/disp protocol. Media washed and replaced day 6, colonies seen to grow slowly. Reviewed on day 10, extensive fibroblastic overgrowth suggestive of mixed culture. Culture was therefore discarded.	Cobblestone but colonies of fibroblasts seen	no data	PO	no data
4	50	G2 endo and clear cell	1a	Y	Solid tumour biopsy. Immediate transfer. col/disp protocol. Media washed and replaced day 5. Cobblestone monolayer culture forming, extending from clumps of epithelial tissue. Relatively slow growing. Media replaced day 10. 70% confluent day 12. Seeded onto coverslips for HRR culture. Small number of cell yield therefore placed back into T25. Little or no attachment seen on day 6 of passage 1. No ongoing culture at day 14, sample discarded	Cobblestone	HRC	P1	no data
5	82	Serous	1a	Y	Pipelle endometrial biopsy at beginning of procedure. Transfer at end of procedure. Col/disp. Media change day 5, fast growing culture. Cobblestone monolayer seen. Review of culture day 7 small epithelial colonies seen but	Cobblestone	Fibrob lastic overg rowth	PO	no data

						culture becoming overgrown with				
I						fibroblasts				
6	72	Serous	3C1	infected	No image	Solid tumour biopsy taken and	no data	NA	P0	no data
I						immediately transferred. Col/disp.				
1						Media looks murky day 5, washed and				
I						replaced with fresh media to remove				
1						debris. Day 7 media contaminated				
7	50	G2 endo and	1a	infected		Solid tumour biopsy taken at the end of	no data	NA	P0	no data
I		clear cell				the procedure. Col/disp. Media washed				
I						and changed day 5. Predominantly				
1						fibroblastic culture seen. Reviewed 2				
I						days later cloudy, offensive smelling				
I						media contaminated by microbes.				
I						Culture discarded.				
8	68	G3 Endo	1a	no growth		Solid tumour biopsy taken at beginning	no data	no	P0	no data
I						of procedure with pipelle and stored at		data		
I						4 C until transfer at end of case.		uata		
I						Col/disp. Flask washed with PBS and				
I						media replaced day 7. No visible				
I						colonies seen. Culture observed daily				
I						but no culture at day 14 therefore				
I						sample discarded.				
9	80			infected		Solid tumour biopsy taken. Col/disp.	no data	no	P0	no data
1			l		Incubated for 6 days media cloudy. Old		data			
1				media aspirated, flask washed with PBS						
1				and replaced with fresh media. Culture						
1						viewed and seen to be contaminated				
I						with bacteria. Samples discarded				

10	45	G3 Endo	1a	infected	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Col/disp.	no data	no	P0	no data
					Incubated for 5 days media cloudy. Old		data		
					media aspirated, flask washed with PBS		uata		
					and replaced with fresh media. Culture				
					viewed and seen to be contaminated				
					with bacteria. Samples discarded				
11	76	Serous	3C1	no growth	Solid pipelle biopsy taken at start of	no data	no	P0	no data
					procedure. Sample transferred at end		data		
					of procedure after refrigeration at 4 C.		uata		
					Col/disp. Media was replaced on day 7,				
					no visible colonies were seen. No				
					growth at day 14 therefore sample				
					discarded.				
12	71	Serous	1a	No	Peritoneal washings taken	no data	no	P0	no data
				growth	intraoperatively. Washings refrigerated		data		
				giowin	in normal saline and transferred to		uata		
					university post procedure. Sample was				
					spun at 250g for 3 mins. Saline was				
					aspirated and cell pellet was				
					resuspended in 10 mls of primary				
					culture medium. Sample was observed				
					daily, some cellular debris was noted				
					but no visible colonies. Media replaced				
					day 10 and sample discarded as failed				
					culture on day 14.				
13	64	Benign	n/a	infected	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Col/disp.	no data	no	P0	no data
					Incubated for 5 days media cloudy. Old		data		
					media aspirated, flask washed with PBS		uala		

						and replaced with fresh media. Culture viewed and seen to be contaminated with bacteria. Samples discarded				
14	54	Serous Ascites	4b	Y		Ascitic fluid was taken intraoperatively from a patient with unresectable disease awaiting neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Ascites was split 1:1 well cell culture medium and transferred into a T75 flask for culture. Media was replaced on day 5. Cells grew rapidly a cobblestone monolayer and appeared similar in morphology to high grade serous ovarian cell lines. Culture continued passed 3 rd passage at which point cells became more dilated and begin to detach. The culture did not survive passed P4.	no data	HRD	Ρ4	1.73
15	65	G2 endo	2	Ŷ	a 1 0	Solid directed endometrial biopsy taken post procedure. Col/disp, media containing antimicrobials. Culture medium replaced on day 6, visible colonies seen and were slow growing. Media replaced on day 10, small colonies of fibroblasts seen. Sample viewed on day 14, significant fibroblastic overgrowth with mixed culture. Therefore sample discarded.	Spindle like	Fibrob lastic overg rowth	P1	no data

16	67	Serous	1a	Y		Solid directed endometrial biopsy taken post procedure. Col/disp, media containing antimicrobials. Culture medium replaced on day 5, visible colonies seen and were rapidly growing. Media replaced on day 10, sample discarded. Culture 70-80% confluent on day 12 therefore decision to seed onto coverslips. very limited cell count noted. HRR completed at P1, SRB completed at P2. Cells became very dilated at P2 and can be seen in the image. Culture not ongoing at P3.	Fibroblastic	HRC	Ρ3	11.46
17	62	Serous	1a	Υ		Solid directed tumour biopsy taken at the end of procedure and transferred immediately to university for processing. New primary cell culture media used for transfer and in culture containing antimicrobials. Media. Media replaced on day 5. Fibroblastic culture noted. Rapid growth and expansion. Small tumour focus on directed biopsy. Decision to passage and seed for HRR. No Growth on coverslips and no flask growth therefore sample discarded.	Fibroblastic	Fibrob lastic cultur e	P1	no data
18	68	Serous	3b	infected	no image	Solid directed endometrial biopsy taken post procedure. Col/disp, media	no data		P0	no data

19	71	Carcinosarcoma	1a	Y	containing antimicrobials. Culture medium replaced on day 6, visable colonies seen and were slow growing. Media replaced on day 10, small colonies of fibroblasts seen. Sample viewed on day 14, significant fibroblastic overgrowth with mixed culture. Therefore, sample discarded. Solid directed tumour biopsy taken at the end of procedure. Col/disp with media containing antimicrobials. Culture media changed on day 5. Visible colonies. Culture seen to form in cobblestone monolayer. Sample reached 70% confluence on day 9 and small cell yield was noted at passage. Cells were seeded onto coverslips with the remainder of culture split 1:2 with fresh media. Fibroblastic culture appeared to take over in T25 flask and coverslips failed to culture. Bacteria were noted in coverslips wells ? impacted on cell survival	cobblestone	N	P1	no data
20	61	Clear cell ovary	1C1	Y	Solid pipelle biopsy taken at start of procedure. Sample transferred at end of procedure. Col/dispase with media containing antimicrobials.	fibroblastic	N	P2 infected	no data

56	G2 endo	4a	no growth	no image	Peritoneal washings taken	Ν	Ν	P0	no data
		-			intraoperative in patient with overt			_	
					stage 4 disease. Sample transferred				
					immediately in normal saline.				
					Centrifuged at 250g and pellet				
					resuspended in media containing				
					antimicrobials. Media was replaced on				
					day 7. No visable colonies seen to				
					grow. Media replaced on day 11. No				
					visable colonies seen on day 14				
					therefore sample discarded.				
74	Carcinosarcoma	1a	Y		Solid directed tumour biopsy taken at	Fibroblastic	Failed	PO	no data
					end of procedure. Col/disp with media				
					containing antibiotics. Media was		cultur		
					changed at day 5. Small number of		е		
					colonises noted. Detached on day 10				
				3	and discarded.				
68	Serous	3C2	Y		Directed solid tumour biopsy taken at	cobblestone,	HRC	P1	8.82
				R. How	the end of procedure. Transferred	niling up			
					immediately. Col/disp with media	pining up			
				S Street A	containing antibiotics used. Media				
				A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	changed on day 5. Visible colonies seen				
				Man My a	which formed a cobblestone				
					monolayer over the preceding days.				
					Culture grew rapidly and was able to				
					be split on day 7 at 80% confluence.				
					Plentiful cells were available therefore				
					samples were seeded for HRR and SRB.				
						68Serous3C2YSolid directed unour biopsy taken at the end of procedure. Col/disp with media containing antibiotics used. Media containing antibiotics used. Media containing antibiotics used. Media containing antibiotics used. Media containing antibiotics. Media was replaced on day 1. No visable colonies seen to grow. Media replaced on day 11. No visable colonies seen to grow. Media replaced on day 11. No visable colonies seen on day 14 therefore sample discarded.74Carcinosarcoma H1aYSolid directed tumour biopsy taken at end of procedure. Col/disp with media containing antibiotics. Media was changed at day 5. Small number of coloniess noted. Detached on day 10 and discarded.68Serous3C2YDirected solid tumour biopsy taken at the end of procedure. Transferred immediately. Col/disp with media containing antibiotics used. Media changed on day 5. Visible colonies seen which formed a cobblestone monolayer over the preceding days. Culture grew rapidly and was able to be split on day 7 at 80% confluence. Plentful cells were available therefore	Image: Stage 4 disease. Sample transferred immediately in normal saline. Centrifuged at 250g and pellet resuspended in media containing antimicrobials. Media was replaced on day 7. No visable colonies seen to grow. Media replaced on day 11. No visable colonies seen to and y 7. No visable colonies seen to grow. Media replaced on day 11. No visable colonies seen to and y 7. No visable colonies seen to grow. Media replaced on day 11. No visable colonies seen to and of procedure. Col/disp with media containing antibiotics. Media was colonies seen to and discarded.Fibroblastic68Serous3C2YYImage: Antibiotic seen on day 10 and discarded.Fobblestone, piling up68Serous3C2YImage: Antibiotic seen on day 12 signed at the end of procedure. Transferred immediately. Col/disp with media containing antibiotics used. Media changed on day 5. Visible colonies seen on day 5. Visible colonies seen on day 5. Visible colonies seen piling upCobblestone, piling up68Serous3C2YImage: Antibiotic seen display at and sable to piling upSite colonies seen display at and sable to piling up	Image: State of the state	Image: state is a state is a state image is a state is a state image is a state image is a state is a state is a state image is a state image is a state is a state is a state image is a state is a s

						Cell culture did not proceed passed P1. Small number of colonies formed on the flask ? split too harshly.				
24	81	Carcinosarcoma	4b	infected P0	No image	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Col/disp. Incubated for 7 days media cloudy. Old media aspirated, flask washed with PBS and replaced with fresh media. Culture viewed and seen to be contaminated with bacteria. Samples discarded	no data	no data	PO	no data
25	78	G2 endo	1a	Y		Solid directed tumour biopsy taken at end of procedure. Col/disp. Media used containing antibiotics. Media washed and replaced day 6. Visible colonies seen and appeared to be spreading out from clumps of pearl endometrial tissue. Culture continues to spread out and form a cobblestone monolayer on frank and appear to pile up ? forming glandular structures. Growth appears slow with 70% confluence reached on day 11. Coverslips seeded for HRR at P1 and SRB at P2. SRB took around 10 days to reach confluence in the control cell, again cell number was low at each passage and new flask was seeded 1:2 with fresh media. Reached P4 with fibroblastic overgrowth at this point.	cobblestone spreading out from solid tumour	HRC	P4	7.85

26	71	G3 endo	1a	Y			mixed epithelial and fibroblastic	Failed cultur e	P1	no data
27	79	G2 Endo	За	n infected	no image	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Col/disp. Incubated for 6 days media cloudy. Old media aspirated, flask washed with PBS and replaced with fresh media. Culture viewed and seen to be contaminated with bacteria. Samples discarded.	no data	no data	PO	no data
28	76	Clear cell	1a	n no growth	no image	Peritoneal washings taken intraoperatively and stored at 4 C for the duration of the surgery. Sample was transferred and processed as per methods for washings. No growth was seen on day 5, 10, 14. Sample discarded	no data	no data	PO	no data
29	72	Carcinosarcoma	2	no growth		Solid directed endometrial biopsy taken at the beginning of the procedure and placed into refrigerator at 4 C. Col/disp. Media containing antibiotics and antifungals. Media was replaced on day 8. No visible colonies were seen. Review of culture on day 14 reviewed no active culture. Therefore, sample discarded.	No culture	no data	PO	no data

30	76	Serous	1a	Y	Direct solid tumour biopsy taken at end of procedure and transferred immediately for processing. Col/disp with cell filtering step added. Media changed on day 5 and culture observed to form colonies. Culture progressed with rapid cell growth in cobblestone monolayer fashion. Reached 70-80% confluence on day 8. HRR seeded, again, small number cell yield. Culture seemed to grow more slowly after P1	cobblestone	HRC	P2 infected	Seeded
31	68	Serous	1a	Y	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears slow growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated	cobblestone	Failed HRR	P1	Seeded

32	58	Adenosarcoma	1a	infected	No image	Solid directed tumour biopsy taken and	no data	no	P0	no data
						transferred immediately. Col/disp with		data		
						cell filtering and media containing		uutu		
						antibiotics. Culture cloudy at day 5				
						media change. Cloudy media on day 6.				
						Sample contaminated and discarded.				
33	84	Serous and G2	2	no growth	No image	Directed solid tumour biopsy taken	no data	no	PO	no data
		endo				from at the end of the procedure.		data		
		endo				Small biopsy sample as representative		uata		
						tumour small in specimen. Col/disp,				
						cell filter performed. Media				
						replenished day 7, no visible colonies,				
						no growth on day 10 and 14, sample				
						discarded.				
34	83	Serous	4b	No	0.0	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of	Cobblestone	Infect	P1	no data
				growth		procedure. Sample transferred		ed		
				growth	P SANCATE	immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and		Cu		
						media containing antibiotics. Media		post		
						replenished day 5. Visible epithelial		passa		
						monolayer extending out from clumps		ge		
						of endometrial tumour. Culture		SC .		
						appears slow growing with a lot of				
						visible cell debris even after washing				
						with PBS and replacing media. Media				
						changed again on day 10, 70%				
						confluence reached on day 15, culture				
						passaged and HRR assay and SRB				
						seeded, remaining of cell suspension				

					into T25 flask. Infected samples 2 days				
36	85	Serous	4b	Y	later, specimens discarded. Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible Fibroblastic culture. Culture appears slow growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Cells begin to swell on day 9. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 13, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all.	fibroblastic	Failed HRR	P1	no data
37	77	Serous and clear cell	1a	Υ	Flasks discarded. Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears slow growing. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 14, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded,	cobblestone	HRC	Ρ3	23.4

38	66	G3 endo	3C1	Y		remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Survived to P3, fibroblastic overgrowth at this point (see image). Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears fast growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. 70% confluence reached on day 10, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining cell suspension into T25 flask. HRR effective, SRB failed as all wells confluent. Small cell yield at each passage. Survived to P4 before cells detached.	cobblestone	HRD	P4	Failed
39	78	Carcinosarcoma ovary	3C	infected	no image	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer Cloudy offensive culture day 8, sample therefore discarded.	no data	no data	PO	no data

40	72	Serous and clear cell	2	Y	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears fast growing. Media replaced day 5. 70% confluence reached at day 8. Samples passaged and HRR seeded. Fibroblastic overgrowth after P1.	cobblestone	HRC	Р1	
41	69	Carcinosarcoma	4b	Ŷ	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears slow growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated	cobblestone	Failed HRR	P1	no data

42	68	Clear cell	4b	No growth	no image	Washings taken from a patient with overt stage 4 disease. Processed as above. Media replenished day 7, no colonies at day 7, 10 and 14. Sample discarded.	no data	no data	PO	no data
43	70	Clear cell and endo	1a	Y		Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible fibroblastic culture seen appears slow growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Media changed again on day 10, Cells detached day 14 ? rapid growth and cells outcompeting eachother.	fibroblastic	No growt h	PO	no data
45	63	G2 endo	4b	Y		Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible fibroblastic culture appears slow growing. Media replaced day 5. Cells 80% confluent day 10 and passaged. Culture failed to grow after passage.	Fibroblastic	No growt h	P1	no data

46	59	G2 endo	1a	Y	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears slow growing media changed on day 7. 70% confluence reached on day 11, culture passaged and HRR assay. Culture continued until P3. Cells did not culture past P3.	cobblestone	HRC	Р3	28.96
47	80	Carcinosarcoma	3C2	Ŷ	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible colonies seen at day 7, culture slow to grow initially. Culture survived to P4 but small cell yield at each passage. SRB cultured failed to grow.	fibroblastic	HRC	Ρ4	Seeded by not successful
48	74	Clear cell and endo	1a	Ŷ	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer, cobblestone in appearance, cells appear quite spread out. Culture rapidly growing, reached	cobblestone	HRC	Ρ4	Seeded but unsuccessf ul

						70% confluence on day 7. Culture continued to P4 and did not continue to culture.		
49	PT282	Serous	1a	No growth	No image	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Delay in transfer until following day but refrigerated overnight at 4 C. Col/disp, cell filter, routine protocol. Media changed day 6, no visable colonies. Media replaced day 14. No colonies seen sample discarded	NA	no data
50	62	Mixed serous and endo	1b	No growth	No image	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Delay in transfer until following day but refrigerated overnight at 4 C. Col/disp, cell filter, routine protocol. Media changed day 6, no visible colonies. Media replaced day 14. No colonies seen sample discarded	NA	no data
51	PT280			No growth – delayed transfer	No image	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Delay in transfer until following day but refrigerated overnight at 4 C. Col/disp, cell filter, routine protocol. Media changed day 6, no visible colonies. Media replaced day 14. No colonies seen sample discarded	NA	no data
52	67	Recurrent grade 2 endometrioid	NA	No growth –	No image	Solid tumour biopsy taken. Delay in transfer until following day but refrigerated overnight at 4 C. Col/disp, cell filter, routine protocol. Media	NA	no data

				delayed		changed day 6, no visible colonies.				
						Media replaced day 14. No colonies				
				transfer		seen sample discarded				
53	65	Carcinosarcoma	4b	Y		Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of	Cobblestone	HRC	P3	1.62
	xxx				14 1.04 -8	procedure. Sample transferred				
	~~~				north the	immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and				
					APR AND	media containing antibiotics. Media				
						replenished day 5. Visible epithelial				
						monolayer extending out from clumps				
						of endometrial tumour. Culture				
						appears slow growing with a lot of				
						visible cell debris even after washing				
						with PBS and replacing media. Media				
						changed again on day 10, 70%				
						confluence reached on day 15, culture				
						passaged and HRR assay and SRB				
						seeded, remaining of cell suspension				
						into T25 flask. Failed growth in all.				
						Flasks discarded. Cell count was very				
						good ? contaminated				
54	70	G2 endo	3C1	Y		Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of		HRC	P3	21.96
						procedure. Sample transferred				
						immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and				
						media containing antibiotics. Media				
						replenished day 5. Visible epithelial				
						monolayer extending out from clumps				
						of endometrial tumour. Culture				
						appears slow growing with a lot of				

					visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated				
55 7	77	Serous	3C1	Y	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears slow growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated	Cobblestone	HRD	P2	2.03

56	78	Serous	1b	Y		Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of	Cobblestone	HRC	P3	60.20
					Ser Am	procedure. Sample transferred				
					Start -	immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and				
					and the second	media containing antibiotics. Media				
					38281/3/	replenished day 5. Visible epithelial				
						monolayer extending out from clumps				
						of endometrial tumour. Culture				
						appears slow growing with a lot of				
						visible cell debris even after washing				
						with PBS and replacing media. Media				
						changed again on day 10, 70%				
						confluence reached on day 15, culture				
					passaged and HRR assay and SRB					
						seeded, remaining of cell suspension				
						into T25 flask. Failed growth in all.				
						Flasks discarded. Cell count was very				
						good ? contaminated				
57	77	Mixed serous	2	Y	COSE ON	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of	Cobblestone	HRC	P1	No SRB
		and				procedure. Sample transferred				
						immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and				
		endometrioid				media containing antibiotics. Media				
						replenished day 5. Visible epithelial				
						monolayer extending out from clumps				
				of end appea visible	of endometrial tumour. Culture					
					appears slow growing with a lot of					
					visible cell debris even after washing					
					with PBS and replacing media. Media					
						changed again on day 10, 70%				

					confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated				
58	63	Serous	1a	Υ	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears slow growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated	Fibroblastic	Failed cultur e	PO	no data

59	74	G2 endo	1a	Y	COROPATI- MALL	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of	Cobblestone	Failed	P0	no data
59	/4		Ta	ſ	the Allower St	procedure. Sample transferred	CODDIESCOILE	Faileu	۲U	no udla
						immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and		cultur		
						media containing antibiotics. Media		е		
					Start Contraction	replenished day 5. Visible epithelial				
						monolayer extending out from clumps				
						of endometrial tumour. Culture				
						appears slow growing with a lot of				
						visible cell debris even after washing				
						with PBS and replacing media. Media				
						changed again on day 10, 70%				
						confluence reached on day 15, culture				
						passaged and HRR assay and SRB				
						seeded, remaining of cell suspension				
						into T25 flask. Failed growth in all.				
						Flasks discarded. Cell count was very				
						good ? contaminated				
60	72	G1 endo	1a	Y	A 20 %	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of	Failed	Failed	P0	no data
					1 (x · ·	procedure. Sample transferred	atta akwa awt	a		
					<i>?</i> ?`.	immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and	attachment	cultur		
						media containing antibiotics. Media		е		
					•	replenished day 5. Visible epithelial				
					r 🐉 🛷	monolayer extending out from clumps				
						of endometrial tumour. Culture				
						appears slow growing with a lot of				
						visible cell debris even after washing				
						with PBS and replacing media. Media				
						changed again on day 10, 70%				

					confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated				
61	52	High grade NOS	1a	Υ	Directed solid tumour biopsy at end of procedure. Sample transferred immediately. Col/disp/cell filter and media containing antibiotics. Media replenished day 5. Visible epithelial monolayer extending out from clumps of endometrial tumour. Culture appears slow growing with a lot of visible cell debris even after washing with PBS and replacing media. Media changed again on day 10, 70% confluence reached on day 15, culture passaged and HRR assay and SRB seeded, remaining of cell suspension into T25 flask. Failed growth in all. Flasks discarded. Cell count was very good ? contaminated	Cobblestone	Infect ed cultur e bacilli seen	PO	no data

## Appendix B

												Length FU									
	Age at					Cervix						(months)									
Block Number			Stage	Histology	LVSI	involved	myoinv	serosa			Death	calculated	IHC	P53	ER	PR	MLH1	MSH2	MSH6	PMS2	PTEN
1			IA	Mixed serous and G3 EEC	0	0	0		0	2	1			Mutated	MOD	WEAK	PRO		PRO	PRO	PRO
2	79		IIIA	G2 EEC	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	22		-							
3			IA IA	Carcinosarcoma Serous	0		-			-	0			Mutated	NEG MOD	NEG WEAK	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO PRO
		HRC	IIIC1	G2 EEC	1	0	1			1	0	31		wt	STRONG	WEAK	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
6			IVb	Carcinosarcoma	1	1	1			2	1							PRO			
7			IA	Serous	1	0	0	6	0	2	0	35		Null	MOD	MOD	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
8		HRD	IIIC1	Serous	1	0	0			2	0	34		Mutated	NEG	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
9			IA	Mixed clear and G2 EEC	0	0	0				0	50						PRO	PRO		
10 11			IA IB	G2 EEC Carcinosarcoma	0	0	0		0	-	0	50		Null wt	STRONG WEAK	STRONG WEAK	PRO PRO	PRO PRO	PRO PRO	PRO PRO	PRO PRO
11			IIIC2	Mixed serous and G2 EEC	-	_					0			wt	STRONG	WEAK	PRO	PRO	PRO	DEF	DEF
12		HRC	IVb	G2 EEC	1	1	1	15	0	1	0	35		wt	STRONG	STRONG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
14			IVA	Clear	1				0	2	1	8									
15			IB	Serous	0	0	1	2.2	0	2	0	34									
16			IA	Clear	0	0	0		0	2	0								PRO		
17		HRC	II.	Mixed serous and G2 EEC	0	1	1		0	2	0	55		Null	STRONG	MOD	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
18			IA	Carcinosarcoma	-	0	-		0	-	0										
19			IA IB	G1 EEC G3 EEC	0				-		0			wt Null	STRONG	STRONG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
20			IB	G3 EEC	1	0					0			wt	MOD	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
22			IVb	Serous	1	0				-	1			Mutated	MOD	WEAK	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
23			IIIC2	Serous	1	0				2	1			Mutated	WEAK	MOD	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
24	67		IA	Clear	0	0	0	5	0	2	0	43		wt	MOD	WEAK	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
25		HRC	IVb	Carcinosarcoma	1	0	1			2	1	4		Null	STRONG	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
26			IB	G1 EEC	0	0				1	0			wt	STRONG	STRONG	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
27		HRC HRC	IB IA	G3 EEC	0	0	1		0	2	0			wt	NEG NEG	NEG	PRO PRO	PRO	PRO PRO	PRO	PRO
28			IA	Serous G2 EEC	0	0	1		0	2	0	47		Null	STRONG	STRONG	DEF	PRO	PRO	DEF	DEF
30			10	Mixed serous and G3 EEC	1	1				2	1			Ivan	NEG	SINONG	PRO	PRO	PRO		
31			IIIC2	Serous	1						0									-	<u> </u>
32		HRD	IVb	Serous	1	0	0		0	2	0	52		wt	STRONG	STRONG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
33			IA	G3 EEC	0						0			Null	MOD	MOD	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
34			IVb	Carcinosarcoma	1	-	-			_	1	3		Null	NEG	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
35			IA IB	Serous G3 EEC	0	0				_	0			Mutated Mutated	MOD WEAK	NEG STRONG	PRO PRO	PRO PRO	PRO PRO	PRO PRO	PRO PRO
36			IB IB	G3 EEC G1 EEC	0	0				1	0			wutated	W LAK	STRONG	PNU	PRU	rku	PNU	PRU
38			II	G1 EEC	1	-				1	-				1					+	<u>├───</u>
39		HRD	IIIC1	G3 EEC	1	1				2	0										
40			IA	Serous	0	0	0			2	0	50		Null	NEG	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
41			IIIC2	G2 EEC	1	1	1				0			wt	STRONG	STRONG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
42			IA	Clear	0		-		-	-	0			wt	NEG	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
43		HRC HRC	IIIC2	Carcinosarcoma	1	0				_	0			wt	NEG	WEAK	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
44			IA IA	Serous Serous	0	0	0		0	2	1	25		Mutated	NEG	NEG	PRO PRO	PRO PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
43			IA	G3 EEC	0	0	-		-	2	0			wt	STRONG	STRONG	DEF	PRO	PRO	DEF	DEF
47			IIIC1	Serous	1		1				0			Mutated	STRONG	WEAK	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
48			IIIC1	Serous	1	0			1	2	1	26		Mutated	STRONG	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
49		DOM	OVARY	Serous							0	-		Mutated	STRONG	NEG	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO
50			IA	Mixed serous and G2 EEC		0	0			2	0			wt	MOD	STRONG	PRO	PRO	PRO		PRO
51	80		IVb	Serous	1	1	1	0		2	1	22		Mutated	MOD	MOD	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO	PRO

## **Appendix C**

### **Presented abstracts**

### PARP 2019 conference: Budapest, Hungary. Poster presentation

## <u>Defective homologous recombination DNA repair in endometrial cancer confers sensitivity</u> to Niraparib

D Blake, L Gentles, H Smith, S Johnson, S Rundle, M Adishesh, A Kucukmetin, Y Drew, RL O'Donnell and NJ Curtin

The incidence of endometrial cancer (EC) is rising. Although surgery forms the cornerstone of management it is only curative in the majority of type 1 cancers. In type 2 cancers the response rate to current chemo- and radiotherapy is <50% and there is an urgent need for better second line agents. The role of PARP inhibitors (PARPi) is established in ovarian cancers with defective homologous recombination DNA repair (HRR). A proportion of ECs display high copy number alterations, similar to ovarian cancer. We thus hypothesise that a subset of ECs are HRR defective (HRD) and sensitive to PARPi.

- 1) Establish incidence of HRD in EC cell lines and ex vivo patient primary cultures.
- 2) Explore the cytotoxic and growth inhibition effect of Niraparib (PARPi) and cisplatin as a single agents or as chemo- and radio-sensitisers.

The cytotoxicity and growth inhibition of Niraparib, cisplatin and irradiation (IR), alone and in combination, was assessed in EC cell lines (Ishikawa, HEC-1A, AN3CA, RL95-2) by colony formation and 96-well plate SRB assay. The HRR function of the cells was determined by quantification of RAD51 foci after 24-hour PARPi exposure.

Patient EC solid tumour samples (REC approval: 12/NE0395) were mechanically dissociated and cultured. Primary cultures were characterised for HRR function and related to SRB growth inhibition studies.

EC cell lines displayed a 10-fold variation in their sensitivity to cisplatin: LC50 0.22  $\mu$ M (AN3CA) to 2.15  $\mu$ M (HEC1A) but only a 2 to 3-fold sensitivity to Niraparib 2.08  $\mu$ M (RL95-2) to 6.87  $\mu$ M (HEC1A). AN3CA were the most sensitive cell line to IR (LD50 1.25 Gy) and HEC1A

were the most radio-resistant (LD50 2.20 Gy). Niraparib (1  $\mu$ M) caused a modest radiosensitisation all EC cell lines, except HEC1A. Potentiation factor (PF) at 2 Gy in AN3CA was 2.1, PF90 in RL95-2 and Ishikawa was 1.66 and 1.71 respectively. All EC cell lines were HRR competent and the EC lines most sensitive to Niraparib were type 2 endometrial cancers. Ex vivo patient samples formed monolayer epithelial cultures with a 48% success rate. To date 2/6 cultures were HRD and were more sensitive to Niraparib with a GI50 of 1.73  $\mu$ M in one HRD culture compared to a mean GI50 of 9.38  $\mu$ M other HRC cultures. The 4 EC cell lines were similarly sensitive to Niraparib despite displaying more variation in their cisplatin and IR sensitivity suggesting a potential broader role for Niraparib. It is feasible to generate ex vivo primary EC cultures to determine HRR function. HRD is associated with increased sensitivity to PARPi in translational studies. The detection of HRD in patient cultures suggests that there may be a role for PARPi as mono-therapy or as radiosensitiser in at least a subset of patients.

### British gynaecological oncology society (BGCS) conference 2019, Cambridge, UK.

## Homologous recombination DNA repair deficiency in endometrial cancer confers sensitivity to PARP inhibitor Niraparib

D Blake, L Gentles, H Smith, S Johnson, S Rundle, M Adishesh, A Kucukmetin, Y Drew, RL O'Donnell and NJ Curtin

Beyond platinum there is a need for better systemic therapies in endometrial cancers (EC). The role of PARP inhibitors (PARPi) is established in ovarian cancers with defective homologous recombination repair (HRR). A proportion of ECs display high copy number alterations and we thus hypothesised that some ECs are HRR defective (HRD) and sensitive to PARPi.

Cytotoxicity (colony formation) and growth inhibition (SRB) following Niraparib, cisplatin and irradiation, alone and in combination, was assessed in cell lines. Fresh patient tumour samples (12/NE0395) were mechanically dissociated and cultured. Primary cultures and cell lines were characterised for HRR function by quantification of RAD51 foci. EC cell lines displayed a 10-fold variation in sensitivity to cisplatin: LC50 0.22µM to 2.15µM but only a 3-fold sensitivity to Niraparib: 2.08µM to 6.87µM, and a 2-fold sensitivity to irradiation: LD50 1.25Gy to 2.20Gy. Niraparib caused a modest radio-sensitisation in 3/4 cell lines with a potentiation factor at 2 Gy of 2.1. All EC cell lines were HRR competent. Ex vivo patient samples formed monolayer epithelial cultures with a 48% success rate. 2/10 cultures were HRD with greater sensitive to Niraparib: GI50 of 1.73μM compared to 9.38μM in HRC cultures.

EC cell lines were similarly sensitive to Niraparib despite displaying greater variation in cisplatin and IR sensitivity. It is feasible to generate primary EC cultures to determine HRR function. HRD is associated with greater PARPi sensitivity in translational studies. Detection of HRD in patient cultures suggests that there may be a role for PARPi as both a radio-sensitiser and mono-therapy in this patient group.

### Homologous recombination DNA repair deficiency in endometrial cancer confers sensitivity to the PARP inhibitor Niraparib



D Blake, L Gentles, H Smith, S Johnson, S Rundle, M Adishesh, A Kucukmetin, Y Drew, RL O'Donnell and NJ Curbin Northern Institute for Cancer Research, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK Northern Gynaecological Oncology Centre, Gateshead, UK



#### Introduction

- Endometrial cancer (EC) is the 15th most common cancer globally and is rising in line with obesity. In the UK the incidence is 9000/year and mortality 2000/year [1].
- · EC treatment includes surgery, radiotherapy and platinum-based chemotherapy.
- · PARP inhibitors (PARPi) are known radiosensitisers, and in some circumstances also seen to sensitise to platinum therapy [2].
- Defective homologous recombination DNA repair (HRD) is predictive of sensitivity to PARPi and platinum therapy [3,4].
- The incidence of HRD in EC is thought to be 15-10% [5].

#### Aims

- Determine the sensitivity of a panel of EC cell lines to cisplatin, ionising radiation (IR) and Niraparib (PARPi) alone and in combination
- Establish primary cultures from patient EC material and test for HRD and drug sensitivity

#### Results

- All EC cell lines were HRC with >2 fold increase in RAD51 following induction of DNA DSB, Figure 1.
- EC cell lines varied 10-fold in their sensitivity to cisplatin: LC50 0.22 µM (AN3CA) to 2.15 µM (HEC1A) but only a 2 to 3-fold sensitivity to Niraparib 2.08 µM (RL95-2) to 6.87 µM (HEC1A), Figure 2.
- Niraparib caused a modest radio-sensitisation all cell lines, except HECIA. Potentiation factor (PF) at 2 Gy in AN3CA was 2.1, PF90 in RL95-2 and Ishikawa was 1.66 and 1.71 respectively.



igure1: Determination of HRR function: Cells were exposed to PARPi for 24 h to induce oliapsed replication forks (yH2AX foci) (C) and HRR (RADS1 foci) (B). A >2x induction of yH2AX ut <2x induction of RADS1 indicates HRD.



igure 3: Ex vivo primary cultures, Patients undergoing surgery for EC were consented fo ntra-operative collection of endometrial tissue (REC 12/NE0395). Solid biopsies were Intra-operative contection of endometrial tissue (RE: 12/RC0395). Solid biopsies were mechanically dissociated into 1 mm pieces and incubated with collagenase (3.2mg/ml) /hvuronidase (62.5mg/ml) for 1-2 hours. An epithelial-rich cell suspension was isolated using a 40 µm fifter Defore selective fibroblast seeding. Remaining cells were maintained in exponential growth. Bright field microcopy images of monolayer cobblectone cultures were captured using VisCan* software. (A) PT161, (B) PT218, (C) PT189



Figure 2: Colony formation assays for cells following IR, Niraparib or cisplatin. Exponentially growing cells were seeded onto 6-well plates. Following 24 hours for adherence, cells were incubated with drug for 24 hours, or underwent IR, and then in drug-free medium to allow olony formation for at least 5 doublings. (A) Niraparib alone, (B) IR +/- 1 µM Niraparib, (C) Cisplatin +/- 1 µM Niraparib.

Solid line denotes single agent treatment with Niraparib, IR or Cisplatin. Dashed line den cambination treatment with Niraparib 1 µM 

- Patient primary cultures were established from (18 out of 33) biopsies, forming cobblestone monolayers, Figure 3.
- Cultures reached senescence after a median of 2 passages, with culture life span ranging from 1-24 days.
- 2/9 cultures characterised for HRR function were HRD, Figure 4.



Conclusions

- The 3 EC cell lines all had functional HRR but varied in their sensitivity to cisplatin and IR
- They were similar in their sensitivity to Niraparib suggesting a potential therapeutic role for Niraparib as a single agent in EC.
- Niraparib increased the cytotoxicity of IR in 2/3 cell lines and cisplatin in 1/3 cell lines
- Primary cultures of EC patient material can be tested ex vivo for HRD status and the HRD cultures were more sensitive to Niraparib
- There may be a role for PARPi as mono-therapy or as radio-sensitiser in at least a subset of patients.

#### Acknowledgements and references

Many thanks to the patients for their donation and to the NCCRS and NGOC for their invaluable support.

- CRUK statistics.
- Mukhopadhyay, A., et al. Clinical Cancer Research, 2010. 2.
- 3. Mukhopadhyay, A., et al. Cancer Research, 2012.
- De Jonge, MM., et al. Clinical Cancer Research, 2019. 4

1.
## References

<parp endo.pdf>.

- AALDERS, J., ABELER, V., KOLSTAD, P. & ONSRUD, M. 1980. Postoperative external irradiation and prognostic parameters in stage I endometrial carcinoma: clinical and histopathologic study of 540 patients. *Obstet Gynecol*, 56, 419-27.
- ABBOTTS, R. & MADHUSUDAN, S. 2010. Human AP endonuclease 1 (APE1): from mechanistic insights to druggable target in cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev*, 36, 425-35.
- ABDEL-FATAH, T., SULTANA, R., ABBOTTS, R., HAWKES, C., SEEDHOUSE, C., CHAN, S. & MADHUSUDAN, S. 2013. Clinicopathological and functional significance of XRCC1 expression in ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 132, 2778-86.
- AHADOVA, A., GALLON, R., GEBERT, J., BALLHAUSEN, A., ENDRIS, V., KIRCHNER, M., STENZINGER, A., BURN, J., VON KNEBEL DOEBERITZ, M., BLÄKER, H. & KLOOR, M. 2018. Three molecular pathways model colorectal carcinogenesis in Lynch syndrome. Int J Cancer, 143, 139-150.
- ALBERTELLA, M. R., LAU, A. & O'CONNOR, M. J. 2005. The overexpression of specialized DNA polymerases in cancer. DNA Repair (Amst), 4, 583-93.
- ALEXA, M., HASENBURG, A. & BATTISTA, M. J. 2021. The TCGA Molecular Classification of Endometrial Cancer and Its Possible Impact on Adjuvant Treatment Decisions. *Cancers* [Online], 13.
- ALEXANDROV, L. B., KIM, J., HARADHVALA, N. J., HUANG, M. N., TIAN NG, A. W., WU, Y., BOOT, A., COVINGTON, K. R., GORDENIN, D. A., BERGSTROM, E. N., ISLAM, S. M. A., LOPEZ-BIGAS, N., KLIMCZAK, L. J., MCPHERSON, J. R., MORGANELLA, S., SABARINATHAN, R., WHEELER, D. A., MUSTONEN, V., ALEXANDROV, L. B., BERGSTROM, E. N., BOOT, A., BOUTROS, P., CHAN, K., COVINGTON, K. R., FUJIMOTO, A., GETZ, G., GORDENIN, D. A., HARADHVALA, N. J., HUANG, M. N., ISLAM, S. M. A., KAZANOV, M., KIM, J., KLIMCZAK, L. J., LOPEZ-BIGAS, N., LAWRENCE, M., MARTINCORENA, I., MCPHERSON, J. R., MORGANELLA, S., MUSTONEN, V., NAKAGAWA, H., TIAN NG, A. W., POLAK, P., PROKOPEC, S., ROBERTS, S. A., ROZEN, S. G., SABARINATHAN, R., SAINI, N., SHIBATA, T., SHIRAISHI, Y., STRATTON, M. R., TEH, B. T., VÁZQUEZ-GARCÍA, I., WHEELER, D. A., WU, Y., YOUSIF, F., YU, W., GETZ, G., ROZEN, S. G., STRATTON, M. R., AALTONEN, L. A., ABASCAL, F., ABESHOUSE, A., ABURATANI, H., ADAMS, D. J., AGRAWAL, N., AHN, K. S., AHN, S.-M., AIKATA, H., AKBANI, R., AKDEMIR, K. C., AL-AHMADIE, H., AL-SEDAIRY, S. T., AL-SHAHROUR, F., ALAWI, M., ALBERT, M., ALDAPE, K., ALEXANDROV, L. B., ALLY, A., ALSOP, K., ALVAREZ, E. G., AMARY, F., AMIN, S. B., AMINOU, B., AMMERPOHL, O., ANDERSON, M. J., ANG, Y., ANTONELLO, D., ANUR, P., APARICIO, S., APPELBAUM, E. L., ARAI, Y., ARETZ, A., ARIHIRO, K., ARIIZUMI, S.-I., ARMENIA, J., ARNOULD, L., ASA, S., ASSENOV, Y., ATWAL, G., AUKEMA, S., et al. 2020. The repertoire of mutational signatures in human cancer. *Nature*, 578, 94-101.
- ALI, M., TELFER, B. A., MCCRUDDEN, C., O'ROURKE, M., THOMAS, H. D., KAMJOO, M., KYLE, S., ROBSON, T., SHAW, C., HIRST, D. G., CURTIN, N. J. & WILLIAMS, K. J. 2009. Vasoactivity of AG014699, a clinically active small molecule inhibitor of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase: a contributory factor to chemopotentiation in vivo? *Clin Cancer Res*, 15, 6106-12.
- ANA, O., LUCY, G., ANNA, V. T., JUBILEE, B., CARA, M., JOSHUA, P., RENAUD, S., DAVID, M. O. M., VANESSA, S., VALENTINA, B., LINDA, D., SHARAD, G., PRAFULL, G., REBECCA, K., CHARLES, L., III, WEI, G., ELLIE, I., SYBIL, Z., XINWEI, H., TAO, D., JENNIFER, V. & BHAVANA, P. 2022. Safety and antitumor activity of dostarlimab in patients with advanced or recurrent DNA mismatch repair deficient/microsatellite instability-high (dMMR/MSI-H) or proficient/stable (MMRp/MSS) endometrial cancer: interim results from GARNET—a phase I, single-arm study. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 10, e003777.
- ANGEL, M., ZARBA, M. & SADE, J. P. 2021. PARP inhibitors as a radiosensitizer: a future promising approach in prostate cancer? *Ecancermedicalscience*, 15, ed118.
- ARNOLD, J. T., KAUFMAN, D. G., SEPPÄLÄ, M. & LESSEY, B. A. 2001. Endometrial stromal cells regulate epithelial cell growth in vitro: a new co-culture model. *Hum Reprod*, 16, 836-45.
- ATLAS, H. P. 2021. XRCC1 in endometrial cancer [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000073050-XRCC1</u> [Accessed].
- AUGUSTE, A., GENESTIE, C., DE BRUYN, M., ADAM, J., LE FORMAL, A., DRUSCH, F., PAUTIER, P., CROSBIE, E. J., MACKAY, H., KITCHENER, H. C., POWELL, M., POLLOCK, P. M., MILESHKIN, L., EDMONDSON, R. J., NOUT, R., NIJMAN, H. W., CREUTZBERG, C. L., BOSSE, T. & LEARY, A. 2018. Refinement of high-risk endometrial cancer classification using DNA damage response biomarkers: a TransPORTEC initiative. *Mod Pathol*.
- BALMUS, G., PILGER, D., COATES, J., DEMIR, M., SCZANIECKA-CLIFT, M., BARROS, A. C., WOODS, M., FU, B., YANG, F., CHEN, E., OSTERMAIER, M., STANKOVIC, T., PONSTINGL, H., HERZOG, M., YUSA, K., MARTINEZ, F. M., DURANT, S. T., GALANTY, Y., BELI, P., ADAMS, D. J., BRADLEY, A., METZAKOPIAN, E., FORMENT, J. V. & JACKSON, S. P. 2019. ATM orchestrates the DNA-damage response to counter toxic non-homologous end-joining at broken replication forks. *Nature Communications*, 10, 87.
- BANASIK, M., KOMURA, H., SHIMOYAMA, M. & UEDA, K. 1992. Specific inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase and mono(ADP-ribosyl)transferase. *J Biol Chem*, 267, 1569-75.
- BARCELLINI, A., LOAP, P., MURATA, K., VILLA, R., KIROVA, Y., OKONOGI, N. & ORLANDI, E. 2021. PARP Inhibitors in Combination with Radiotherapy: To Do or Not to Do? *Cancers (Basel)*, 13.
- BAST, R. C., JR. & MILLS, G. B. 2010. Personalizing therapy for ovarian cancer: BRCAness and beyond. *J Clin Oncol*, 28, 3545-8.

- BATALINI, F., GULHAN, D. C., MAO, V., TRAN, A., POLAK, M., XIONG, N., TAYOB, N., TUNG, N. M., WINER, E. P., MAYER, E. L., KNAPPSKOG, S., LØNNING, P. E., MATULONIS, U. A., KONSTANTINOPOULOS, P. A., SOLIT, D. B., WON, H., EIKESDAL, H. P., PARK, P. J. & WULF, G. M. 2022. Mutational Signature 3 Detected from Clinical Panel Sequencing is Associated with Responses to Olaparib in Breast and Ovarian Cancers. *Clin Cancer Res*, 28, 4714-4723.
- BAUTE, J. & DEPICKER, A. 2008. Base excision repair and its role in maintaining genome stability. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol*, 43, 239-76.
- BEHLING, F. & SCHITTENHELM, J. 2018. Tissue microarrays translational biomarker research in the fast lane. *Expert Review* of Molecular Diagnostics, 18, 833-835.
- BENEDETTI PANICI, P., BASILE, S., MANESCHI, F., ALBERTO LISSONI, A., SIGNORELLI, M., SCAMBIA, G., ANGIOLI, R., TATEO,
   S., MANGILI, G., KATSAROS, D., GAROZZO, G., CAMPAGNUTTA, E., DONADELLO, N., GREGGI, S., MELPIGNANO, M.,
   RASPAGLIESI, F., RAGNI, N., CORMIO, G., GRASSI, R., FRANCHI, M., GIANNARELLI, D., FOSSATI, R., TORRI, V.,
   AMOROSO, M., CROCE, C. & MANGIONI, C. 2008. Systematic pelvic lymphadenectomy vs. no lymphadenectomy in
   early-stage endometrial carcinoma: randomized clinical trial. J Natl Cancer Inst, 100, 1707-16.
- BERNGES, F. & ZELLER, W. J. 1996. Combination effects of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors and DNA-damaging agents in ovarian tumor cell lines--with special reference to cisplatin. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 122, 665-70.
- BERNSTEIN, C., BERNSTEIN, H., PAYNE, C. M. & GAREWAL, H. 2002. DNA repair/pro-apoptotic dual-role proteins in five major DNA repair pathways: fail-safe protection against carcinogenesis. *Mutat Res*, 511, 145-78.
- BESTVINA, C. M. & FLEMING, G. F. 2016. Chemotherapy for Endometrial Cancer in Adjuvant and Advanced Disease Settings. Oncologist, 21, 1250-1259.
- BETELLA, I., FUMAGALLI, C., RAFANIELLO RAVIELE, P., SCHIVARDI, G., DE VITIS, L. A., ACHILARRE, M. T., ALOISI, A., GARBI, A., MARUCCIO, M., ZANAGNOLO, V., ALETTI, G., GUERINI-ROCCO, E., MARIANI, A., MAGGIONI, A., BARBERIS, M., COLOMBO, N. & MULTINU, F. 2022. A novel algorithm to implement the molecular classification according to the new ESGO/ESTRO/ESP 2020 guidelines for endometrial cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*.
- BEUCHER, A., BIRRAUX, J., TCHOUANDONG, L., BARTON, O., SHIBATA, A., CONRAD, S., GOODARZI, A. A., KREMPLER, A., JEGGO, P. A. & LÖBRICH, M. 2009. ATM and Artemis promote homologous recombination of radiation-induced DNA double-strand breaks in G2. *Embo j*, 28, 3413-27.
- BIAN, X., GAO, J., LUO, F., RUI, C., ZHENG, T., WANG, D., WANG, Y., ROBERTS, T. M., LIU, P., ZHAO, J. J. & CHENG, H. 2018. PTEN deficiency sensitizes endometrioid endometrial cancer to compound PARP-PI3K inhibition but not PARP inhibition as monotherapy. *Oncogene*, 37, 341-51.
- BILBAO, C., RAMIREZ, R., RODRIGUEZ, G., FALCON, O., LEON, L., DIAZ-CHICO, N., PERUCHO, M. & DIAZ-CHICO, J. C. 2010. Double strand break repair components are frequent targets of microsatellite instability in endometrial cancer. *Eur J Cancer*, 46, 2821-7.
- BOKHMAN, J. V. 1983. Two pathogenetic types of endometrial carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol, 15, 10-7.
- BOLAND, C. R. & GOEL, A. 2010. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology, 138, 2073-2087 e3.
- BONAZZI, V. F., KONDRASHOVA, O., SMITH, D., NONES, K., SENGAL, A. T., JU, R., PACKER, L. M., KOUFARIOTIS, L. T.,
   KAZAKOFF, S. H., DAVIDSON, A. L., RAMARAO-MILNE, P., LAKIS, V., NEWELL, F., ROGERS, R., DAVIES, C., NICKLIN,
   J., GARRETT, A., CHETTY, N., PERRIN, L., PEARSON, J. V., PATCH, A.-M., WADDELL, N. & POLLOCK, P. M. 2022.
   Patient-derived xenograft models capture genomic heterogeneity in endometrial cancer. *Genome Medicine*, 14, 3.
- BORUTA, D. M., 2ND, GEHRIG, P. A., FADER, A. N. & OLAWAIYE, A. B. 2009. Management of women with uterine papillary serous cancer: a Society of Gynecologic Oncology (SGO) review. *Gynecol Oncol*, 115, 142-153.
- BOSSE, T., NOUT, R. A., MCALPINE, J. N., MCCONECHY, M. K., BRITTON, H., HUSSEIN, Y. R., GONZALEZ, C., GANESAN, R., STEELE, J. C., HARRISON, B. T., OLIVA, E., VIDAL, A., MATIAS-GUIU, X., ABU-RUSTUM, N. R., LEVINE, D. A., GILKS, C.
   B. & SOSLOW, R. A. 2018. Molecular Classification of Grade 3 Endometrioid Endometrial Cancers Identifies Distinct Prognostic Subgroups. *Am J Surg Pathol*, 42, 561-568.
- BRABEC, V. & KASPARKOVA, J. 2002. Molecular aspects of resistance to antitumor platinum drugs. *Drug Resist Updat,* 5, 147-61.
- BRADBURY, A., O'DONNELL, R., DREW, Y., CURTIN, N. J. & SHARMA SAHA, S. 2020. Characterisation of Ovarian Cancer Cell Line NIH-OVCAR3 and Implications of Genomic, Transcriptomic, Proteomic and Functional DNA Damage Response Biomarkers for Therapeutic Targeting. *Cancers (Basel)*, 12.
- BRANDT, S., SAMARTZIS, E. P., ZIMMERMANN, A. K., FINK, D., MOCH, H., NOSKE, A. & DEDES, K. J. 2017. Lack of MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 (MRN) complex detection occurs frequently in low-grade epithelial ovarian cancer. *BMC Cancer*, 17, 44.
- BRISTOW, R. E., DUSKA, L. R. & MONTZ, F. J. 2001. The role of cytoreductive surgery in the management of stage IV uterine papillary serous carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol*, 81, 92-9.
- BRISTOW, R. E., TOMACRUZ, R. S., ARMSTRONG, D. K., TRIMBLE, E. L. & MONTZ, F. J. 2002. Survival effect of maximal cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian carcinoma during the platinum era: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Oncol*, 20, 1248-59.
- BROWN, K. D., RATHI, A., KAMATH, R., BEARDSLEY, D. I., ZHAN, Q., MANNINO, J. L. & BASKARAN, R. 2003. The mismatch repair system is required for S-phase checkpoint activation. *Nat Genet*, **33**, 80-4.
- BRUIN, M. A. C., SONKE, G. S., BEIJNEN, J. H. & HUITEMA, A. D. R. 2022a. Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of PARP Inhibitors in Oncology. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, 61, 1649-1675.
- BRUIN, M. A. C., SONKE, G. S., BEIJNEN, J. H. & HUITEMA, A. D. R. 2022b. Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of PARP Inhibitors in Oncology. *Clin Pharmacokinet*.

- BRYANT, H. E., SCHULTZ, N., THOMAS, H. D., PARKER, K. M., FLOWER, D., LOPEZ, E., KYLE, S., MEUTH, M., CURTIN, N. J. & HELLEDAY, T. 2005. Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Nature*, 434, 913-7.
- BURGERS, P. M. 2009. Polymerase dynamics at the eukaryotic DNA replication fork. J Biol Chem, 284, 4041-5.
- BÜRKLE, A., CHEN, G., KÜPPER, J. H., GRUBE, K. & ZELLER, W. J. 1993. Increased poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation in intact cells by cisplatin treatment. *Carcinogenesis*, 14, 559-61.
- CALABRESE, C. R., BATEY, M. A., THOMAS, H. D., DURKACZ, B. W., WANG, L. Z., KYLE, S., SKALITZKY, D., LI, J., ZHANG, C., BORITZKI, T., MAEGLEY, K., CALVERT, A. H., HOSTOMSKY, Z., NEWELL, D. R. & CURTIN, N. J. 2003. Identification of potent nontoxic poly(ADP-Ribose) polymerase-1 inhibitors: chemopotentiation and pharmacological studies. *Clin Cancer Res*, 9, 2711-8.
- CANCER GENOME ATLAS RESEARCH, N., KANDOTH, C., SCHULTZ, N., CHERNIACK, A. D., AKBANI, R., LIU, Y., SHEN, H., ROBERTSON, A. G., PASHTAN, I., SHEN, R., BENZ, C. C., YAU, C., LAIRD, P. W., DING, L., ZHANG, W., MILLS, G. B., KUCHERLAPATI, R., MARDIS, E. R. & LEVINE, D. A. 2013. Integrated genomic characterization of endometrial carcinoma. *Nature*, 497, 67-73.
- CANITROT, Y., CAZAUX, C., FRÉCHET, M., BOUAYADI, K., LESCA, C., SALLES, B. & HOFFMANN, J. S. 1998. Overexpression of DNA polymerase beta in cell results in a mutator phenotype and a decreased sensitivity to anticancer drugs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 12586-90.
- CAPES-DAVIS, A., THEODOSOPOULOS, G., ATKIN, I., DREXLER, H. G., KOHARA, A., MACLEOD, R. A., MASTERS, J. R., NAKAMURA, Y., REID, Y. A., REDDEL, R. R. & FRESHNEY, R. I. 2010. Check your cultures! A list of crosscontaminated or misidentified cell lines. *Int J Cancer*, 127, 1-8.
- CERBINSKAITE, A., MUKHOPADHYAY, A., PLUMMER, E. R., CURTIN, N. J. & EDMONDSON, R. J. 2012. Defective homologous recombination in human cancers. *Cancer Treat Rev*, 38, 89-100.
- CÉSAIRE, M., THARIAT, J., CANDÉIAS, S. M., STEFAN, D., SAINTIGNY, Y. & CHEVALIER, F. 2018. Combining PARP inhibition, radiation, and immunotherapy: A possible strategy to improve the treatment of cancer? *Int J Mol Sci*, 19.
- CHABANON, R. M., SORIA, J. C., LORD, C. J. & POSTEL-VINAY, S. 2019. Beyond DNA repair: the novel immunological potential of PARP inhibitors. *Mol Cell Oncol*, 6, 1585170.
- CHAJON, E., CASTELLI, J., MARSIGLIA, H. & DE CREVOISIER, R. 2017. The synergistic effect of radiotherapy and immunotherapy: A promising but not simple partnership. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol*, 111, 124-132.
- CHALMERS, A. J. 2004. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 and ionizing radiation: sensor, signaller and therapeutic target. *Clin* Oncol (R Coll Radiol), 16, 29-39.
- CHAPMAN, J. R., BARRAL, P., VANNIER, J. B., BOREL, V., STEGER, M., TOMAS-LOBA, A., SARTORI, A. A., ADAMS, I. R., BATISTA, F. D. & BOULTON, S. J. 2013. RIF1 is essential for 53BP1-dependent nonhomologous end joining and suppression of DNA double-strand break resection. *Mol Cell*, 49, 858-71.
- CHATTERJEE, P., CHOUDHARY, G. S., SHARMA, A., SINGH, K., HESTON, W. D., CIEZKI, J., KLEIN, E. A. & ALMASAN, A. 2013. PARP inhibition sensitizes to low dose-rate radiation TMPRSS2-ERG fusion gene-expressing and PTEN-deficient prostate cancer cells. *PLoS One*, 8, e60408.
- CHATTOPADHYAY, S., GALAAL, K. A., PATEL, A., FISHER, A., NAYAR, A., CROSS, P. & NAIK, R. 2012. Tumour-free distance from serosa is a better prognostic indicator than depth of invasion and percentage myometrial invasion in endometrioid endometrial cancer. *Bjog*, 119, 1162-70.
- CHEE, J. L., SAIDIN, S., LANE, D. P., LEONG, S. M., NOLL, J. E., NEILSEN, P. M., PHUA, Y. T., GABRA, H. & LIM, T. M. 2013. Wildtype and mutant p53 mediate cisplatin resistance through interaction and inhibition of active caspase-9. *Cell Cycle*, 12, 278-88.
- CHEN, J. C. & ROAN, N. R. 2015. Isolation and Culture of Human Endometrial Epithelial Cells and Stromal Fibroblasts. *Bio Protoc*, 5.
- CHEN, L. & FLIES, D. B. 2013. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol, 13, 227-42.
- CHEN, R. & WOLD, M. S. 2014. Replication protein A: single-stranded DNA's first responder: dynamic DNA-interactions allow replication protein A to direct single-strand DNA intermediates into different pathways for synthesis or repair. *Bioessays*, 36, 1156-61.
- CHURCH, D. N., STELLOO, E., NOUT, R. A., VALTCHEVA, N., DEPREEUW, J., TER HAAR, N., NOSKE, A., AMANT, F.,
   TOMLINSON, I. P. M., WILD, P. J., LAMBRECHTS, D., JÜRGENLIEMK-SCHULZ, I. M., JOBSEN, J. J., SMIT, V. T. H. B.
   M., CREUTZBERG, C. L. & BOSSE, T. 2014. Prognostic Significance of POLE Proofreading Mutations in Endometrial Cancer. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 107.
- COLOMBO, N., PRETI, E., LANDONI, F., CARINELLI, S., COLOMBO, A., MARINI, C., SESSA, C. & GROUP, E. G. W. 2013. Endometrial cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol*, 24 Suppl 6, vi33-8.
- CONCIN, N., MATIAS-GUIU, X., VERGOTE, I., CIBULA, D., MIRZA, M. R., MARNITZ, S., LEDERMANN, J., BOSSE, T., CHARGARI, C., FAGOTTI, A., FOTOPOULOU, C., GONZALEZ MARTIN, A., LAX, S., LORUSSO, D., MARTH, C., MORICE, P., NOUT, R. A., O'DONNELL, D., QUERLEU, D., RASPOLLINI, M. R., SEHOULI, J., STURDZA, A., TAYLOR, A., WESTERMANN, A., WIMBERGER, P., COLOMBO, N., PLANCHAMP, F. & CREUTZBERG, C. L. 2021. ESGO/ESTRO/ESP guidelines for the management of patients with endometrial carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*, 31, 12-39.
- CONSTANTINOU, P. & TISCHKOWITZ, M. 2017. Genetics of gynaecological cancers. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol*, 42, 114-124.
- CORTEZ, D., WANG, Y., QIN, J. & ELLEDGE, S. J. 1999. Requirement of ATM-dependent phosphorylation of brca1 in the DNA damage response to double-strand breaks. *Science*, 286, 1162-6.
- CREASMAN, W. 2009. Revised FIGO staging for carcinoma of the endometrium. Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 105, 109.

- CREASMAN, W. T., MORROW, C. P., BUNDY, B. N., HOMESLEY, H. D., GRAHAM, J. E. & HELLER, P. B. 1987. Surgical pathologic spread patterns of endometrial cancer. A Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. *Cancer*, 60, 2035-41.
- CREUTZBERG, C. L. & NOUT, R. A. 2011. The role of radiotherapy in endometrial cancer: current evidence and trends. *Curr* Oncol Rep, 13, 472-8.
- CREUTZBERG, C. L., VAN PUTTEN, W. L., KOPER, P. C., LYBEERT, M. L., JOBSEN, J. J., WARLAM-RODENHUIS, C. C., DE WINTER, K. A., LUTGENS, L. C., VAN DEN BERGH, A. C., VAN DE STEEN-BANASIK, E., BEERMAN, H. & VAN LENT, M. 2000.
   Surgery and postoperative radiotherapy versus surgery alone for patients with stage-1 endometrial carcinoma: multicentre randomised trial. PORTEC Study Group. Post Operative Radiation Therapy in Endometrial Carcinoma. *Lancet*, 355, 1404-11.
- CROSBIE, E. J., KITSON, S. J., MCALPINE, J. N., MUKHOPADHYAY, A., POWELL, M. E. & SINGH, N. 2022. Endometrial cancer. *The Lancet*, 399, 1412-1428.
- CROSS, S. N., COCCO, E., BELLONE, S., ANAGNOSTOU, V. K., BROWER, S. L., RICHTER, C. E., SIEGEL, E. R., SCHWARTZ, P. E., RUTHERFORD, T. J. & SANTIN, A. D. 2010. Differential sensitivity to platinum-based chemotherapy in primary uterine serous papillary carcinoma cell lines with high vs low HER-2/neu expression in vitro. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 203, 162.e1-8.
- CRUK. 2018. Survival trends with stage [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/uterine-cancer/survival#heading-Three</u> [Accessed Dec, 1 2022].
- CRUK. 2022. Endometrial cancer trends [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/uterine-cancer/incidence#heading-Two</u> [Accessed Dec, 1 2022].
- CUI, Y., HUANG, W., DU, F., YIN, X., FENG, L. & LI, B. 2022. Therapeutic benefits of niraparib tosylate as radio sensitizer in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: an in vivo and in vitro preclinical study. *Clin Transl Oncol*, 24, 1643-1656.
- CURTIN, N. J. 2005. PARP inhibitors for cancer therapy. *Expert Rev Mol Med*, 7, 1-20.
- CURTIN, N. J. 2012. DNA repair dysregulation from cancer driver to therapeutic target. Nat Rev Cancer, 12, 801-17.
- CURTIN, N. J. & SZABO, C. 2020. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibition: past, present and future. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 19, 711-736.
- CUSANO, E., MYERS, V., SAMANT, R., SUDAI, T., KELLER, A., LE, T., E, C., GRIMES, S. & XU, Y. 2018. Prognostic Significance of Lymphovascular Space Invasion in the Absence of Lymph Node Metastases in Early-Stage Endometrial Cancer. *Int* J Gynecol Cancer, 28, 890-894.
- DAVIES, A. A., MASSON, J. Y., MCILWRAITH, M. J., STASIAK, A. Z., STASIAK, A., VENKITARAMAN, A. R. & WEST, S. C. 2001. Role of BRCA2 in control of the RAD51 recombination and DNA repair protein. *Mol Cell*, 7, 273-82.
- DAWE, C. J., BANFIELD, W. G., MORGAN, W. D., SLATICK, M. S. & CURTH, H. O. 1964. Growth in Continuous Culture, and in Hamsters, of Cells from a Neoplasm Associated with Acanthosis Nigricans. J Natl Cancer Inst, 33, 441-56.
- DE JONGE, M. M., AUGUSTE, A., VAN WIJK, L. M., SCHOUTEN, P. C., MEIJERS, M., TER HAAR, N., SMIT, V., NOUT, R. A., GLAIRE, M., CHURCH, D. N., VRIELING, H., JOB, B., BOURSIN, Y., DE KROON, C. D., ROULEAU, E., LEARY, A., VREESWIJK, M. P. G. & BOSSE, T. 2018. Frequent homologous recombination deficiency in high-grade endometrial carcinomas. *Clin Cancer Res*.
- DE JONGE, M. M., MOOYAART, A. L., VREESWIJK, M. P., DE KROON, C. D., VAN WEZEL, T., VAN ASPEREN, C. J., SMIT, V. T., DEKKERS, O. M. & BOSSE, T. 2017. Linking uterine serous carcinoma to BRCA1/2-associated cancer syndrome: A meta-analysis and case report. *Eur J Cancer*, 72, 215-225.
- DE LAAT, W. L., JASPERS, N. G. & HOEIJMAKERS, J. H. 1999. Molecular mechanism of nucleotide excision repair. *Genes Dev*, 13, 768-85.
- DE LANGE, N. M., EZENDAM, N. P. M., KWON, J. S., VANDENPUT, I., MIRCHANDANI, D., AMANT, F., VAN DER PUTTEN, L. J. M. & PIJNENBORG, J. M. A. 2019. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery for advanced-stage endometrial cancer. *Curr Oncol*, 26, e226-e232.
- DEDES, K. J., WETTERSKOG, D., MENDES-PEREIRA, A. M., NATRAJAN, R., LAMBROS, M. B., GEYER, F. C., VATCHEVA, R., SAVAGE, K., MACKAY, A., LORD, C. J., ASHWORTH, A. & REIS-FILHO, J. S. 2010. PTEN deficiency in endometrioid endometrial adenocarcinomas predicts sensitivity to PARP inhibitors. *Sci Transl Med*, *2*, 53ra75.
- DEDES, K. J., WILKERSON, P. M., WETTERSKOG, D., WEIGELT, B., ASHWORTH, A. & REIS-FILHO, J. S. 2011. Synthetic lethality of PARP inhibition in cancers lacking BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. *Cell Cycle*, 10, 1192-9.
- DELLORUSSO, C., WELCSH, P. L., WANG, W., GARCIA, R. L., KING, M. C. & SWISHER, E. M. 2007. Functional characterization of a novel BRCA1-null ovarian cancer cell line in response to ionizing radiation. *Mol Cancer Res*, 5, 35-45.
- DHANIS, J., BLAKE, D., RUNDLE, S., PIJNENBORG, J. M. A. & SMITS, A. 2022. Cytoreductive surgery in recurrent endometrial cancer: A new paradigm for surgical management? *Surg Oncol,* 43, 101811.
- DINKIC, C., JAHN, F., ZYGMUNT, M., SCHUETZ, F., ROM, J., SOHN, C. & FLUHR, H. 2017. PARP inhibition sensitizes endometrial cancer cells to paclitaxel-induced apoptosis. *Oncol Lett*, **13**, 2847-2851.
- DOBZHANSKY, T. 1946. Genetics of natural populations; recombination and variability in populations of Drosophila pseudoobscura. *Genetics*, 31, 269-90.
- DOHERTY, J. A., WEISS, N. S., FISH, S., FAN, W., LOOMIS, M. M., SAKODA, L. C., ROSSING, M. A., ZHAO, L. P. & CHEN, C. 2011. Polymorphisms in nucleotide excision repair genes and endometrial cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 20, 1873-82.
- DOMCHEK, S. M., POSTEL-VINAY, S., IM, S.-A., PARK, Y. H., DELORD, J.-P., ITALIANO, A., ALEXANDRE, J., YOU, B., BASTIAN, S., KREBS, M. G., WANG, D., WAQAR, S. N., LANASA, M., RHEE, J., GAO, H., ROCHER-ROS, V., JONES, E. V., GULATI, S., COENEN-STASS, A., KOZAREWA, I., LAI, Z., ANGELL, H. K., OPINCAR, L., HERBOLSHEIMER, P. & KAUFMAN, B. 2020. Olaparib and durvalumab in patients with germline BRCA-mutated metastatic breast cancer (MEDIOLA): an openlabel, multicentre, phase 1/2, basket study. *The Lancet Oncology*, 21, 1155-1164.

- DREW, Y., MULLIGAN, E. A., VONG, W. T., THOMAS, H. D., KAHN, S., KYLE, S., MUKHOPADHYAY, A., LOS, G., HOSTOMSKY, Z., PLUMMER, E. R., EDMONDSON, R. J. & CURTIN, N. J. 2011. Therapeutic potential of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor AG014699 in human cancers with mutated or methylated BRCA1 or BRCA2. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 103, 334-46.
- DROUET, J., FRIT, P., DELTEIL, C., DE VILLARTAY, J. P., SALLES, B. & CALSOU, P. 2006. Interplay between Ku, Artemis, and the DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit at DNA ends. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 27784-93.
- EDMONDSON, R. J., CROSBIE, E. J., NICKKHO-AMIRY, M., KAUFMANN, A., STELLOO, E., NIJMAN, H. W., LEARY, A., AUGUSTE, A., MILESHKIN, L., POLLOCK, P., MACKAY, H. J., POWELL, M. E., BOSSE, T., CREUTZBERG, C. L. & KITCHENER, H. C. 2017. Markers of the p53 pathway further refine molecular profiling in high-risk endometrial cancer: A TransPORTEC initiative. *Gynecol Oncol*, 146, 327-333.
- EGEBLAD, M., NAKASONE, E. S. & WERB, Z. 2010. Tumors as organs: complex tissues that interface with the entire organism. *Dev Cell*, 18, 884-901.
- EL-SAHWI, K., BELLONE, S., COCCO, E., CARGNELUTTI, M., CASAGRANDE, F., BELLONE, M., ABU-KHALAF, M., BUZA, N., TAVASSOLI, F. A., HUI, P., SILASI, D. A., AZODI, M., SCHWARTZ, P. E., RUTHERFORD, T. J., PECORELLI, S. & SANTIN, A. D. 2010. In vitro activity of pertuzumab in combination with trastuzumab in uterine serous papillary adenocarcinoma. *Br J Cancer*, 102, 134-43.
- ENG, C. 2003. PTEN: one gene, many syndromes. Hum Mutat, 22, 183-98.
- ETO, T., SAITO, T., KASAMATSU, T., NAKANISHI, T., YOKOTA, H., SATOH, T., NOGAWA, T., YOSHIKAWA, H., KAMURA, T. & KONISHI, I. 2012. Clinicopathological prognostic factors and the role of cytoreduction in surgical stage IVb endometrial cancer: a retrospective multi-institutional analysis of 248 patients in Japan. *Gynecol Oncol*, 127, 338-44.
- EVERS, B., DROST, R., SCHUT, E., DE BRUIN, M., VAN DER BURG, E., DERKSEN, P. W., HOLSTEGE, H., LIU, X., VAN DRUNEN, E., BEVERLOO, H. B., SMITH, G. C., MARTIN, N. M., LAU, A., O'CONNOR, M. J. & JONKERS, J. 2008. Selective inhibition of BRCA2-deficient mammary tumor cell growth by AZD2281 and cisplatin. *Clin Cancer Res*, 14, 3916-25.
- FARMER, H., MCCABE, N., LORD, C. J., TUTT, A. N., JOHNSON, D. A., RICHARDSON, T. B., SANTAROSA, M., DILLON, K. J., HICKSON, I., KNIGHTS, C., MARTIN, N. M., JACKSON, S. P., SMITH, G. C. & ASHWORTH, A. 2005. Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. *Nature*, 434, 917-21.
- FENG, L., FONG, K. W., WANG, J., WANG, W. & CHEN, J. 2013. RIF1 counteracts BRCA1-mediated end resection during DNA repair. J Biol Chem, 288, 11135-43.
- FLEMING, G. F., BRUNETTO, V. L., CELLA, D., LOOK, K. Y., REID, G. C., MUNKARAH, A. R., KLINE, R., BURGER, R. A., GOODMAN, A. & BURKS, R. T. 2004a. Phase III trial of doxorubicin plus cisplatin with or without paclitaxel plus filgrastim in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol, 22, 2159-66.
- FLEMING, G. F., FILIACI, V. L., BENTLEY, R. C., HERZOG, T., SOROSKY, J., VACCARELLO, L. & GALLION, H. 2004b. Phase III randomized trial of doxorubicin + cisplatin versus doxorubicin + 24-h paclitaxel + filgrastim in endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Ann Oncol, 15, 1173-8.
- FOUNTZILAS, E., KOTOULA, V., PENTHEROUDAKIS, G., MANOUSOU, K., POLYCHRONIDOU, G., VRETTOU, E., POULIOS, C., PAPADOPOULOU, E., RAPTOU, G., PECTASIDES, E., KARAYANNOPOULOU, G., CHRISAFI, S., PAPAKOSTAS, P., MAKATSORIS, T., VARTHALITIS, I., PSYRRI, A., SAMANTAS, E., BOBOS, M., CHRISTODOULOU, C., PAPADIMITRIOU, C., NASIOULAS, G., PECTASIDES, D. & FOUNTZILAS, G. 2019. Prognostic implications of mismatch repair deficiency in patients with nonmetastatic colorectal and endometrial cancer. *ESMO Open*, 4, e000474.
- FRACASSO, P. M., BLESSING, J. A., MOLPUS, K. L., ADLER, L. M., SOROSKY, J. I. & ROSE, P. G. 2006. Phase II study of oxaliplatin as second-line chemotherapy in endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecol* Oncol, 103, 523-6.
- FRANCHITTO, A., PICHIERRI, P., PIERGENTILI, R., CRESCENZI, M., BIGNAMI, M. & PALITTI, F. 2003. The mammalian mismatch repair protein MSH2 is required for correct MRE11 and RAD51 relocalization and for efficient cell cycle arrest induced by ionizing radiation in G2 phase. *Oncogene*, 22, 2110-20.
- FRASER, M., ZHAO, H., LUOTO, K. R., LUNDIN, C., COACKLEY, C., CHAN, N., JOSHUA, A. M., BISMAR, T. A., EVANS, A., HELLEDAY, T. & BRISTOW, R. G. 2012. PTEN deletion in prostate cancer cells does not associate with loss of RAD51 function: implications for radiotherapy and chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res*, 18, 1015-27.
- FRIMER, M., LEVANO, K. S., RODRIGUEZ-GABIN, A., WANG, Y., GOLDBERG, G. L., HORWITZ, S. B. & HOU, J. Y. 2016. Germline mutations of the DNA repair pathways in uterine serous carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol*, 141, 101-7.
- FRITZELL, J. A., NARAYANAN, L., BAKER, S. M., BRONNER, C. E., ANDREW, S. E., PROLLA, T. A., BRADLEY, A., JIRIK, F. R., LISKAY, R. M. & GLAZER, P. M. 1997. Role of DNA mismatch repair in the cytotoxicity of ionizing radiation. *Cancer Res*, 57, 5143-7.
- GASPARRI, M. L., BELLAMINUTTI, S., FAROOQI, A. A., CUCCU, I., DI DONATO, V. & PAPADIA, A. 2022. Endometrial Cancer and BRCA Mutations: A Systematic Review. J Clin Med, 11.
- GAYMES, T. J., MOHAMEDALI, A. M., PATTERSON, M., MATTO, N., SMITH, A., KULASEKARARAJ, A., CHELLIAH, R., CURTIN, N., FARZANEH, F., SHALL, S. & MUFTI, G. J. 2013. Microsatellite instability induced mutations in DNA repair genes CtIP and MRE11 confer hypersensitivity to poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors in myeloid malignancies. *Haematologica*, 98, 1397-406.
- GEE, M. E., FARAAHI, Z., MCCORMICK, A. & EDMONDSON, R. J. 2018. DNA damage repair in ovarian cancer: unlocking the heterogeneity. *Journal of Ovarian Research*, 11, 50.
- GENTLES, L., GORANOV, B., MATHESON, E., HERRIOTT, A., KAUFMANN, A., HALL, S., MUKHOPADHYAY, A., DREW, Y., CURTIN, N. J. & O'DONNELL, R. L. 2019. Exploring the Frequency of Homologous Recombination DNA Repair Dysfunction in Multiple Cancer Types. *Cancers (Basel)*, 11.

- GIANNINI, G., RINALDI, C., RISTORI, E., AMBROSINI, M. I., CERIGNOLI, F., VIEL, A., BIDOLI, E., BERNI, S., D'AMATI, G., SCAMBIA, G., FRATI, L., SCREPANTI, I. & GULINO, A. 2004. Mutations of an intronic repeat induce impaired MRE11 expression in primary human cancer with microsatellite instability. *Oncogene*, 23, 2640-7.
- GIANNINI, G., RISTORI, E., CERIGNOLI, F., RINALDI, C., ZANI, M., VIEL, A., OTTINI, L., CRESCENZI, M., MARTINOTTI, S., BIGNAMI, M., FRATI, L., SCREPANTI, I. & GULINO, A. 2002. Human MRE11 is inactivated in mismatch repairdeficient cancers. *EMBO reports*, **3**, 248-254.
- GILKS, C. B., OLIVA, E. & SOSLOW, R. A. 2013. Poor interobserver reproducibility in the diagnosis of high-grade endometrial carcinoma. *Am J Surg Pathol*, 37, 874-81.
- GONZÁLEZ-MARTÍN, A., POTHURI, B., VERGOTE, I., DEPONT CHRISTENSEN, R., GRAYBILL, W., MIRZA, M. R., MCCORMICK, C., LORUSSO, D., HOSKINS, P., FREYER, G., BAUMANN, K., JARDON, K., REDONDO, A., MOORE, R. G., VULSTEKE, C., O'CEARBHAILL, R. E., LUND, B., BACKES, F., BARRETINA-GINESTA, P., HAGGERTY, A. F., RUBIO-PÉREZ, M. J., SHAHIN, M. S., MANGILI, G., BRADLEY, W. H., BRUCHIM, I., SUN, K., MALINOWSKA, I. A., LI, Y., GUPTA, D. & MONK, B. J. 2019. Niraparib in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Advanced Ovarian Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 381, 2391-2402.
- GORMAN, B. K., KOSARAC, O., CHAKRABORTY, S., SCHWARTZ, M. R. & MODY, D. R. 2012. Comparison of breast carcinoma prognostic/predictive biomarkers on cell blocks obtained by various methods: Cellient, formalin and thrombin. *Acta Cytol*, 56, 289-96.
- GOSHEN, R., CHU, W., ELIT, L., PAL, T., HAKIMI, J., ACKERMAN, I., FYLES, A., MITCHELL, M. & NAROD, S. A. 2000. Is uterine papillary serous adenocarcinoma a manifestation of the hereditary breast-ovarian cancer syndrome? *Gynecol Oncol*, 79, 477-81.
- GRAESER, M., MCCARTHY, A., LORD, C. J., SAVAGE, K., HILLS, M., SALTER, J., ORR, N., PARTON, M., SMITH, I. E., REIS-FILHO, J. S., DOWSETT, M., ASHWORTH, A. & TURNER, N. C. 2010. A marker of homologous recombination predicts pathologic complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in primary breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 16, 6159-68.
- GRIFFIN, R. J., CURTIN, N. J., NEWELL, D. R., GOLDING, B. T., DURKACZ, B. W. & CALVERT, A. H. 1995. The role of inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase as resistance-modifying agents in cancer therapy. *Biochimie*, 77, 408-22.
- GROUP, A. E. S., BLAKE, P., SWART, A. M., ORTON, J., KITCHENER, H., WHELAN, T., LUKKA, H., EISENHAUER, E., BACON, M., TU, D., PARMAR, M. K., AMOS, C., MURRAY, C. & QIAN, W. 2009. Adjuvant external beam radiotherapy in the treatment of endometrial cancer (MRC ASTEC and NCIC CTG EN.5 randomised trials): pooled trial results, systematic review, and meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 373, 137-46.
- GUGGENHEIM, E. R., ONDRUS, A. E., MOVASSAGHI, M. & LIPPARD, S. J. 2008. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 activity facilitates the dissociation of nuclear proteins from platinum-modified DNA. *Bioorg Med Chem*, 16, 10121-8.
- HAIBE-KAINS, B., EL-HACHEM, N., BIRKBAK, N. J., JIN, A. C., BECK, A. H., AERTS, H. J. & QUACKENBUSH, J. 2013. Inconsistency in large pharmacogenomic studies. *Nature*, 504, 389-93.
- HAN, G., SIDHU, D., DUGGAN, M. A., ARSENEAU, J., CESARI, M., CLEMENT, P. B., EWANOWICH, C. A., KALLOGER, S. E. & KOBEL, M. 2013. Reproducibility of histological cell type in high-grade endometrial carcinoma. *Mod Pathol*, 26, 1594-604.
- HANAHAN, D. & WEINBERG, R. A. 2011. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell, 144, 646-74.
- HARTLERODE, A. J. & SCULLY, R. 2009. Mechanisms of double-strand break repair in somatic mammalian cells. *Biochem J*, 423, 157-68.
- HAY, R. J., MACY, M. L. & CHEN, T. R. 1989. Mycoplasma infection of cultured cells. Nature, 339, 487-8.
- HAYASHI, J., SAKATA, K.-I., SOMEYA, M., MATSUMOTO, Y., SATOH, M., NAKATA, K., HORI, M., TAKAGI, M., KONDOH, A., HIMI, T. & HAREYAMA, M. 2012. Analysis and results of Ku and XRCC4 expression in hypopharyngeal cancer tissues treated with chemoradiotherapy. *Oncol Lett*, 4, 151-155.
- HECHT, J. L. & MUTTER, G. L. 2006. Molecular and pathologic aspects of endometrial carcinogenesis. *J Clin Oncol*, 24, 4783-91.
- HEEKE, A. L., PISHVAIAN, M. J., LYNCE, F., XIU, J., BRODY, J. R., CHEN, W. J., BAKER, T. M., MARSHALL, J. L. & ISAACS, C. 2018. Prevalence of Homologous Recombination-Related Gene Mutations Across Multiple Cancer Types. *JCO Precis Oncol*, 2018.
- HEIDARI, F., RABIZADEH, S., MANSOURNIA, M. A., MIRMIRANPOOR, H., SALEHI, S. S., AKHAVAN, S., ESTEGHAMATI, A. & NAKHJAVANI, M. 2019. Inflammatory, oxidative stress and anti-oxidative markers in patients with endometrial carcinoma and diabetes. *Cytokine*, 120, 186-190.
- HEITZ, F., ATASEVEN, B., STANICZOK, C., DENKERT, C., RHIEM, K., HAHNEN, E., HEIKAUS, S., MOUBARAK, M., WELZ, J., DAGRES, T., VRENTAS, V., BOMMERT, M., SCHNEIDER, S., CONCIN, N. & HARTER, P. 2023. Implementing HRD Testing in Routine Clinical Practice on Patients with Primary High-Grade Advanced Ovarian Cancer. Cancers (Basel), 15.
- HELLEDAY, T., PETERMANN, E., LUNDIN, C., HODGSON, B. & SHARMA, R. A. 2008. DNA repair pathways as targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 8, 193-204.
- HELT, C. E., CLIBY, W. A., KENG, P. C., BAMBARA, R. A. & O'REILLY, M. A. 2005. Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) and ATM and Rad3-related protein exhibit selective target specificities in response to different forms of DNA damage. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 1186-92.
- HERBST, R. S., SORIA, J. C., KOWANETZ, M., FINE, G. D., HAMID, O., GORDON, M. S., SOSMAN, J. A., MCDERMOTT, D. F., POWDERLY, J. D., GETTINGER, S. N., KOHRT, H. E., HORN, L., LAWRENCE, D. P., ROST, S., LEABMAN, M., XIAO, Y., MOKATRIN, A., KOEPPEN, H., HEGDE, P. S., MELLMAN, I., CHEN, D. S. & HODI, F. S. 2014. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature*, 515, 563-7.

HINDGES, R. & HUBSCHER, U. 1997. DNA polymerase delta, an essential enzyme for DNA transactions. *Biol Chem*, 378, 345-62.

HOEIJMAKERS, J. H. 2001a. DNA repair mechanisms. *Maturitas*, 38, 17-22; discussion 22-3.

HOEIJMAKERS, J. H. 2001b. Genome maintenance mechanisms for preventing cancer. Nature, 411, 366-74.

HOEIJMAKERS, J. H. 2009. DNA damage, aging, and cancer. N Engl J Med, 361, 1475-85.

- HOGBERG, T., SIGNORELLI, M., DE OLIVEIRA, C. F., FOSSATI, R., LISSONI, A. A., SORBE, B., ANDERSSON, H., GRENMAN, S., LUNDGREN, C., ROSENBERG, P., BOMAN, K., THOLANDER, B., SCAMBIA, G., REED, N., CORMIO, G., TOGNON, G., CLARKE, J., SAWICKI, T., ZOLA, P. & KRISTENSEN, G. 2010. Sequential adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy in endometrial cancer--results from two randomised studies. *Eur J Cancer*, 46, 2422-31.
- HOMESLEY, H. D., FILIACI, V., GIBBONS, S. K., LONG, H. J., CELLA, D., SPIRTOS, N. M., MORRIS, R. T., DEGEEST, K., LEE, R. & MONTAG, A. 2009. A randomized phase III trial in advanced endometrial carcinoma of surgery and volume directed radiation followed by cisplatin and doxorubicin with or without paclitaxel: A Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecol Oncol*, 112, 543-52.
- HOWITT, B. E., SHUKLA, S. A., SHOLL, L. M., RITTERHOUSE, L. L., WATKINS, J. C., RODIG, S., STOVER, E., STRICKLAND, K. C., D'ANDREA, A. D., WU, C. J., MATULONIS, U. A. & KONSTANTINOPOULOS, P. A. 2015. Association of Polymerase e-Mutated and Microsatellite-Instable Endometrial Cancers With Neoantigen Load, Number of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes, and Expression of PD-1 and PD-L1. JAMA Oncol, 1, 1319-23.
- JAMALUDDIN, M. F. B., GHOSH, A., INGLE, A., MOHAMMED, R., ALI, A., BAHRAMI, M., KAIKO, G., GIBB, Z., FILIPE, E. C., COX, T. R., BOULTON, A., O'SULLIVAN, R., IUS, Y., KARAKOTI, A., VINU, A., NAHAR, P., JAABACK, K., BANSAL, V. & TANWAR, P. S. 2022a. Bovine and human endometrium-derived hydrogels support organoid culture from healthy and cancerous tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 119, e2208040119.
- JAMALUDDIN, M. F. B., KO, Y. A., GHOSH, A., SYED, S. M., IUS, Y., O'SULLIVAN, R., NETHERTON, J. K., BAKER, M. A., NAHAR, P., JAABACK, K. & TANWAR, P. S. 2022b. Proteomic and functional characterization of intra-tumor heterogeneity in human endometrial cancer. *Cell Rep Med*, 3, 100738.
- JANDA, M., GEBSKI, V., FORDER, P., JACKSON, D., WILLIAMS, G., OBERMAIR, A. & COMMITTEE, L. T. 2006. Total laparoscopic versus open surgery for stage 1 endometrial cancer: the LACE randomized controlled trial. *Contemp Clin Trials*, 27, 353-63.
- JANG, A., SARTOR, O., BARATA, P. C. & PALLER, C. J. 2020. Therapeutic Potential of PARP Inhibitors in the Treatment of Metastatic Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. *Cancers*, 12, 3467.
- JANZEN, D. M., PAIK, D. Y., ROSALES, M. A., YEP, B., CHENG, D., WITTE, O. N., KAYADIBI, H., RYAN, C. M., JUNG, M. E., FAULL, K. & MEMARZADEH, S. 2013. Low levels of circulating estrogen sensitize PTEN-null endometrial tumors to PARP inhibition in vivo. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 12, 2917-28.
- JIANG, W. & WANG, Z. 2022. CTNI-63. A STUDY OF NIRAPARIB COMBINED WITH RADIOTHERAPY IN PATIENTS WITH RECURRENT GLIOBLASTOMA. *Neuro-Oncology*, 24, vii87-vii87.
- JIAO, S., XIA, W., YAMAGUCHI, H., WEI, Y., CHEN, M. K., HSU, J. M., HSU, J. L., YU, W. H., DU, Y., LEE, H. H., LI, C. W., CHOU, C. K., LIM, S. O., CHANG, S. S., LITTON, J., ARUN, B., HORTOBAGYI, G. N. & HUNG, M. C. 2017. PARP Inhibitor Upregulates PD-L1 Expression and Enhances Cancer-Associated Immunosuppression. *Clin Cancer Res*, 23, 3711-3720.
- JIN, Y., XU, X., WANG, X., KUANG, H., OSTERMAN, M., FENG, S., HAN, D., WU, Y., LI, M. & GUO, H. 2016. Increasing sensitivity to DNA damage is a potential driver for human ovarian cancer. *Oncotarget*, **7**, 49710-49721.
- JIRICNY, J. 2006. The multifaceted mismatch-repair system. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 7, 335-46.
- JIRICNY, J. 2013. Postreplicative mismatch repair. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 5, a012633.
- JOHNSON, N., BRYANT, A., MILES, T., HOGBERG, T. & CORNES, P. 2011. Adjuvant chemotherapy for endometrial cancer after hysterectomy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 2011, Cd003175.
- JONES, P., ALTAMURA, S., BOUERES, J., FERRIGNO, F., FONSI, M., GIOMINI, C., LAMARTINA, S., MONTEAGUDO, E., ONTORIA, J. M., ORSALE, M. V., PALUMBI, M. C., PESCI, S., ROSCILLI, G., SCARPELLI, R., SCHULTZ-FADEMRECHT, C., TONIATTI, C. & ROWLEY, M. 2009. Discovery of 2-{4-[(3S)-piperidin-3-yl]phenyl}-2H-indazole-7-carboxamide (MK-4827): a novel oral poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase (PARP) inhibitor efficacious in BRCA-1 and -2 mutant tumors. *J Med Chem*, 52, 7170-85.
- JÖNSSON, J. M., BÅÅTH, M., BJÖRNHEDEN, I., SAHIN, I. D., MÅSBÄCK, A. & HEDENFALK, I. 2021. Homologous Recombination Repair Mechanisms in Serous Endometrial Cancer. *Cancers (Basel)*, 13.
- JONUSCHEIT, S., JOST, T., GAJDOŠOVÁ, F., WROBEL, M., HECHT, M., FIETKAU, R. & DISTEL, L. 2021. PARP Inhibitors Talazoparib and Niraparib Sensitize Melanoma Cells to Ionizing Radiation. *Genes (Basel)*, 12.
- JOYCE, J. A. & POLLARD, J. W. 2009. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer, 9, 239-52.
- KANDOTH, C., SCHULTZ, N., CHERNIACK, A. D., AKBANI, R., LIU, Y., SHEN, H., ROBERTSON, A. G., PASHTAN, I., SHEN, R.,
   BENZ, C. C., YAU, C., LAIRD, P. W., DING, L., ZHANG, W., MILLS, G. B., KUCHERLAPATI, R., MARDIS, E. R. & LEVINE,
   D. A. 2013. Integrated genomic characterization of endometrial carcinoma. *Nature*, 497, 67-73.
- KAR, R., CHAWLA, D., GUPTA, B., MEHNDIRATTA, M., WADHWA, N. & AGARWAL, R. 2017. Establishment of Primary Cell Culture From Ascitic Fluid and Solid Tumor Obtained From Epithelial Ovarian Carcinoma Patients. Int J Gynecol Cancer, 27, 2000-2005.
- KARNEZIS, A. N., LEUNG, S., MAGRILL, J., MCCONECHY, M. K., YANG, W., CHOW, C., KOBEL, M., LEE, C. H., HUNTSMAN, D.
   G., TALHOUK, A., KOMMOSS, F., GILKS, C. B. & MCALPINE, J. N. 2017. Evaluation of endometrial carcinoma prognostic immunohistochemistry markers in the context of molecular classification. *J Pathol Clin Res*, 3, 279-293.

- KELLY, P., BARRY-REIDY, A., BREWER, A., MEADE, K. G. & O'FARRELLY, C. 2020. Improved filtration method to isolate pure populations of primary bovine endometrial epithelial and stromal cells for immunological studies. *Vet Res Commun*, 44, 29-39.
- KENNEDY, R. D. & D'ANDREA, A. D. 2006. DNA repair pathways in clinical practice: lessons from pediatric cancer susceptibility syndromes. *J Clin Oncol*, 24, 3799-808.
- KEYS, H. M., ROBERTS, J. A., BRUNETTO, V. L., ZAINO, R. J., SPIRTOS, N. M., BLOSS, J. D., PEARLMAN, A., MAIMAN, M. A., BELL, J. G. & GYNECOLOGIC ONCOLOGY, G. 2004. A phase III trial of surgery with or without adjunctive external pelvic radiation therapy in intermediate risk endometrial adenocarcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecol Oncol*, 92, 744-51.
- KHANNA, K. K. & JACKSON, S. P. 2001. DNA double-strand breaks: signaling, repair and the cancer connection. *Nat Genet*, 27, 247-54.
- KINNER, A., WU, W., STAUDT, C. & ILIAKIS, G. 2008. Gamma-H2AX in recognition and signaling of DNA double-strand breaks in the context of chromatin. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 36, 5678-94.
- KOMMOSS, S., MCCONECHY, M. K., KOMMOSS, F., LEUNG, S., BUNZ, A., MAGRILL, J., BRITTON, H., KOMMOSS, F.,
   GREVENKAMP, F., KARNEZIS, A., YANG, W., LUM, A., KRAMER, B., TARAN, F., STAEBLER, A., LAX, S., BRUCKER, S. Y.,
   HUNTSMAN, D. G., GILKS, C. B., MCALPINE, J. N. & TALHOUK, A. 2018a. Final validation of the ProMisE molecular
   classifier for endometrial carcinoma in a large population-based case series. *Ann Oncol*, 29, 1180-1188.
- KOMMOSS, S., MCCONECHY, M. K., KOMMOSS, F., LEUNG, S., BUNZ, A., MAGRILL, J., BRITTON, H., KOMMOSS, F.,
   GREVENKAMP, F., KARNEZIS, A., YANG, W., LUM, A., KRÄMER, B., TARAN, F., STAEBLER, A., LAX, S., BRUCKER, S. Y.,
   HUNTSMAN, D. G., GILKS, C. B., MCALPINE, J. N. & TALHOUK, A. 2018b. Final validation of the ProMisE molecular
   classifier for endometrial carcinoma in a large population-based case series. *Ann Oncol*, 29, 1180-1188.
- KOONTZ, B. F., BOSSI, A., COZZARINI, C., WIEGEL, T. & D'AMICO, A. 2015. A systematic review of hypofractionation for primary management of prostate cancer. *Eur Urol,* 68, 683-91.
- KOPPENSTEINER, R., SAMARTZIS, E. P., NOSKE, A., VON TEICHMAN, A., DEDES, I., GWERDER, M., IMESCH, P., IKENBERG, K., MOCH, H., FINK, D., STUCKI, M. & DEDES, K. J. 2014. Effect of MRE11 loss on PARP-inhibitor sensitivity in endometrial cancer in vitro. *PLoS One*, 9, e100041.
- KORKMAZ-ICÖZ, S., SZCZESNY, B., MARCATTI, M., LI, S., RUPPERT, M., LASITSCHKA, F., LOGANATHAN, S., SZABÓ, C. & SZABÓ, G. 2018. Olaparib protects cardiomyocytes against oxidative stress and improves graft contractility during the early phase after heart transplantation in rats. *Br J Pharmacol*, 175, 246-261.
- KOVAL, O., SAKAEVA, G., FOMIN, A., NUSHTAEVA, A., SEMENOV, D., KULIGINA, E., GULYAEVA, L., GERASIMOV, A. & RICHTER, V. 2015. Sensitivity of endometrial cancer cells from primary human tumor samples to new potential anticancer peptide lactaptin. *Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics*, 11, 345-351.
- KRASTEV, D. B., WICKS, A. J. & LORD, C. J. 2021. PARP Inhibitors Trapped in a Toxic Love Affair. *Cancer Research*, 81, 5605-5607.
- KRISTELEIT, R. S., MILLER, R. E. & KOHN, E. C. 2016. Gynecologic Cancers: Emerging Novel Strategies for Targeting DNA Repair Deficiency. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book*, 35, e259-68.
- KUOPPALA, T., MÄENPÄÄ, J., TOMAS, E., PUISTOLA, U., SALMI, T., GRENMAN, S., LEHTOVIRTA, P., FORS, M., LUUKKAALA, T.
   & SIPILÄ, P. 2008. Surgically staged high-risk endometrial cancer: randomized study of adjuvant radiotherapy alone vs. sequential chemo-radiotherapy. *Gynecol Oncol*, 110, 190-5.
- KURAMOTO, H. 1972. Studies of the growth and cytogenetic properties of human endometrial adenocarcinoma in culture and its development into an established line. *Acta Obstet Gynaecol Jpn*, 19, 47-58.
- KURPIEL, B., THOMAS, M. S., MUBEEN, M., RING, K. L., MODESITT, S. C., MOSKALUK, C. A. & MILLS, A. M. 2022. MLH1/PMS2-deficient Endometrial Carcinomas in a Universally Screened Population: MLH1 Hypermethylation and Germline Mutation Status. Int J Gynecol Pathol, 41, 1-11.
- KWON, J. S., SCOTT, J. L., GILKS, C. B., DANIELS, M. S., SUN, C. C. & LU, K. H. 2011. Testing women with endometrial cancer to detect Lynch syndrome. *J Clin Oncol*, 29, 2247-52.
- LARSEN, E., MEZA, T. J., KLEPPA, L. & KLUNGLAND, A. 2007. Organ and cell specificity of base excision repair mutants in mice. *Mutat Res*, 614, 56-68.
- LAWRENCE, L. M., RUSSELL, R., DENNING, C. E., ZGHEIB, N. B., SALISBURY, T., LIRETTE, S. T., VALLURI, J., CLAUDIO, P. P. & DENNING, K. L. 2020. Expression of poly-ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) in endometrial adenocarcinoma: Prognostic potential. *Pathol Res Pract*, 216, 152965.
- LE, D. T., DURHAM, J. N., SMITH, K. N., WANG, H., BARTLETT, B. R., AULAKH, L. K., LU, S., KEMBERLING, H., WILT, C., LUBER, B. S., WONG, F., AZAD, N. S., RUCKI, A. A., LAHERU, D., DONEHOWER, R., ZAHEER, A., FISHER, G. A., CROCENZI, T. S., LEE, J. J., GRETEN, T. F., DUFFY, A. G., CIOMBOR, K. K., EYRING, A. D., LAM, B. H., JOE, A., KANG, S. P., HOLDHOFF, M., DANILOVA, L., COPE, L., MEYER, C., ZHOU, S., GOLBERG, R. M., ARMSTRONG, D. K., BEVER, K. M., FADER, A. N., TAUBE, J., HOUSSEAU, F., SPETZLER, D., XIAO, N., PARDOLL, D. M., PAPADOPOULOS, N., KINZLER, K. W., ESHLEMAN, J. R., VOGELSTEIN, B., ANDERS, R. A. & DIAZ, L. A., JR. 2017. Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. *Science*, 357, 409-413.
- LE, D. T., URAM, J. N., WANG, H., BARTLETT, B. R., KEMBERLING, H., EYRING, A. D., SKORA, A. D., LUBER, B. S., AZAD, N. S., LAHERU, D., BIEDRZYCKI, B., DONEHOWER, R. C., ZAHEER, A., FISHER, G. A., CROCENZI, T. S., LEE, J. J., DUFFY, S. M., GOLDBERG, R. M., DE LA CHAPELLE, A., KOSHIJI, M., BHAIJEE, F., HUEBNER, T., HRUBAN, R. H., WOOD, L. D., CUKA, N., PARDOLL, D. M., PAPADOPOULOS, N., KINZLER, K. W., ZHOU, S., CORNISH, T. C., TAUBE, J. M., ANDERS, R. A., ESHLEMAN, J. R., VOGELSTEIN, B. & DIAZ, L. A., JR. 2015. PD-1 Blockade in Tumors with Mismatch-Repair Deficiency. N Engl J Med, 372, 2509-20.

- LEDERMANN, J., HARTER, P., GOURLEY, C., FRIEDLANDER, M., VERGOTE, I., RUSTIN, G., SCOTT, C. L., MEIER, W., SHAPIRA-FROMMER, R., SAFRA, T., MATEI, D., FIELDING, A., SPENCER, S., DOUGHERTY, B., ORR, M., HODGSON, D., BARRETT, J. C. & MATULONIS, U. 2014. Olaparib maintenance therapy in patients with platinum-sensitive relapsed serous ovarian cancer: a preplanned retrospective analysis of outcomes by BRCA status in a randomised phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 15, 852-61.
- LEE, J. K., BLOOM, J., ZUBELDIA-PLAZAOLA, A., GARBE, J. C., STAMPFER, M. R. & LABARGE, M. A. 2018. Different culture media modulate growth, heterogeneity, and senescence in human mammary epithelial cell cultures. *PLoS One*, 13, e0204645.
- LENGAUER, C., KINZLER, K. W. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 1998. Genetic instabilities in human cancers. *Nature*, 396, 643-649.
- LEÓN-CASTILLO, A., BRITTON, H., MCCONECHY, M. K., MCALPINE, J. N., NOUT, R., KOMMOSS, S., BRUCKER, S. Y., CARLSON, J. W., EPSTEIN, E., RAU, T. T., BOSSE, T., CHURCH, D. N. & GILKS, C. B. 2020a. Interpretation of somatic POLE mutations in endometrial carcinoma. *J Pathol*, 250, 323-335.
- LEÓN-CASTILLO, A., GILVAZQUEZ, E., NOUT, R., SMIT, V. T., MCALPINE, J. N., MCCONECHY, M., KOMMOSS, S., BRUCKER, S.
   Y., CARLSON, J. W., EPSTEIN, E., RAU, T. T., SOSLOW, R. A., GANESAN, R., MATIAS-GUIU, X., OLIVA, E., HARRISON,
   B. T., CHURCH, D. N., GILKS, C. B. & BOSSE, T. 2020b. Clinicopathological and molecular characterisation of 'multiple-classifier' endometrial carcinomas. *J Pathol*, 250, 312-322.
- LEUNG, E. W., GLADWISH, A. P., DAVIDSON, M. T. M., TAGGAR, A., BARNES, E., DONOVAN, E., GIEN, L. T., COVENS, A., VICUS, D., KUPETS, R., HAN, K., VELKER, V., MENDEZ, L., MACKAY, H., CHEUNG, P., LOBLAW, D. A. & D'SOUZA, D. P. 2021. Stereotactic Pelvic Adjuvant Radiation Therapy in Cancers of the Uterus (SPARTACUS): A Multicenter Prospective Trial Evaluating Acute Toxicities and Patient Reported Outcomes. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics*, 111, S18-S19.
- LI, G. M. 2008. Mechanisms and functions of DNA mismatch repair. Cell Res, 18, 85-98.
- LI, J. J., YAN, S., PAN, Y., LIU, Z., LIU, Y., DENG, Q., TAN, Q., WOODWARD, E. R. & WU, N. 2018a. FGFR genes mutation is an independent prognostic factor and associated with lymph node metastasis in squamous non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther*, 19, 1108-1116.
- LI, X. & HEYER, W. D. 2008. Homologous recombination in DNA repair and DNA damage tolerance. *Cell Res*, 18, 99-113.
- LI, X., LI, C., JIN, J., WANG, J., HUANG, J., MA, Z., HUANG, X., HE, X., ZHOU, Y., XU, Y., YU, M., HUANG, S., YAN, X., LI, F., PAN, J., WANG, Y., YU, Y. & JIN, J. 2018b. High PARP-1 expression predicts poor survival in acute myeloid leukemia and PARP-1 inhibitor and SAHA-bendamustine hybrid inhibitor combination treatment synergistically enhances antitumor effects. *EBioMedicine*, 38, 47-56.
- LIEBER, M. R., MA, Y., PANNICKE, U. & SCHWARZ, K. 2003. Mechanism and regulation of human non-homologous DNA endjoining. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 4, 712-20.
- LILLIE, R. D. & CONN, H. J. 1991. *HJ Conn's biological stains*, Sigma Chemical Co.
- LIN, C. K., LIU, S. T., WU, Z. S., WANG, Y. C. & HUANG, S. M. 2021. Mechanisms of Cisplatin in Combination with Repurposed Drugs against Human Endometrial Carcinoma Cells. *Life (Basel)*, 11.
- LIU, L., YANG, Y., GUO, Q., REN, B., PENG, Q., ZOU, L., ZHU, Y. & TIAN, Y. 2020. Comparing hypofractionated to conventional fractionated radiotherapy in postmastectomy breast cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Radiat Oncol*, 15, 17.
- LIU, P., KAPLAN, A., YUAN, B., HANNA, J. H., LUPSKI, J. R. & REINER, O. 2014. Passage number is a major contributor to genomic structural variations in mouse iPSCs. *Stem Cells*, 32, 2657-67.
- LOEB, L. A. 1991. Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. Cancer Res, 51, 3075-9.
- LOMNYTSKA, M. I., BECKER, S., GEMOLL, T., LUNDGREN, C., HABERMANN, J., OLSSON, A., BODIN, I., ENGSTRÖM, U., HELLMAN, U., HELLMAN, K., HELLSTRÖM, A. C., ANDERSSON, S., MINTS, M. & AUER, G. 2012. Impact of genomic stability on protein expression in endometrioid endometrial cancer. *British journal of cancer*, 106, 1297-1305.
- LORD, C. J. & ASHWORTH, A. 2012. The DNA damage response and cancer therapy. *Nature*, 481, 287-94.
- LU, Y., LIU, Y., PANG, Y., PACAK, K. & YANG, C. 2018. Double-barreled gun: Combination of PARP inhibitor with conventional chemotherapy. *Pharmacol Ther*, 188, 168-175.
- LUNDIN, C., SCHULTZ, N., ARNAUDEAU, C., MOHINDRA, A., HANSEN, L. T. & HELLEDAY, T. 2003. RAD51 is involved in repair of damage associated with DNA replication in mammalian cells. *J Mol Biol*, 328, 521-35.
- MACMILLAN. 2018. About womb cancer [Online]. [Accessed 23/11/18 2018].
- MADARIAGA, A., GARG, S., TCHRAKIAN, N., DHANI, N. C., JIMENEZ, W., WELCH, S., MACKAY, H., ETHIER, J.-L., GILBERT, L., RODRIGUEZ, A., CHAN, L., BOWERING, V., CLARKE, B., STOCKLEY, T., LI, X., WANG, L., UDAGANI, S., OZA, A. M. & LHEUREUX, S. 2021. Phase II trial assessing niraparib with or without dostarlimab (anti-PD-1) in recurrent endometrial carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 39, 5574-5574.
- MAGGI, R., LISSONI, A., SPINA, F., MELPIGNANO, M., ZOLA, P., FAVALLI, G., COLOMBO, A. & FOSSATI, R. 2006. Adjuvant chemotherapy vs radiotherapy in high-risk endometrial carcinoma: results of a randomised trial. *Br J Cancer*, 95, 266-71.
- MAHANEY, B. L., MEEK, K. & LEES-MILLER, S. P. 2009. Repair of ionizing radiation-induced DNA double-strand breaks by non-homologous end-joining. *Biochem J*, 417, 639-50.
- MAKKER, V., COLOMBO, N., CASADO HERRÁEZ, A., SANTIN, A. D., COLOMBA, E., MILLER, D. S., FUJIWARA, K., PIGNATA, S., BARON-HAY, S., RAY-COQUARD, I., SHAPIRA-FROMMER, R., USHIJIMA, K., SAKATA, J., YONEMORI, K., KIM, Y. M., GUERRA, E. M., SANLI, U. A., MCCORMACK, M. M., SMITH, A. D., KEEFE, S., BIRD, S., DUTTA, L., ORLOWSKI, R. J. & LORUSSO, D. 2022. Lenvatinib plus Pembrolizumab for Advanced Endometrial Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 386, 437-448.

- MANN, M., KUMAR, S., SHARMA, A., CHAUHAN, S. S., BHATLA, N., KUMAR, S., BAKHSHI, S., GUPTA, R. & KUMAR, L. 2019. 67P - PARP inhibition enhances cisplatin sensitivity in cervical cancer by modulating β-catenin signaling. *Annals of Oncology*, 30, v19.
- MARCUS, L., LEMERY, S. J., KEEGAN, P. & PAZDUR, R. 2019. FDA Approval Summary: Pembrolizumab for the Treatment of Microsatellite Instability-High Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res*, 25, 3753-3758.
- MARTENSSON, S. & HAMMARSTEN, O. 2002. DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Structural requirements for kinase activation by DNA ends. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 3020-9.
- MASTERS, J. R. 2000. Human cancer cell lines: fact and fantasy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 1, 233-6.
- MASUTANI, M., NOZAKI, T., NAKAMOTO, K., NAKAGAMA, H., SUZUKI, H., KUSUOKA, O., TSUTSUMI, M. & SUGIMURA, T. 2000. The response of Parp knockout mice against DNA damaging agents. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research*, 462, 159-166.
- MCALPINE, J., LEON-CASTILLO, A. & BOSSE, T. 2018. The rise of a novel classification system for endometrial carcinoma; integration of molecular subclasses. *J Pathol*, 244, 538-549.
- MCALPINE, J. N., CHIU, D. S., NOUT, R. A., CHURCH, D. N., SCHMIDT, P., LAM, S., LEUNG, S., BELLONE, S., WONG, A., BRUCKER, S. Y., LEE, C. H., CLARKE, B. A., HUNTSMAN, D. G., BERNARDINI, M. Q., NGEOW, J., SANTIN, A. D., GOODFELLOW, P., LEVINE, D. A., KÖBEL, M., KOMMOSS, S., BOSSE, T., GILKS, C. B. & TALHOUK, A. 2021. Evaluation of treatment effects in patients with endometrial cancer and POLE mutations: An individual patient data meta-analysis. *Cancer*, 127, 2409-2422.
- MCCABE, N., TURNER, N. C., LORD, C. J., KLUZEK, K., BIALKOWSKA, A., SWIFT, S., GIAVARA, S., O'CONNOR, M. J., TUTT, A. N., ZDZIENICKA, M. Z., SMITH, G. C. & ASHWORTH, A. 2006. Deficiency in the repair of DNA damage by homologous recombination and sensitivity to poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibition. *Cancer Res*, 66, 8109-15.
- MCCLUGGAGE, W. G., SINGH, N. & GILKS, C. B. 2022. Key changes to the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of female genital tumours introduced in the 5th edition (2020). *Histopathology*, 80, 762-778.
- MCCONECHY, M. K., TALHOUK, A., LEUNG, S., CHIU, D., YANG, W., SENZ, J., REHA-KRANTZ, L. J., LEE, C. H., HUNTSMAN, D. G., GILKS, C. B. & MCALPINE, J. N. 2016. Endometrial Carcinomas with POLE Exonuclease Domain Mutations Have a Favorable Prognosis. *Clin Cancer Res*, 22, 2865-73.
- MCMEEKIN, D. S., TRITCHLER, D. L., COHN, D. E., MUTCH, D. G., LANKES, H. A., GELLER, M. A., POWELL, M. A., BACKES, F. J., LANDRUM, L. M., ZAINO, R., BROADDUS, R. D., RAMIREZ, N., GAO, F., ALI, S., DARCY, K. M., PEARL, M. L., DISILVESTRO, P. A., LELE, S. B. & GOODFELLOW, P. J. 2016. Clinicopathologic Significance of Mismatch Repair Defects in Endometrial Cancer: An NRG Oncology/Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. *J Clin Oncol*, 34, 3062-8.

MEDEMA, J. P. 2013. Cancer stem cells: the challenges ahead. Nat Cell Biol, 15, 338-44.

- MÉGNIN-CHANET, F., BOLLET, M. A. & HALL, J. 2010. Targeting poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase activity for cancer therapy. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 67, 3649-3662.
- MEMARZADEH, S., HOLSCHNEIDER, C. H., BRISTOW, R. E., JONES, N. L., FU, Y. S., KARLAN, B. Y., BEREK, J. S. & FARIAS-EISNER, R. 2002. FIGO stage III and IV uterine papillary serous carcinoma: impact of residual disease on survival. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*, 12, 454-8.
- MENG, B., HOANG, L. N., MCINTYRE, J. B., DUGGAN, M. A., NELSON, G. S., LEE, C. H. & KÖBEL, M. 2014. POLE exonuclease domain mutation predicts long progression-free survival in grade 3 endometrioid carcinoma of the endometrium. *Gynecol Oncol*, 134, 15-9.
- MERENTITIS, D., NGUYEN, B. D., SAMARTZIS, E. P., NOSKE, A., BRANDT, S. & DEDES, K. J. 2019. Loss of MDC1 in Endometrial Carcinoma Is Associated With Loss of MRN Complex and MMR Deficiency. *Anticancer Res*, 39, 6547-6553.
- MEYSKENS, F. L., JR., LOESCHER, L., MOON, T. E., TAKASUGI, B. & SALMON, S. E. 1984. Relation of in vitro colony survival to clinical response in a prospective trial of single-agent chemotherapy for metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol*, 2, 1223-8.
- MILLER, D. S., FILIACI, V. L., MANNEL, R. S., COHN, D. E., MATSUMOTO, T., TEWARI, K. S., DISILVESTRO, P., PEARL, M. L., ARGENTA, P. A., POWELL, M. A., ZWEIZIG, S. L., WARSHAL, D. P., HANJANI, P., CARNEY, M. E., HUANG, H., CELLA, D., ZAINO, R. & FLEMING, G. F. 2020a. Carboplatin and Paclitaxel for Advanced Endometrial Cancer: Final Overall Survival and Adverse Event Analysis of a Phase III Trial (NRG Oncology/GOG0209). J Clin Oncol, 38, 3841-3850.
- MILLER, R. E., LEARY, A., SCOTT, C. L., SERRA, V., LORD, C. J., BOWTELL, D., CHANG, D. K., GARSED, D. W., JONKERS, J., LEDERMANN, J. A., NIK-ZAINAL, S., RAY-COQUARD, I., SHAH, S. P., MATIAS-GUIU, X., SWISHER, E. M. & YATES, L. R.
   2020b. ESMO recommendations on predictive biomarker testing for homologous recombination deficiency and PARP inhibitor benefit in ovarian cancer. *Ann Oncol*, 31, 1606-1622.
- MINAMI, D., TAKIGAWA, N., TAKEDA, H., TAKATA, M., OCHI, N., ICHIHARA, E., HISAMOTO, A., HOTTA, K., TANIMOTO, M. & KIURA, K. 2013. Synergistic effect of olaparib with combination of cisplatin on PTEN-deficient lung cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res*, 11, 140-8.
- MIRZA, M. R., MONK, B. J., HERRSTEDT, J., OZA, A. M., MAHNER, S., REDONDO, A., FABBRO, M., LEDERMANN, J. A., LORUSSO, D., VERGOTE, I., BEN-BARUCH, N. E., MARTH, C., MADRY, R., CHRISTENSEN, R. D., BEREK, J. S., DORUM, A., TINKER, A. V., DU BOIS, A., GONZALEZ-MARTIN, A., FOLLANA, P., BENIGNO, B., ROSENBERG, P., GILBERT, L., RIMEL, B. J., BUSCEMA, J., BALSER, J. P., AGARWAL, S., MATULONIS, U. A. & INVESTIGATORS, E.-O. N. 2016. Niraparib Maintenance Therapy in Platinum-Sensitive, Recurrent Ovarian Cancer. N Engl J Med, 375, 2154-2164.
- MISEROCCHI, G., MERCATALI, L., LIVERANI, C., DE VITA, A., SPADAZZI, C., PIERI, F., BONGIOVANNI, A., RECINE, F., AMADORI, D. & IBRAHIM, T. 2017. Management and potentialities of primary cancer cultures in preclinical and translational studies. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, **15**, 229.
- MITTAL, N. 2012. Cell surface concentrations and concentration ranges for testing in vitro autocrine loops and small molecules. *PLoS One*, 7, e51796.

- MIYASAKA, A., ODA, K., IKEDA, Y., WADA-HIRAIKE, O., KASHIYAMA, T., ENOMOTO, A., HOSOYA, N., KOSO, T., FUKUDA, T., INABA, K., SONE, K., UEHARA, Y., KURIKAWA, R., NAGASAKA, K., MATSUMOTO, Y., ARIMOTO, T., NAKAGAWA, S., KURAMOTO, H., MIYAGAWA, K., YANO, T., KAWANA, K., OSUGA, Y. & FUJII, T. 2014. Anti-tumor activity of olaparib, a poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitor, in cultured endometrial carcinoma cells. *BMC Cancer*, 14, 179.
- MOORE, K., COLOMBO, N., SCAMBIA, G., KIM, B.-G., OAKNIN, A., FRIEDLANDER, M., LISYANSKAYA, A., FLOQUET, A., LEARY, A., SONKE, G. S., GOURLEY, C., BANERJEE, S., OZA, A., GONZÁLEZ-MARTÍN, A., AGHAJANIAN, C., BRADLEY, W., MATHEWS, C., LIU, J., LOWE, E. S., BLOOMFIELD, R. & DISILVESTRO, P. 2018. Maintenance Olaparib in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Advanced Ovarian Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine, 379, 2495-2505.
- MORICE, P., LEARY, A., CREUTZBERG, C., ABU-RUSTUM, N. & DARAI, E. 2016. Endometrial cancer. *Lancet*, 387, 1094-1108. MORRISON, J., BALEGA, J., BUCKLEY, L., CLAMP, A., CROSBIE, E., DREW, Y., DURRANT, L., FORREST, J., FOTOPOULOU, C.,
- MORRISON, J., BALEGA, J., BUCKLEY, L., CLAMP, A., CROSBIE, E., DREW, Y., DURRANT, L., FORREST, J., FOTOPOULOU, C.,
   GAJJAR, K., GANESAN, R., GUPTA, J., HUGHES, J., MILES, T., MOSS, E., NANTHAKUMAR, M., NEWTON, C., RYAN, N.,
   WALTHER, A. & TAYLOR, A. 2022. British Gynaecological Cancer Society (BGCS) uterine cancer guidelines:
   Recommendations for practice. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 270, 50-89.
- MORROW, C. P., BUNDY, B. N., HOMESLEY, H. D., CREASMAN, W. T., HORNBACK, N. B., KURMAN, R. & THIGPEN, J. T. 1990. Doxorubicin as an adjuvant following surgery and radiation therapy in patients with high-risk endometrial carcinoma, stage I and occult stage II: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. *Gynecol Oncol*, 36, 166-71.
- MOSLEHI, R., CHU, W., KARLAN, B., FISHMAN, D., RISCH, H., FIELDS, A., SMOTKIN, D., BEN-DAVID, Y., ROSENBLATT, J., RUSSO, D., SCHWARTZ, P., TUNG, N., WARNER, E., ROSEN, B., FRIEDMAN, J., BRUNET, J. S. & NAROD, S. A. 2000. BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation analysis of 208 Ashkenazi Jewish women with ovarian cancer. *Am J Hum Genet*, 66, 1259-72.
- MOYNAHAN, M. E., PIERCE, A. J. & JASIN, M. 2001. BRCA2 is required for homology-directed repair of chromosomal breaks. *Mol Cell*, 7, 263-72.
- MUKHOPADHYAY, A., ELATTAR, A., CERBINSKAITE, A., WILKINSON, S. J., DREW, Y., KYLE, S., LOS, G., HOSTOMSKY, Z., EDMONDSON, R. J. & CURTIN, N. J. 2010. Development of a functional assay for homologous recombination status in primary cultures of epithelial ovarian tumor and correlation with sensitivity to poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res*, 16, 2344-51.
- MUKHOPADHYAY, A., PLUMMER, E. R., ELATTAR, A., SOOHOO, S., UZIR, B., QUINN, J. E., MCCLUGGAGE, W. G., MAXWELL, P., ANEKE, H., CURTIN, N. J. & EDMONDSON, R. J. 2012. Clinicopathological features of homologous recombination-deficient epithelial ovarian cancers: sensitivity to PARP inhibitors, platinum, and survival. *Cancer Res*, 72, 5675-82.
- MURAI, J., HUANG, S. Y., DAS, B. B., RENAUD, A., ZHANG, Y., DOROSHOW, J. H., JI, J., TAKEDA, S. & POMMIER, Y. 2012. Trapping of PARP1 and PARP2 by Clinical PARP Inhibitors. *Cancer Res*, 72, 5588-99.
- MURALI, R., DAVIDSON, B., FADARE, O., CARLSON, J. A., CRUM, C. P., GILKS, C. B., IRVING, J. A., MALPICA, A., MATIAS-GUIU, X., MCCLUGGAGE, W. G., MITTAL, K., OLIVA, E., PARKASH, V., RUTGERS, J. K. L., STAATS, P. N., STEWART, C. J. R., TORNOS, C. & SOSLOW, R. A. 2019. High-grade Endometrial Carcinomas: Morphologic and Immunohistochemical Features, Diagnostic Challenges and Recommendations. *International journal of gynecological pathology : official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Pathologists*, 38 Suppl 1, S40-S63.
- MURCIANO-GOROFF, Y. R., SCHRAM, A. M., ROSEN, E. Y., WON, H., GONG, Y., NORONHA, A. M., JANJIGIAN, Y. Y., STADLER,
   Z. K., CHANG, J. C., YANG, S.-R., MANDELKER, D., OFFIT, K., BERGER, M. F., DONOGHUE, M. T. A., BANDLAMUDI, C.
   & DRILON, A. 2022. Reversion mutations in germline BRCA1/2-mutant tumors reveal a BRCA-mediated phenotype in non-canonical histologies. *Nature Communications*, 13, 7182.
- NAGAO, S., NISHIO, S., MICHIMAE, H., TANABE, H., OKADA, S., OTSUKI, T., TANIOKA, M., FUJIWARA, K., SUZUKI, M. & KIGAWA, J. 2013. Applicability of the concept of "platinum sensitivity" to recurrent endometrial cancer: the SGSG-012/GOTIC-004/Intergroup study. *Gynecol Oncol*, 131, 567-73.
- NAGAR, H., WIETEK, N., GOODALL, R. J., HUGHES, W., SCHMIDT-HANSEN, M. & MORRISON, J. 2021. Sentinel node biopsy for diagnosis of lymph node involvement in endometrial cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 6, Cd013021.
- NAKAYAMA, Y., NAKAGOMI, H., OMORI, M., INOUE, M., TAKAHASHI, K., MARUYAMA, M., TAKANO, A., FURUYA, K., AMEMIYA, K., ISHII, E. & OYAMA, T. 2016. Benefits of using the cell block method to determine the discordance of the HR/HER2 expression in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Breast Cancer*, 23, 633-9.
- NCBI. 2022. PubChem Compound Summary for CID 24958200, Niraparib [Online]. Available: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Niraparib [Accessed Nov. 27 2022].
- NEDERGAARD, L., JACOBSEN, M. & ANDERSEN, J. E. 1995. Interobserver agreement for tumour type, grade of differentiation and stage in endometrial carcinomas. *APMIS*, 103, 511-8.
- NELSON-REES, W. A., DANIELS, D. W. & FLANDERMEYER, R. R. 1981. Cross-contamination of cells in culture. *Science*, 212, 446-52.
- NEVE, R. M., CHIN, K., FRIDLYAND, J., YEH, J., BAEHNER, F. L., FEVR, T., CLARK, L., BAYANI, N., COPPE, J. P., TONG, F., SPEED, T., SPELLMAN, P. T., DEVRIES, S., LAPUK, A., WANG, N. J., KUO, W. L., STILWELL, J. L., PINKEL, D., ALBERTSON, D. G., WALDMAN, F. M., MCCORMICK, F., DICKSON, R. B., JOHNSON, M. D., LIPPMAN, M., ETHIER, S., GAZDAR, A. & GRAY, J. W. 2006. A collection of breast cancer cell lines for the study of functionally distinct cancer subtypes. *Cancer Cell*, 10, 515-27.
- NEWMAN, M., WALSH, M., JEFFREY, R. & HISCOCK, R. 2021. Cell Block Optimization: A Comparative Study of Quality Variables in 4 Different Cell Block Methods. *Acta Cytol*, 65, 417-423.
- NGOI, N. Y. L. & TAN, D. S. P. 2021. The role of homologous recombination deficiency testing in ovarian cancer and its clinical implications: do we need it? *ESMO Open*, 6, 100144.

NICE 2019. Testing strategies for Lynch syndrome in people with endometrial cancer.

- NISHIDA, M., KASAHARA, K., KANEKO, M., IWASAKI, H. & HAYASHI, K. 1985. [Establishment of a new human endometrial adenocarcinoma cell line, Ishikawa cells, containing estrogen and progesterone receptors]. *Nihon Sanka Fujinka Gakkai Zasshi*, 37, 1103-11.
- NOUT, R. A., SMIT, V. T., PUTTER, H., JURGENLIEMK-SCHULZ, I. M., JOBSEN, J. J., LUTGENS, L. C., VAN DER STEEN-BANASIK, E. M., MENS, J. W., SLOT, A., KROESE, M. C., VAN BUNNINGEN, B. N., ANSINK, A. C., VAN PUTTEN, W. L., CREUTZBERG, C. L. & GROUP, P. S. 2010. Vaginal brachytherapy versus pelvic external beam radiotherapy for patients with endometrial cancer of high-intermediate risk (PORTEC-2): an open-label, non-inferiority, randomised trial. *Lancet*, 375, 816-23.
- O'CONNOR, M. J. 2015. Targeting the DNA Damage Response in Cancer. *Mol Cell*, 60, 547-60.
- O'MALLEY, D. M., BARIANI, G. M., CASSIER, P. A., MARABELLE, A., HANSEN, A. R., DE JESUS ACOSTA, A., MILLER, W. H., JR., SAFRA, T., ITALIANO, A., MILESHKIN, L., XU, L., JIN, F., NORWOOD, K. & MAIO, M. 2022. Pembrolizumab in Patients With Microsatellite Instability-High Advanced Endometrial Cancer: Results From the KEYNOTE-158 Study. J Clin Oncol, 40, 752-761.
- OAKNIN, A., TINKER, A. V., GILBERT, L., SAMOUËLIAN, V., MATHEWS, C., BROWN, J., BARRETINA-GINESTA, M. P., MORENO, V., GRAVINA, A., ABDEDDAIM, C., BANERJEE, S., GUO, W., DANAEE, H., IM, E. & SABATIER, R. 2020. Clinical Activity and Safety of the Anti-Programmed Death 1 Monoclonal Antibody Dostarlimab for Patients With Recurrent or Advanced Mismatch Repair-Deficient Endometrial Cancer: A Nonrandomized Phase 1 Clinical Trial. *JAMA Oncol*, 6, 1766-1772.
- OSSOVSKAYA, V., KOO, I. C., KALDJIAN, E. P., ALVARES, C. & SHERMAN, B. M. 2010. Upregulation of Poly (ADP-Ribose) Polymerase-1 (PARP1) in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer and Other Primary Human Tumor Types. *Genes Cancer*, 1, 812-21.
- OTT, P. A., BANG, Y. J., BERTON-RIGAUD, D., ELEZ, E., PISHVAIAN, M. J., RUGO, H. S., PUZANOV, I., MEHNERT, J. M., AUNG, K. L., LOPEZ, J., CARRIGAN, M., SARAF, S., CHEN, M. & SORIA, J. C. 2017. Safety and Antitumor Activity of Pembrolizumab in Advanced Programmed Death Ligand 1-Positive Endometrial Cancer: Results From the KEYNOTE-028 Study. J Clin Oncol, 35, 2535-2541.
- OZA, A. M., MATULONIS, U. A., MALANDER, S., HUDGENS, S., SEHOULI, J., DEL CAMPO, J. M., BERTON-RIGAUD, D., BANERJEE, S., SCAMBIA, G., BEREK, J. S., LUND, B., TINKER, A. V., HILPERT, F., VAZQUEZ, I. P., D'HONDT, V., BENIGNO, B., PROVENCHER, D., BUSCEMA, J., AGARWAL, S. & MIRZA, M. R. 2018. Quality of life in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer treated with niraparib versus placebo (ENGOT-OV16/NOVA): results from a doubleblind, phase 3, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 19, 1117-1125.
- PACHECO-BARCIA, V., MUÑOZ, A., CASTRO, E., BALLESTEROS, A. I., MARQUINA, G., GONZÁLEZ-DÍAZ, I., COLOMER, R. & ROMERO-LAORDEN, N. 2022. The Homologous Recombination Deficiency Scar in Advanced Cancer: Agnostic Targeting of Damaged DNA Repair. *Cancers (Basel)*, 14.
- PAGKALI, A., MAMAIS, I., MICHALINOS, A. & AGOURIDIS, A. P. 2022. Safety Profile of Niraparib as Maintenance Therapy for Ovarian Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Curr Oncol*, 29, 321-336.
- PALLES, C., CAZIER, J. B., HOWARTH, K. M., DOMINGO, E., JONES, A. M., BRODERICK, P., KEMP, Z., SPAIN, S. L., GUARINO, E., SALGUERO, I., SHERBORNE, A., CHUBB, D., CARVAJAL-CARMONA, L. G., MA, Y., KAUR, K., DOBBINS, S., BARCLAY, E., GORMAN, M., MARTIN, L., KOVAC, M. B., HUMPHRAY, S., CONSORTIUM, C., CONSORTIUM, W. G. S., LUCASSEN, A., HOLMES, C. C., BENTLEY, D., DONNELLY, P., TAYLOR, J., PETRIDIS, C., ROYLANCE, R., SAWYER, E. J., KERR, D. J., CLARK, S., GRIMES, J., KEARSEY, S. E., THOMAS, H. J., MCVEAN, G., HOULSTON, R. S. & TOMLINSON, I.
  2013. Germline mutations affecting the proofreading domains of POLE and POLD1 predispose to colorectal adenomas and carcinomas. *Nat Genet*, 45, 136-44.
- PANDITA 2019. The Effects on Ishikawa Endometrial Cancer Cell Lines upon Treatment with Hormonal Agents and Novel Drug Target. *Proceedings of IMPRS*, 2.
- PARDOLL, D. M. 2012. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer, 12, 252-64.
- PATEL, A. G., SARKARIA, J. N. & KAUFMANN, S. H. 2011. Nonhomologous end joining drives poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitor lethality in homologous recombination-deficient cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 3406-11.
- PATEL, S. P. & KURZROCK, R. 2015. PD-L1 Expression as a Predictive Biomarker in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 14, 847-56.
- PATTERSON, M. J., SUTTON, R. E., FORREST, I., SHARROCK, R., LANE, M., KAUFMANN, A., O'DONNELL, R., EDMONDSON, R. J., WILSON, B. T. & CURTIN, N. J. 2014. Assessing the function of homologous recombination DNA repair in malignant pleural effusion (MPE) samples. *Br J Cancer*, 111, 94-100.
- PAULL, T. T. & LEE, J. H. 2005. The Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1 complex and its role as a DNA double-strand break sensor for ATM. *Cell Cycle*, 4, 737-40.
- PERSSON, J., SALEHI, S., BOLLINO, M., LÖNNERFORS, C., FALCONER, H. & GEPPERT, B. 2019. Pelvic Sentinel lymph node detection in High-Risk Endometrial Cancer (SHREC-trial)-the final step towards a paradigm shift in surgical staging. *Eur J Cancer*, 116, 77-85.
- PEZZI, H. M., NILES, D. J., SCHEHR, J. L., BEEBE, D. J. & LANG, J. M. 2018. Integration of Magnetic Bead-Based Cell Selection into Complex Isolations. ACS Omega, 3, 3908-3917.
- PHILIP, C. A., LASKOV, I., BEAUCHAMP, M. C., MARQUES, M., AMIN, O., BITHARAS, J., KESSOUS, R., KOGAN, L., BALOCH, T., GOTLIEB, W. H. & YASMEEN, A. 2017. Inhibition of PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway sensitizes endometrial cancer cell lines to PARP inhibitors. *BMC Cancer*, 17, 638.
- PIERETTI, M., KHATTAR, N. H. & SMITH, S. A. 2001. Common polymorphisms and somatic mutations in human base excision repair genes in ovarian and endometrial cancers. *Mutat Res*, 432, 53-9.

- PIULATS, J. M., GUERRA, E., GIL-MARTÍN, M., ROMAN-CANAL, B., GATIUS, S., SANZ-PAMPLONA, R., VELASCO, A., VIDAL, A. & MATIAS-GUIU, X. 2017. Molecular approaches for classifying endometrial carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol*, 145, 200-207.
- PLO, I., LIAO, Z. Y., BARCELÓ, J. M., KOHLHAGEN, G., CALDECOTT, K. W., WEINFELD, M. & POMMIER, Y. 2003. Association of XRCC1 and tyrosyl DNA phosphodiesterase (Tdp1) for the repair of topoisomerase I-mediated DNA lesions. DNA Repair (Amst), 2, 1087-100.
- PLUMB, J. A., MILROY, R. & KAYE, S. B. 1989. Effects of the pH dependence of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide-formazan absorption on chemosensitivity determined by a novel tetrazolium-based assay. *Cancer Res*, 49, 4435-40.
- POMMIER, Y., O'CONNOR, M. J. & DE BONO, J. 2016. Laying a trap to kill cancer cells: PARP inhibitors and their mechanisms of action. *Sci Transl Med*, 8, 362ps17.
- POWELL, C., MIKROPOULOS, C., KAYE, S. B., NUTTING, C. M., BHIDE, S. A., NEWBOLD, K. & HARRINGTON, K. J. 2010. Preclinical and clinical evaluation of PARP inhibitors as tumour-specific radiosensitisers. *Cancer Treat Rev*, 36, 566-75.
- PRASAD, C. B., PRASAD, S. B., YADAV, S. S., PANDEY, L. K., SINGH, S., PRADHAN, S. & NARAYAN, G. 2017. Olaparib modulates DNA repair efficiency, sensitizes cervical cancer cells to cisplatin and exhibits anti-metastatic property. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 12876.
- PUCK, T. T. & MARCUS, P. I. 1956. Action of x-rays on mammalian cells. J Exp Med, 103, 653-66.
- QIN, C., JI, Z., ZHAI, E., XU, K., ZHANG, Y., LI, Q., JING, H., WANG, X. & SONG, X. 2022. PARP inhibitor olaparib enhances the efficacy of radiotherapy on XRCC2-deficient colorectal cancer cells. *Cell Death & Disease*, **13**, 505.
- QING, T., WANG, X., JUN, T., DING, L., PUSZTAI, L. & HUANG, K. L. 2021. Genomic Determinants of Homologous Recombination Deficiency across Human Cancers. *Cancers (Basel)*, 13.
- QIU, S. & HUANG, J. 2021. MRN complex is an essential effector of DNA damage repair. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B, 22, 31-37.
- QU, W., ZHAO, Y., WANG, X., QI, Y., ZHOU, C., HUA, Y., HOU, J. & JIANG, S. W. 2019. Culture characters, genetic background, estrogen/progesterone receptor expression, and tumorigenic activities of frequently used sixteen endometrial cancer cell lines. *Clin Chim Acta*, 489, 225-232.
- RAGLAN, O., KALLIALA, I., MARKOZANNES, G., CIVIDINI, S., GUNTER, M. J., NAUTIYAL, J., GABRA, H., PARASKEVAIDIS, E., MARTIN-HIRSCH, P., TSILIDIS, K. K. & KYRGIOU, M. 2019. Risk factors for endometrial cancer: An umbrella review of the literature. *Int J Cancer*, 145, 1719-1730.
- RANDALL, M. E., FILIACI, V. L., MUSS, H., SPIRTOS, N. M., MANNEL, R. S., FOWLER, J., THIGPEN, J. T., BENDA, J. A. & GYNECOLOGIC ONCOLOGY GROUP, S. 2006. Randomized phase III trial of whole-abdominal irradiation versus doxorubicin and cisplatin chemotherapy in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol, 24, 36-44.
- RAY CHAUDHURI, A. & NUSSENZWEIG, A. 2017. The multifaceted roles of PARP1 in DNA repair and chromatin remodelling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 18, 610-621.
- RAY-COQUARD, I., PAUTIER, P., PIGNATA, S., PÉROL, D., GONZÁLEZ-MARTÍN, A., BERGER, R., FUJIWARA, K., VERGOTE, I.,
  COLOMBO, N., MÄENPÄÄ, J., SELLE, F., SEHOULI, J., LORUSSO, D., GUERRA ALÍA, E. M., REINTHALLER, A., NAGAO,
  S., LEFEUVRE-PLESSE, C., CANZLER, U., SCAMBIA, G., LORTHOLARY, A., MARMÉ, F., COMBE, P., DE GREGORIO, N.,
  RODRIGUES, M., BUDERATH, P., DUBOT, C., BURGES, A., YOU, B., PUJADE-LAURAINE, E. & HARTER, P. 2019.
  Olaparib plus Bevacizumab as First-Line Maintenance in Ovarian Cancer. N Engl J Med, 381, 2416-2428.
- REIJNEN, C., KÜSTERS-VANDEVELDE, H. V. N., PRINSEN, C. F., MASSUGER, L., SNIJDERS, M., KOMMOSS, S., BRUCKER, S. Y., KWON, J. S., MCALPINE, J. N. & PIJNENBORG, J. M. A. 2019. Mismatch repair deficiency as a predictive marker for response to adjuvant radiotherapy in endometrial cancer. *Gynecol Oncol*, 154, 124-130.
- RELES, A., WEN, W. H., SCHMIDER, A., GEE, C., RUNNEBAUM, I. B., KILIAN, U., JONES, L. A., EL-NAGGAR, A., MINGUILLON, C., SCHÖNBORN, I., REICH, O., KREIENBERG, R., LICHTENEGGER, W. & PRESS, M. F. 2001. Correlation of p53 mutations with resistance to platinum-based chemotherapy and shortened survival in ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 7, 2984-97.
- REMPEL, E., KLUCK, K., BECK, S., OURAILIDIS, I., KAZDAL, D., NEUMANN, O., VOLCKMAR, A. L., KIRCHNER, M., GOLDSCHMID, H., PFARR, N., WEICHERT, W., HÜBSCHMANN, D., FRÖHLING, S., SUTTER, C., SCHAAF, C. P., SCHIRMACHER, P., ENDRIS, V., STENZINGER, A. & BUDCZIES, J. 2022. Pan-cancer analysis of genomic scar patterns caused by homologous repair deficiency (HRD). *npj Precision Oncology*, 6, 36.
- RESNICK, K. E., FRANKEL, W. L., MORRISON, C. D., FOWLER, J. M., COPELAND, L. J., STEPHENS, J., KIM, K. H. & COHN, D. E. 2010. Mismatch repair status and outcomes after adjuvant therapy in patients with surgically staged endometrial cancer. *Gynecol Oncol*, 117, 234-8.
- RIMEL, B. J. 2021. A randomized, phase ii study comparing single-agent olaparib, single agent cediranib, and the combination of cediranib/olaparib in women with recurrent, persistent or metastatic endometrial cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 162, S43-S44.
- RING, K. L., BRUEGL, A. S., ALLEN, B. A., ELKIN, E. P., SINGH, N., HARTMAN, A. R., DANIELS, M. S. & BROADDUS, R. R. 2016. Germline multi-gene hereditary cancer panel testing in an unselected endometrial cancer cohort. *Mod Pathol*, 29, 1381-1389.
- RL, O. D., MCCORMICK, A., MUKHOPADHYAY, A., WOODHOUSE, L. C., MOAT, M., GRUNDY, A., DIXON, M., KAUFMAN, A., SOOHOO, S., ELATTAR, A., CURTIN, N. J. & EDMONDSON, R. J. 2014. The use of ovarian cancer cells from patients undergoing surgery to generate primary cultures capable of undergoing functional analysis. *PLoS One*, 9, e90604.
- ROCHA, C. R. R., SILVA, M. M., QUINET, A., CABRAL-NETO, J. B. & MENCK, C. F. M. 2018. DNA repair pathways and cisplatin resistance: an intimate relationship. *Clinics (Sao Paulo, Brazil)*, 73, e478s-e478s.
- ROCHE, P. A. & CRESSWELL, P. 2016. Antigen Processing and Presentation Mechanisms in Myeloid Cells. Microbiol Spectr, 4.

- RODRÍGUEZ-RUIZ, M. E., VANPOUILLE-BOX, C., MELERO, I., FORMENTI, S. C. & DEMARIA, S. 2018. Immunological Mechanisms Responsible for Radiation-Induced Abscopal Effect. *Trends Immunol*, 39, 644-655.
- ROGAKOU, E. P., PILCH, D. R., ORR, A. H., IVANOVA, V. S. & BONNER, W. M. 1998. DNA double-stranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 5858-68.
- ROSS, D. W. 1983. Unbalanced cell growth and increased protein synthesis induced by chemotherapeutic agents. *Blood Cells*, 9, 57-68.
- ROSSI, E. C., KOWALSKI, L. D., SCALICI, J., CANTRELL, L., SCHULER, K., HANNA, R. K., METHOD, M., ADE, M., IVANOVA, A. & BOGGESS, J. F. 2017. A comparison of sentinel lymph node biopsy to lymphadenectomy for endometrial cancer staging (FIRES trial): a multicentre, prospective, cohort study. *Lancet Oncol*, **18**, 384-392.
- ROULEAU, M., PATEL, A., HENDZEL, M. J., KAUFMANN, S. H. & POIRIER, G. G. 2010. PARP inhibition: PARP1 and beyond. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 10, 293-301.
- RYAN, N. A. J., GLAIRE, M. A., BLAKE, D., CABRERA-DANDY, M., EVANS, D. G. & CROSBIE, E. J. 2019. The proportion of endometrial cancers associated with Lynch syndrome: a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. *Genet Med*, 21, 2167-2180.
- SAEED, M. E. M., MAHMOUD, N., SUGIMOTO, Y., EFFERTH, T. & ABDEL-AZIZ, H. 2018. Molecular Determinants of Sensitivity or Resistance of Cancer Cells Toward Sanguinarine. *Front Pharmacol*, 9, 136.
- SAHA, S., RUNDLE, S., KOTSOPOULOS, I. C., BEGBIE, J., HOWARTH, R., PAPPWORTH, I. Y., MUKHOPADHYAY, A., KUCUKMETIN, A., MARCHBANK, K. J. & CURTIN, N. 2022. Determining the Potential of DNA Damage Response (DDR) Inhibitors in Cervical Cancer Therapy. *Cancers (Basel)*, 14.
- SALEH-GOHARI, N., BRYANT, H. E., SCHULTZ, N., PARKER, K. M., CASSEL, T. N. & HELLEDAY, T. 2005. Spontaneous homologous recombination is induced by collapsed replication forks that are caused by endogenous DNA single-strand breaks. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 7158-69.
- SAUTER, J. L., GROGG, K. L., VRANA, J. A., LAW, M. E., HALVORSON, J. L. & HENRY, M. R. 2016. Young investigator challenge: Validation and optimization of immunohistochemistry protocols for use on cellient cell block specimens. *Cancer Cytopathol*, 124, 89-100.
- SAYGILI, U., GORKAY, I. B., KOYUNCUOGLU, M., GOL, M., USLU, T. & ERTEN, O. 2004. The relationship between expression of Ku70 and survival in irradiated patients with endometrial carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol*, 95, 518-22.
- SCHOLTEN, A. N., SMIT, V. T., BEERMAN, H., VAN PUTTEN, W. L. & CREUTZBERG, C. L. 2004. Prognostic significance and interobserver variability of histologic grading systems for endometrial carcinoma. *Cancer*, 100, 764-72.
- SEAGLE, B. L., ALEXANDER, A. L., LANTSMAN, T. & SHAHABI, S. 2018. Prognosis and treatment of positive peritoneal cytology in early endometrial cancer: matched cohort analyses from the National Cancer Database. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 218, 329.e1-329.e15.
- SENRA, J. M., TELFER, B. A., CHERRY, K. E., MCCRUDDEN, C. M., HIRST, D. G., O'CONNOR, M. J., WEDGE, S. R. & STRATFORD, I. J. 2011. Inhibition of PARP-1 by olaparib (AZD2281) increases the radiosensitivity of a lung tumor xenograft. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 10, 1949-58.
- SETIAWAN, V. W., YANG, H. P., PIKE, M. C., MCCANN, S. E., YU, H., XIANG, Y. B., WOLK, A., WENTZENSEN, N., WEISS, N. S., WEBB, P. M., VAN DEN BRANDT, P. A., VAN DE VIJVER, K., THOMPSON, P. J., AUSTRALIAN NATIONAL
  ENDOMETRIAL CANCER STUDY, G., STROM, B. L., SPURDLE, A. B., SOSLOW, R. A., SHU, X. O., SCHAIRER, C., SACERDOTE, C., ROHAN, T. E., ROBIEN, K., RISCH, H. A., RICCERI, F., REBBECK, T. R., RASTOGI, R., PRESCOTT, J., POLIDORO, S., PARK, Y., OLSON, S. H., MOYSICH, K. B., MILLER, A. B., MCCULLOUGH, M. L., MATSUNO, R. K., MAGLIOCCO, A. M., LURIE, G., LU, L., LISSOWSKA, J., LIANG, X., LACEY, J. V., JR., KOLONEL, L. N., HENDERSON, B.
  E., HANKINSON, S. E., HAKANSSON, N., GOODMAN, M. T., GAUDET, M. M., GARCIA-CLOSAS, M., FRIEDENREICH, C. M., FREUDENHEIM, J. L., DOHERTY, J., DE VIVO, I., COURNEYA, K. S., COOK, L. S., CHEN, C., CERHAN, J. R., CAI, H., BRINTON, L. A., BERNSTEIN, L., ANDERSON, K. E., ANTON-CULVER, H., SCHOUTEN, L. J. & HORN-ROSS, P. L. 2013. Type I and II endometrial cancers: have they different risk factors? *J Clin Oncol*, 31, 2607-18.
- SHAI, A., SEGEV, Y. & NAROD, S. A. 2014. Genetics of endometrial cancer. Fam Cancer, 13, 499-505.
- SHAO, C., CHANG, M. S., LAM, F. C., MARLEY, A. R., TANG, H., SONG, Y., MILLER, C., BROWN, M., WAN, I., HAN, J. & ADEBOYEJE, G. 2022. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis on the Prognostic Value of BRCA Mutations, Homologous Recombination Gene Mutations, and Homologous Recombination Deficiencies in Cancer. J Oncol, 2022, 5830475.
- SHEN, W. H., BALAJEE, A. S., WANG, J., WU, H., ENG, C., PANDOLFI, P. P. & YIN, Y. 2007. Essential role for nuclear PTEN in maintaining chromosomal integrity. *Cell*, 128, 157-70.
- SHERMAN, M. E. 2000. Theories of endometrial carcinogenesis: a multidisciplinary approach. *Mod Pathol*, 13, 295-308. SHIDHAM, V. B. & LAYFIELD, L. J. 2021. Cell-blocks and immunohistochemistry. *Cytojournal*, 18, 2.
- SHU, C. A., PIKE, M. C., JOTWANI, A. R., FRIEBEL, T. M., SOSLOW, R. A., LEVINE, D. A., NATHANSON, K. L., KONNER, J. A., ARNOLD, A. G., BOGOMOLNIY, F., DAO, F., OLVERA, N., BANCROFT, E. K., GOLDFRANK, D. J., STADLER, Z. K., ROBSON, M. E., BROWN, C. L., LEITAO, M. M., JR., ABU-RUSTUM, N. R., AGHAJANIAN, C. A., BLUM, J. L., NEUHAUSEN, S. L., GARBER, J. E., DALY, M. B., ISAACS, C., EELES, R. A., GANZ, P. A., BARAKAT, R. R., OFFIT, K., DOMCHEK, S. M., REBBECK, T. R. & KAUFF, N. D. 2016. Uterine Cancer After Risk-Reducing Salpingo-oophorectomy Without Hysterectomy in Women With BRCA Mutations. JAMA Oncol, 2, 1434-1440.
- SIEDEL, J. H., RING, K. L., HU, W., DOOD, R. L., WANG, Y., BAGGERLY, K., DARCY, K. M., CONRADS, T. P., GALLAGHER, S., TSHIABA, P., NEFF, C., TIMMS, K. M., MANGALA, S., WESTIN, S. N., BROADDUS, R., LOPEZ-BERESTEIN, G., LU, K. H., COLEMAN, R. L., MAXWELL, G. L. & SOOD, A. K. 2021. Clinical significance of homologous recombination deficiency score testing in endometrial Cancer. *Gynecol Oncol*, 160, 777-785.

- SMITH, H. L., WILLMORE, E., MUKHOPADHYAY, A., DREW, Y. & CURTIN, N. J. 2022. Differences in Durability of PARP Inhibition by Clinically Approved PARP Inhibitors: Implications for Combinations and Scheduling. *Cancers (Basel)*, 14.
- SOZZI, G., FANFANI, F., BERRETTA, R., CAPOZZI, V. A., UCCELLA, S., BUONO, N., GIALLOMBARDO, V., DI DONNA, M. C., MONTEROSSI, G., RESTAINO, S., CAPASSO, I., DINOI, G., SCAMBIA, G. & CHIANTERA, V. 2020. Laparoscopic sentinel node mapping with intracervical indocyanine green injection for endometrial cancer: the SENTIFAIL study - a multicentric analysis of predictors of failed mapping. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*, 30, 1713-1718.
- STÅLBERG, K., BJURBERG, M., BORGFELDT, C., CARLSON, J., DAHM-KÄHLER, P., FLÖTER-RÅDESTAD, A., HELLMAN, K., HJERPE, E., HOLMBERG, E., KJØLHEDE, P., MARCICKIEWICZ, J., ROSENBERG, P., THOLANDER, B., ÅVALL-LUNDQVIST, E. & HÖGBERG, T. 2019. Lymphovascular space invasion as a predictive factor for lymph node metastases and survival in endometrioid endometrial cancer – a Swedish Gynecologic Cancer Group (SweGCG) study. Acta Oncologica, 58, 1628-1633.
- STELLOO, E., NOUT, R. A., OSSE, E. M., JÜRGENLIEMK-SCHULZ, I. J., JOBSEN, J. J., LUTGENS, L. C., VAN DER STEEN-BANASIK, E. M., NIJMAN, H. W., PUTTER, H., BOSSE, T., CREUTZBERG, C. L. & SMIT, V. T. 2016. Improved Risk Assessment by Integrating Molecular and Clinicopathological Factors in Early-stage Endometrial Cancer-Combined Analysis of the PORTEC Cohorts. *Clin Cancer Res*, 22, 4215-24.
- STEWART, M. D., MERINO VEGA, D., AREND, R. C., BADEN, J. F., BARBASH, O., BEAUBIER, N., COLLINS, G., FRENCH, T., GHAHRAMANI, N., HINSON, P., JELINIC, P., MARTON, M. J., MCGREGOR, K., PARSONS, J., RAMAMURTHY, L., SAUSEN, M., SOKOL, E. S., STENZINGER, A., STIRES, H., TIMMS, K. M., TURCO, D., WANG, I., WILLIAMS, J. A., WONG-HO, E. & ALLEN, J. 2022. Homologous Recombination Deficiency: Concepts, Definitions, and Assays. *The Oncologist*, 27, 167-174.
- STRATHDEE, G., MACKEAN, M. J., ILLAND, M. & BROWN, R. 1999. A role for methylation of the hMLH1 promoter in loss of hMLH1 expression and drug resistance in ovarian cancer. *Oncogene*, 18, 2335-41.
- SUAREZ-MARTINEZ, E., SUAZO-SANCHEZ, I., CELIS-ROMERO, M. & CARNERO, A. 2022. 3D and organoid culture in research: physiology, hereditary genetic diseases and cancer. *Cell & Bioscience*, 12, 39.
- SUN, K., MIKULE, K., WANG, Z., POON, G., VAIDYANATHAN, A., SMITH, G., ZHANG, Z. Y., HANKE, J., RAMASWAMY, S. & WANG, J. 2018. A comparative pharmacokinetic study of PARP inhibitors demonstrates favorable properties for niraparib efficacy in preclinical tumor models. *Oncotarget*, 9, 37080-37096.
- SUNG, P. 1994. Catalysis of ATP-dependent homologous DNA pairing and strand exchange by yeast RAD51 protein. *Science*, 265, 1241-3.
- SUNG, P. & KLEIN, H. 2006. Mechanism of homologous recombination: mediators and helicases take on regulatory functions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 7, 739-50.
- SUSUMU, N., SAGAE, S., UDAGAWA, Y., NIWA, K., KURAMOTO, H., SATOH, S. & KUDO, R. 2008. Randomized phase III trial of pelvic radiotherapy versus cisplatin-based combined chemotherapy in patients with intermediate- and high-risk endometrial cancer: a Japanese Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecol Oncol*, 108, 226-33.
- TALHOUK, A., MCCONECHY, M. K., LEUNG, S., LI-CHANG, H. H., KWON, J. S., MELNYK, N., YANG, W., SENZ, J., BOYD, N., KARNEZIS, A. N., HUNTSMAN, D. G., GILKS, C. B. & MCALPINE, J. N. 2015. A clinically applicable molecular-based classification for endometrial cancers. *Br J Cancer*, 113, 299-310.
- TALHOUK, A., MCCONECHY, M. K., LEUNG, S., YANG, W., LUM, A., SENZ, J., BOYD, N., PIKE, J., ANGLESIO, M., KWON, J. S., KARNEZIS, A. N., HUNTSMAN, D. G., GILKS, C. B. & MCALPINE, J. N. 2017. Confirmation of ProMisE: A simple, genomics-based clinical classifier for endometrial cancer. *Cancer*, 123, 802-813.
- TAN, M. H., MESTER, J. L., NGEOW, J., RYBICKI, L. A., ORLOFF, M. S. & ENG, C. 2012. Lifetime cancer risks in individuals with germline PTEN mutations. *Clin Cancer Res,* 18, 400-7.
- THACKER, J. 2005. The RAD51 gene family, genetic instability and cancer. *Cancer Lett*, 219, 125-35.
- THÉRIAULT, B. L., PORTELANCE, L., MES-MASSON, A. M. & NACHTIGAL, M. W. 2013. Establishment of primary cultures from ovarian tumor tissue and ascites fluid. *Methods Mol Biol*, 1049, 323-36.
- THIGPEN, J. T., BLESSING, J. A., DISAIA, P. J., YORDAN, E., CARSON, L. F. & EVERS, C. 1994. A randomized comparison of doxorubicin alone versus doxorubicin plus cyclophosphamide in the management of advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma: A Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *J Clin Oncol*, **12**, 1408-14.
- THIGPEN, J. T., BRADY, M. F., HOMESLEY, H. D., MALFETANO, J., DUBESHTER, B., BURGER, R. A. & LIAO, S. 2004. Phase III trial of doxorubicin with or without cisplatin in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a gynecologic oncology group study. *J Clin Oncol*, 22, 3902-8.
- THOMPSON, D., EASTON, D. F. & BREAST CANCER LINKAGE, C. 2002. Cancer Incidence in BRCA1 mutation carriers. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 94, 1358-65.
- TODO, Y., KATO, H., KANEUCHI, M., WATARI, H., TAKEDA, M. & SAKURAGI, N. 2010. Survival effect of para-aortic lymphadenectomy in endometrial cancer (SEPAL study): a retrospective cohort analysis. *Lancet*, 375, 1165-72.
- TOMKINSON, A. E., VIJAYAKUMAR, S., PASCAL, J. M. & ELLENBERGER, T. 2006. DNA ligases: structure, reaction mechanism, and function. *Chem Rev*, 106, 687-99.
- TOPALIAN, S. L., HODI, F. S., BRAHMER, J. R., GETTINGER, S. N., SMITH, D. C., MCDERMOTT, D. F., POWDERLY, J. D., CARVAJAL, R. D., SOSMAN, J. A., ATKINS, M. B., LEMING, P. D., SPIGEL, D. R., ANTONIA, S. J., HORN, L., DRAKE, C.
  G., PARDOLL, D. M., CHEN, L., SHARFMAN, W. H., ANDERS, R. A., TAUBE, J. M., MCMILLER, T. L., XU, H., KORMAN, A. J., JURE-KUNKEL, M., AGRAWAL, S., MCDONALD, D., KOLLIA, G. D., GUPTA, A., WIGGINTON, J. M. & SZNOL, M.
  2012. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med, 366, 2443-54.

- TRIMBLE, C. L., DIENER-WEST, M., WILKINSON, E. J., ZAINO, R. J., KURMAN, R. J. & SHAH, K. V. 1999. Reproducibility of the histopathological classification of vulvar squamous carcinoma and intraepithelial neoplasia. *J Low Genit Tract Dis*, 3, 98-103.
- TULI, R., SURMAK, A. J., REYES, J., ARMOUR, M., HACKER-PRIETZ, A., WONG, J., DEWEESE, T. L. & HERMAN, J. M. 2014. Radiosensitization of Pancreatic Cancer Cells In Vitro and In Vivo through Poly (ADP-ribose) Polymerase Inhibition with ABT-888. *Transl Oncol*, 7, 439-45.
- VAISMAN, A., VARCHENKO, M., UMAR, A., KUNKEL, T. A., RISINGER, J. I., BARRETT, J. C., HAMILTON, T. C. & CHANEY, S. G. 1998. The role of hMLH1, hMSH3, and hMSH6 defects in cisplatin and oxaliplatin resistance: correlation with replicative bypass of platinum-DNA adducts. *Cancer Res*, 58, 3579-85.
- VAN DEN HEERIK, A. S. V. M., HOREWEG, N., DE BOER, S. M., BOSSE, T. & CREUTZBERG, C. L. 2021. Adjuvant therapy for endometrial cancer in the era of molecular classification: radiotherapy, chemoradiation and novel targets for therapy. *International Journal of Gynecologic Cancer*, 31, 594-604.
- VAN WIJK, F. H., AAPRO, M. S., BOLIS, G., CHEVALLIER, B., VAN DER BURG, M. E., POVEDA, A., DE OLIVEIRA, C. F., TUMOLO, S., SCOTTO DI PALUMBO, V., PICCART, M., FRANCHI, M., ZANABONI, F., LACAVE, A. J., FONTANELLI, R., FAVALLI, G., ZOLA, P., GUASTALLA, J. P., ROSSO, R., MARTH, C., NOOIJ, M., PRESTI, M., SCARABELLI, C., SPLINTER, T. A., PLOCH, E., BEEX, L. V., TEN BOKKEL HUININK, W., FORNI, M., MELPIGNANO, M., BLAKE, P., KERBRAT, P., MENDIOLA, C., CERVANTES, A., GOUPIL, A., HARPER, P. G., MADRONAL, C., NAMER, M., SCARFONE, G., STOOT, J. E., TEODOROVIC, I., COENS, C., VERGOTE, I. & VERMORKEN, J. B. 2003. Doxorubicin versus doxorubicin and cisplatin in endometrial carcinoma: definitive results of a randomised study (55872) by the EORTC Gynaecological Cancer Group. Ann Oncol, 14, 441-8.
- VERMORKEN, J. B., TEN BOKKEL HUININK, W. W., EISENHAUER, E. A., FAVALLI, G., BELPOMME, D., CONTE, P. F. & KAYE, S. B. 1993. Carboplatin versus cisplatin. *Annals of Oncology*, *4*, S41-S48.
- VICHAI, V. & KIRTIKARA, K. 2006. Sulforhodamine B colorimetric assay for cytotoxicity screening. *Nat Protoc*, 1, 1112-6.
- VOGEL, U. 2014. Overview on Techniques to Construct Tissue Arrays with Special Emphasis on Tissue Microarrays. *Microarrays (Basel)*, 3, 103-36.
- WANG, H., WANG, H., POWELL, S. N., ILIAKIS, G. & WANG, Y. 2004. ATR affecting cell radiosensitivity is dependent on homologous recombination repair but independent of nonhomologous end joining. *Cancer Res*, 64, 7139-43.
- WANG, J., XING, W., LIN, Y., USKENBAYEVA, N., YAN, H., XU, Y. & FANG, L. 2022. Blocking PARP activity with the inhibitor veliparib enhances radiotherapy sensitivity in endometrial carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis*, 36, e24435.
- WANG, L., CAO, J., WANG, X., LIN, E., WANG, Z., LI, Y., LI, Y., CHEN, M., WANG, X., JIANG, B., ZHANG, R., SAHOO, N., ZHANG, X., ZHU, X. R., MYERS, J. N. & FRANK, S. J. 2020. Proton and photon radiosensitization effects of niraparib, a PARP-1/-2 inhibitor, on human head and neck cancer cells. *Head & Neck*, 42, 2244-2256.
- WANG, Y. 2021. Advances in Hypofractionated Irradiation-Induced Immunosuppression of Tumor Microenvironment. Frontiers in Immunology, 11.
- WATKINS, J. A., IRSHAD, S., GRIGORIADIS, A. & TUTT, A. N. 2014. Genomic scars as biomarkers of homologous recombination deficiency and drug response in breast and ovarian cancers. *Breast Cancer Res*, 16, 211.
- WAY, D. L., GROSSO, D. S., DAVIS, J. R., SURWIT, E. A. & CHRISTIAN, C. D. 1983. Characterization of a new human endometrial carcinoma (RL95-2) established in tissue culture. *In Vitro*, 19, 147-58.
- WEISS, J. M., WEISS, N. S., ULRICH, C. M., DOHERTY, J. A. & CHEN, C. 2006. Nucleotide excision repair genotype and the incidence of endometrial cancer: effect of other risk factors on the association. *Gynecol Oncol*, 103, 891-6.
- WELTIN, D., HOLL, V., HYUN, J. W., DUFOUR, P., MARCHAL, J. & BISCHOFF, P. 1997. Effect of 6(5H)-phenanthridinone, a poly (ADP-ribose)polymerase inhibitor, and ionizing radiation on the growth of cultured lymphoma cells. *Int J Radiat Biol*, 72, 685-92.
- WOLFSON, A. H., BRADY, M. F., ROCERETO, T., MANNEL, R. S., LEE, Y. C., FUTORAN, R. J., COHN, D. E. & IOFFE, O. B. 2007. A gynecologic oncology group randomized phase III trial of whole abdominal irradiation (WAI) vs. cisplatinifosfamide and mesna (CIM) as post-surgical therapy in stage I-IV carcinosarcoma (CS) of the uterus. *Gynecol Oncol*, 107, 177-85.
- WU, Q. & VASQUEZ, K. M. 2008. Human MLH1 protein participates in genomic damage checkpoint signaling in response to DNA interstrand crosslinks, while MSH2 functions in DNA repair. *PLoS Genet*, 4, e1000189.
- WU, Y., CHEN, W., XU, Z. P. & GU, W. 2019. PD-L1 Distribution and Perspective for Cancer Immunotherapy-Blockade, Knockdown, or Inhibition. *Front Immunol*, 10, 2022.
- WU, Y. L., LI, J. Q., SULAIMAN, Z., LIU, Q., WANG, C. Y., LIU, S. P., GAO, Z. L. & CHENG, Z. P. 2022. Optimization of endometrial cancer organoids establishment by cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Neoplasma*, 69, 877-885.
- YI, M., JIAO, D., XU, H., LIU, Q., ZHAO, W., HAN, X. & WU, K. 2018. Biomarkers for predicting efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors. *Mol Cancer*, 17, 018-0864.
- YOU, B., LEARY, A., RODRIGUES, M., FOLLANA, P., ABDEDDAIM, C., JOLY, F., BIN, S., VILLENEUVE, L., ALEXANDRE, M., BOUTITIE, F., MAUCORT-BOULCH, D., SCHWIERTZ, V. & FREYER, G. 2022. Abstract CT005: Safety and efficacy of olaparib combined to metronomic cyclophosphamide and metformin in recurrent advanced/metastatic endometrial cancer patients: ENDOLA trial. *Cancer Research*, 82, CT005-CT005.
- ZHANG, L., REES, M. C. & BICKNELL, R. 1995. The isolation and long-term culture of normal human endometrial epithelium and stroma. Expression of mRNAs for angiogenic polypeptides basally and on oestrogen and progesterone challenges. J Cell Sci, 108 (Pt 1), 323-31.

- ZHANG, Y., LIU, X., LIU, L., CHEN, J., HU, Q., SHEN, S., ZHOU, Y., CHEN, S., XUE, C., CUI, G. & YU, Z. 2020. Upregulation of FEN1 Is Associated with the Tumor Progression and Prognosis of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Dis Markers*, 2020, 2514090.
- ZHU, G., PAN, C., BEI, J.-X., LI, B., LIANG, C., XU, Y. & FU, X. 2020. Mutant p53 in Cancer Progression and Targeted Therapies. Frontiers in Oncology, 10.